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 1                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Good morning.
 2  Mr. Mehnert, will you please call roll?
 3                 MR. MEHNERT:  Yes, sir, I will be happy
 4  to.  Commissioner Allen?
 5                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Here.
 6                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Commissioner Henness?
 7                 COMMISSIONER HENNESS:  Present.
 8                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Commissioner Horton?
 9                 COMMISSIONER HORTON:  Here.
10                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Chairman Noble?
11                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I am here.
12                 Are there any preliminary matters today?
13                 If not, Mr. Slade, are you ready to
14  begin?
15                 MR. SLADE:  Ready.
16                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Gookin?
17                 THE WITNESS:  I'm ready.
18
19                    CROSS-EXAMINATION
20  BY MR. SLADE:
21      Q.    Good morning, Mr. Gookin.
22      A.    Good morning.
23      Q.    Again, Eddie Slade with the Arizona State
24  Land Department.  Finally we get to have a
25  conversation.  I know you've been called for a number
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 1  of times, and we haven't gotten to you.  So thank you
 2  for sticking with us and being prepared every time.
 3      A.    Well, we'll see if I'm prepared today.
 4      Q.    The first thing I would like to ask you about
 5  is some of your standards for navigability, and I was a
 6  little confused in hearing your testimony about what
 7  type of boats you considered for navigability on the
 8  Lower Salt.
 9            And, actually, let me back up a little bit.
10  Is your opinion based specifically for the Segment 6 of
11  the Gila, as you've defined it, and 6a, 6?
12      A.    I certainly emphasize 6a and 6b, but I did
13  look at some of the others, particularly with regard to
14  the historic record.
15      Q.    In terms of your opinion on nonnavigability
16  of the Salt, can you give me specifically the segments
17  that you're saying are nonnavigable?
18      A.    1 through 6.
19      Q.    1 through 6.  And what segments have you done
20  a detailed study of?
21      A.    6b.
22      Q.    Have you done any detailed study of 6a?
23      A.    I computed the virgin flow and I have studied
24  it in detail, but I did not do a cross section.
25      Q.    So in terms of 1 through 6a, the only study
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 1  you've done is to look at the historical accounts; is
 2  that accurate?
 3      A.    I did look at the channel shapes in 6a and
 4  the obstacles in 6a and, of course, both of those in
 5  6b.
 6      Q.    Right.  So for 1 through 5, Segments 1
 7  through 5, did you look at any of the channel shape,
 8  the hydrology?
 9      A.    In 5 in my PowerPoint I did look at the
10  channel shape with regard to changes since virgin
11  times.  Well, I know Reach 4 has completely changed,
12  because it's totally underwater.  I didn't have to look
13  at that long.  But above that, no, I didn't.
14      Q.    Are you comfortable making an assessment of
15  nonnavigability based on the hydrologic and
16  geomorphologic characteristics of Segment 5 that you've
17  considered?
18      A.    I did not do a cross section, so I would have
19  to say probably not.  I believe the historic record
20  does not support it, and it did change; that I can say.
21      Q.    But from a susceptibility analysis where
22  you're looking at the hydrology and the geomorphology,
23  you're not comfortable opining on whether that segment,
24  Segment 5, is navigable or nonnavigable?
25      A.    Correct.  I did not do depth calculations.
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 1            And when you say navigable, I assume you're
 2  referring to susceptible to navigable.
 3      Q.    That's right.
 4            The same question for Segment 6a.  Are you
 5  comfortable making a determination of navigability or
 6  nonnavigability based on the hydrologic and
 7  geomorphologic research that you did?
 8      A.    Yes, I think I am, primarily based on the
 9  extensive braiding, compound channel, multiple channel,
10  multiple thread, whatever we want to call it, that
11  existed in reach 6a.
12            Can I remind the Commission what 6a and 6b
13  are?
14      Q.    Absolutely.  Please.
15      A.    I accepted Mr. Fuller's Reaches for 1 through
16  5.  In Reach 6 I felt that it really had two
17  groundwater basins underlying it that did affect the
18  flows, and so to minimize the confusion, I broke it
19  into 6a, which is from the beginning of 6 down to where
20  Old Mill Road Bridge is, the crossing right at Hayden's
21  Ferry; and then from there -- and that's 6a, the top
22  part.  And then from there down to the Gila is 6b.
23                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Gookin, do we
24  understand you to say that your use of the term "reach"
25  is synonymous with --
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 1                 THE WITNESS:  Segment.
 2                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  -- the term "segment"?
 3                 THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry.  Segment I
 4  should be saying.
 5  BY MR. SLADE:
 6      Q.    So when you said you started at 6, you mean
 7  the confluence of the Verde and the Salt to Hayden's
 8  Ferry is your 6a?
 9      A.    Yes.
10      Q.    Okay, and Segment 5 that we just talked about
11  where you're not comfortable on making a susceptibility
12  determination, that's from Stewart Mountain Dam to the
13  confluence of the Verde and the Salt?
14      A.    Yes.
15      Q.    And that's the reach that's boated today, do
16  you have that understanding?
17      A.    Yes.
18                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  And, again, Mr. Slade,
19  do we understand when you use the word "reach," that
20  you are also talking about segment?
21                 MR. SLADE:  Yes.
22                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you.
23  BY MR. SLADE:
24      Q.    What type of boat did you consider when you
25  made the determination that Segments 6a and 6b is
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 1  nonnavigable?
 2      A.    I've looked at three boats, or two boats and
 3  one group of boats, I should say.  I did do an analysis
 4  on the Edith with regard to the susceptibility due to
 5  the economic problems that would occur if that had to
 6  use a one-way travel.  I did an analysis on the canoes
 7  based on information in Mr. Fuller's reports.  Again,
 8  as to the economics -- oh, also the Sears catalog that
 9  was disclosed, and the problem, if you had a canoe,
10  with going just one way.  That's what's being proposed.
11            The third group is all the incredible amount
12  of information that the Special Master in Utah pulled
13  together, and for that I just relied on his conclusions
14  as -- well, on his conclusions; but, particularly, the
15  mean average depth of 3 feet.
16      Q.    Do you have the Special Master report with
17  you today?
18      A.    I think I have it electronically.
19      Q.    If I give you a copy, would you be able to
20  point out to me where the Special Master makes the
21  determination that 3 feet is required?
22      A.    Eventually, but it would take a long time.
23  It's towards the end, but I don't remember the page.
24      Q.    Do you have a citation in your report that
25  says specifically where the Special Master says that
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 1  3 feet is required?
 2      A.    It would not be in the Salt River report,
 3  because I referred back to my discussion in the Gila
 4  River, rather than just repeat it.
 5      Q.    I also have your Gila River report so --
 6      A.    And I do too.
 7            Okay, I cited to the case.  This is in
 8  Chapter 4 of the Gila, my Gila report.
 9      Q.    I'm better with page numbers, if you have --
10      A.    Page 2 in Chapter 4.
11            No, I did not cite a page.  I'm sorry.
12      Q.    Were you here for Mr. Burtell's testimony?
13      A.    Yes.
14      Q.    Are you aware that the standard for Federal
15  navigability, improvement of rivers, is a different
16  standard than the navigability standard for title,
17  which we're dealing with in this case?
18      A.    I honestly don't know it.  I did research the
19  Federal standards, and they are considerably higher
20  than the Utah standard.  So I guess if Utah is a
21  standard, then they're different.
22      Q.    You don't know if the standard that's
23  required for improving a river is a different standard
24  than the standard for title purposes?
25      A.    I don't know the legality of that.  One
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 1  thing -- let me be clear.  I am assuming, when you say
 2  a standard, you're talking lawyer speak, which does not
 3  require a specific number to be set forth for the depth
 4  or number of rapids per mile or any of that stuff.  Am
 5  I correct?  Or if I'm talking about engineering speak,
 6  there is no standard except Utah that I've seen for
 7  navigability.
 8      Q.    So it's your opinion that the Utah case
 9  states somewhere, but you don't have a citation for me,
10  that there's a 3 foot standard?
11      A.    I think it puts it through most of the
12  analysis, yes.
13      Q.    And you did consider the Edith and canoes.
14  Can you talk specifically a little more about what you
15  considered with regards to canoes?  You said based on
16  Mr. Fuller's PowerPoint.  What does that mean?
17      A.    No, Mr. Fuller's report, earlier reports.  He
18  had an earlier report in which he talked about the
19  mythical and hypothetical canoe, and so I took his
20  numbers and ran an analysis, and it's going to take me
21  a minute or two to find it.  I'm sorry.
22            I'm sorry.  I know I'm in trouble when I'm
23  looking through my Gila report.
24      Q.    Did you do the same analysis in the Gila
25  report?
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 1      A.    No.  I had not seen the data or noticed it or
 2  thought of it, whatever you want to call it, at that
 3  point.
 4            On Page 109 of my Salt River report.
 5  Actually, starting at the bottom of Page 108.
 6      Q.    Okay.  Is that Exhibit No. C022 Part 1; do
 7  you know?
 8      A.    I don't know.
 9      Q.    I'm pretty sure it is, so let's go with that.
10  That's what I have it marked as.
11            So Page 109 of that report.
12      A.    Actually, start at 108.
13      Q.    Okay.
14      A.    Fuller gave some statistics and computed that
15  what -- or I took those statistics and computed what
16  the depth would be on the canoe and what the draw would
17  be on the canoe, and it ended up being 3 feet.  Now, I
18  think the canoe would sink under a 500-pound load and
19  two people; but if it didn't, you know, if the sides
20  were built up enough, that's what I came up with, and
21  it supported the Utah decision.
22            The second thing is I did a cost analysis.
23      Q.    If I could stop you before you do the second
24  thing --
25      A.    Certainly.
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 1      Q.    -- and talk about the first thing.
 2            Have you ever been in a canoe?
 3      A.    You weren't here for my joke?  I guess not.
 4      Q.    I was.  I was here for the joke.
 5      A.    It wasn't a joke.  It's a truism.  I stepped
 6  in a canoe in Disneyland to go on the Davy Crockett
 7  Explorer canoes, and I hated it.
 8      Q.    Have you ever been in a canoe on a real
 9  river?
10      A.    No.
11      Q.    And have you ever put two people and 500
12  pounds in a canoe?
13      A.    No.
14      Q.    Do you have any idea if that would actually
15  have a draw of 3 feet?
16      A.    I was relying solely on Mr. Fuller's
17  expertise.
18      Q.    And that's the Stantech report, I believe,
19  that you attribute to Mr. Fuller?
20      A.    Yes.
21      Q.    Do you know if he was the lead author in that
22  report?
23      A.    I know his name is on the cover.  I know that
24  there was a panel.  Somebody else was the lead author,
25  but Mr. Fuller has done all the testifying, and so I do
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 1  attribute it to him.
 2      Q.    When you think about a canoe with two people
 3  and 500 pounds and a draw of 3 feet, that doesn't make
 4  a lot of sense, does it?
 5      A.    I totally agree.
 6      Q.    So did you stop and kind of consider that
 7  after you came to that conclusion, thinking that
 8  doesn't make a lot of sense; maybe my calculations
 9  aren't correct?
10      A.    No, I thought the determination that you
11  could put two people, the supplies necessary for the
12  trip, and 500 pounds cargo, which has been asserted
13  repeatedly, is incorrect.
14      Q.    Do you know what the actual draw would be?
15  If you don't believe that 3 feet would be the draw, do
16  you know what the actual draw would be with two people,
17  500 pounds of cargo in a wooden canoe?
18      A.    Okay, I've been dealing in the fictional
19  world of using Mr. Fuller's estimates.  Obviously two
20  people in a 25-foot canoe are going to have a much
21  smaller draw than two people in a 12-foot canoe.  The
22  same with 500 pounds.  When you say what's the draw of
23  any canoe, you are asking how high is up.
24      Q.    But there are certain examples that you could
25  have put together and studied.  Did you study any real
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 1  life examples and come to any actual conclusions?
 2      A.    If I had a real example other than the Utah
 3  cases, who actually talked to various commercial users
 4  of the rivers, I would have used them and you would
 5  have seen them.
 6      Q.    You didn't talk to any professional boaters
 7  in writing your report?
 8      A.    No, I did not.
 9      Q.    Did you talk to any historic boaters?
10      A.    No, I did not.
11      Q.    Did you talk to any canoe manufacturers?
12      A.    I looked at their websites, but I did not
13  talk to them.
14      Q.    Did you look at the websites where they talk
15  about the draws of canoes and the weight that canoes
16  can carry?
17      A.    I saw draws -- or I saw the depths.  I don't
18  remember seeing draws.  Because the draw data I got
19  from the Army Corps of Engineers.
20            And the loads, I don't remember.  I didn't
21  find them.  I'm not saying they're not there.  The
22  internet is a huge thing.
23      Q.    So for your totality of analysis of canoes
24  and their loads and the draws that those loads create,
25  you used the Stantech report for that; is that correct?
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 1      A.    No and yes, in regards to both halves of the
 2  question.  In my analysis of canoes, I did several
 3  things.  In the analysis of the depth it would take, it
 4  was limited to the Stantech data.
 5      Q.    And then you were going to talk about the
 6  second thing, which was the economics of canoes, I
 7  believe.  What was your analysis for that?
 8      A.    And I should have said three things,
 9  materials.
10            But okay.  On Page 74 of my report, I did a
11  cost analysis that showed taking a canoe one way would
12  be economically way out of the question.
13      Q.    Can you tell me the variables that you put
14  into that economic analysis?
15      A.    The only variable I really put in, because I
16  was trying to see what it's going to cost the user to
17  abandon the canoe, was the cost to buy it, and then I
18  put in the costs of what wagon travel was.  And I came
19  up with the cost per pound, assuming 500 feet [sic],
20  would be much more than the wagon cost.  Now, I had to
21  do some unit conversion because canoes, we're talking
22  about pound miles, and in wagons they always talk about
23  ton miles.  They wouldn't consider a 500-pound load.
24      Q.    So your economic analysis is based on buying
25  a canoe from the Sears catalog, is that --
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 1      A.    That's correct.
 2      Q.    Okay.  Did you do any analysis of a canoe
 3  used, and at the end of the trip the lumber is sold?
 4      A.    No, I didn't, but the differential was so
 5  high I didn't see the need.
 6      Q.    Did you do any analysis of a canoe used one
 7  way and a train carries the boat back up and then a
 8  canoe is used again?
 9      A.    Partially.  I did look at the fact that
10  shipping the canoes out to Arizona cost four times
11  first class postage, and that told me that -- well,
12  that plus the Powell experience, where they ordered
13  canoes shipped and one of them arrived nonusable.  It
14  had broken up during shipment.  That kind of told me
15  that you really have to pack it right to ship it back
16  on the railroad.
17      Q.    So your analysis -- go ahead.
18      A.    And when I looked at that, just the freight
19  cost of getting it down here, presumably because of the
20  packaging, because first class mail and this was by
21  weight, that wouldn't matter, that they had to raise
22  the shipping and handling, and Powell's experience, and
23  concluded if you're going to have to pack it up and
24  ship it back, it's going to be too expensive.
25      Q.    So your cost analysis is based on shipping a
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 1  canoe from the East Coast, Chicago, to Arizona?
 2      A.    Yes.
 3            One other thing is -- and I talked at length
 4  with Mr. Helm about this.  I know there are cases that
 5  say the fact the railroad has made -- the fact the
 6  railroad made navigability nonprofitable is not
 7  permitted, because if the river was navigable before
 8  the railroad came, then it's navigable for all time or
 9  for this legal test.
10            But I don't know if you're allowed to use the
11  economics of railroad transit to justify floating goods
12  down at a cost higher -- I mean trains virtually put
13  navigation out of business across the country. -- at a
14  cost higher than the train would have cost and say,
15  well, I can do it that way because the train doesn't
16  get rid of it, and then turn around, but I'll use the
17  train to get it back.  That's a legal question, but it
18  seems rather absurd to me.
19      Q.    Is it fair to say that partially your
20  analysis that canoes couldn't be used in Segment 6a and
21  6b is based on your economic analysis?
22      A.    That's one part of it.
23      Q.    Okay.  And have you ever read a case that you
24  can cite for me that does an economic analysis like
25  you've done?


Coash & Coash, Inc.







SALT RIVER     VOLUME 16      02/26/2016 Page 3442


 1      A.    No.
 2      Q.    And what was the third thing with canoes that
 3  you considered?
 4      A.    Oh, I looked at the durability of the canoes,
 5  and this was primarily with modern recreation versus
 6  the early historic canoes; and found that if you're
 7  looking at canoes today, even most wood canoes, unless
 8  it's been explicitly built to re-create a past event,
 9  they're much stronger than any canoe that existed back
10  then.
11      Q.    And why is strength of a canoe important, in
12  your opinion?
13      A.    The strength of a canoe, in the upper reaches
14  it's undeniably necessary because of the incredible
15  number of rapids and the speeds of the water is I think
16  clearly going to tear it apart.  It tore apart -- I had
17  pictures of fiberglass canoes and aluminum canoes that
18  were destroyed.  A wood canoe I don't think would have
19  a chance; something the U.S. Fish and Wildlife -- I'm
20  sorry, the United States Forest Service supported in
21  their report on those reaches when they said
22  fortunately nobody had ever tried to use a canoe, a
23  wooden canoe, on that river in those reaches.
24            Down in Reach 6 the rapids probably are --
25  well, they're certainly not as big a consideration.  I


Coash & Coash, Inc.







SALT RIVER     VOLUME 16      02/26/2016 Page 3443


 1  don't know if they would have been or not.  I believe,
 2  as you know, I'm sure, that there would have been
 3  numerous beaver dams that would have required portage
 4  because you couldn't run the canoe over the sharpened
 5  sticks that the beaver put into the dam.  And there
 6  would have been boulders.  Various historic accounts
 7  did talk about boats that broke up by hitting
 8  something.  And the depth with a load was not
 9  sufficient.
10            Oh, and one other thing.  Nobody has ever
11  shown that you could take that load and go upstream or
12  afford to go upstream by poling or however you want to
13  do it with a canoe.
14      Q.    Are there any rapids in Segment 5?
15      A.    There's riffles.  I don't think there's
16  rapids, based on the classification standards.
17      Q.    You've never seen anything that says there's
18  a rapid in Segment 5, where there's water in the river
19  today and where it's boated?
20      A.    My beer buddies called them rapids when we
21  were floating down.
22      Q.    That might have been --
23      A.    But I'm not talking about serious rapids like
24  exist in 5 and 6, no.
25      Q.    And do you have any evidence that there were
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 1  any rapids in Segment 6, 6a, 6b?
 2      A.    We just don't know because we have virtually
 3  no information.
 4      Q.    Are there any large tributaries that come
 5  into 6a and 6b?
 6      A.    No.
 7      Q.    Are there any -- is there a lot of bedrock in
 8  6a and 6b?
 9      A.    The bedrock is very near the surface down by
10  Old Mill Bridge or Hayden's Ferry, and that's about the
11  only place.
12      Q.    So based on your understanding of what
13  creates rapids and that there's no rapids in Segment 5,
14  would you expect to see any rapids in Segment 6?
15      A.    I would expect to see riffles.  I would
16  expect to see boulders.  But I don't think I would see
17  what are called rapids in the whitewater
18  classification.
19      Q.    Segment 5 and 6 are a much different type of
20  river than the Upper Salt; would you agree?
21      A.    Yes.
22      Q.    And is that the extent of your consideration
23  regarding canoes?
24      A.    I know when I was talking, I thought of yet
25  one more, but I can't think of it again.  So I guess
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 1  that's it.
 2      Q.    And we'll talk about your depths in detail a
 3  little later.
 4      A.    And I remembered.
 5      Q.    Go ahead.
 6      A.    I did an analysis that talked about the fact,
 7  as I understand the standard, it needs to be for
 8  commercial means of transport that were in effect at
 9  the time of statehood or prior.  And I went through the
10  beaver trappers didn't use canoes except as a ferry on
11  the San Pedro and as an escape hatch on the Colorado
12  River.  The Pimas didn't use canoes.  The Hohokam
13  didn't use canoes.  And Hayden tried a canoe, and it
14  failed.
15            And I go through my report and I talk about
16  the few that I found.  Hayden I had missed.  It did not
17  seem like canoe -- oh, and Utah doesn't even consider
18  canoes in its list of commercial craft.  So I'm not
19  convinced that a canoe is a commercial craft in the
20  sense of the legal standard.
21            In addition, when I read the Pinkerton
22  report, they do talk about large canoes.  They call
23  them freight canoes.  And if those are to be considered
24  in the commercial craft -- and I haven't heard anything
25  talked about down in this area where that kind of canoe
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 1  was used, because they were 20 foot or longer or I
 2  guess 18 foot. -- then maybe that could be used; but
 3  it's a totally different animal than the dugout and the
 4  modern canoes and so forth.
 5      Q.    Are you aware of the canoe that was stationed
 6  at Camp Verde?
 7      A.    Yes.
 8      Q.    Are you aware of the canoe that was stationed
 9  at Fort McDowell?
10      A.    Yes.
11      Q.    You're aware of the canoe that was used on
12  San Pedro?
13      A.    By Pattie?
14      Q.    Yes.
15      A.    Yes.
16      Q.    You're aware of the canoes that were used on
17  the Colorado?
18      A.    By Pattie I know, I'm aware of.  There were
19  canoes on the Colorado.  I don't know how much commerce
20  they carried.
21      Q.    You're aware of the canoes that the Kolb
22  brothers had?
23      A.    I know they went through the Grand Canyon and
24  took pictures, and if I remember reading it, and it's
25  been a while, they realized after the fact that, gee,
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 1  recreational pictures will sell, and so they started
 2  selling postcards.
 3      Q.    And are you aware of the canoes that were
 4  used on the Salt in some of the historical
 5  descriptions?
 6      A.    I went through the Salt and the Gila.  I
 7  referenced the Pattie and the Forts on the Verde.
 8  Other than the Hayden dugout, I didn't see any other
 9  canoes, and that could be I just didn't read it right.
10            Now, I'm not saying that canoes didn't exist
11  or weren't used, but I'm talking about a commercial
12  application of a canoe.
13      Q.    So if you didn't see a canoe used for regular
14  commercial application many times, then you considered
15  canoes not useful for the test for navigability?
16      A.    That's correct.
17                 COMMISSIONER HORTON:  Mr. Chairman?
18                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Go ahead.
19
20            EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER HORTON
21                 COMMISSIONER HORTON:  I'm confused.  If
22  you go up to Grand Canyon, you'll see there's a copy or
23  maybe even the real Kolb boat.  You know, it's a wooden
24  boat.  And I've read some accounts.  But I didn't know
25  that they had used canoes, the Kolb brothers.
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 1                 THE WITNESS:  I have to admit I just
 2  read a little bit.  I wasn't too interested in the
 3  bottom of the Grand Canyon because that's not a
 4  navigable river.  So I'm sorry, I can't answer your
 5  question.
 6                 MR. SLADE:  And I don't want to testify
 7  as an expert here, so I can't either.
 8                 COMMISSIONER HORTON:  Okay.  Well, we'll
 9  leave it in the clouds.
10                 MR. SLADE:  Hopefully Mr. Fuller can hit
11  that on rebuttal.
12
13               CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)
14  BY MR. SLADE:
15      Q.    And regarding the Edith, what analysis did
16  you do with respect to that boat being used?
17      A.    I looked at the cost associated with taking
18  that one way, because on Reach 5 they only went
19  downstream.  Well, first, I would just say the Edith,
20  as I understand, was built as an exploration craft
21  originally and would probably not be the same as a
22  commercial craft.  But what my analysis was, was,
23  again, an economic analysis; that the price of it was
24  so high versus the load, in the example -- and I'm
25  trying to remember where I said this.  Oh, I think it
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 1  was in my PowerPoint.  That it was priced -- it was
 2  cost-prohibitive.  Now, if it was capable of being --
 3  you know, if it was shown it could go back, then you
 4  would have something; but nobody's ever tried to say
 5  anything could ever go upstream.
 6            Slide 221 of my PowerPoint.  It was about --
 7  it would be about 20 times as expensive, plus the cost
 8  of the people who actually took it down, I mean the
 9  cost of actually freighting.  I'm just talking about
10  the fixed cost of the boat.
11      Q.    So your analysis on whether the Edith could
12  be used is based on, again, your economic model; is
13  that right?
14      A.    Yes.
15      Q.    And are you aware of the use of rivers for
16  one-way travel for commercial purposes throughout the
17  American West?
18      A.    Yes.
19      Q.    And are you aware that on rivers such as the
20  Idaho -- or, excuse me, the Salmon River and Idaho
21  rivers were used one way and then their boats were sold
22  for lumber at the end?
23      A.    And that's what led me to these economic
24  analyses.  They built very crude boats and make the
25  trip one way.  They did it on the Mississippi, as far
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 1  as I can tell, all the rivers.
 2      Q.    And they sold the lumber at the end?
 3      A.    Yes.
 4      Q.    Did you put, in any of your economic
 5  analysis, the ability to earn money by selling your
 6  lumber at the end?
 7      A.    No.
 8      Q.    And are you aware that the Day brothers came
 9  down from the Verde, the Salt, and then the Gila, and
10  then came up by railroad and did that multiple times,
11  according to the account?
12      A.    I'm aware of one account, yes.
13      Q.    So they did one-way travel, took a railroad
14  up to Prescott, and then came back down again,
15  according to that account?
16      A.    Yes.
17      Q.    Okay.  And did you do an analysis of the
18  economics of that type of a trip?
19      A.    I couldn't, because I had no indication as to
20  what kind of load their boat would take.  It was a
21  small boat, which is a very vague description.
22      Q.    So there's a lot of factors that are unclear
23  that you couldn't put into your economic analysis?
24      A.    For the Day trip, correct.
25      Q.    Right.  For trips in general.  You don't know
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 1  how much lumber costs?
 2      A.    Well, for the two trips -- or the two things
 3  I did, that's why I did them.  The others, no, I didn't
 4  have the information.
 5      Q.    And you mentioned the Special Master not
 6  talking about canoes.  Have you read the whole Special
 7  Master's report?
 8      A.    I read the entirety of the one that was
 9  disclosed.  I think it might have been missing a page
10  somewhere.  But other than that, no -- or yes, I mean.
11      Q.    Have you read the areas where the Special
12  Master talks about canoes?
13      A.    I read them.  I don't recall them, because it
14  was some time ago.
15      Q.    Is it fair to say you don't believe upstream
16  travel is required, based on the economic analysis that
17  you did?
18      A.    That's correct.
19      Q.    So downstream travel is enough?
20      A.    If it is commercially feasible, yes.
21      Q.    And in your opinion, does commercial
22  feasibility need to be continuous and extensive to
23  prove navigability?
24      A.    I think there has to be a certain continuity,
25  and I looked at the Utah case again, because I heard
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 1  your questioning and I went home last night and did it.
 2  And I found that in the Utah case, on the Green River
 3  the Special Master found that the river was less than
 4  3 feet deep 53 days out of the year.  On the Grand
 5  River it was less than 3 feet 16 days out of the year.
 6  On the Colorado it was always 3 feet or more.  On the
 7  San Juan, which was declared nonnavigable, it was under
 8  3 feet for 219 days per year.
 9            That gives us if you've got more than -- or
10  if you have more than 312 days of operation, you're
11  clearly in the good range.  If you have only 146 -- and
12  this is assuming I did my math head -- of operation,
13  you're clearly in the bad zone.  It leaves a wide zone
14  in the middle, and where it falls in there, I don't
15  know.
16      Q.    Were there other factors that the Special
17  Master looked at besides from depth?
18      A.    He looked at depth, frequency of depth.  He
19  looked at other obstacles, rapids.  He discounted sand
20  bars, but he looked at them.
21      Q.    Did he look at velocity?
22      A.    He looked at it, but didn't seem too worried
23  about it, because the people who had actually boated
24  were capable of handling the velocities that he saw at
25  all except the very, very high floods.
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 1      Q.    So you don't recall, in his discussion about
 2  why the San Juan is not navigable, where he talks about
 3  the high velocities on the San Juan compared to the
 4  Green, the Grand, and the Colorado?
 5      A.    I think he does, yes.
 6      Q.    Have you done any studies for the Lower Salt
 7  that compare the velocities of the Lower Salt to the
 8  Green, the Grand, the Colorado, or the San Juan?
 9      A.    No, but that brings up an interesting point,
10  since velocities are often related to slope.  The slope
11  of the San Juan was 7 miles per -- or 7 feet per mile.
12  And I had not realized, until Dr. Mussetter testified,
13  that the slope of the Reach 6 is 7 feet per mile and
14  steeper the further you go upstream.
15      Q.    Could you have done a study or some analysis
16  to determine the velocity of Segment 5 where there's
17  still water coming through it?
18      A.    All I had was the 5-foot contours, and I
19  didn't have very good copies of them, and 5-foot -- the
20  2-foot contours I used where I did my cross section I
21  thought were marginal.  5-foot I think is really not
22  very good.  And so, no, I don't think I have the data.
23      Q.    And you would agree that velocities matter in
24  terms of navigability because they talk about the
25  pushiness of the river into potential obstacles,
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 1  correct?
 2      A.    That's one reason.
 3      Q.    So you don't know what the velocities are for
 4  the Lower Salt, and you've also said that there aren't
 5  many rapids on the Lower Salt?
 6      A.    I did compute the velocity for the Lower
 7  Salt.
 8      Q.    You did?
 9      A.    Yes.
10      Q.    Can you show me where that is in your report?
11      A.    Well, I will admit I only did it to make my
12  presentation complete.  I didn't worry about it.
13            Figure VI-3, in the third set of rows, you
14  will see the various velocities for various n factors,
15  and those velocities are fairly slow.
16      Q.    And you haven't compared those to the
17  San Juan, have you?
18      A.    No.
19      Q.    Do you also remember where, in the Special
20  Master report, the Special Master talked about sand
21  waves as an impediment on the San Juan?
22      A.    Yeah.
23      Q.    Are there any sand waves in Segment 5 where
24  the river is navigated or boated today?
25      A.    Today?
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 1      Q.    Yes.
 2      A.    There probably were during the spills, but
 3  not except then.
 4      Q.    Would you think there would be sand waves in
 5  Segment 6 --
 6      A.    Today?
 7      Q.    -- in the river's natural condition?
 8      A.    Yes.
 9      Q.    You would think there would be sand waves?
10      A.    I thought the United States Geological Survey
11  talked about sand waves.
12      Q.    Can you point me to that reference?
13      A.    I'm going to try.
14            No, I can't at the moment.
15      Q.    Well, if you come up with it --
16      A.    You'll be the first to know.
17      Q.    -- I would certainly like to know.  Thank
18  you.
19            Have you read other cases that have stated
20  that there is a minimum depth of 3 feet?
21      A.    Kind of.  There's a second Utah case that
22  does talk about, actually, it was flow rates on the
23  San Juan again, and came to the conclusion a different
24  reach was nonnavigable.
25      Q.    Are you aware of cases that have decided
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 1  rivers are navigable where there has not been 3 feet of
 2  depth or greater?
 3      A.    I haven't done that analysis.
 4                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Mr. Chairman?
 5                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Yes.
 6
 7             EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN
 8                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Question.  I would
 9  like to go back to the question on sand waves.  What
10  impact does that have on navigability?
11                 THE WITNESS:  Well, basically, when you
12  have sand waves, it's going to make it a lot rougher,
13  which makes it harder on the boat, and you're more
14  likely to ship water.
15                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  At what velocities?
16                 THE WITNESS:  Usually very high.  So it
17  should be --
18                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay, so
19  effectively we're talking about flood stage and --
20                 THE WITNESS:  Near flood --
21                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  -- progression of
22  sand waves back up the channel, as well as down?
23                 THE WITNESS:  Yes, or near flood.  But I
24  would say it would probably be in that top 10 percent.
25                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay.
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 1               CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)
 2  BY MR. SLADE:
 3      Q.    So rivers that have higher velocities have a
 4  higher probability for sand waves?
 5      A.    Yes.
 6      Q.    And in your opinion, how many days of the
 7  year must a river be navigable?
 8      A.    Somewhere between 312 and 143, again, based
 9  on Utah.
10      Q.    So a river could be navigable for less than
11  half the year and --
12      A.    Yeah.  Well, as I say, in there I think it
13  becomes a question of was it a highway of commerce; and
14  if it's going to be commerce, you have to look at the
15  economics.
16      Q.    Is it your opinion that navigability has to
17  have a profitability component?
18      A.    I think it has to have a reasonable
19  expectation of profit.  I don't think it has to make a
20  profit.
21      Q.    Can't just be use of the river for travel
22  from Point A to Point B?
23      A.    If you're conveying people commercially, yes;
24  but I don't think Joe Blow going down to get some
25  drinks counts.
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 1      Q.    Is there a minimum load, in your opinion,
 2  that a boat must have?
 3      A.    That would be an economic question.
 4      Q.    And is there a minimum or is there a specific
 5  type of boat that navigability must have, other than
 6  what you told me in the Special Master's report?
 7      A.    It could be something other than the Special
 8  Master's report.  I just thought that was a
 9  comprehensive study of what was here at the time of
10  statehood or nearby.
11      Q.    So in your opinion, canoes could be used for
12  a highway of commerce?
13      A.    Based on my economic analysis, I don't think
14  so.
15      Q.    Taking your economic analysis out of it, can
16  canoes as a boat be used as a highway of commerce?
17      A.    What kind of canoe?  Are you talking --
18      Q.    All sorts, any type you want to pick.
19      A.    Okay.  A lot of them I'm sure no, because
20  they're too small.
21      Q.    And which canoe is too small?
22      A.    I can't give you a number.  Pinkerton made
23  the break at 18 foot.
24      Q.    So it's your opinion that if a canoe is
25  smaller than 18 feet, it can't be used in a highway of
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 1  commerce?
 2      A.    Subject to something demonstrating it wrong,
 3  Pinkerton was alive in 1912 and he saw that people used
 4  canoes for commerce.  When they did, they were 18 feet
 5  or bigger.  And when they didn't, when it was smaller,
 6  it was for recreational purposes.  That's all I've got
 7  to go on.
 8      Q.    I believe you already mentioned this.  You
 9  haven't talked to any historic boaters or historic boat
10  builders?
11      A.    No, or correct.
12      Q.    Have you talked to any boaters in your
13  preparation for your testimony and your declaration?
14      A.    No.
15      Q.    Have you talked to any other experts in your
16  preparation for your testimony and your declaration?
17      A.    We talked during the breaks, yes.
18      Q.    But in your preparation of this declaration,
19  what other experts did you talk to?
20      A.    All the ones in this room during the Gila
21  hearings and so forth, but not really -- I mean I don't
22  even remember what the conversations were.  A few of
23  them did relate to navigability, you know, sort of
24  technical issues.
25      Q.    And what areas did they inform your opinion?
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 1      A.    Directly, none.
 2      Q.    So is it fair to say the extent of your
 3  research regarding canoes has been from online research
 4  and the Pinkerton book?
 5      A.    Pinkerton was also online, but online
 6  research and my own economic analysis.
 7      Q.    Let's talk about beaver dams a little bit.
 8  It's your opinion that Segment 6, including 6a and 6b,
 9  would have had beaver dams?
10      A.    Yes.
11      Q.    And what's your citation for that?
12      A.    There was an ornithologist out there in 1867,
13  I believe it was, and he wrote a paper that was
14  published in a professional journal.
15            Sorry, I was going the wrong way.
16      Q.    Your Page 117?
17      A.    Yes, at the bottom of the page.  Thank you.
18      Q.    And do you know if those beaver dams would
19  have extended across the entire channel of the Salt?
20      A.    I think it would have extended across the low
21  channels, or more accurately, it would extend across
22  whatever it took to get the depth of the water behind
23  it up to about 3 feet.
24      Q.    And how wide would that have had to be, in
25  your opinion?
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 1      A.    Well, the river channels were surveyed at
 2  about, I don't know, 150, 200 feet, and there's lots of
 3  records of beaver dams that large.
 4      Q.    Are there any records in the evidence or that
 5  you've seen that are not in evidence that talk about
 6  beaver dams of 100, 200 feet on the Salt?
 7      A.    They didn't say -- no, not explicitly the way
 8  you phrase it.
 9      Q.    So none of the historic boaters who boated on
10  the Salt ever mentioned beaver dams, from your review?
11      A.    That's correct, because the people who fixed
12  that problem had preceded them, the beaver trappers.
13      Q.    Did any of the trappers talk about beaver
14  dams across the entire channel or a large part of it?
15      A.    They talked about a lot of beaver.  They
16  didn't mention beaver dams.  They weren't using boats.
17  They didn't mention beaver dams on the San Pedro.
18      Q.    And I believe you have a couple citations to
19  your statement that beavers need 3 feet or higher; is
20  that right?
21      A.    Yes, I cited three sources, and one of them
22  you're going to show me says 2 to 3 feet, not 3.
23      Q.    And which one is that?
24      A.    The third source I quoted, which was 13,
25  Shepherd and Golden.  I figured that out from your
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 1  disclosure.
 2      Q.    And that's an Arizona Game & Fish specific to
 3  Arizona beaver dam discussion, right?
 4      A.    I was just reading the text.  I didn't even
 5  look.  I believe you.  I just didn't look at the
 6  letterhead.
 7      Q.    Shepherd and Golden talks about beaver dams
 8  might occur if the river is less than 2 feet?
 9      A.    That, I didn't notice.
10      Q.    Or, excuse me, beaver dams would be put in
11  place, potentially, if a river is less than 2 feet?
12      A.    Yes, which the Salt, according to all our
13  calculations, was.
14
15             EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN
16                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Was what?
17                 THE WITNESS:  Of --
18                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  What was your -- I
19  didn't understand the question.
20                 MR. SLADE:  My question was the Shepherd
21  and Golden citation on Page 118 of Mr. Gookin's report
22  states that beavers may form dams when a river is less
23  than 2 feet deep.
24                 THE WITNESS:  2 feet at low flow.
25                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay.  Further
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 1  question then.  Was the Salt perennial in this reach?
 2                 THE WITNESS:  Yes, but the records
 3  that -- or all the experts, which I guess would be
 4  Fuller and me who've done it, concluded at low flows it
 5  was well under 2 feet.
 6                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Slade, could we
 7  take a break?
 8                 MR. SLADE:  Sure.
 9                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Let's break for 15
10  minutes, 10:15.
11                 (A recess was taken from 9:57 a.m. to
12  10:12 a.m.)
13                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Gookin, are you
14  ready?
15                 THE WITNESS:  Yes.
16                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Please proceed,
17  Mr. Slade.
18
19               CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)
20  BY MR. SLADE:
21      Q.    Okay.  We were talking about beaver dams.  A
22  few more questions about that.
23            Are you aware that beavers build dams on the
24  sides of rivers, as well as across rivers?
25      A.    Yes.


Coash & Coash, Inc.







SALT RIVER     VOLUME 16      02/26/2016 Page 3464


 1      Q.    Did you do any analysis to understand if
 2  beavers on the Salt would have built dams across the
 3  channel or on the sides of the channel?
 4      A.    No.
 5      Q.    And your theory that beaver dams were across
 6  the channel is based on your depth reconstruction?
 7      A.    The fact that -- that's one thing.  The fact
 8  that they built it across -- they built them across the
 9  channel in modern times down near -- well, both on the
10  Tres Rios side and the Gila River Indian Reservation
11  side of the Salt River.  Both of them found a lot of --
12  well, Gila River found a lot of dams.  I don't know how
13  many Tres Rios found, but it did become a problem.
14      Q.    Do you know if those dams crossed the entire
15  Salt River low channel?
16      A.    Due to the backup effects they claim, they
17  talked about, yeah.
18      Q.    And is that part of the river that's in its
19  natural condition today?
20      A.    No.
21      Q.    Beavers wouldn't have to build dams across
22  the river if it was 2 feet or 3 feet deep, correct?
23      A.    The entire, all the channels, no.
24      Q.    Right.
25      A.    They just need one fairly well-defined


Coash & Coash, Inc.







SALT RIVER     VOLUME 16      02/26/2016 Page 3465


 1  channel.
 2      Q.    If the river was deep enough, beavers
 3  wouldn't have to build dams across the river?
 4      A.    Correct.
 5      Q.    And in any descriptions of the river that
 6  you've seen, have they talked about a river that was
 7  less than 2 feet deep in the Lower Salt?
 8      A.    Well, Mr. Fuller's analysis showed it, as did
 9  mine.  I'm trying to remember accounts from back then,
10  and I didn't really look at them that much, so I don't
11  know.
12      Q.    So you don't know what the historical
13  descriptions say about the depth of the Lower Salt?
14      A.    Well, more importantly, I don't know what the
15  historical descriptions say about the minimum depths at
16  low flow about the Salt in Reach 6.
17      Q.    Do you reference the historical descriptions
18  in your report?
19      A.    I did not.
20      Q.    So if they say that the low flow depth is
21  2 feet, you wouldn't find that in your report?
22      A.    If they say that, I -- no.  I didn't see it.
23      Q.    But you don't have any of the historical
24  descriptions in your report?
25      A.    Correct.


Coash & Coash, Inc.







SALT RIVER     VOLUME 16      02/26/2016 Page 3466


 1      Q.    In your opinion, are those informative for
 2  navigability purposes?
 3      A.    They are, but they had mostly already been
 4  disclosed in Mr. Fuller's earlier reports.
 5      Q.    Well, that sort of brings me to a question of
 6  what type of report you have here.  Is this a rebuttal
 7  report to Mr. Fuller?  Would you characterize it as
 8  that type of report?
 9      A.    I would say it's both my determination of
10  navigability and a rebuttal report.
11      Q.    So do you include both nonnavigability and
12  navigability evidence in your report?
13      A.    Yes, if I had found any navigability
14  evidence.
15      Q.    Okay.  So, but you didn't include the
16  historical descriptions; you didn't find those were
17  reliable or useful?
18      A.    I thought they were already in the record.  I
19  didn't worry about them because they're such short
20  snapshots, usually.
21      Q.    And what was your direction in preparing your
22  report; what were you directed to do?
23      A.    Write a report concerning whether or not the
24  Salt River was navigable, particularly in Reach 6,
25  Lower Salt.
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 1      Q.    Do you know if your client had a preconceived
 2  notion of whether it was or was not?
 3      A.    I have a feeling, but they never said
 4  anything.
 5      Q.    So you didn't object to the analysis --
 6      A.    Yes.
 7      Q.    -- in your opinion?
 8                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Gookin, I didn't
 9  understand that response.  You did or did not object to
10  the analysis?
11                 THE WITNESS:  I did an objective
12  analysis.
13                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.
14                 Now I really didn't understand it, did
15  I?
16  BY MR. SLADE:
17      Q.    Have you ever written another report?
18      A.    Of course.
19      Q.    Okay.  And have you written -- can you give
20  me a name or a few reports that you have written
21  previously, apart from navigability studies?
22      A.    I've written a raft of reports on the Globe
23  Equity Decree and various operating procedures.  I've
24  written reports about gaging flow reconstructions, both
25  on desert washes and active rivers.  I've made
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 1  population projections, done economic analyses and
 2  reports for CAP allocation for various entities.  I've
 3  done a lot of reports on the cause of flooding in Joe's
 4  house.  This Joe's house.  And -- let me think what
 5  else.  I feel like all I do is write reports.
 6      Q.    I feel like all I do is read reports, so...
 7      A.    Do you want more?
 8      Q.    We're on the same page.
 9      A.    Do you want more?
10      Q.    No, that's good.  Thank you.
11            And would you compare those reports that you
12  just talked about to this type of report that you wrote
13  here?  Are they comparable objective, fact-finding
14  reports?
15      A.    Yes.
16      Q.    So if a historical account said that, for
17  example, the Salt River is navigable and should be
18  included in the River and Harbors Act, would we be able
19  to find that in your report?
20      A.    I didn't put it in there.  I had heard it,
21  but I never went and looked it up.
22      Q.    Do you think --
23      A.    Oh, excuse me.  It was the reverse, wasn't
24  it?  I don't know.  I didn't look up the River and
25  Harbors Act and the applications.
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 1      Q.    Have you ever seen any boaters on Segment 5,
 2  where the river's boated today?
 3      A.    Not today, but in the '70s and '60s.
 4      Q.    You did observe boaters?
 5      A.    Yes.
 6      Q.    Do you know what kind of craft they were
 7  boating in?
 8      A.    Mostly inner tubes, but --
 9      Q.    I thought I remember you saying inner tubes
10  on a boat with Mr. Helm.
11      A.    Well, yeah, you're right.  Certainly not a
12  commercial craft.
13            I think there was some rafts.  They were some
14  inflatable rafts that you could -- had seats in them.
15  And I don't really remember.  I was somewhat impaired
16  at the time.  I didn't realize I was doing a
17  navigability study.
18      Q.    Apart from your experience observing the
19  boats when you were impaired, have you seen -- have you
20  done -- have you observed any boats on the Salt where
21  it's boated today other than that time?
22      A.    I saw a couple boats go out on the Salt River
23  during the bad floods, '78, 79, '80, '83; thought they
24  were absolutely out of their minds and read about some
25  of them in the paper, that for some reason had just
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 1  disappeared.
 2      Q.    Apart --
 3      A.    Below Granite Reef, that's been my only
 4  opportunity to see boats.
 5      Q.    How about above Granite Reef, from Stewart
 6  Mountain to Granite Reef?
 7      A.    I haven't gone back up there.
 8      Q.    Would that be informative to observe how
 9  boats are used on Segment 5 and how they're maneuvered,
10  for your understanding of Segment 6?
11      A.    I don't think so.  You have to realize it's
12  not a natural stream there.
13      Q.    Do you believe Segment 5 is substantially
14  more navigable today?
15      A.    Yes.
16      Q.    And why is that?
17      A.    You have a dam that controls the releases.
18  It allows a steady higher flow for extended durations.
19  You don't have the risk of floods coming down.  It
20  encourages the growth of vegetation along the sides of
21  the bank, which, together with the other destabilizing
22  factor tamarisk, makes the channel narrower and deeper.
23            Oh, dams intercept the sediment, which
24  affects the rocks or the -- both the slope of the
25  channel and the lining of the channel.  And as I put in
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 1  my report, garbage affects the lining of the channel,
 2  but I've never found a Manning's n for garbage.  I
 3  looked.
 4      Q.    Have you done any specific studies on
 5  Segment 5 to indicate how any of those factors have
 6  changed from the nonnatural condition or the natural
 7  condition to the nonnatural condition?
 8      A.    I did show some photos from Webb, Ribbons of
 9  Green, in my PowerPoint.  I looked for data for a
10  Manning -- to do a Manning's cross section, and I just
11  couldn't find a sufficient database.
12            I did the examination of the maps to see that
13  essentially the number of channels had changed in
14  various spots and the location had changed
15  considerably, which means it's a different river at
16  that point.
17      Q.    In terms of slope, did you do any specific
18  studies?
19      A.    No.  That was -- that's just standard
20  hydrology.
21      Q.    In terms of narrower or deeper channel, did
22  you do any specific studies?
23      A.    Ditto.
24      Q.    That's a no then?
25      A.    That's no.  That's a matter of standard
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 1  Southwest hydrology.  The tamarisk squeeze the rivers.
 2      Q.    We've talked about beaver dams.  We've talked
 3  about rapids.  What are the other factors -- it's been
 4  such a long time since the Commission's heard your
 5  testimony.  What are the other factors that you would
 6  believe serve as impediments to navigation in
 7  Segments 6a and 6b?
 8      A.    Just the impediments?
 9      Q.    Yes.
10      A.    The fact that we have very sudden flash
11  floods in Arizona down these rivers, which makes it
12  dangerous.  Evidence indicates that at least down near
13  my client's area or in my client's area, there were
14  heavy marshes as of statehood and before.  Beaver we've
15  talked about, unless you want me to go on with that.
16  And rapids in other parts, but I don't know if rapids
17  existed in 6 or not.
18      Q.    Do you have a citation that says there were
19  marshes on the Salt River in Segment 6?
20      A.    Well, it's Gookin on Gookin.  I cited to my
21  2003 statement.  I had a quotation from the United
22  States Geological Survey when I made my first statement
23  to the Commission about the bogs near the confluence of
24  the Salt and Gila on the Salt, which is the downstream
25  end of Segment 6b.
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 1      Q.    You're talking about one of the Porcello
 2  studies?
 3      A.    No, I don't think so.  It was an early USGS
 4  report that was describing what they saw, like in 1905
 5  or something.
 6      Q.    Do you have a citation for that report?
 7      A.    In the footnote it's Gookin Engineers 2003,
 8  Page 5.  It's April 4th, 2003, entitled Presentation to
 9  Arizona Stream Navigability Commission, Old Lower Salt
10  River Exhibit 034, and that's from the 2003 hearings,
11  that number.
12      Q.    And do you know if, in that discussion, in
13  that paper, they're talking about marshes alongside the
14  river or actually the river completely turns to a
15  marsh?
16      A.    It sounded like most, if not all.  They were
17  extensive, I think was the phrase; but it's been
18  12 years, 13 years.
19      Q.    Anything else?  Flash floods, marshes,
20  beavers, rapids.
21      A.    As far as physical obstacles, no.
22      Q.    Are there mental obstacles?
23      A.    Economic obstacles.
24      Q.    Okay.
25      A.    And I'm not including depth and channel shape
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 1  in that.  That's not really an obs -- well, I don't
 2  know how you would want to characterize that, but leave
 3  that on the plate as a projection.
 4      Q.    Okay.  We'll talk about that later.
 5            I'm curious a little bit to hear some more of
 6  your expertise on the archaeology, but I believe
 7  Mr. Helm went over this.  Do you consider yourself an
 8  expert in archaeology?
 9      A.    No.
10      Q.    Not an expert in Hohokam time period?
11      A.    No.  I know a bit more than the layperson,
12  simply by association, but I'm not an archaeologist.
13      Q.    And your conclusion was that the Hohokam did
14  not use boats; is that right?
15      A.    My conclusion is that the archaeologists have
16  concluded they didn't use boats.
17      Q.    And you reference the Phoenix Sky Train
18  study.  I believe you went over it with your counsel;
19  is that right?
20      A.    I don't -- did I?  I don't remember doing
21  that.
22      Q.    Maybe I'm remembering -- your counsel went
23  over it with Mr. Fuller.
24      A.    Yes.  The only one I referenced, I referenced
25  the picture that shows the trader who's walking, rather


Coash & Coash, Inc.







SALT RIVER     VOLUME 16      02/26/2016 Page 3475


 1  than boating, in one of the glyphs; or not glyphs,
 2  pottery pieces.  And I included a quote about the
 3  Cushing canoe.  Who knows if it ever was there.
 4      Q.    And when did the Hohokam end their time on
 5  the Salt?
 6      A.    According to my client and our
 7  archaeologists, they haven't.  They are the Pima.
 8  Conventional chronology says 1400 to 1450 and then
 9  picks up with the Pimas in about 1500.
10      Q.    Would you expect that any boat remains would
11  exist if the Hohokam used boats from 1450 and going
12  back in time; would any boats exist in the 1800s, 1900s
13  preserved?
14      A.    I'm sorry, exist in the 1800s or 1900s?
15      Q.    Would any boat remnants be preserved if the
16  Hohokam used boats?
17      A.    I just don't know.
18      Q.    What were the boats made of --
19      A.    What --
20      Q.    -- if they had a boat?
21      A.    I was going to say.  I'm saying they were
22  made of air.
23      Q.    If the Hohokam had used a boat, what type of
24  material would they have been made of?
25      A.    I don't know.


Coash & Coash, Inc.







SALT RIVER     VOLUME 16      02/26/2016 Page 3476


 1      Q.    Not plastic, right?
 2      A.    Not plastic.  I'm pretty sure of that.
 3      Q.    So some type of compostable material?
 4      A.    Wood, yeah, something that could burn.
 5      Q.    Based on your expertise of materials, and you
 6  did some research, would you expect that wood would
 7  last 400 years?
 8      A.    Well, I've read about it doing it other
 9  places, because I did look that up; but I couldn't find
10  an indication here that it has.  So I don't know.
11      Q.    And when did the Pima come to the Salt?
12      A.    You don't learn.  About zero B.C. to
13  1000 B.C.
14      Q.    So it's your opinion that the Hohokam were on
15  the Salt, and the Pima continued to be on the Salt as
16  they transitioned?
17      A.    Dr. Dobyns' theory, as he explained it to me,
18  was that when the Vikings discovered the Northeast
19  corner of the North American continent, they brought
20  diseases with them.  And he showed me several articles
21  where they indicated that based on descriptions like in
22  the Mississippi, all over the place, the ecological
23  patterns had been knocked badly out of shape and
24  concluded that it was probably plagues that wiped out
25  the top-of-the-line hunter, to a large extent, people,
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 1  and allowed them to -- these mis -- or, you know, the
 2  evolutionary booms in certain animals; for example, the
 3  bison.  You always hear about the huge numbers of bison
 4  going across the river or the plains.  And he believes
 5  that the plague hit the Hohokam, and that as a result
 6  of the plague, the Hohokam did what most people do
 7  during a plague, they scattered.  And the remnants who
 8  survived coalesced back along primarily the Gila.
 9  Well, originally the Gila and the Salt, irrigated both,
10  and then with the advent of the Apaches, mostly
11  retreated to the Gila.
12            As to whether all of that is true or not,
13  well, I have to wait until I die to find out, but it's
14  a question on my list.
15      Q.    So when the Spanish came through and recorded
16  where tribes were, specifically Father Kino, did he
17  notice any tribes -- excuse me, Native Americans on the
18  Salt?
19      A.    No, I don't think he did.
20      Q.    So no one was on the Salt when the Spanish
21  came through?
22      A.    Well, he just -- if I remember, he only
23  visited one little spot.  So I don't think they were
24  farming the Salt, except down near the confluence.
25      Q.    And he did see that there were civilizations
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 1  on the Lower Gila, from the Salt confluence with the
 2  Gila on down to the Colorado?
 3      A.    To tell you the truth, I read the histories
 4  of the Pimas, and what he did after that I really
 5  didn't care.  So there are histories, I do know, of the
 6  Indians on the Colorado River.  If there are any in the
 7  very lower reach of the Gila, I don't know.
 8      Q.    Let's put up a map so we can just confirm
 9  what you're saying, which is that no one was on the
10  Salt when Kino came through, C046 Part 376.  I can hand
11  the map out, actually, and one to you as well,
12  Mr. Gookin.
13            So this is a map from Father Kino?
14      A.    Yes.  I've seen it before.
15      Q.    Okay.  And as you stated, there's a few
16  civilizations or a lot of native people, settlements,
17  throughout the map.
18            There are none on the Rio Salado; is that
19  right?
20      A.    Okay, I think -- I've always had a lot of
21  trouble with this map, because I have never been sure
22  if that Rio Azul, which becomes the Rio Salado, was the
23  Agua Fria or the Salt River, because it just goes in
24  the wrong direction.  And I suspect historians can
25  argue that point.
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 1            Assuming that was where it was or that's what
 2  he meant, the Rio Salado or Salt River, he doesn't show
 3  any as of then.
 4      Q.    So none on the Rio Salado, none on the Rio
 5  Azul, which might be the Rio Salado combined with the
 6  Verde, that lower part?
 7      A.    No, I don't think so.
 8            You're talking about the confluence with the
 9  Salt and the Verde there?
10      Q.    Could Rio Azul be the lower part of the Salt
11  where the Verde combines with the Salt?
12      A.    You mean like near the transition from
13  Segment 5 to Segment 6?
14      Q.    Right.  Could Rio Azul be --
15      A.    No.
16      Q.    No, in your opinion, it can't?
17      A.    I don't think so, because it shows Casa
18  Grande, and Casa Grande is right near Coolidge, which
19  is downstream from the Salt-Verde confluence.
20      Q.    So we're not sure what Rio Azul means, but
21  there's no settlements on that either?
22      A.    Right.
23      Q.    Okay.  And do you have any other
24  documentation that shows that the Salt River had
25  settlements on it?
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 1      A.    Yeah.  The Indian Claims Commission in 236-C,
 2  cat, ruled what the occupation area of the
 3  Pima-Maricopa were.  Those two tribes both live on the
 4  Gila community, the Ak-Chin and the Salt River
 5  Reservations.
 6            And the judicial determinations went up to --
 7  basically, it encompassed pretty much metropolitan
 8  Phoenix.  It went up to the base of the mountains on
 9  the north and then it followed the mountain fronts as
10  it came down, and that pretty much defined it.  It went
11  west of the Salt-Gila confluence, and I think it went
12  down to the Sierra Estrellas.  I don't think -- I'm not
13  sure.  I don't totally remember where the bottom edge
14  was.
15      Q.    Was that a ruling that dealt with the current
16  location of the Salt River Pima settlement?
17      A.    No, it was determining the aboriginal lands
18  that were illegally taken by the United States due to
19  the fact there was no Treaty that had allowed the
20  United States to assume ownership.
21      Q.    And you believe in that ruling they talk
22  specifically about Pima settlements on the Lower Salt?
23      A.    They determined the aboriginal land of the
24  Pima, and that's what it was.
25      Q.    Specifically settlements, have you heard
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 1  anything about settlements on the Lower Salt in that
 2  ruling; not lands, but settlements?
 3      A.    I'm pretty sure it talked about they
 4  irrigated.  They retreated later due to the Apache
 5  menace.  They had to -- I have read things that talk
 6  about how they had to move south from the Salt,
 7  consolidate to have bigger population centers nearer
 8  each other, in case the Apache raiders came, and they
 9  could mobilize quicker.
10      Q.    So there's a little buffer zone between the
11  Pima and the Apache because of the threat of Apache
12  raids?
13      A.    Right.
14      Q.    And was --
15      A.    Or I assume, Joe, from your point of view,
16  due to the Pima raids on the Apaches.
17      Q.    Well, it's well-known that the --
18      A.    And I am going from my propaganda based on
19  that.
20      Q.    It's well-known that the Apaches were, in
21  part, a raiding culture?
22      A.    That's my opinion.
23      Q.    If you read Grenville Goodwin's book --
24      A.    Yeah.
25      Q.    -- he talks all about that, right?
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 1      A.    (Witness nodded.)
 2                 MR. SPARKS:  Those are all written by
 3  the white guys.
 4  BY MR. SLADE:
 5      Q.    Who spent eight years with the Apache.  But
 6  we don't know.
 7      A.    I think this is a fight.  It was a no man's
 8  land.  Let's leave it at that.
 9      Q.    The Lower Salt was a no man's land?
10      A.    Yeah, after the Apache came in, except,
11  again, for the very -- right near the Gila confluence.
12  The Maricopa, when they moved up the Gila River after
13  their neighbors chased them out, settled and irrigated
14  from the Salt and the Gila.
15      Q.    So we don't know that boats were used by the
16  Pima on the Lower Salt; there's no evidence of that?
17      A.    They tried with a raft once on a military
18  expedition, and they were using it as a ferry, or going
19  to, and it capsized.
20      Q.    Did the Maricopa and Pima use rafts on the
21  Lower Gila?
22      A.    Not to my knowledge.
23      Q.    Do you know if the Phoenix Sky Train article
24  talks about that?
25      A.    No.
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 1      Q.    So we've talked about the Phoenix Sky Train
 2  article in some detail.  It's C028 Part 313 in
 3  evidence, and have you had the opportunity to read this
 4  at all, Mr. Gookin?
 5      A.    I have not read it.  I've just looked at it
 6  and moved on.
 7      Q.    Okay.
 8      A.    I've not studied it.
 9      Q.    If you turn to Page 112, at the top it says
10  112, and if we read from the bottom paragraph that
11  starts, "Unfortunately."
12            I'll read for you:  "Unfortunately, it
13  appears that no one has found further mention of the
14  alleged canoe, or the canoe itself, in any Hohokam
15  collections.  Despite the very thin evidence for the
16  existence of a Hohokam transportation system using reed
17  balsas to cross the Salt and Gila rivers and to
18  transport goods along the canals, the idea is worth
19  considering.  Virtually all the groups living in the
20  deserts west of the Phoenix Basin utilized reed balsas
21  for crossing the Colorado and lower Gila rivers.  The
22  Mohave utilized reed balsas apparently made of cattail.
23  These rafts were large enough to carry four to six
24  adults and were so easy to make that, quote, If the
25  current carried it far downstream [while crossing the
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 1  river] it was easier to put a new one together than to
 2  drag the old one up against the current, end quote.
 3  The Mohave also made 1-meter-diameter ceramic pots to
 4  float children and goods across the rivers."
 5      A.    I had not read that, and I have to admit a
 6  bias.  When you say Lower Gila, I think of about down
 7  to Gila Bend and not much further because of my life's
 8  work orientation.  So I was not considering down near
 9  Yuma.
10            I'm very sorry, Mr. Chairman.
11      Q.    The Salt was the major contributor to the
12  Gila, would you agree?
13      A.    Correct.
14      Q.    In fact, would you agree it had far more flow
15  than the Gila?
16      A.    About three times.
17      Q.    Okay.  And boats were used on the Lower Gila?
18      A.    By the Mohave.  I thought that's what that
19  was indicating, because it's talking about what they
20  used, reed balsas.
21      Q.    By groups living in the desert west of the
22  Phoenix Basin.
23      A.    Okay.  The Phoenix Basin, I think, would
24  include the junction that we're talking about.  And
25  then it goes on and talks about the Mohave used reed
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 1  balsas, and it's primarily talking about use of it by
 2  the Mohave, which is over on the Colorado area.
 3      Q.    So boats have been used on the Lower Gila,
 4  where we know Kino found settlements, and the Salt is
 5  the major contributory flow for the Lower Gila.  Do you
 6  think if there were settlements on the Lower Salt,
 7  boats, reed balsas, could have also been used on the
 8  Lower Salt?
 9      A.    That's a pretty big leap that because you've
10  got boats down in Reach 8, which is where I think
11  they're talking, that you can use it up in the Salt
12  River.
13                 MR. MURPHY:  Do you mean Segment 8 of
14  the Gila?
15                 THE WITNESS:  Or segment 8 of the Gila.
16  I'm sorry.  You are correct.
17                 While the Salt River is three-fourths of
18  the flow, it is three-fourths.
19                 Also, I thought I had read -- well,
20  yeah, it says for crossing the Colorado and Lower Gila
21  Rivers.  They're utilizing it as ferries, not commerce
22  boats.
23  BY MR. SLADE:
24      Q.    Even on the Colorado they're using it as a
25  ferry?
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 1      A.    According to this article, yes.  Now, I don't
 2  know about others.
 3      Q.    Do you have any evidence that at the Colorado
 4  boats were used other than for ferries?
 5      A.    I know Mr. Fuller mentioned it in his
 6  reports.
 7      Q.    By the Native Americans.
 8      A.    By the Native Americans.
 9            And that's it.  That's all I know.
10      Q.    Would that surprise you that the Native
11  Americans could use boats on the Lower Salt, given the
12  amount of flow it had?
13      A.    Toy boats, steamers?  I mean that's a very
14  vague question.
15      Q.    The boats they had at that time, the balsas,
16  does it surprise you that those could be used on the
17  Lower Salt?
18      A.    The Pimas didn't have --
19                 MR. MURPHY:  I want to make an objection
20  to this question.  I don't think there's any evidence
21  that boats were used on the Salt, and the question
22  seems to assume that.
23                 MR. SLADE:  Let me rephrase it then.
24                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Slade, it appears
25  to be almost conjecture in the report, as to whether or
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 1  not they were used.
 2                 MR. SLADE:  Well, that's your opinion,
 3  Mr. Chairman.
 4                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  That's what it says.
 5  There's very limited, in fact, almost no evidence that
 6  they were used.
 7                 THE WITNESS:  Very thin evidence.
 8                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thin evidence.
 9  BY MR. SLADE:
10      Q.    Do we have any evidence that boats were used
11  on the Colorado?
12      A.    Mr. Fuller cited to some Spanish, early
13  Spanish explorers who recorded boats on the Colorado.
14  And I assume we're limiting it to prehistory times?
15      Q.    Right.
16      A.    Because after 1852 they're all over the place
17  on the Colorado.
18      Q.    Do you know if the Hohokam used their canals
19  for boats, travel, wagons -- or not wagons, but did
20  they use any type of boat on their canals, that you're
21  aware of?
22      A.    That goes to that one questionable canoe and
23  the fact there might have been a boat dock at one point
24  in a canal.  That's my only evidence, and most of them
25  are very, very weak or very thin, I guess.  But that's
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 1  all I know about it.  I haven't asked any Hohokam.
 2      Q.    You've read some accounts of the native
 3  cultures.  Do you know who was living in the Upper
 4  Salt, based on what you've read?
 5      A.    Before the successful incursion of the
 6  Anglo-Americans or Americans, the Apaches were.
 7      Q.    And do you have any citations that you can
 8  provide me with that talk about where they were?
 9      A.    Not with me and -- no.  I think I know where
10  there's a map in a report by a gentleman, maybe,
11  perhaps.  I don't know.
12      Q.    And I ask from an informative perspective.
13  I'm just seeing if you have any knowledge of that.
14      A.    Oh.  I've read many places they came to this
15  area, but I don't have a map of it.  I do know that if
16  you saw one, where they occupied is kind of
17  loosey-goosey, because they were, in large part,
18  nomadic.
19            Oh, there was an Indian Claims Commission on
20  it, decision, that would show the aboriginal area.  I
21  don't know the number.
22      Q.    I want to talk very briefly about just a few
23  historical accounts.  We're not going to go through
24  them all.  Let's start with the Day brothers trip.
25  It's your opinion that the Day brothers did not use the
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 1  Salt River; is that right?
 2      A.    On their last trip.  They -- well, either
 3  they used it and they were dragging the boats through
 4  portions, because most of the water would have been
 5  diverted, or they went down the canals.  And a guess,
 6  and it's a guess, the canals; but they may have
 7  dragged.
 8      Q.    And that's because you believe that the
 9  Arizona Dam was diverting everything below 1,000 cfs?
10      A.    It would, because of the structure of
11  diversion dams back then.  There would be leakage
12  through it, some, but not much.  You took all you could
13  and the canal was 1,000 cfs and put what you wanted
14  back, and in their case two miles later, so it was at
15  least a two-mile reach that was virtually dry.  From
16  that point we don't know how much they put back when,
17  but we do know that there was no commissioner enforcing
18  the Kibbey Decree, so they didn't have much motivation
19  to.
20      Q.    And you think that would have happened as
21  well in the winter, when there was less irrigation?
22      A.    Yes.
23      Q.    And have you done any analysis on if that
24  was, in fact, what was diverted in the winter, based on
25  gages that you could find?
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 1      A.    I saw, I think, somewhere -- no, that was
 2  Granite Reef.
 3            I didn't see any, no.
 4      Q.    And did you do any analysis on --
 5      A.    Oh, I did find the GS study that said this is
 6  what their pattern would be under Roosevelt Dam, that
 7  they divert more in the winter, about half in the
 8  winter.
 9      Q.    Half of what they --
10      A.    Half of their peak use.
11      Q.    And where was Hayden's Ferry located relative
12  to the Arizona Dam?
13      A.    Downstream.
14      Q.    Do you know how far downstream?
15      A.    Hayden's Ferry was basically at the boundary
16  between 6a and 6b.  It's where the Old Mill Bridge is
17  right now.  Does that help?
18      Q.    Do you know how many miles it would be from
19  the Arizona Dam to where Hayden's Ferry was operating?
20      A.    I know I computed it once, and I don't
21  remember.  I think it's in the Navigability
22  Commission's report.  I'm not sure.  No, I computed it,
23  but I don't remember it.
24      Q.    Would you expect that the diverted water from
25  Arizona Dam would return above Hayden's Ferry or below?
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 1      A.    The very first years it probably returned at
 2  about Indian Bend Wash, but then as it got extended, I
 3  imagine most of it came back at the Agua Fria, because
 4  that's where they would dump their tailwater, or -- and
 5  I'm talking about above ground.  Groundwater was
 6  seeping in the whole time and migrating towards the
 7  river.
 8            At one point in time they reached a deal with
 9  the Grand Canal and they put the crosscut canal through
10  to feed them.  I don't remember the year.  And, of
11  course, probably some water got lost at that point.
12      Q.    I'm not sure I understood exactly what you
13  meant.  So you would think that the diverted water from
14  the Arizona Dam would come in below where Hayden's
15  Ferry was operating?
16      A.    I'm saying at the very beginning, because
17  they started at the head and started digging and
18  heading west, generally, and north.  At the point they
19  were only irrigating land -- I mean when they get got
20  to the Indian Bend wash, then probably the tailwater
21  went there.  And I'm just thinking about how I would
22  have done it if I was building it.  And as every major
23  wash came -- the reach between every major wash came
24  in, I would start dumping the tailwater at that point
25  so you don't hurt anybody.  And it now I think empties
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 1  in the Agua Fria.  So over time the return point would
 2  move west.
 3      Q.    Do you know how much Hayden's Ferry drew when
 4  it was loaded with its capacity?
 5      A.    Initially, 1,000 cubic feet per second.
 6      Q.    Hayden's Ferry.
 7      A.    I'm sorry.
 8      Q.    How much did the boat draw in the water when
 9  it was loaded for use?
10      A.    No idea.
11      Q.    And do you know when the operation of the
12  ferry occurred generally throughout the year?
13      A.    I thought it was during high water seasons,
14  but I would go to a historian for a better answer.
15      Q.    Would you expect the ferry to be operating if
16  Arizona Dam was taking all of the water?
17      A.    If -- Arizona Dam didn't take all the water
18  all the time.  I never said that.  In low flow years it
19  took all of the water.  And when it was operating,
20  there would be return flow coming to the surface due to
21  the bedrock barrier underlying Hayden's Ferry.  That's
22  why I split the two basins.  And so it could be wet
23  enough that some people were afraid of getting mired in
24  the mud or something.
25      Q.    Do you know what amount of flow would be
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 1  needed for Hayden's Ferry to operate?
 2      A.    No.
 3      Q.    But if there was less than 1,000 cfs, you
 4  wouldn't think that Hayden's Ferry would be operating?
 5      A.    If they took the 1,000 and didn't return it
 6  at the two-mile return, as I say, I don't know what
 7  kind of return flows they were getting.  Some of it may
 8  have been coming down Indian Bend Wash, but -- and
 9  there was return flow.  Since I don't know what it
10  takes to operate it or create the need, I can't answer
11  your question.
12                 MR. SLADE:  I think there's a question.
13
14             EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN
15                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Yeah.  If you could
16  refresh my memory, when was the dam constructed, the
17  Arizona Dam?
18                 THE WITNESS:  I know it was talked about
19  and they were expecting it to be built in '83, and
20  there was executive falderal.  They got it up and
21  running in '85, and that was the picture that
22  Dr. Littlefield was showing, which I had never seen.
23                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Do you have any
24  idea when in '85?
25                 THE WITNESS:  No, I don't.
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 1                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  When did the Day
 2  brothers come downstream?
 3                 THE WITNESS:  They came downstream in
 4  '92.  Well, that was the date of the article, and there
 5  were four trips prior, which would -- if they were
 6  consecutive, and we don't know, the first trip would
 7  have been '87 to '88.
 8                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay.  But they
 9  were coming downstream during the wintertime when they
10  left the Upper Verde, correct?
11                 THE WITNESS:  Most likely.
12                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  And so when they
13  would have reached that point, it could well have been
14  during the spring floods?
15                 THE WITNESS:  We have records for four
16  of those years, four of them.  Assuming they're five
17  consecutive years, we have records for four of them.
18  Three of them, absolutely.  There were strong records
19  in the early winter -- or the late winter that there
20  were high flows that would have gone right over the dam
21  and created a base.  They were in the thousands and
22  tens of thousands of cfs.
23                 In the last year when they did it or
24  reported to have done it, the high I think was -- high
25  flow was 800 cfs during the months they were going.
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 1  The first year we have no flow records.
 2                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Given the fact that
 3  it was a temporary -- well, it's not really a temporary
 4  dam, but it was not a very high dam, is there any
 5  reason why they -- if they did, in reality, do this,
 6  that they wouldn't have portaged around that?
 7                 THE WITNESS:  They could have --
 8                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Unless there was no
 9  water below; but if it was during the wintertime, then
10  there would have been water below because it would have
11  been over the dam.
12                 THE WITNESS:  In the three years when
13  I'm sure it went over the dam, absolutely they could
14  have portaged.  I expect that some of them, if they
15  were feeling adventurous, they could have ridden a
16  roller-coaster over it.
17                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  It would have been
18  quite a ride.
19                 THE WITNESS:  Quite a ride.  I can't --
20  I wouldn't try it, but that's me.
21                 The year when it was dry, I think given
22  the construction of diversion dams when there's no
23  storage dam upstream, they automatically divert the
24  capacity of the canal.  They're designed to do that.
25  So then they return the flow for downstream users if --
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 1                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Well, that raises a
 2  curious question, I think.  If they reached the dam and
 3  they didn't want to get out of the boat, but they
 4  decided they'd stay in the canal part of it --
 5                 THE WITNESS:  Right.
 6                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  -- could they not
 7  have gone right on around and --
 8                 THE WITNESS:  And that's my point.  I
 9  think my guess -- and if you read the article, it does
10  not say they boated the Salt River.  They came to the
11  Salt River and then continued on the Gila.  Now, I may
12  be reading way too much into it, and, of course, it's a
13  newspaper article.  I think you've heard a little bit
14  about that.
15                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Yeah.
16                 THE WITNESS:  So I think it's probable
17  they just -- as the dam diverted the river into the
18  Arizona Canal, that would be a beautiful way to
19  transport; and so that's what I think they did.
20                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Yeah.
21                 THE WITNESS:  As you said earlier when
22  we discussed this, it is speculation.  There's so
23  little to go on.
24                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Slade, would it be
25  all right if we took a break now?
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 1                 MR. SLADE:  Absolutely.
 2                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you very much.
 3                 (A recess was taken from 11:03 a.m. to
 4  11:14 a.m.)
 5                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Slade, are you
 6  ready?
 7                 MR. SLADE:  Ready to go.
 8                 THE WITNESS:  I'm ready.
 9                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Gookin, are you
10  ready?
11                 THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir.
12                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Please proceed,
13  Mr. Slade.
14
15               CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)
16  BY MR. SLADE:
17      Q.    Mr. Gookin, I want to try to understand your
18  calculated reconstructed numbers.
19      A.    Yes.
20      Q.    And is the best place to look at that in
21  totality your Figure VI-3 on Page 107 of your report?
22      A.    Oh, that shows the depths based on those
23  numbers.
24      Q.    You calculated for the Salt-Verde confluence
25  just below, that it would be a median of 791 cfs; is
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 1  that right?
 2      A.    Below the confluence, Salt-Verde?  Yes, 791
 3  median.
 4      Q.    Okay.  And that's based on your Gila report
 5  numbers; is that right?
 6      A.    Yes.
 7      Q.    And how did you come up with that 791?
 8      A.    What I did, I would go to a -- I went to a
 9  gaging station that the White Book had used, and that's
10  the report on the water supply of the Lower Colorado
11  River, November 1952, and there's two supplements to it
12  and I always include.  To me, that's one book, looking
13  back in time.
14            The Bureau of Reclamation broke the river
15  down into two basic components, what was there
16  historically in that period and then what they thought
17  needed to be added and subtracted back in.  So I went
18  to the historic record and determined what the
19  distribution of flows was.  I found the 10 percent low
20  flow, I found the median, and I found the mean.  And
21  the reason I found the mean was because I was using
22  periods that didn't always match exactly, it would be
23  off a little bit.  And sometimes there will be gages
24  like here and here, but the Bureau of Reclamation has
25  put its point here, and so I would add two gages and
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 1  compare it to what happened.
 2            That gave me a feeling for the distribution
 3  of the historic flow.  Now the question is, you go
 4  through the White Book and you take each component of
 5  inflow or outflow, and you have to stop and think about
 6  it and go, okay, what would this flow contribute to.
 7            Well, inflows, since most of these reaches
 8  that I'm talking about are -- the inflows are all
 9  ephemeral, then you would expect that they would be
10  very -- they would come at very wet times, when there's
11  a lot of storms.  And so they would count for the
12  average, but they wouldn't count for the median.  So I
13  addressed that accordingly.
14            Man or human-caused losses, irrigation,
15  mining, et cetera, that's going to occur more
16  consistently at year after year, so when I'm adding
17  that water back in, I'm saying that does affect the
18  median.  I said it did affect the baseflow.
19            Now, I looked at other things for the
20  baseflow, and I got several estimates in the Gila
21  report for the baseflows.  I think I picked the Thomsen
22  and Porcello.  And I was looking at it a couple nights
23  ago to review it.  I may have made a -- I've made a
24  minor mistake to be consistent.  I said I took the
25  baseflow from the White Book and did the addition and
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 1  subtraction to get the Salt.  And I did do that.  But
 2  in my Gila report I used the baseflow from Thomsen and
 3  Porcello.  It's off by about, I don't know, 7 cfs, I
 4  think.  It's very small.  And that's an oops.  But
 5  other than that, that's basically how I did it.
 6      Q.    Is there any document that you can compare
 7  your median Salt-Verde confluence number to that you
 8  have been able to find?
 9      A.    No.
10      Q.    Have you had any --
11      A.    Other than what I've said for the White Book,
12  but that's it.
13      Q.    Has anyone reviewed your 791 cfs number for
14  the median?
15      A.    No.
16      Q.    And have you published it anywhere?
17      A.    No, but last night I was thinking about it.
18      Q.    The same question --
19      A.    I really was.
20      Q.    The same question for the low flow of 296;
21  has anyone reviewed that?
22      A.    No.
23      Q.    Have you read the Kent and Kibbey decrees?
24      A.    Yes.
25      Q.    And they estimated that the lowest flow,
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 1  generally, of the Salt was about 300 cfs; is that
 2  right?
 3      A.    I don't remember.
 4      Q.    That's generally what you have for your low
 5  flow?
 6      A.    Yes.
 7      Q.    They're pretty comparable?
 8      A.    I was going to say I wouldn't argue 4 cfs.
 9      Q.    No, and I'm not either.
10      A.    Okay.
11      Q.    Now, that's at the top of Segment 6, right?
12      A.    Right.
13      Q.    And you believe that 200 cfs is then lost in
14  6b; is that right?
15      A.    Some is lost in 6a.  Some of it returns, some
16  of what is lost returns.  Then some of it is lost in 6
17  that goes down in 6b.  Some of it comes back before the
18  confluence.  A lot of it comes back after the
19  confluence with the Gila.  Some of it went south
20  between the Salt and -- the South Mountains and the
21  Sacaton Mountains, in that gap underground, and emerged
22  as underflow for the Gila.
23      Q.    So for Segment 6b you believe the flow is --
24  the median flow for that segment is 581?
25      A.    Yes.
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 1      Q.    And 6b starts at -- what was the location for
 2  the start of 6b, again?
 3      A.    The Old Mill Avenue Bridge, which is
 4  essentially the Hayden Ferry.  Tempe Butte, if that
 5  helps, that right there.
 6      Q.    And can you walk me through how 200 cfs is
 7  lost from the top of Segment 6 to Hayden's Ferry?
 8      A.    Sure.  The water is heading down.  The Salt
 9  River is made in that reach, according to Means, of
10  gravelly sand, which means it's mostly coarse sand with
11  some gravel mixed in, very porous material.  It seeps
12  into the ground.  Some of it would have been
13  intercepted by mesquite and other phreatophytic
14  vegetation on the way to the confluence.
15            Some of the water that's down now in the
16  groundwater and is paralleling, roughly, the Salt River
17  is going to go under the confluence of the Salt and the
18  Gila and emerge later, and that was a lot of the water
19  that the Buckeye Irrigation District used in the early
20  days, and that's where we get a lot of our records as
21  to what was going on.
22            Some of the water, as the Salt built this
23  mound underneath it from these losses, would have
24  flowed south through the gap.  There is conjecture that
25  the Salt River used to do that way back when, and it
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 1  left a coarse underground channel, and that provided an
 2  easy means for water to infiltrate south to the Gila
 3  River, where it either emerged in the Gila River
 4  upstream from the confluence or joined the Salt River
 5  and went under the confluence and came up later,
 6  subject, again, to the phreatophytes on the Middle and
 7  Lower Gila.
 8      Q.    Do you have any references or documents that
 9  state that from Hayden's Mill to the Salt it was
10  typical that 200 cfs was lost?
11      A.    That was my computation, and that's what I've
12  got.
13      Q.    No sources that you can point me to that
14  quantify the amount that might have been lost from --
15      A.    Your best bet would be the Hodges report.  It
16  did a really good study on the return flow of the Salt
17  and Gila Rivers, or the Southworth report.  I know I
18  read them, but I didn't read them with an eye to --
19  well, wait a minute.  Let me go back.  Just a second.
20            Below the confluence I looked at Hodges,
21  Freethey and Anderson, Thomsen, Southworth and USGS
22  1901, which I think is a Lee report.  I'm looking at
23  Page 5.  No.  Well, 5a, I guess you would call it,
24  Figure II-1 in Chapter II of my Gila report, and it
25  shows the various values, and I think I ended up using
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 1  Thomsen.  That was, okay, 74 cfs versus the
 2  80-something.  I don't think it would make a
 3  significant difference in the determination.
 4            And I didn't print out my bibliography.  I'm
 5  sorry.  So I don't know what USGS 1901 is.
 6      Q.    When you say the Thomsen report said there
 7  was a 74 cfs minimum flow, did I hear you correctly?
 8      A.    Yes.
 9      Q.    And that was --
10      A.    That was the Gila Thomsen report.
11      Q.    Was that for the Gila or for the Salt?
12      A.    That was for the Gila and Salt immediately
13  downstream below the confluence.
14      Q.    And what's the name of that report?
15      A.    "Predevelopment Hydrology for the Gila River
16  Indian Reservation," something like that.
17      Q.    So not the Thomsen and Porcello, but the
18  Thomsen and, is it --
19      A.    Yeah, me too.  To me, they're both the
20  Thomsen report.
21      Q.    Eychaner --
22      A.    That sounds right.
23      Q.    -- does that sound familiar?  Okay.
24            So your understanding is in that report they
25  state that the minimum flow of the Salt where it joins
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 1  the Gila is 86 cfs?
 2      A.    No.  They say that the minimum flow that
 3  comes in that's just downstream from the Salt is
 4  74 cfs.
 5      Q.    Okay.
 6      A.    I'm trying to figure out how did it get that
 7  high now.  Oh, wait.  I know how I did it.  I used the
 8  Bureau of Reclamation by mistake.  That's right.  It
 9  would be lower if I had used Thomsen.
10      Q.    Are they talking about the Gila or the Salt?
11      A.    Thomsen said how much was below the
12  confluence.  I had computed how much was above the
13  confluence on the Gila.  If you take below the
14  confluence plus above the confluence on the Gila, you
15  know how much was on the Salt.
16            Now, Thomsen said that the value on the Salt
17  was 74 cfs baseflow.  There was a graph you had to
18  read, I think.
19      Q.    You don't have a citation to that that you
20  can point me to, can you?
21      A.    Just the Thomsen.  Wait a minute.
22            No, I didn't put a page number.  I don't know
23  why.  It was Thomsen and I always pronounce it as
24  Eychaner.
25      Q.    Eychaner.
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 1      A.    But I don't know.
 2      Q.    That sounds better than my butchered
 3  pronunciation.
 4      A.    My citations are on Page 10, Chapter II of
 5  Hydrology, Gila report.
 6      Q.    But it doesn't have a page number for where
 7  your 74 low flow cfs comes from?
 8      A.    No, it doesn't.  I don't know why.
 9      Q.    If I gave you the report, would you be able
10  to point it out?
11      A.    I imagine I had to compute it to come up with
12  it, because if I remember, they did their stuff in
13  annual acre-feet.
14      Q.    Could you tell me the general area where it
15  is if I gave you the report?
16      A.    I would -- I'll try.  Have you got the whole
17  thing?
18                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  What is the
19  citation number on that?
20                 THE WITNESS:  This doesn't have an
21  exhibit number on it.
22                 MR. SLADE:  We'll get that for you,
23  Mr. Chairman, or, excuse me, Commissioner Allen.
24                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  What is the title?
25                 THE WITNESS:  The title is
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 1  "Predevelopment Hydrology of the Gila River Indian
 2  Reservation, South-Central Arizona."
 3                 MS. BREWER:  C043, 369.
 4                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  369?
 5                 THE WITNESS:  Oh, yeah, I think -- okay.
 6  If you go to Page 34.  Correction, 33.  You'll see,
 7  under Outflow, there's the net return flow from aquifer
 8  to, and then there's Gila River near Coolidge, Gila and
 9  Santa Cruz River southeast of Gila Crossing, Gila River
10  northwest of Gila Crossing, and then the underflow west
11  of the confluence.  And I believe if you add all those
12  up and convert the units, you'll come out with 79.3, if
13  I did it right.
14  BY MR. SLADE:
15      Q.    Is that the surface flow --
16      A.    Yeah.
17      Q.    -- that they're talking about?
18      A.    It's the return flow from aquifer, and that's
19  baseflow.  It's the water coming out of the groundwater
20  and going into the surface and thereby leaving the
21  groundwater basin.
22      Q.    Well, the title of the table is "Simulated
23  predevelopment ground-water budget."
24      A.    Right.
25      Q.    So where does it say that's the surface flow?
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 1      A.    Net return flow from aquifer to Gila River.
 2      Q.    So if that's coming from the aquifer, that's
 3  being added to the existing surface flow?
 4      A.    Right, and that's what baseflow is normally
 5  characterized, is the return from the aquifer in the
 6  area where you're talking about.
 7      Q.    So what is that return added to?  What is the
 8  surface water that the return flow is being --
 9      A.    For baseflow you figure it probably had dried
10  up or nearly so, which it did on occasion, and so
11  that's pretty much your lowest flow.
12      Q.    So it's your opinion that the Salt was dry on
13  the surface?
14      A.    Well, no, this is the Gila.
15      Q.    Is it your opinion that the Salt was dry at
16  the surface when it combined with the Gila?
17      A.    No.  I'm pretty sure it had water.
18      Q.    Okay.  So what was the baseflow of the Salt?
19      A.    The baseflow of the Salt then, which you --
20  this total gives you the total underflow coming out.  I
21  had also computed the underflow above the confluence on
22  the Gila.  If you know how much is leaving a system and
23  you've got two inputs and you know how much one of them
24  is and you know we're talking about a long time, so
25  it's not going to -- I mean, you may have short-term
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 1  variations, but we're not trying to fill a reservoir or
 2  anything.  It's straight math to compute the last
 3  component, straight out.  You just take outflow minus
 4  Gila inflow equals Salt inflow.
 5      Q.    Maybe I'm confused, but I'm going to try and
 6  clarify with you.
 7      A.    Okay.
 8      Q.    On your Page 107, your Figure VI-3, you've
 9  got a minimum flow of 86 cfs for the Salt?
10      A.    Yes, and as I said, that was wrong.  I
11  probably should have come up with something smaller.
12  But, okay, go ahead.
13      Q.    And that minimum flow is based on solely the
14  outflow from the aquifer that we can see here on the
15  Thomsen study on Page 33?
16      A.    Yes.  The outflow below the con -- the total
17  outflow of the Gila -- God, I wish I had a board.
18            You've got two rivers joining at the
19  confluence, the Gila River and the Salt River.  The
20  Gila River has a baseflow component creating water in
21  the Gila above the confluence.  You also know what the
22  baseflow is below the confluence, from the records and
23  so forth and from this study.  Then you back out what
24  the Salt must have been, to make it all balance.
25      Q.    And I understand that from an overview
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 1  perspective.  But this is a groundwater budget paper.
 2      A.    Right.
 3      Q.    They're talking about groundwater, not
 4  surface water.  So did your minimum flow of 86 come
 5  from just assuming that the Salt was dry and that
 6  groundwater was coming up?
 7      A.    No, because I gave you a flow for the Salt.
 8  I assumed that the Salt and the Gila together combined
 9  to make all the flow that I found downstream of the
10  Salt and the Gila.  I have a value for the Gila, and I
11  computed the flow from the Salt.
12            It does assume -- this is where you're
13  confused. -- that whatever came in at, say, Granite
14  Reef or at Kelvin on the Gila didn't make it in that
15  really dry day, because while they were both perennial,
16  the USGS says perennial means flow 80 percent of the
17  time or more, and there are a couple records where it
18  had little spots that dried up, which means you've got
19  little to no flow coming down at the mouth of the Salt.
20  So it's all underflow coming up, and that's what you're
21  trying to quantify.
22      Q.    So it's your thought that there was no
23  surface flow on the Salt at the juncture of the Salt
24  with the Gila --
25      A.    No.
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 1      Q.    -- at minimum flow?
 2      A.    No.  It's my thought that somewhere on the
 3  Salt River upstream from the junction there was no
 4  flow, because in Reach 6b the water went down and then
 5  some of it came up.  Now, I say no flow.  There might
 6  have been 1 cfs, but it did have, on a couple very,
 7  very dry days, which we don't consider for
 8  navigability, almost dry up or dry up.  And not every
 9  year even.
10      Q.    What document can you point me to that states
11  that, that the Salt dried up?
12      A.    I can't remember.  I should have put it in.
13  I did have documents on the Gila had dried up; again,
14  very brief points and very seldom.
15      Q.    But that is a pretty important point if
16  you're not considering surface water?
17      A.    Not for baseflow, it's not.  Baseflow is
18  telling you what the river is going to put out in the
19  worst case condition.
20            Now, Mr. Hjalmarson proved to me that that
21  pretty much equals 10 percent flow, and that's what he
22  uses, and I'm not going to argue between the 10 percent
23  and the .01 percent.
24      Q.    But your worst case condition for the Salt
25  assumes that it went dry; is that right?
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 1      A.    Somewhere upstream it went dry or had a very
 2  minor flow for a very short time.
 3      Q.    And can I -- do I understand you to say that
 4  you don't have a document that states that?
 5      A.    Not at my hand, no.
 6      Q.    Do you recall if there's any study that's
 7  ever said the Salt went dry?
 8      A.    I don't remember any study, and I can't
 9  remember where I thought I found somebody who said that
10  they couldn't find -- the Salt River was dry or very,
11  very low.  It would have been in June, almost
12  certainly.
13            Well, excuse me, I have lots of documents
14  that say it was dry, but they're after the diversions.
15      Q.    Sure.  We're thinking about the natural
16  condition.
17      A.    Yeah.
18                 MR. SLADE:  Is there a question?
19
20             EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN
21                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Just a very brief
22  one.
23                 The Buckeye Canal was extended, or maybe
24  it was the Roosevelt Canal that was extended up past
25  91st Avenue, and wells were used to pull water out
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 1  because that particular area was waterlogged during the
 2  early time frame when a lot of irrigation was
 3  occurring.
 4                 THE WITNESS:  Right.
 5                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Was there a return
 6  flow pre-1900 in that particular area?
 7                 THE WITNESS:  Yes, there was.  The
 8  manager of the Roosevelt Irrigation District, and I
 9  can't remember which report, but he told the person
10  that when he first put in the diversion dam, since then
11  the return flow coming up had doubled due to the
12  irrigation diversions and the seepage coming in; but
13  there was some there really before there was much of
14  that occurring.
15                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Is it possible that
16  that happened also during Hohokam?
17                 THE WITNESS:  Sure.
18                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  The same conditions
19  would.
20                 THE WITNESS:  Yeah.
21                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  So the return flow
22  to the river, which would probably have made it
23  perennial throughout that whole reach of 6b?
24                 THE WITNESS:  As long as -- I think the
25  return flow started most of the way through 6b --
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 1                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay.
 2                 THE WITNESS:  -- is when it started
 3  coming up, because what causes the return flow is the
 4  junction of the Sierra Estrellas, the South Mountains,
 5  and the White Tanks and the bedrock connecting the
 6  three underneath, shallowing the groundwater basin.
 7
 8               CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)
 9  BY MR. SLADE:
10      Q.    Mr. Gookin, just to wrap up the minimum flow,
11  you would agree that to understand that the minimum
12  flow was only 86 cfs, we need to know that the Salt
13  River went dry, right?
14      A.    Ordinarily so, yes.
15      Q.    Okay.  But we don't have any document that
16  tells us that it went dry?
17      A.    Yes.
18      Q.    Okay.  That's a problem for understanding how
19  you came up with your calculation, right?
20      A.    Baseflow is normally computed in this manner
21  of what's coming up at the location.  And, again, don't
22  get me wrong.  It's very rare that there's zero.  I
23  don't think the Salt River dried up very often, and
24  that's why I call it baseflow.  That's the contribution
25  at that point.
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 1      Q.    Would it be a better verbiage or would it be
 2  better to call it, instead of minimum flow,
 3  contribution from the aquifer at that point?
 4      A.    Same thing, because the contribution from the
 5  aquifer is what determines your minimum flow.  Think of
 6  a river.  If it's not raining and the snow's not
 7  melting, the only place it gets water is from the
 8  groundwater coming back up, and that's what baseflow
 9  is.
10      Q.    You've been on the Verde, right?  Have you
11  ever seen --
12      A.    Yes.
13      Q.    The Verde has a baseflow?
14      A.    Yes.
15      Q.    And it's not just the contribution from the
16  aquifer underneath; would you agree with that?
17      A.    No.
18      Q.    Can you explain?
19      A.    Baseflow is the flow that comes into the
20  river from the groundwater.  That's the definition of
21  it.
22      Q.    And for the Salt, you would suppose that the
23  baseflow is only contributed to by the aquifer coming
24  up?
25      A.    Yes.
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 1      Q.    Okay.  Do you have any documentation that
 2  supports your theory that the Salt lost 200 cfs from
 3  the Salt-Verde confluence to the beginning of
 4  Segment 6b?
 5      A.    I can't quote it to you now, no.  I thought I
 6  had read it once, but it was many years ago.
 7      Q.    That's a pretty important piece of
 8  information to have, to know if, in fact, the flow was
 9  791 cfs or 581 cfs, as you've proposed, right?
10      A.    Well, you've got to remember, again, that the
11  200 -- excuse me.  I hate having two reports.  I'm
12  spending time looking in the wrong one.
13            The Thomsen report --
14      Q.    Which Thomsen report is that?
15      A.    For the Salt River.
16      Q.    The Porcello report?
17      A.    Yes.
18      Q.    If you could just hold on one second.
19      A.    Never mind, it didn't have the -- it did have
20  a baseflow, but I think at that point you probably
21  would have had surface flow from the Salt, because it
22  had a baseflow of 296 at the confluence there, and
23  that's a short distance to Old Mill Avenue.  So, no, I
24  don't.  I'm sorry.
25      Q.    Okay.  And the 581 cfs number is what you
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 1  used for your construction of your depth?
 2      A.    Yes.  That and the mean depths are primarily
 3  what I looked at.
 4      Q.    Are there any other documents related to how
 5  you constructed your flow that you haven't disclosed as
 6  a reference?
 7      A.    No.
 8      Q.    Then let's turn to your Page 106 of your
 9  report, please.  And this is a picture of the cross
10  section you used for the Salt?
11      A.    Yes.
12      Q.    And how did you come up with this cross
13  section to use?
14      A.    I had a 2-foot topographic map of the
15  Salt-Gila River junction by Olberg, dated 1915, I think
16  I said.  And I thought that pretty fairly represented
17  the channel in 1912.
18      Q.    Did you say 1915?
19      A.    I think it was 1915.  Let me look.
20
21             EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN
22                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Question.
23                 THE WITNESS:  Yes.
24                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  I can't read it
25  from here, but what's the blue line?  Is that the water
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 1  level?
 2                 THE WITNESS:  The blue line is the
 3  baseflow water level.
 4                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay.  Okay.
 5                 THE WITNESS:  The green line is the
 6  median flow water level, and the red line is the mean
 7  flow water level.
 8                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay.  And where is
 9  this located?
10                 THE WITNESS:  This would be located --
11                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  It's very close
12  to the baseline point.
13                 THE WITNESS:  Oh, yeah.  It's like a
14  mile or two upstream from the confluence --
15                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay.
16                 THE WITNESS:  -- with the Gila.
17
18               CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)
19  BY MR. SLADE:
20      Q.    So you chose this because it was in your
21  client's area, or what was your criteria for choosing
22  this area?
23      A.    Three reasons.  One, I had it.  I guess that
24  makes four reasons.  Second, it's 2-foot contours,
25  where USGS maps are 5-foot contours, and, therefore,
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 1  the accuracy is presumed better.  Third, it was very
 2  close in time to statehood.  Fourth, it was on my
 3  client's boundary.
 4            And I attached pictures of that portion of
 5  the map in my appendix at the very end, in Appendix A,
 6  right before Appendix B, the last two pages.  And they
 7  say it was by Southworth, but I've read elsewhere that
 8  Olberg was the poor shmuck who had to go in the field
 9  and do the measurements, and that's why I call it the
10  Olberg map.
11      Q.    So if we're looking at that cross section,
12  again, this is on your Page 106 of your Salt River
13  report --
14      A.    Yes.
15      Q.    -- you've got a median flow line in green; is
16  that correct?
17      A.    Yes, I believe so.
18      Q.    Okay.  Would you expect that number to go up
19  if you -- that line to move up and have a higher depth,
20  if you didn't use the 581 and you instead use the
21  791 cfs?
22      A.    Yes.
23      Q.    Do you know what that depth would be if you
24  used 791 instead?
25      A.    I'm trying to see if Mr. Fuller has a cross
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 1  section near it, and I thought I included -- oh, here.
 2            No.  I do know that be -- oh, below -- above
 3  581, according to Mr. Fuller, the mean depth would
 4  be -- at 1,400 cfs, which is almost double, it's only
 5  gone up to 2.1 feet mean depth.  So because of the fact
 6  it's widening out so fast, it doesn't increase very
 7  quickly.
 8      Q.    But you don't know what -- your cross section
 9  specifically, what the depth would be at a median flow
10  of 791 as opposed to 581?
11      A.    Correct.
12      Q.    Okay.  Do you know it would be greater, the
13  depth?
14      A.    It would be greater at 791 than it would be
15  at 781 [sic], yes.  And I also know, based on the other
16  thing, it almost certainly would be below 2 foot.
17      Q.    And if the -- the blue line is your minimum
18  depth.
19      A.    Right.
20      Q.    If it turns out that the Salt River never
21  went dry, would your minimum depth also be greater?
22      A.    Yes.
23      Q.    Is this the only cross section that you
24  prepared for your --
25      A.    Yes.
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 1      Q.    Okay.  And --
 2      A.    One thing I would like to say about this
 3  cross section.  It's written on there, but just to
 4  emphasize, the Salt River doesn't look like those
 5  canyons up there.  That canyon effect is totally due to
 6  the extreme exaggeration to make it fit the page.
 7      Q.    In other words, the width would be a lot
 8  wider than the height?
 9      A.    Yeah.
10      Q.    And here we have the height wider than the
11  width?
12      A.    Yeah.  It's very misleading.
13      Q.    Can a small boat navigate in 1 and a half
14  feet of depth, in your opinion?
15      A.    If I knew what a small boat was, I would have
16  computed the Day trip.
17      Q.    So you didn't do any computation on how much
18  depth a small boat needs?
19      A.    I don't even know what a small boat means.
20      Q.    And is that the same answer you have for
21  canoe?
22      A.    Yes.  Yes.
23      Q.    And is that the same answer you have for a
24  small boat loaded with goods?
25      A.    A small boat loaded with goods would be
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 1  deeper than a small boat loaded without goods,
 2  depending on how many goods you put into the small
 3  boat.
 4      Q.    You don't have any calculations or estimates
 5  that you did to figure out the draw or the depth of
 6  water needed?
 7      A.    You give me no numbers, you'll get no
 8  numbers.
 9      Q.    You didn't come up with anything?
10      A.    No.
11      Q.    Do you know what the flow was when the Edith
12  made its trip?
13      A.    Oh, 600 and -- do you know?
14      Q.    653, does that sound about right?
15      A.    That sounds about right.
16      Q.    Okay.  And is that below the median value
17  that you calculated for the top of Segment 6?
18      A.    Yes, but that includes the Verde.
19      Q.    Right.
20            So if you had that median --
21      A.    You can't move that median up into Segment 5
22  past the -- because of the Verde.
23      Q.    Sure.  If you had that median in Segment 6a
24  and 6b, we could test to see -- if there was that
25  amount of water, you could have tested to see if the
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 1  Edith could have also floated through that area, if we
 2  had that availability?
 3      A.    Even if you had it, it wouldn't be the
 4  natural river.
 5      Q.    Is it your belief that a segment has to be
 6  19 miles or longer to be navigable?  I thought I heard
 7  you say that in the November hearing.
 8      A.    That is truly a legal question.  I know the
 9  Court says it has to be a meaningful distance.  There
10  was a lot of discussion about the 19-foot -- or
11  19 miles by the Supreme Court.  I'm talking about PPL
12  Montana now.  I didn't find -- it seemed to imply, but
13  I didn't find an exact statement that said you needed
14  19 miles.  Maybe an attorney can correct me.  But it
15  didn't really come up, because the ones I said were too
16  short were usually less than 10 miles.
17      Q.    In the Lower Salt?
18      A.    Yes.
19      Q.    There were some dams in the Lower Salt,
20  right, at the time those accounts occurred?
21      A.    Yes.
22      Q.    Would that have been a factor for potentially
23  the distance that boats traveled if there were dams?
24      A.    Certainly.  As I put in my report, all the
25  stuff after the dams is really of minimal probative --
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 1  it's a legal word.  Probative value?  I got it?  Okay.
 2            That was from the Winkleman decision.
 3      Q.    I believe you stated in your report that the
 4  Salmon River was nonnavigable?
 5      A.    As best I could find.
 6      Q.    So you haven't seen the Idaho Supreme Court
 7  case that states the Salmon River is navigable?
 8      A.    Correct, and -- well, I haven't seen it, so I
 9  don't know if it's navigable for title or what, but...
10      Q.    And the Salmon River, I'm not sure if you
11  know this.  Maybe you do or do not.  Is the Salmon
12  River one of those rivers where boats were built, taken
13  downstream, and then sold for lumber?
14      A.    Yes.
15      Q.    Do you know if the Salmon River has rapids?
16      A.    Yes, it does.
17      Q.    More severe rapids than Segment 6 of the Salt
18  would have had, in your opinion?
19      A.    I have no idea.  I'm sorry.  That's just not
20  my thing.
21      Q.    Does a portage on a river make a river
22  nonnavigable, one portage of a mile or less?
23      A.    Well, the way the Supreme Court said it in
24  PPL Montan was, "Even if portage --" this is Page 18.
25  "Even if portage were to take travelers only one day,
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 1  its significance is the same:  It demonstrates the need
 2  to bypass the river segment, all because that part of
 3  the river is nonnavigable."
 4            So one portage of a day nullifies a segment,
 5  from what I read.  As to a mile, it depends on --
 6  sometimes to go portage 1 mile, you have to go 30 miles
 7  out of the way, or there could be so many goods that
 8  you're going to just be going back and forth so many
 9  times it takes a day.
10      Q.    Are there any portages that you would expect
11  to see on Segment 6 of the Lower Salt that would have
12  taken a day?
13      A.    Again, it would depend on how big the boats
14  were, because -- and I still feel, with the beaver dam,
15  if you've got one every 100 yards, like the observer
16  who was there in natural times said, that's going to
17  mount up to more than a day.  And it doesn't say if a
18  single portage.  It's just "if portage," which I think
19  is a plural the way it's written.
20      Q.    So if there were beaver dams across the
21  channel on the Salt every hundred yards or so --
22      A.    Right.
23      Q.    -- that, to you, would indicate that that
24  area is nonnavigable?
25      A.    And in the natural condition, yes.
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 1      Q.    Do riffles make a river nonnavigable; not
 2  rapids, but riffles?
 3      A.    Depends on the boat.  I mean some boats
 4  really can't handle much of anything.  Mr. Fuller
 5  indicated barges can't handle rapids, and I think he
 6  said riffles; and I agree with that.  They're just --
 7  it's not going to work.
 8      Q.    Did you do any studies or talk to anyone to
 9  discover if a small boat or a canoe, which is a small
10  boat variety, would have any trouble boating with a
11  loaded boat over riffles?
12      A.    Certainly a modern-day doesn't.
13      Q.    How about --
14      A.    Oh, did I talk to anybody?  No.
15      Q.    What is your ordinary range of flow for
16  Segment 6?
17      A.    I accepted Mr. Fuller's, because I didn't
18  have anything -- and I don't mean this as nasty as it
19  sounds. -- because I didn't have anything better.  I
20  couldn't come up with it.  His seemed reasonable, so I
21  accepted that range.
22            That wasn't an insult, the way I phrased it.
23                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  You're fine.
24  BY MR. SLADE:
25      Q.    What are the differences, in your opinion,
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 1  between Segment 6a and 6b, all the physical
 2  characteristic differences?
 3      A.    The big difference is you have the return
 4  flows at the end of each, and that means that 6b pretty
 5  much stands alone.  It's longer, a lot longer than 6a,
 6  and, therefore, would have more propensity to lose
 7  water.  That's the big one.  That's about all I know of
 8  it.
 9      Q.    In terms of channel pattern or slope?
10      A.    I haven't checked the slope.  The pattern, it
11  seems equally multichanneled.
12      Q.    Bed material?
13      A.    I've seen the soil survey for 6b.  I'm not
14  aware of one for 6a.  It may be different.  I just
15  don't know.
16      Q.    Vegetation?
17      A.    Pretty similar.
18      Q.    And depth?
19      A.    Probably pretty similar, but I don't know.
20      Q.    And in terms of flow rate, we already
21  discussed that.  It's your opinion that 6b would have
22  200 cfs less than 6a?
23      A.    Is that what it comes out?  Yes.
24      Q.    Roughly.
25      A.    In low flow or median flow?
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 1      Q.    Median flow.
 2      A.    Yes.
 3            Well, it's not going to help.  I know I've
 4  read that the Salt River was a losing river through
 5  there, but that doesn't nail 200 for you.
 6      Q.    Do you have any documentation that says the
 7  Salt River was ever below 300 cfs in Segment 6 at any
 8  place?
 9      A.    Oh, yeah, lots; but that's after the dams.
10      Q.    Sure.  In its natural condition.
11      A.    There are no gage records in its natural
12  condition.
13      Q.    Well, for example, the Kibbey Decree talks
14  about the low flow of the Salt being 300 cfs.  Are
15  there any other documents that you can recall that talk
16  about the low flow of the Salt?
17      A.    Well, the Kibbey Decree, was that at the
18  Salt-Verde confluence?
19      Q.    Couldn't tell you sitting here today.
20      A.    Okay.  If it's not at the Salt-Verde
21  confluence, it's after a lot of dams were built and a
22  lot of irrigation and it was after or about the time
23  Arizona Dam came online.  So that's what I've got.
24      Q.    Okay.  And just a few more questions.
25  Hopefully we can finish up by lunch here.
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 1            You mentioned that wooden canoes are much
 2  stronger today than they were in their historical time
 3  period; is that right?
 4      A.    Yes.
 5      Q.    And can you tell me why that would be the
 6  case?
 7      A.    Primarily because -- and I'm not talking
 8  about a replica canoe.  And I am not talking about a
 9  replica canoe.  I'm talking about a canoe made today
10  just to be a canoe.
11            The coatings that you put on the canoes, such
12  as the clear epoxy resin, give it a considerable amount
13  of extra strength and protection, and there are other
14  coatings; but they didn't have those back then.  That's
15  the reason.
16            Oh, also, they do understand structures
17  better now.
18      Q.    Anything else you can consider with regard to
19  differences in today's wood canoes versus wood canoes
20  in the historical time?
21      A.    Just looking to make sure.
22            The one source I had also references
23  varnishes are stronger.  That's it.
24      Q.    Did you consider modern recreation that takes
25  place on Segment 5 on the river today as any evidence
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 1  that the river can be navigated in historical times?
 2      A.    No.
 3                 MR. SLADE:  Mr. Chairman, if I could
 4  just have a minute to consult with my expert and
 5  counsel, I think I'm wrapping it up.
 6                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Slade, we observe
 7  that Mr. Hood was only able to have two donuts, and he
 8  looks positively famished, but we will delay his lunch
 9  just a little bit longer for you to consult.  And
10  that's a joke.
11                 MR. SLADE:  Well, we could also take
12  lunch and we could come back and do this again.
13                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  No, no, go ahead,
14  please, because they're not going to be happy coming
15  back just to watch Mark's video either.
16                 (A brief recess was taken.)
17                 MR. SLADE:  That's it.
18                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Well, let's talk a
19  little bit about what we're going to do for the rest of
20  the day.  We're off the record.
21                 (A lunch recess was taken from
22  12:11 p.m. to 1:31 p.m.)
23                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Will the record
24  reflect that Mr. Henness is not present.
25                 Is Mr. Horton back?  When he walks in
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 1  the door, you start the thing, okay.
 2                 MR. MCGINNIS:  For the record, this is
 3  Exhibit C027.
 4                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, Mr. McGinnis,
 5  please.
 6                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Yes.  What you're about
 7  to see is a movie, short movie, that's an exhibit in
 8  the record.  It was submitted by SRP.  SRP didn't make
 9  the movie.  It's readily available on the internet.  I
10  don't know who made it, but it probably says on here.
11  And we thought it might be an efficient way to talk
12  about the history of this event at Quartzite Falls,
13  without a whole bunch of testimony.
14                 ("Quartzite's Fall:  A Wilderness Tale"
15  movie was played and transcribed as follows:)
16                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  Rocks that run across
17  river bottoms are the bones of giant sleeping beasts,
18  which come to life as the river rises.  For river
19  rafters in the West, Quartzite Falls was a pinnacle in
20  the pursuit of the ultimate wilderness experience.
21                 MR. MARK DUBOIS:  It is the miracle of
22  life out here.  The first time I took people down
23  rivers, I remember seeing people smiling like I had
24  never seen in my life, and I realized it was something
25  about being in these wild, magical places.  I mean this
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 1  is one of the most unique ecosystems I've ever seen.
 2  There's so many things to learn out here.  It's a
 3  living classroom for everyone.
 4                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  Decades ago the Upper
 5  Salt River was protected under the Wilderness Act and
 6  set aside as a place for inspiration, recreation, and
 7  solitude.  Despite the wilderness designation, the
 8  Salt's most remarkable feature was destroyed.
 9                 The Salt River cuts from pinion forests
10  to the Sonoran Desert.  Its journey begins in Eastern
11  Arizona on the Fort Apache Reservation.
12                 MS. EVA WATT:  It makes me feel happy to
13  see flow down, to see it go to different -- so many
14  different places.  It's keeping so many things alive.
15                 MR. TRAVIS HESSE:  We are taught that
16  the river is a living being, that it shouldn't be
17  messed with.  A lot of our kids are taught that.  And
18  as they grow older, they have certain respect for the
19  river and maybe some fear.
20                 MS. EVA WATT:  So you have to watch the
21  river.  It's dangerous.  If you're in the water and the
22  flood comes, then you're gone.
23                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  The Class IV
24  whitewater section drops over 20 feet per mile through
25  52 miles of free-flowing water in the Tonto National
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 1  Forest.
 2                 In 1984 Congress designated the most
 3  remote section of the Salt River a wilderness, a place
 4  that could not legally be developed or altered.
 5                 MR. MIKE ROSEMAN:  It's the biology, the
 6  geology, the shear ruggedness of the country.  It's a
 7  place where you can be free of city noises.  Ideally,
 8  it's set aside to always remain wild and be free of
 9  human interference.
10                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  To navigate the Salt
11  River Canyon, visitors must have advanced whitewater
12  skills, travel with an experienced boater, or hire a
13  commercial guide, because at Mile 28 there is an
14  unnavigable rapid called Quartzite Falls.  It is a
15  place where the canyon walls pinch the river over a
16  steep ledge and the water flowing over the rock creates
17  what's known as a keeper hole, a hydraulic suction that
18  draws water from both up and downstream, a feature that
19  could stop, hold, and recirculate a boat or a person
20  indefinitely.
21                 MR. MIKE STAMPS:  All that water has
22  just come from downstream and filled right back into
23  that thing, so it was just a big folding interface of
24  water.  The big piece of going out was, was being real
25  scared and dealing with it.  You know, you've got to go
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 1  to this level in your head where if I don't execute
 2  this in this way, my very worst fears are going to
 3  become reality.  And that's really the big draw of
 4  being in real scary situations.  I have my own destiny
 5  in my hands, and you literally do.  You have that
 6  opportunity to seize your own destiny.
 7                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  The action of the
 8  hydraulic could reach downstream and pull a full-sized
 9  boat back into the keeper hole.
10                 Usually boaters would only run the Falls
11  at lower water levels, when its billion-year-old ledges
12  were visible and benign.  Higher water levels demanded
13  that boaters either portage their rafts around the
14  rapid or send their boats down through the Falls on
15  ropes without passengers.
16                 MR. KEVIN McCOMBE:  Folks that wanted to
17  float this river had to work for it.  They had to earn
18  it by getting around that waterfall one way or other.
19                 MR. MIKE STAMPS:  You only had one or
20  two or three things you could do.  You know, you could
21  take your life in your hands and run it; you could do
22  the technical thing and line it on the right; or you
23  could do the very hard work of making the portage on
24  the left.
25                 MS. BRENDA INSLEY:  Having something out
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 1  there that was beyond your grasp kept you wanting more.
 2                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  Once a guide could
 3  manage the other rapids on the Salt, the time would
 4  come to face Quartzite Falls.
 5                 MR. KEVIN McCOMBE:  You know it's
 6  Quartzite day, and you know you've got to go down with
 7  your heart in your throat and this fear, this real
 8  fear.
 9                 MR. MIKE STAMPS:  You get down to the
10  Danger Falls eddy and then, you know, the whole thing
11  just seemed to close into this black gutter, and you
12  get tunnel vision and you get all scared.
13                 MR. KEVIN McCOMBE:  And just the thrill
14  of making that eddy and pulling into that eddy and
15  landing and then going through the process of carrying
16  my gear around that thing is just kind of a humbling
17  experience.  And you're doing something on the terms of
18  the wilderness versus human terms.
19                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  High-risk sports have
20  consequences.  Each year as many as 20 people die
21  whitewater rafting in the United States.  At the end of
22  the 1993 boating season, two men drowned at Quartzite
23  Falls.
24                 MR. ROGER SABA:  I talked to Kevin, the
25  forest ranger, and he said, "Man, there's been an event
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 1  down there.  The Falls is gone."
 2                 And I went, wow, how did that happen?
 3  What kind of event would do that?  I mean this rock was
 4  embedded.  It was solid.  It was -- nothing was moving
 5  it.  We started poking around, and we couldn't figure
 6  out why some of these rocks had moved upstream if it
 7  was a flow event.  The edge of the ledge that's left is
 8  very sharply cut, and said, well, you know, this isn't
 9  a flood.  Somebody blew it up.
10                 MR. KEVIN McCOMBE:  We hiked in, and we
11  found big chunks of rock.  We found pieces of fuse, and
12  then we found a partially burned box, which apparently
13  turned out to be a pretty significant clue and piece of
14  evidence.
15                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  Agent Mitchell from
16  the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms reviewed
17  the material left at the site.
18                 MR. JON MITCHELL:  We realized that we
19  might have better luck solving this case than we
20  originally thought, because now we knew we had a binary
21  explosive, as opposed to possibly dynamite.
22                 MR. BUD SHAVER:  Jon Mitchell was able
23  to track the explosives by the type that they were --
24  they were kind of unusual. -- to a company here in
25  Phoenix that had sold those particular types of
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 1  explosives only to two people, the Arizona Department
 2  of Transportation and Richard Scott.
 3                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  Richard Scott and
 4  some of his boyhood friends were passengers on a
 5  commercial rafting trip in May of '93.
 6                 MR. BUD SHAVER:  And during that rafting
 7  trip people had discussed what a problem Quartzite
 8  Falls were, and they discussed it with one of the
 9  guides.  He said they were drinking and they were under
10  alcohol.  He didn't know if they were being -- were
11  serious about it or not.
12                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  An expert in mining
13  and blasting, Richard Scott helped detonate explosives
14  at Quartzite Falls on five separate occasions.
15                 MR. RICHARD SCOTT:  We thought it would
16  be a combination of a healthy adventure and an
17  opportunity to do something, as we were led to believe,
18  that no one would really object to; that everyone had
19  talked about doing this for years and years, and it was
20  really a liability to the people on the river.
21                 MS. BRENDA INSLEY:  There's a whole lot
22  of people that now are believing he did it to make it
23  safe.  But, quote, now it's safe?  It's not safe.  It's
24  a river.  You know, it will never be safe.
25                 MR. MIKE ROSEMAN:  I was really
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 1  appalled, especially when I started figuring out that
 2  it was a river guide that blew it up.  I didn't think
 3  you could find any river guides that would ever think
 4  of such a thing.
 5                 MR. KEVIN McCOMBE:  I got a phone call
 6  asking -- these guys asking if I knew of a river guide
 7  named Taz, and I said, yeah, a guy Ken Stoner.
 8                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  Ken Stoner worked as
 9  a construction manager during the week and as a river
10  guide on the weekends.
11                 MR. KEN 'TAZ' STONER:  Yeah, the seven
12  other men that were involved in this had the same
13  motive as I did, to just make this safer.  Nobody's
14  gained anything on this.  Nobody was paid anything.  It
15  was all done, you know, through our own funds and
16  resources and labors to accomplish this.
17                 MR. BUD SHAVER:  Mr. Stoner told me that
18  when you're lying out ropes and you've got a lot of
19  inexperienced people and you're trying to portage a
20  place like Quartzite Falls, it scared him to death.
21  And that, along with the two drownings that occurred,
22  he felt he needed to take some action.  But I think
23  some of his stuff was more -- a little more personal
24  than the rest of it, because it makes the river
25  runner's -- commercial river runner's job a little bit
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 1  easier.
 2                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  Boating the Upper
 3  Salt became increasingly popular in the high water
 4  years of the '80s and early 1990s.  As a result of
 5  increased traffic on the river, Sunday afternoon
 6  bottlenecks began to form at the Falls that could delay
 7  trips by as much as half a day.  Some boaters think
 8  that making a navigable rapid was the motive behind the
 9  blastings.
10                 MR. KEN 'TAZ' STONER:  The top drop in
11  this rapid will be a strong Class III.  It's going to
12  be a very exciting rapid to run and as hard as anything
13  on the Salt River that it has to offer.
14                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Well, a lot of
15  people think there would be a commercial profit motive
16  taking out the drop here.
17                 MR. KEN 'TAZ' STONER:  There was no
18  payment on that, and there were two of us that had a
19  polygraph to prove that that was not the case.
20                 MR. PAUL CHARLTON:  This was an
21  ignorant, stupid, reckless act.  It wasn't, I don't
22  believe, genuinely designed to save anyone's life.  I
23  think it was designed to make their lives easier, and
24  for the most part, the other individuals wanted to go
25  out for a little bit of an adventure and see things
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 1  blow up.  And that's pathetic.
 2                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  Ken Stoner, Richard
 3  Scott, and the six men who helped them were charged
 4  with felonies for conspiracy and destruction of Federal
 5  property.
 6                 MS. JANET NAPOLITANO:  When you have a
 7  case like a Quartzite Falls case, where explosives are
 8  taken to take out one of the most notable features of a
 9  river that has been protected, you know, there's
10  something taken that is not only impossible to value,
11  but also impossible to replace.  In our view, demanded
12  the intervention of Federal prosecutors.
13                 MR. BARRY YOUNG:  The Federal Government
14  got this guy.  They prosecuted him, actually persecuted
15  him.  They fined him $30,000 for destroying government
16  property, and all he did was blow up some rocks that
17  were in the river making for hazardous whitewater
18  navigating.  This earth was given to us to manipulate.
19  We dig things out of the earth.  We destroy mountains.
20  We tunnel through.  We do all kinds of things.  I don't
21  think there was any problem in manipulating the river
22  to make it safer for rafters.
23                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  In the early part of
24  the 20th century, explosives were used regularly by the
25  Corps of Engineers to build dams, remove obstacles to
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 1  navigation, and reduce public hazards.
 2                 MR. RICHARD SCOTT:  It was very common
 3  back East to blast an obstruction to navigation.  Not
 4  as common to blast an obstruction for river rafting,
 5  commercial river lifting or recreational rafting
 6  purposes, though that clearly has been done.
 7                 MR. ROBERT FINKBINE:  I know in the old
 8  days they used to blow the hell out of rivers to make
 9  channels, but that was before the dawn of an
10  environmental consciousness and of why wilderness might
11  be important in an age that's so overcrowded and
12  overpopulated and technological, you know.  With the
13  bit of wilderness we have left, it becomes more and
14  more precious to us.
15                 MS. JANET NAPOLITANO:  What would we say
16  if they went and blew up part of Half Dome in Yosemite
17  so that rock climbers wouldn't have accidents?  In the
18  Quartzite Falls instance, it was very important that we
19  send that message; that we are going to protect value
20  of wilderness, and we don't mean it in a dollar and
21  sense way.  We mean it in a qualitative sense.
22                 MR. RICHARD SCOTT:  In retrospect, of
23  course we wish we hadn't done this.  Our efforts were
24  not rewarded by anything dramatic in our lives other
25  than a prosecution.
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 1                 RICHARD SCOTT, SR.:  I think it's quite
 2  sad that individuals in this case, who were wrong in
 3  the act that they did, must be incarcerated over a
 4  rock.
 5                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  Richard Scott was
 6  sentenced to one year in a Federal prison.  Ken Stoner,
 7  however, did not appear at the courthouse for
 8  sentencing.
 9                 MS. CAROL CAVAZOS:  A Federal Judge has
10  ordered the arrest of a man responsible for blowing up
11  Quartzite Falls along the Salt River.  Taz Stoner
12  disappeared just as he was about to be sentenced.
13  Authorities believe Stoner may have fled the country,
14  and he won't be sentenced until he's caught.
15                 MS. BRENDA INSLEY:  Quartzite was -- my
16  first year of guiding, it was the biggest challenge I
17  ever faced; and so for it to be gone, it's like a lot
18  of people like to go back and relive their glory days.
19  I'll never be able to.
20                 MR. MARK DUBOIS:  How do we have places
21  in the world where you have to be on your own
22  recognizance?  Gandhi said that the food is only along
23  the edge of the limbs.  Well, most of us like to stay
24  close to the trunk of the tree where it's solid, but
25  out on the edge is where life is rich.


Coash & Coash, Inc.







SALT RIVER     VOLUME 16      02/26/2016 Page 3543


 1                 MR. MIKE ROSEMAN:  I am really grateful
 2  to those early conservation pioneers, who recognized
 3  that future generations were going to need preservation
 4  of wilderness.  And perhaps that's where we should be
 5  having discussion, is about what is a wilderness and
 6  what is the importance of having a wilderness ethic.
 7                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  There is a river
 8  canyon in the desert Southwest, and deep in the heart
 9  of this canyon there is a territory of fear and
10  fortitude, a stretch of water people seldom navigated,
11  a place where the river swallowed itself whole.  Its
12  name was Quartzite Falls.
13                 (End of "Quartzite's Fall:  A Wilderness
14  Tale" movie presentation and transcription.)
15                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, that concludes
16  today's session.
17                 (The proceedings adjourned at 1:53 p.m.)
18
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 1      CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Good morning.
 2  Mr. Mehnert, will you please call roll?
 3      MR. MEHNERT: Yes, sir, I will be happy
 4  to.  Commissioner Allen?
 5      COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Here.
 6      DIRECTOR MEHNERT: Commissioner Henness?
 7      COMMISSIONER HENNESS: Present.
 8      DIRECTOR MEHNERT: Commissioner Horton?
 9      COMMISSIONER HORTON: Here.
10      DIRECTOR MEHNERT: Chairman Noble?
11      CHAIRMAN NOBLE: I am here.
12      Are there any preliminary matters today?
13      If not, Mr. Slade, are you ready to
14  begin?
15      MR. SLADE: Ready.
16      CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. Gookin?
17      THE WITNESS: I'm ready.
18  
19      CROSS-EXAMINATION
20      BY MR. SLADE: 
21  Q.   Good morning, Mr. Gookin.
22  A.   Good morning.
23  Q.   Again, Eddie Slade with the Arizona State
24    Land Department.  Finally we get to have a
25    conversation.  I know you've been called for a number
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 1    of times, and we haven't gotten to you.  So thank you
 2    for sticking with us and being prepared every time.
 3  A.   Well, we'll see if I'm prepared today.
 4  Q.   The first thing I would like to ask you about
 5    is some of your standards for navigability, and I was a
 6    little confused in hearing your testimony about what
 7    type of boats you considered for navigability on the
 8    Lower Salt.
 9        And, actually, let me back up a little bit.
10    Is your opinion based specifically for the Segment 6 of
11    the Gila, as you've defined it, and 6a, 6?
12  A.   I certainly emphasize 6a and 6b, but I did
13    look at some of the others, particularly with regard to
14    the historic record.
15  Q.   In terms of your opinion on nonnavigability
16    of the Salt, can you give me specifically the segments
17    that you're saying are nonnavigable?
18  A.   1 through 6.
19  Q.   1 through 6.  And what segments have you done
20    a detailed study of?
21  A.   6b.
22  Q.   Have you done any detailed study of 6a?
23  A.   I computed the virgin flow and I have studied
24    it in detail, but I did not do a cross section.
25  Q.   So in terms of 1 through 6a, the only study
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 1    you've done is to look at the historical accounts; is
 2    that accurate?
 3  A.   I did look at the channel shapes in 6a and
 4    the obstacles in 6a and, of course, both of those in
 5    6b.
 6  Q.   Right.  So for 1 through 5, Segments 1
 7    through 5, did you look at any of the channel shape,
 8    the hydrology?
 9  A.   In 5 in my PowerPoint I did look at the
10    channel shape with regard to changes since virgin
11    times.  Well, I know Reach 4 has completely changed,
12    because it's totally underwater.  I didn't have to look
13    at that long.  But above that, no, I didn't.
14  Q.   Are you comfortable making an assessment of
15    nonnavigability based on the hydrologic and
16    geomorphologic characteristics of Segment 5 that you've
17    considered?
18  A.   I did not do a cross section, so I would have
19    to say probably not.  I believe the historic record
20    does not support it, and it did change; that I can say.
21  Q.   But from a susceptibility analysis where
22    you're looking at the hydrology and the geomorphology,
23    you're not comfortable opining on whether that segment,
24    Segment 5, is navigable or nonnavigable?
25  A.   Correct.  I did not do depth calculations.
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 1        And when you say navigable, I assume you're
 2    referring to susceptible to navigable.
 3  Q.   That's right.
 4        The same question for Segment 6a.  Are you
 5    comfortable making a determination of navigability or
 6    nonnavigability based on the hydrologic and
 7    geomorphologic research that you did?
 8  A.   Yes, I think I am, primarily based on the
 9    extensive braiding, compound channel, multiple channel,
10    multiple thread, whatever we want to call it, that
11    existed in reach 6a.
12        Can I remind the Commission what 6a and 6b
13    are?
14  Q.   Absolutely.  Please.
15  A.   I accepted Mr. Fuller's Reaches for 1 through
16    5.  In Reach 6 I felt that it really had two
17    groundwater basins underlying it that did affect the
18    flows, and so to minimize the confusion, I broke it
19    into 6a, which is from the beginning of 6 down to where
20    Old Mill Road Bridge is, the crossing right at Hayden's
21    Ferry; and then from there -- and that's 6a, the top
22    part.  And then from there down to the Gila is 6b.
23        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. Gookin, do we
24    understand you to say that your use of the term "reach"
25    is synonymous with --
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 1        THE WITNESS: Segment.
 2        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: -- the term "segment"?
 3        THE WITNESS: I'm sorry.  Segment I
 4    should be saying.
 5        BY MR. SLADE: 
 6  Q.   So when you said you started at 6, you mean
 7    the confluence of the Verde and the Salt to Hayden's
 8    Ferry is your 6a?
 9  A.   Yes.
10  Q.   Okay, and Segment 5 that we just talked about
11    where you're not comfortable on making a susceptibility
12    determination, that's from Stewart Mountain Dam to the
13    confluence of the Verde and the Salt?
14  A.   Yes.
15  Q.   And that's the reach that's boated today, do
16    you have that understanding?
17  A.   Yes.
18        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: And, again, Mr. Slade,
19    do we understand when you use the word "reach," that
20    you are also talking about segment?
21        MR. SLADE: Yes.
22        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Thank you.
23        BY MR. SLADE: 
24  Q.   What type of boat did you consider when you
25    made the determination that Segments 6a and 6b is
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 1    nonnavigable?
 2  A.   I've looked at three boats, or two boats and
 3    one group of boats, I should say.  I did do an analysis
 4    on the Edith with regard to the susceptibility due to
 5    the economic problems that would occur if that had to
 6    use a one-way travel.  I did an analysis on the canoes
 7    based on information in Mr. Fuller's reports.  Again,
 8    as to the economics -- oh, also the Sears catalog that
 9    was disclosed, and the problem, if you had a canoe,
10    with going just one way.  That's what's being proposed.
11        The third group is all the incredible amount
12    of information that the Special Master in Utah pulled
13    together, and for that I just relied on his conclusions
14    as -- well, on his conclusions; but, particularly, the
15    mean average depth of 3 feet.
16  Q.   Do you have the Special Master report with
17    you today?
18  A.   I think I have it electronically.
19  Q.   If I give you a copy, would you be able to
20    point out to me where the Special Master makes the
21    determination that 3 feet is required?
22  A.   Eventually, but it would take a long time.
23    It's towards the end, but I don't remember the page.
24  Q.   Do you have a citation in your report that
25    says specifically where the Special Master says that
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 1    3 feet is required?
 2  A.   It would not be in the Salt River report,
 3    because I referred back to my discussion in the Gila
 4    River, rather than just repeat it.
 5  Q.   I also have your Gila River report so --
 6  A.   And I do too.
 7        Okay, I cited to the case.  This is in
 8    Chapter 4 of the Gila, my Gila report.
 9  Q.   I'm better with page numbers, if you have --
10  A.   Page 2 in Chapter 4.
11        No, I did not cite a page.  I'm sorry.
12  Q.   Were you here for Mr. Burtell's testimony?
13  A.   Yes.
14  Q.   Are you aware that the standard for Federal
15    navigability, improvement of rivers, is a different
16    standard than the navigability standard for title,
17    which we're dealing with in this case?
18  A.   I honestly don't know it.  I did research the
19    Federal standards, and they are considerably higher
20    than the Utah standard.  So I guess if Utah is a
21    standard, then they're different.
22  Q.   You don't know if the standard that's
23    required for improving a river is a different standard
24    than the standard for title purposes?
25  A.   I don't know the legality of that.  One
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 1    thing -- let me be clear.  I am assuming, when you say
 2    a standard, you're talking lawyer speak, which does not
 3    require a specific number to be set forth for the depth
 4    or number of rapids per mile or any of that stuff.  Am
 5    I correct?  Or if I'm talking about engineering speak,
 6    there is no standard except Utah that I've seen for
 7    navigability.
 8  Q.   So it's your opinion that the Utah case
 9    states somewhere, but you don't have a citation for me,
10    that there's a 3 foot standard?
11  A.   I think it puts it through most of the
12    analysis, yes.
13  Q.   And you did consider the Edith and canoes.
14    Can you talk specifically a little more about what you
15    considered with regards to canoes?  You said based on
16    Mr. Fuller's PowerPoint.  What does that mean?
17  A.   No, Mr. Fuller's report, earlier reports.  He
18    had an earlier report in which he talked about the
19    mythical and hypothetical canoe, and so I took his
20    numbers and ran an analysis, and it's going to take me
21    a minute or two to find it.  I'm sorry.
22        I'm sorry.  I know I'm in trouble when I'm
23    looking through my Gila report.
24  Q.   Did you do the same analysis in the Gila
25    report?
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 1  A.   No.  I had not seen the data or noticed it or
 2    thought of it, whatever you want to call it, at that
 3    point.
 4        On Page 109 of my Salt River report.
 5    Actually, starting at the bottom of Page 108.
 6  Q.   Okay.  Is that Exhibit No. C022 Part 1; do
 7    you know?
 8  A.   I don't know.
 9  Q.   I'm pretty sure it is, so let's go with that.
10    That's what I have it marked as.
11        So Page 109 of that report.
12  A.   Actually, start at 108.
13  Q.   Okay.
14  A.   Fuller gave some statistics and computed that
15    what -- or I took those statistics and computed what
16    the depth would be on the canoe and what the draw would
17    be on the canoe, and it ended up being 3 feet.  Now, I
18    think the canoe would sink under a 500-pound load and
19    two people; but if it didn't, you know, if the sides
20    were built up enough, that's what I came up with, and
21    it supported the Utah decision.
22        The second thing is I did a cost analysis.
23  Q.   If I could stop you before you do the second
24    thing --
25  A.   Certainly.


Page 3436


 1  Q.   -- and talk about the first thing.
 2        Have you ever been in a canoe?
 3  A.   You weren't here for my joke?  I guess not.
 4  Q.   I was.  I was here for the joke.
 5  A.   It wasn't a joke.  It's a truism.  I stepped
 6    in a canoe in Disneyland to go on the Davy Crockett
 7    Explorer canoes, and I hated it.
 8  Q.   Have you ever been in a canoe on a real
 9    river?
10  A.   No.
11  Q.   And have you ever put two people and 500
12    pounds in a canoe?
13  A.   No.
14  Q.   Do you have any idea if that would actually
15    have a draw of 3 feet?
16  A.   I was relying solely on Mr. Fuller's
17    expertise.
18  Q.   And that's the Stantech report, I believe,
19    that you attribute to Mr. Fuller?
20  A.   Yes.
21  Q.   Do you know if he was the lead author in that
22    report?
23  A.   I know his name is on the cover.  I know that
24    there was a panel.  Somebody else was the lead author,
25    but Mr. Fuller has done all the testifying, and so I do
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 1    attribute it to him.
 2  Q.   When you think about a canoe with two people
 3    and 500 pounds and a draw of 3 feet, that doesn't make
 4    a lot of sense, does it?
 5  A.   I totally agree.
 6  Q.   So did you stop and kind of consider that
 7    after you came to that conclusion, thinking that
 8    doesn't make a lot of sense; maybe my calculations
 9    aren't correct?
10  A.   No, I thought the determination that you
11    could put two people, the supplies necessary for the
12    trip, and 500 pounds cargo, which has been asserted
13    repeatedly, is incorrect.
14  Q.   Do you know what the actual draw would be?
15    If you don't believe that 3 feet would be the draw, do
16    you know what the actual draw would be with two people,
17    500 pounds of cargo in a wooden canoe?
18  A.   Okay, I've been dealing in the fictional
19    world of using Mr. Fuller's estimates.  Obviously two
20    people in a 25-foot canoe are going to have a much
21    smaller draw than two people in a 12-foot canoe.  The
22    same with 500 pounds.  When you say what's the draw of
23    any canoe, you are asking how high is up.
24  Q.   But there are certain examples that you could
25    have put together and studied.  Did you study any real
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 1    life examples and come to any actual conclusions?
 2  A.   If I had a real example other than the Utah
 3    cases, who actually talked to various commercial users
 4    of the rivers, I would have used them and you would
 5    have seen them.
 6  Q.   You didn't talk to any professional boaters
 7    in writing your report?
 8  A.   No, I did not.
 9  Q.   Did you talk to any historic boaters?
10  A.   No, I did not.
11  Q.   Did you talk to any canoe manufacturers?
12  A.   I looked at their websites, but I did not
13    talk to them.
14  Q.   Did you look at the websites where they talk
15    about the draws of canoes and the weight that canoes
16    can carry?
17  A.   I saw draws -- or I saw the depths.  I don't
18    remember seeing draws.  Because the draw data I got
19    from the Army Corps of Engineers.
20        And the loads, I don't remember.  I didn't
21    find them.  I'm not saying they're not there.  The
22    internet is a huge thing.
23  Q.   So for your totality of analysis of canoes
24    and their loads and the draws that those loads create,
25    you used the Stantech report for that; is that correct?
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 1  A.   No and yes, in regards to both halves of the
 2    question.  In my analysis of canoes, I did several
 3    things.  In the analysis of the depth it would take, it
 4    was limited to the Stantech data.
 5  Q.   And then you were going to talk about the
 6    second thing, which was the economics of canoes, I
 7    believe.  What was your analysis for that?
 8  A.   And I should have said three things,
 9    materials.
10        But okay.  On Page 74 of my report, I did a
11    cost analysis that showed taking a canoe one way would
12    be economically way out of the question.
13  Q.   Can you tell me the variables that you put
14    into that economic analysis?
15  A.   The only variable I really put in, because I
16    was trying to see what it's going to cost the user to
17    abandon the canoe, was the cost to buy it, and then I
18    put in the costs of what wagon travel was.  And I came
19    up with the cost per pound, assuming 500 feet [sic],
20    would be much more than the wagon cost.  Now, I had to
21    do some unit conversion because canoes, we're talking
22    about pound miles, and in wagons they always talk about
23    ton miles.  They wouldn't consider a 500-pound load.
24  Q.   So your economic analysis is based on buying
25    a canoe from the Sears catalog, is that --


Page 3440


 1  A.   That's correct.
 2  Q.   Okay.  Did you do any analysis of a canoe
 3    used, and at the end of the trip the lumber is sold?
 4  A.   No, I didn't, but the differential was so
 5    high I didn't see the need.
 6  Q.   Did you do any analysis of a canoe used one
 7    way and a train carries the boat back up and then a
 8    canoe is used again?
 9  A.   Partially.  I did look at the fact that
10    shipping the canoes out to Arizona cost four times
11    first class postage, and that told me that -- well,
12    that plus the Powell experience, where they ordered
13    canoes shipped and one of them arrived nonusable.  It
14    had broken up during shipment.  That kind of told me
15    that you really have to pack it right to ship it back
16    on the railroad.
17  Q.   So your analysis -- go ahead.
18  A.   And when I looked at that, just the freight
19    cost of getting it down here, presumably because of the
20    packaging, because first class mail and this was by
21    weight, that wouldn't matter, that they had to raise
22    the shipping and handling, and Powell's experience, and
23    concluded if you're going to have to pack it up and
24    ship it back, it's going to be too expensive.
25  Q.   So your cost analysis is based on shipping a
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 1    canoe from the East Coast, Chicago, to Arizona?
 2  A.   Yes.
 3        One other thing is -- and I talked at length
 4    with Mr. Helm about this.  I know there are cases that
 5    say the fact the railroad has made -- the fact the
 6    railroad made navigability nonprofitable is not
 7    permitted, because if the river was navigable before
 8    the railroad came, then it's navigable for all time or
 9    for this legal test.
10        But I don't know if you're allowed to use the
11    economics of railroad transit to justify floating goods
12    down at a cost higher -- I mean trains virtually put
13    navigation out of business across the country. -- at a
14    cost higher than the train would have cost and say,
15    well, I can do it that way because the train doesn't
16    get rid of it, and then turn around, but I'll use the
17    train to get it back.  That's a legal question, but it
18    seems rather absurd to me.
19  Q.   Is it fair to say that partially your
20    analysis that canoes couldn't be used in Segment 6a and
21    6b is based on your economic analysis?
22  A.   That's one part of it.
23  Q.   Okay.  And have you ever read a case that you
24    can cite for me that does an economic analysis like
25    you've done?
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 1  A.   No.
 2  Q.   And what was the third thing with canoes that
 3    you considered?
 4  A.   Oh, I looked at the durability of the canoes,
 5    and this was primarily with modern recreation versus
 6    the early historic canoes; and found that if you're
 7    looking at canoes today, even most wood canoes, unless
 8    it's been explicitly built to re-create a past event,
 9    they're much stronger than any canoe that existed back
10    then.
11  Q.   And why is strength of a canoe important, in
12    your opinion?
13  A.   The strength of a canoe, in the upper reaches
14    it's undeniably necessary because of the incredible
15    number of rapids and the speeds of the water is I think
16    clearly going to tear it apart.  It tore apart -- I had
17    pictures of fiberglass canoes and aluminum canoes that
18    were destroyed.  A wood canoe I don't think would have
19    a chance; something the U.S. Fish and Wildlife -- I'm
20    sorry, the United States Forest Service supported in
21    their report on those reaches when they said
22    fortunately nobody had ever tried to use a canoe, a
23    wooden canoe, on that river in those reaches.
24        Down in Reach 6 the rapids probably are --
25    well, they're certainly not as big a consideration.  I
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 1    don't know if they would have been or not.  I believe,
 2    as you know, I'm sure, that there would have been
 3    numerous beaver dams that would have required portage
 4    because you couldn't run the canoe over the sharpened
 5    sticks that the beaver put into the dam.  And there
 6    would have been boulders.  Various historic accounts
 7    did talk about boats that broke up by hitting
 8    something.  And the depth with a load was not
 9    sufficient.
10        Oh, and one other thing.  Nobody has ever
11    shown that you could take that load and go upstream or
12    afford to go upstream by poling or however you want to
13    do it with a canoe.
14  Q.   Are there any rapids in Segment 5?
15  A.   There's riffles.  I don't think there's
16    rapids, based on the classification standards.
17  Q.   You've never seen anything that says there's
18    a rapid in Segment 5, where there's water in the river
19    today and where it's boated?
20  A.   My beer buddies called them rapids when we
21    were floating down.
22  Q.   That might have been --
23  A.   But I'm not talking about serious rapids like
24    exist in 5 and 6, no.
25  Q.   And do you have any evidence that there were


Page 3444


 1    any rapids in Segment 6, 6a, 6b?
 2  A.   We just don't know because we have virtually
 3    no information.
 4  Q.   Are there any large tributaries that come
 5    into 6a and 6b?
 6  A.   No.
 7  Q.   Are there any -- is there a lot of bedrock in
 8    6a and 6b?
 9  A.   The bedrock is very near the surface down by
10    Old Mill Bridge or Hayden's Ferry, and that's about the
11    only place.
12  Q.   So based on your understanding of what
13    creates rapids and that there's no rapids in Segment 5,
14    would you expect to see any rapids in Segment 6?
15  A.   I would expect to see riffles.  I would
16    expect to see boulders.  But I don't think I would see
17    what are called rapids in the whitewater
18    classification.
19  Q.   Segment 5 and 6 are a much different type of
20    river than the Upper Salt; would you agree?
21  A.   Yes.
22  Q.   And is that the extent of your consideration
23    regarding canoes?
24  A.   I know when I was talking, I thought of yet
25    one more, but I can't think of it again.  So I guess
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 1    that's it.
 2  Q.   And we'll talk about your depths in detail a
 3    little later.
 4  A.   And I remembered.
 5  Q.   Go ahead.
 6  A.   I did an analysis that talked about the fact,
 7    as I understand the standard, it needs to be for
 8    commercial means of transport that were in effect at
 9    the time of statehood or prior.  And I went through the
10    beaver trappers didn't use canoes except as a ferry on
11    the San Pedro and as an escape hatch on the Colorado
12    River.  The Pimas didn't use canoes.  The Hohokam
13    didn't use canoes.  And Hayden tried a canoe, and it
14    failed.
15        And I go through my report and I talk about
16    the few that I found.  Hayden I had missed.  It did not
17    seem like canoe -- oh, and Utah doesn't even consider
18    canoes in its list of commercial craft.  So I'm not
19    convinced that a canoe is a commercial craft in the
20    sense of the legal standard.
21        In addition, when I read the Pinkerton
22    report, they do talk about large canoes.  They call
23    them freight canoes.  And if those are to be considered
24    in the commercial craft -- and I haven't heard anything
25    talked about down in this area where that kind of canoe
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 1    was used, because they were 20 foot or longer or I
 2    guess 18 foot. -- then maybe that could be used; but
 3    it's a totally different animal than the dugout and the
 4    modern canoes and so forth.
 5  Q.   Are you aware of the canoe that was stationed
 6    at Camp Verde?
 7  A.   Yes.
 8  Q.   Are you aware of the canoe that was stationed
 9    at Fort McDowell?
10  A.   Yes.
11  Q.   You're aware of the canoe that was used on
12    San Pedro?
13  A.   By Pattie?
14  Q.   Yes.
15  A.   Yes.
16  Q.   You're aware of the canoes that were used on
17    the Colorado?
18  A.   By Pattie I know, I'm aware of.  There were
19    canoes on the Colorado.  I don't know how much commerce
20    they carried.
21  Q.   You're aware of the canoes that the Kolb
22    brothers had?
23  A.   I know they went through the Grand Canyon and
24    took pictures, and if I remember reading it, and it's
25    been a while, they realized after the fact that, gee,
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 1    recreational pictures will sell, and so they started
 2    selling postcards.
 3  Q.   And are you aware of the canoes that were
 4    used on the Salt in some of the historical
 5    descriptions?
 6  A.   I went through the Salt and the Gila.  I
 7    referenced the Pattie and the Forts on the Verde.
 8    Other than the Hayden dugout, I didn't see any other
 9    canoes, and that could be I just didn't read it right.
10        Now, I'm not saying that canoes didn't exist
11    or weren't used, but I'm talking about a commercial
12    application of a canoe.
13  Q.   So if you didn't see a canoe used for regular
14    commercial application many times, then you considered
15    canoes not useful for the test for navigability?
16  A.   That's correct.
17        COMMISSIONER HORTON: Mr. Chairman?
18        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Go ahead.
19    
20        EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER HORTON
21        COMMISSIONER HORTON: I'm confused.  If
22    you go up to Grand Canyon, you'll see there's a copy or
23    maybe even the real Kolb boat.  You know, it's a wooden
24    boat.  And I've read some accounts.  But I didn't know
25    that they had used canoes, the Kolb brothers.
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 1        THE WITNESS: I have to admit I just
 2    read a little bit.  I wasn't too interested in the
 3    bottom of the Grand Canyon because that's not a
 4    navigable river.  So I'm sorry, I can't answer your
 5    question.
 6        MR. SLADE: And I don't want to testify
 7    as an expert here, so I can't either.
 8        COMMISSIONER HORTON: Okay.  Well, we'll
 9    leave it in the clouds.
10        MR. SLADE: Hopefully Mr. Fuller can hit
11    that on rebuttal.
12    
13        CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)
14        BY MR. SLADE: 
15  Q.   And regarding the Edith, what analysis did
16    you do with respect to that boat being used?
17  A.   I looked at the cost associated with taking
18    that one way, because on Reach 5 they only went
19    downstream.  Well, first, I would just say the Edith,
20    as I understand, was built as an exploration craft
21    originally and would probably not be the same as a
22    commercial craft.  But what my analysis was, was,
23    again, an economic analysis; that the price of it was
24    so high versus the load, in the example -- and I'm
25    trying to remember where I said this.  Oh, I think it


Page 3449


 1    was in my PowerPoint.  That it was priced -- it was
 2    cost-prohibitive.  Now, if it was capable of being --
 3    you know, if it was shown it could go back, then you
 4    would have something; but nobody's ever tried to say
 5    anything could ever go upstream.
 6        Slide 221 of my PowerPoint.  It was about --
 7    it would be about 20 times as expensive, plus the cost
 8    of the people who actually took it down, I mean the
 9    cost of actually freighting.  I'm just talking about
10    the fixed cost of the boat.
11  Q.   So your analysis on whether the Edith could
12    be used is based on, again, your economic model; is
13    that right?
14  A.   Yes.
15  Q.   And are you aware of the use of rivers for
16    one-way travel for commercial purposes throughout the
17    American West?
18  A.   Yes.
19  Q.   And are you aware that on rivers such as the
20    Idaho -- or, excuse me, the Salmon River and Idaho
21    rivers were used one way and then their boats were sold
22    for lumber at the end?
23  A.   And that's what led me to these economic
24    analyses.  They built very crude boats and make the
25    trip one way.  They did it on the Mississippi, as far
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 1    as I can tell, all the rivers.
 2  Q.   And they sold the lumber at the end?
 3  A.   Yes.
 4  Q.   Did you put, in any of your economic
 5    analysis, the ability to earn money by selling your
 6    lumber at the end?
 7  A.   No.
 8  Q.   And are you aware that the Day brothers came
 9    down from the Verde, the Salt, and then the Gila, and
10    then came up by railroad and did that multiple times,
11    according to the account?
12  A.   I'm aware of one account, yes.
13  Q.   So they did one-way travel, took a railroad
14    up to Prescott, and then came back down again,
15    according to that account?
16  A.   Yes.
17  Q.   Okay.  And did you do an analysis of the
18    economics of that type of a trip?
19  A.   I couldn't, because I had no indication as to
20    what kind of load their boat would take.  It was a
21    small boat, which is a very vague description.
22  Q.   So there's a lot of factors that are unclear
23    that you couldn't put into your economic analysis?
24  A.   For the Day trip, correct.
25  Q.   Right.  For trips in general.  You don't know
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 1    how much lumber costs?
 2  A.   Well, for the two trips -- or the two things
 3    I did, that's why I did them.  The others, no, I didn't
 4    have the information.
 5  Q.   And you mentioned the Special Master not
 6    talking about canoes.  Have you read the whole Special
 7    Master's report?
 8  A.   I read the entirety of the one that was
 9    disclosed.  I think it might have been missing a page
10    somewhere.  But other than that, no -- or yes, I mean.
11  Q.   Have you read the areas where the Special
12    Master talks about canoes?
13  A.   I read them.  I don't recall them, because it
14    was some time ago.
15  Q.   Is it fair to say you don't believe upstream
16    travel is required, based on the economic analysis that
17    you did?
18  A.   That's correct.
19  Q.   So downstream travel is enough?
20  A.   If it is commercially feasible, yes.
21  Q.   And in your opinion, does commercial
22    feasibility need to be continuous and extensive to
23    prove navigability?
24  A.   I think there has to be a certain continuity,
25    and I looked at the Utah case again, because I heard
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 1    your questioning and I went home last night and did it.
 2    And I found that in the Utah case, on the Green River
 3    the Special Master found that the river was less than
 4    3 feet deep 53 days out of the year.  On the Grand
 5    River it was less than 3 feet 16 days out of the year.
 6    On the Colorado it was always 3 feet or more.  On the
 7    San Juan, which was declared nonnavigable, it was under
 8    3 feet for 219 days per year.
 9        That gives us if you've got more than -- or
10    if you have more than 312 days of operation, you're
11    clearly in the good range.  If you have only 146 -- and
12    this is assuming I did my math head -- of operation,
13    you're clearly in the bad zone.  It leaves a wide zone
14    in the middle, and where it falls in there, I don't
15    know.
16  Q.   Were there other factors that the Special
17    Master looked at besides from depth?
18  A.   He looked at depth, frequency of depth.  He
19    looked at other obstacles, rapids.  He discounted sand
20    bars, but he looked at them.
21  Q.   Did he look at velocity?
22  A.   He looked at it, but didn't seem too worried
23    about it, because the people who had actually boated
24    were capable of handling the velocities that he saw at
25    all except the very, very high floods.
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 1  Q.   So you don't recall, in his discussion about
 2    why the San Juan is not navigable, where he talks about
 3    the high velocities on the San Juan compared to the
 4    Green, the Grand, and the Colorado?
 5  A.   I think he does, yes.
 6  Q.   Have you done any studies for the Lower Salt
 7    that compare the velocities of the Lower Salt to the
 8    Green, the Grand, the Colorado, or the San Juan?
 9  A.   No, but that brings up an interesting point,
10    since velocities are often related to slope.  The slope
11    of the San Juan was 7 miles per -- or 7 feet per mile.
12    And I had not realized, until Dr. Mussetter testified,
13    that the slope of the Reach 6 is 7 feet per mile and
14    steeper the further you go upstream.
15  Q.   Could you have done a study or some analysis
16    to determine the velocity of Segment 5 where there's
17    still water coming through it?
18  A.   All I had was the 5-foot contours, and I
19    didn't have very good copies of them, and 5-foot -- the
20    2-foot contours I used where I did my cross section I
21    thought were marginal.  5-foot I think is really not
22    very good.  And so, no, I don't think I have the data.
23  Q.   And you would agree that velocities matter in
24    terms of navigability because they talk about the
25    pushiness of the river into potential obstacles,
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 1    correct?
 2  A.   That's one reason.
 3  Q.   So you don't know what the velocities are for
 4    the Lower Salt, and you've also said that there aren't
 5    many rapids on the Lower Salt?
 6  A.   I did compute the velocity for the Lower
 7    Salt.
 8  Q.   You did?
 9  A.   Yes.
10  Q.   Can you show me where that is in your report?
11  A.   Well, I will admit I only did it to make my
12    presentation complete.  I didn't worry about it.
13        Figure VI-3, in the third set of rows, you
14    will see the various velocities for various n factors,
15    and those velocities are fairly slow.
16  Q.   And you haven't compared those to the
17    San Juan, have you?
18  A.   No.
19  Q.   Do you also remember where, in the Special
20    Master report, the Special Master talked about sand
21    waves as an impediment on the San Juan?
22  A.   Yeah.
23  Q.   Are there any sand waves in Segment 5 where
24    the river is navigated or boated today?
25  A.   Today?
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 1  Q.   Yes.
 2  A.   There probably were during the spills, but
 3    not except then.
 4  Q.   Would you think there would be sand waves in
 5    Segment 6 --
 6  A.   Today?
 7  Q.   -- in the river's natural condition?
 8  A.   Yes.
 9  Q.   You would think there would be sand waves?
10  A.   I thought the United States Geological Survey
11    talked about sand waves.
12  Q.   Can you point me to that reference?
13  A.   I'm going to try.
14        No, I can't at the moment.
15  Q.   Well, if you come up with it --
16  A.   You'll be the first to know.
17  Q.   -- I would certainly like to know.  Thank
18    you.
19        Have you read other cases that have stated
20    that there is a minimum depth of 3 feet?
21  A.   Kind of.  There's a second Utah case that
22    does talk about, actually, it was flow rates on the
23    San Juan again, and came to the conclusion a different
24    reach was nonnavigable.
25  Q.   Are you aware of cases that have decided
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 1    rivers are navigable where there has not been 3 feet of
 2    depth or greater?
 3  A.   I haven't done that analysis.
 4        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Mr. Chairman?
 5        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Yes.
 6    
 7        EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN
 8        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Question.  I would
 9    like to go back to the question on sand waves.  What
10    impact does that have on navigability?
11        THE WITNESS: Well, basically, when you
12    have sand waves, it's going to make it a lot rougher,
13    which makes it harder on the boat, and you're more
14    likely to ship water.
15        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: At what velocities?
16        THE WITNESS: Usually very high.  So it
17    should be --
18        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Okay, so
19    effectively we're talking about flood stage and --
20        THE WITNESS: Near flood --
21        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: -- progression of
22    sand waves back up the channel, as well as down?
23        THE WITNESS: Yes, or near flood.  But I
24    would say it would probably be in that top 10 percent.
25        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Okay.
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 1        CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)
 2        BY MR. SLADE: 
 3  Q.   So rivers that have higher velocities have a
 4    higher probability for sand waves?
 5  A.   Yes.
 6  Q.   And in your opinion, how many days of the
 7    year must a river be navigable?
 8  A.   Somewhere between 312 and 143, again, based
 9    on Utah.
10  Q.   So a river could be navigable for less than
11    half the year and --
12  A.   Yeah.  Well, as I say, in there I think it
13    becomes a question of was it a highway of commerce; and
14    if it's going to be commerce, you have to look at the
15    economics.
16  Q.   Is it your opinion that navigability has to
17    have a profitability component?
18  A.   I think it has to have a reasonable
19    expectation of profit.  I don't think it has to make a
20    profit.
21  Q.   Can't just be use of the river for travel
22    from Point A to Point B?
23  A.   If you're conveying people commercially, yes;
24    but I don't think Joe Blow going down to get some
25    drinks counts.
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 1  Q.   Is there a minimum load, in your opinion,
 2    that a boat must have?
 3  A.   That would be an economic question.
 4  Q.   And is there a minimum or is there a specific
 5    type of boat that navigability must have, other than
 6    what you told me in the Special Master's report?
 7  A.   It could be something other than the Special
 8    Master's report.  I just thought that was a
 9    comprehensive study of what was here at the time of
10    statehood or nearby.
11  Q.   So in your opinion, canoes could be used for
12    a highway of commerce?
13  A.   Based on my economic analysis, I don't think
14    so.
15  Q.   Taking your economic analysis out of it, can
16    canoes as a boat be used as a highway of commerce?
17  A.   What kind of canoe?  Are you talking --
18  Q.   All sorts, any type you want to pick.
19  A.   Okay.  A lot of them I'm sure no, because
20    they're too small.
21  Q.   And which canoe is too small?
22  A.   I can't give you a number.  Pinkerton made
23    the break at 18 foot.
24  Q.   So it's your opinion that if a canoe is
25    smaller than 18 feet, it can't be used in a highway of
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 1    commerce?
 2  A.   Subject to something demonstrating it wrong,
 3    Pinkerton was alive in 1912 and he saw that people used
 4    canoes for commerce.  When they did, they were 18 feet
 5    or bigger.  And when they didn't, when it was smaller,
 6    it was for recreational purposes.  That's all I've got
 7    to go on.
 8  Q.   I believe you already mentioned this.  You
 9    haven't talked to any historic boaters or historic boat
10    builders?
11  A.   No, or correct.
12  Q.   Have you talked to any boaters in your
13    preparation for your testimony and your declaration?
14  A.   No.
15  Q.   Have you talked to any other experts in your
16    preparation for your testimony and your declaration?
17  A.   We talked during the breaks, yes.
18  Q.   But in your preparation of this declaration,
19    what other experts did you talk to?
20  A.   All the ones in this room during the Gila
21    hearings and so forth, but not really -- I mean I don't
22    even remember what the conversations were.  A few of
23    them did relate to navigability, you know, sort of
24    technical issues.
25  Q.   And what areas did they inform your opinion?
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 1  A.   Directly, none.
 2  Q.   So is it fair to say the extent of your
 3    research regarding canoes has been from online research
 4    and the Pinkerton book?
 5  A.   Pinkerton was also online, but online
 6    research and my own economic analysis.
 7  Q.   Let's talk about beaver dams a little bit.
 8    It's your opinion that Segment 6, including 6a and 6b,
 9    would have had beaver dams?
10  A.   Yes.
11  Q.   And what's your citation for that?
12  A.   There was an ornithologist out there in 1867,
13    I believe it was, and he wrote a paper that was
14    published in a professional journal.
15        Sorry, I was going the wrong way.
16  Q.   Your Page 117?
17  A.   Yes, at the bottom of the page.  Thank you.
18  Q.   And do you know if those beaver dams would
19    have extended across the entire channel of the Salt?
20  A.   I think it would have extended across the low
21    channels, or more accurately, it would extend across
22    whatever it took to get the depth of the water behind
23    it up to about 3 feet.
24  Q.   And how wide would that have had to be, in
25    your opinion?
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 1  A.   Well, the river channels were surveyed at
 2    about, I don't know, 150, 200 feet, and there's lots of
 3    records of beaver dams that large.
 4  Q.   Are there any records in the evidence or that
 5    you've seen that are not in evidence that talk about
 6    beaver dams of 100, 200 feet on the Salt?
 7  A.   They didn't say -- no, not explicitly the way
 8    you phrase it.
 9  Q.   So none of the historic boaters who boated on
10    the Salt ever mentioned beaver dams, from your review?
11  A.   That's correct, because the people who fixed
12    that problem had preceded them, the beaver trappers.
13  Q.   Did any of the trappers talk about beaver
14    dams across the entire channel or a large part of it?
15  A.   They talked about a lot of beaver.  They
16    didn't mention beaver dams.  They weren't using boats.
17    They didn't mention beaver dams on the San Pedro.
18  Q.   And I believe you have a couple citations to
19    your statement that beavers need 3 feet or higher; is
20    that right?
21  A.   Yes, I cited three sources, and one of them
22    you're going to show me says 2 to 3 feet, not 3.
23  Q.   And which one is that?
24  A.   The third source I quoted, which was 13,
25    Shepherd and Golden.  I figured that out from your
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 1    disclosure.
 2  Q.   And that's an Arizona Game & Fish specific to
 3    Arizona beaver dam discussion, right?
 4  A.   I was just reading the text.  I didn't even
 5    look.  I believe you.  I just didn't look at the
 6    letterhead.
 7  Q.   Shepherd and Golden talks about beaver dams
 8    might occur if the river is less than 2 feet?
 9  A.   That, I didn't notice.
10  Q.   Or, excuse me, beaver dams would be put in
11    place, potentially, if a river is less than 2 feet?
12  A.   Yes, which the Salt, according to all our
13    calculations, was.
14    
15        EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN
16        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Was what?
17        THE WITNESS: Of --
18        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: What was your -- I
19    didn't understand the question.
20        MR. SLADE: My question was the Shepherd
21    and Golden citation on Page 118 of Mr. Gookin's report
22    states that beavers may form dams when a river is less
23    than 2 feet deep.
24        THE WITNESS: 2 feet at low flow.
25        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Okay.  Further
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 1    question then.  Was the Salt perennial in this reach?
 2        THE WITNESS: Yes, but the records
 3    that -- or all the experts, which I guess would be
 4    Fuller and me who've done it, concluded at low flows it
 5    was well under 2 feet.
 6        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. Slade, could we
 7    take a break?
 8        MR. SLADE: Sure.
 9        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Let's break for 15
10    minutes, 10:15.
11        (A recess was taken from 9:57 a.m. to
12        10:12 a.m.)
13        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. Gookin, are you
14    ready?
15        THE WITNESS: Yes.
16        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Please proceed,
17    Mr. Slade.
18    
19        CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)
20        BY MR. SLADE: 
21  Q.   Okay.  We were talking about beaver dams.  A
22    few more questions about that.
23        Are you aware that beavers build dams on the
24    sides of rivers, as well as across rivers?
25  A.   Yes.
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 1  Q.   Did you do any analysis to understand if
 2    beavers on the Salt would have built dams across the
 3    channel or on the sides of the channel?
 4  A.   No.
 5  Q.   And your theory that beaver dams were across
 6    the channel is based on your depth reconstruction?
 7  A.   The fact that -- that's one thing.  The fact
 8    that they built it across -- they built them across the
 9    channel in modern times down near -- well, both on the
10    Tres Rios side and the Gila River Indian Reservation
11    side of the Salt River.  Both of them found a lot of --
12    well, Gila River found a lot of dams.  I don't know how
13    many Tres Rios found, but it did become a problem.
14  Q.   Do you know if those dams crossed the entire
15    Salt River low channel?
16  A.   Due to the backup effects they claim, they
17    talked about, yeah.
18  Q.   And is that part of the river that's in its
19    natural condition today?
20  A.   No.
21  Q.   Beavers wouldn't have to build dams across
22    the river if it was 2 feet or 3 feet deep, correct?
23  A.   The entire, all the channels, no.
24  Q.   Right.
25  A.   They just need one fairly well-defined


Page 3465


 1    channel.
 2  Q.   If the river was deep enough, beavers
 3    wouldn't have to build dams across the river?
 4  A.   Correct.
 5  Q.   And in any descriptions of the river that
 6    you've seen, have they talked about a river that was
 7    less than 2 feet deep in the Lower Salt?
 8  A.   Well, Mr. Fuller's analysis showed it, as did
 9    mine.  I'm trying to remember accounts from back then,
10    and I didn't really look at them that much, so I don't
11    know.
12  Q.   So you don't know what the historical
13    descriptions say about the depth of the Lower Salt?
14  A.   Well, more importantly, I don't know what the
15    historical descriptions say about the minimum depths at
16    low flow about the Salt in Reach 6.
17  Q.   Do you reference the historical descriptions
18    in your report?
19  A.   I did not.
20  Q.   So if they say that the low flow depth is
21    2 feet, you wouldn't find that in your report?
22  A.   If they say that, I -- no.  I didn't see it.
23  Q.   But you don't have any of the historical
24    descriptions in your report?
25  A.   Correct.
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 1  Q.   In your opinion, are those informative for
 2    navigability purposes?
 3  A.   They are, but they had mostly already been
 4    disclosed in Mr. Fuller's earlier reports.
 5  Q.   Well, that sort of brings me to a question of
 6    what type of report you have here.  Is this a rebuttal
 7    report to Mr. Fuller?  Would you characterize it as
 8    that type of report?
 9  A.   I would say it's both my determination of
10    navigability and a rebuttal report.
11  Q.   So do you include both nonnavigability and
12    navigability evidence in your report?
13  A.   Yes, if I had found any navigability
14    evidence.
15  Q.   Okay.  So, but you didn't include the
16    historical descriptions; you didn't find those were
17    reliable or useful?
18  A.   I thought they were already in the record.  I
19    didn't worry about them because they're such short
20    snapshots, usually.
21  Q.   And what was your direction in preparing your
22    report; what were you directed to do?
23  A.   Write a report concerning whether or not the
24    Salt River was navigable, particularly in Reach 6,
25    Lower Salt.


Page 3467


 1  Q.   Do you know if your client had a preconceived
 2    notion of whether it was or was not?
 3  A.   I have a feeling, but they never said
 4    anything.
 5  Q.   So you didn't object to the analysis --
 6  A.   Yes.
 7  Q.   -- in your opinion?
 8        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. Gookin, I didn't
 9    understand that response.  You did or did not object to
10    the analysis?
11        THE WITNESS: I did an objective
12    analysis.
13        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Okay.
14        Now I really didn't understand it, did
15    I?
16        BY MR. SLADE: 
17  Q.   Have you ever written another report?
18  A.   Of course.
19  Q.   Okay.  And have you written -- can you give
20    me a name or a few reports that you have written
21    previously, apart from navigability studies?
22  A.   I've written a raft of reports on the Globe
23    Equity Decree and various operating procedures.  I've
24    written reports about gaging flow reconstructions, both
25    on desert washes and active rivers.  I've made
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 1    population projections, done economic analyses and
 2    reports for CAP allocation for various entities.  I've
 3    done a lot of reports on the cause of flooding in Joe's
 4    house.  This Joe's house.  And -- let me think what
 5    else.  I feel like all I do is write reports.
 6  Q.   I feel like all I do is read reports, so...
 7  A.   Do you want more?
 8  Q.   We're on the same page.
 9  A.   Do you want more?
10  Q.   No, that's good.  Thank you.
11        And would you compare those reports that you
12    just talked about to this type of report that you wrote
13    here?  Are they comparable objective, fact-finding
14    reports?
15  A.   Yes.
16  Q.   So if a historical account said that, for
17    example, the Salt River is navigable and should be
18    included in the River and Harbors Act, would we be able
19    to find that in your report?
20  A.   I didn't put it in there.  I had heard it,
21    but I never went and looked it up.
22  Q.   Do you think --
23  A.   Oh, excuse me.  It was the reverse, wasn't
24    it?  I don't know.  I didn't look up the River and
25    Harbors Act and the applications.
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 1  Q.   Have you ever seen any boaters on Segment 5,
 2    where the river's boated today?
 3  A.   Not today, but in the '70s and '60s.
 4  Q.   You did observe boaters?
 5  A.   Yes.
 6  Q.   Do you know what kind of craft they were
 7    boating in?
 8  A.   Mostly inner tubes, but --
 9  Q.   I thought I remember you saying inner tubes
10    on a boat with Mr. Helm.
11  A.   Well, yeah, you're right.  Certainly not a
12    commercial craft.
13        I think there was some rafts.  They were some
14    inflatable rafts that you could -- had seats in them.
15    And I don't really remember.  I was somewhat impaired
16    at the time.  I didn't realize I was doing a
17    navigability study.
18  Q.   Apart from your experience observing the
19    boats when you were impaired, have you seen -- have you
20    done -- have you observed any boats on the Salt where
21    it's boated today other than that time?
22  A.   I saw a couple boats go out on the Salt River
23    during the bad floods, '78, 79, '80, '83; thought they
24    were absolutely out of their minds and read about some
25    of them in the paper, that for some reason had just
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 1    disappeared.
 2  Q.   Apart --
 3  A.   Below Granite Reef, that's been my only
 4    opportunity to see boats.
 5  Q.   How about above Granite Reef, from Stewart
 6    Mountain to Granite Reef?
 7  A.   I haven't gone back up there.
 8  Q.   Would that be informative to observe how
 9    boats are used on Segment 5 and how they're maneuvered,
10    for your understanding of Segment 6?
11  A.   I don't think so.  You have to realize it's
12    not a natural stream there.
13  Q.   Do you believe Segment 5 is substantially
14    more navigable today?
15  A.   Yes.
16  Q.   And why is that?
17  A.   You have a dam that controls the releases.
18    It allows a steady higher flow for extended durations.
19    You don't have the risk of floods coming down.  It
20    encourages the growth of vegetation along the sides of
21    the bank, which, together with the other destabilizing
22    factor tamarisk, makes the channel narrower and deeper.
23        Oh, dams intercept the sediment, which
24    affects the rocks or the -- both the slope of the
25    channel and the lining of the channel.  And as I put in
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 1    my report, garbage affects the lining of the channel,
 2    but I've never found a Manning's n for garbage.  I
 3    looked.
 4  Q.   Have you done any specific studies on
 5    Segment 5 to indicate how any of those factors have
 6    changed from the nonnatural condition or the natural
 7    condition to the nonnatural condition?
 8  A.   I did show some photos from Webb, Ribbons of
 9    Green, in my PowerPoint.  I looked for data for a
10    Manning -- to do a Manning's cross section, and I just
11    couldn't find a sufficient database.
12        I did the examination of the maps to see that
13    essentially the number of channels had changed in
14    various spots and the location had changed
15    considerably, which means it's a different river at
16    that point.
17  Q.   In terms of slope, did you do any specific
18    studies?
19  A.   No.  That was -- that's just standard
20    hydrology.
21  Q.   In terms of narrower or deeper channel, did
22    you do any specific studies?
23  A.   Ditto.
24  Q.   That's a no then?
25  A.   That's no.  That's a matter of standard
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 1    Southwest hydrology.  The tamarisk squeeze the rivers.
 2  Q.   We've talked about beaver dams.  We've talked
 3    about rapids.  What are the other factors -- it's been
 4    such a long time since the Commission's heard your
 5    testimony.  What are the other factors that you would
 6    believe serve as impediments to navigation in
 7    Segments 6a and 6b?
 8  A.   Just the impediments?
 9  Q.   Yes.
10  A.   The fact that we have very sudden flash
11    floods in Arizona down these rivers, which makes it
12    dangerous.  Evidence indicates that at least down near
13    my client's area or in my client's area, there were
14    heavy marshes as of statehood and before.  Beaver we've
15    talked about, unless you want me to go on with that.
16    And rapids in other parts, but I don't know if rapids
17    existed in 6 or not.
18  Q.   Do you have a citation that says there were
19    marshes on the Salt River in Segment 6?
20  A.   Well, it's Gookin on Gookin.  I cited to my
21    2003 statement.  I had a quotation from the United
22    States Geological Survey when I made my first statement
23    to the Commission about the bogs near the confluence of
24    the Salt and Gila on the Salt, which is the downstream
25    end of Segment 6b.
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 1  Q.   You're talking about one of the Porcello
 2    studies?
 3  A.   No, I don't think so.  It was an early USGS
 4    report that was describing what they saw, like in 1905
 5    or something.
 6  Q.   Do you have a citation for that report?
 7  A.   In the footnote it's Gookin Engineers 2003,
 8    Page 5.  It's April 4th, 2003, entitled Presentation to
 9    Arizona Stream Navigability Commission, Old Lower Salt
10    River Exhibit 034, and that's from the 2003 hearings,
11    that number.
12  Q.   And do you know if, in that discussion, in
13    that paper, they're talking about marshes alongside the
14    river or actually the river completely turns to a
15    marsh?
16  A.   It sounded like most, if not all.  They were
17    extensive, I think was the phrase; but it's been
18    12 years, 13 years.
19  Q.   Anything else?  Flash floods, marshes,
20    beavers, rapids.
21  A.   As far as physical obstacles, no.
22  Q.   Are there mental obstacles?
23  A.   Economic obstacles.
24  Q.   Okay.
25  A.   And I'm not including depth and channel shape
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 1    in that.  That's not really an obs -- well, I don't
 2    know how you would want to characterize that, but leave
 3    that on the plate as a projection.
 4  Q.   Okay.  We'll talk about that later.
 5        I'm curious a little bit to hear some more of
 6    your expertise on the archaeology, but I believe
 7    Mr. Helm went over this.  Do you consider yourself an
 8    expert in archaeology?
 9  A.   No.
10  Q.   Not an expert in Hohokam time period?
11  A.   No.  I know a bit more than the layperson,
12    simply by association, but I'm not an archaeologist.
13  Q.   And your conclusion was that the Hohokam did
14    not use boats; is that right?
15  A.   My conclusion is that the archaeologists have
16    concluded they didn't use boats.
17  Q.   And you reference the Phoenix Sky Train
18    study.  I believe you went over it with your counsel;
19    is that right?
20  A.   I don't -- did I?  I don't remember doing
21    that.
22  Q.   Maybe I'm remembering -- your counsel went
23    over it with Mr. Fuller.
24  A.   Yes.  The only one I referenced, I referenced
25    the picture that shows the trader who's walking, rather
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 1    than boating, in one of the glyphs; or not glyphs,
 2    pottery pieces.  And I included a quote about the
 3    Cushing canoe.  Who knows if it ever was there.
 4  Q.   And when did the Hohokam end their time on
 5    the Salt?
 6  A.   According to my client and our
 7    archaeologists, they haven't.  They are the Pima.
 8    Conventional chronology says 1400 to 1450 and then
 9    picks up with the Pimas in about 1500.
10  Q.   Would you expect that any boat remains would
11    exist if the Hohokam used boats from 1450 and going
12    back in time; would any boats exist in the 1800s, 1900s
13    preserved?
14  A.   I'm sorry, exist in the 1800s or 1900s?
15  Q.   Would any boat remnants be preserved if the
16    Hohokam used boats?
17  A.   I just don't know.
18  Q.   What were the boats made of --
19  A.   What --
20  Q.   -- if they had a boat?
21  A.   I was going to say.  I'm saying they were
22    made of air.
23  Q.   If the Hohokam had used a boat, what type of
24    material would they have been made of?
25  A.   I don't know.
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 1  Q.   Not plastic, right?
 2  A.   Not plastic.  I'm pretty sure of that.
 3  Q.   So some type of compostable material?
 4  A.   Wood, yeah, something that could burn.
 5  Q.   Based on your expertise of materials, and you
 6    did some research, would you expect that wood would
 7    last 400 years?
 8  A.   Well, I've read about it doing it other
 9    places, because I did look that up; but I couldn't find
10    an indication here that it has.  So I don't know.
11  Q.   And when did the Pima come to the Salt?
12  A.   You don't learn.  About zero B.C. to
13    1000 B.C.
14  Q.   So it's your opinion that the Hohokam were on
15    the Salt, and the Pima continued to be on the Salt as
16    they transitioned?
17  A.   Dr. Dobyns' theory, as he explained it to me,
18    was that when the Vikings discovered the Northeast
19    corner of the North American continent, they brought
20    diseases with them.  And he showed me several articles
21    where they indicated that based on descriptions like in
22    the Mississippi, all over the place, the ecological
23    patterns had been knocked badly out of shape and
24    concluded that it was probably plagues that wiped out
25    the top-of-the-line hunter, to a large extent, people,
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 1    and allowed them to -- these mis -- or, you know, the
 2    evolutionary booms in certain animals; for example, the
 3    bison.  You always hear about the huge numbers of bison
 4    going across the river or the plains.  And he believes
 5    that the plague hit the Hohokam, and that as a result
 6    of the plague, the Hohokam did what most people do
 7    during a plague, they scattered.  And the remnants who
 8    survived coalesced back along primarily the Gila.
 9    Well, originally the Gila and the Salt, irrigated both,
10    and then with the advent of the Apaches, mostly
11    retreated to the Gila.
12        As to whether all of that is true or not,
13    well, I have to wait until I die to find out, but it's
14    a question on my list.
15  Q.   So when the Spanish came through and recorded
16    where tribes were, specifically Father Kino, did he
17    notice any tribes -- excuse me, Native Americans on the
18    Salt?
19  A.   No, I don't think he did.
20  Q.   So no one was on the Salt when the Spanish
21    came through?
22  A.   Well, he just -- if I remember, he only
23    visited one little spot.  So I don't think they were
24    farming the Salt, except down near the confluence.
25  Q.   And he did see that there were civilizations
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 1    on the Lower Gila, from the Salt confluence with the
 2    Gila on down to the Colorado?
 3  A.   To tell you the truth, I read the histories
 4    of the Pimas, and what he did after that I really
 5    didn't care.  So there are histories, I do know, of the
 6    Indians on the Colorado River.  If there are any in the
 7    very lower reach of the Gila, I don't know.
 8  Q.   Let's put up a map so we can just confirm
 9    what you're saying, which is that no one was on the
10    Salt when Kino came through, C046 Part 376.  I can hand
11    the map out, actually, and one to you as well,
12    Mr. Gookin.
13        So this is a map from Father Kino?
14  A.   Yes.  I've seen it before.
15  Q.   Okay.  And as you stated, there's a few
16    civilizations or a lot of native people, settlements,
17    throughout the map.
18        There are none on the Rio Salado; is that
19    right?
20  A.   Okay, I think -- I've always had a lot of
21    trouble with this map, because I have never been sure
22    if that Rio Azul, which becomes the Rio Salado, was the
23    Agua Fria or the Salt River, because it just goes in
24    the wrong direction.  And I suspect historians can
25    argue that point.
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 1        Assuming that was where it was or that's what
 2    he meant, the Rio Salado or Salt River, he doesn't show
 3    any as of then.
 4  Q.   So none on the Rio Salado, none on the Rio
 5    Azul, which might be the Rio Salado combined with the
 6    Verde, that lower part?
 7  A.   No, I don't think so.
 8        You're talking about the confluence with the
 9    Salt and the Verde there?
10  Q.   Could Rio Azul be the lower part of the Salt
11    where the Verde combines with the Salt?
12  A.   You mean like near the transition from
13    Segment 5 to Segment 6?
14  Q.   Right.  Could Rio Azul be --
15  A.   No.
16  Q.   No, in your opinion, it can't?
17  A.   I don't think so, because it shows Casa
18    Grande, and Casa Grande is right near Coolidge, which
19    is downstream from the Salt-Verde confluence.
20  Q.   So we're not sure what Rio Azul means, but
21    there's no settlements on that either?
22  A.   Right.
23  Q.   Okay.  And do you have any other
24    documentation that shows that the Salt River had
25    settlements on it?
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 1  A.   Yeah.  The Indian Claims Commission in 236-C,
 2    cat, ruled what the occupation area of the
 3    Pima-Maricopa were.  Those two tribes both live on the
 4    Gila community, the Ak-Chin and the Salt River
 5    Reservations.
 6        And the judicial determinations went up to --
 7    basically, it encompassed pretty much metropolitan
 8    Phoenix.  It went up to the base of the mountains on
 9    the north and then it followed the mountain fronts as
10    it came down, and that pretty much defined it.  It went
11    west of the Salt-Gila confluence, and I think it went
12    down to the Sierra Estrellas.  I don't think -- I'm not
13    sure.  I don't totally remember where the bottom edge
14    was.
15  Q.   Was that a ruling that dealt with the current
16    location of the Salt River Pima settlement?
17  A.   No, it was determining the aboriginal lands
18    that were illegally taken by the United States due to
19    the fact there was no Treaty that had allowed the
20    United States to assume ownership.
21  Q.   And you believe in that ruling they talk
22    specifically about Pima settlements on the Lower Salt?
23  A.   They determined the aboriginal land of the
24    Pima, and that's what it was.
25  Q.   Specifically settlements, have you heard
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 1    anything about settlements on the Lower Salt in that
 2    ruling; not lands, but settlements?
 3  A.   I'm pretty sure it talked about they
 4    irrigated.  They retreated later due to the Apache
 5    menace.  They had to -- I have read things that talk
 6    about how they had to move south from the Salt,
 7    consolidate to have bigger population centers nearer
 8    each other, in case the Apache raiders came, and they
 9    could mobilize quicker.
10  Q.   So there's a little buffer zone between the
11    Pima and the Apache because of the threat of Apache
12    raids?
13  A.   Right.
14  Q.   And was --
15  A.   Or I assume, Joe, from your point of view,
16    due to the Pima raids on the Apaches.
17  Q.   Well, it's well-known that the --
18  A.   And I am going from my propaganda based on
19    that.
20  Q.   It's well-known that the Apaches were, in
21    part, a raiding culture?
22  A.   That's my opinion.
23  Q.   If you read Grenville Goodwin's book --
24  A.   Yeah.
25  Q.   -- he talks all about that, right?
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 1  A.   (Witness nodded.)
 2        MR. SPARKS: Those are all written by
 3    the white guys.
 4        BY MR. SLADE: 
 5  Q.   Who spent eight years with the Apache.  But
 6    we don't know.
 7  A.   I think this is a fight.  It was a no man's
 8    land.  Let's leave it at that.
 9  Q.   The Lower Salt was a no man's land?
10  A.   Yeah, after the Apache came in, except,
11    again, for the very -- right near the Gila confluence.
12    The Maricopa, when they moved up the Gila River after
13    their neighbors chased them out, settled and irrigated
14    from the Salt and the Gila.
15  Q.   So we don't know that boats were used by the
16    Pima on the Lower Salt; there's no evidence of that?
17  A.   They tried with a raft once on a military
18    expedition, and they were using it as a ferry, or going
19    to, and it capsized.
20  Q.   Did the Maricopa and Pima use rafts on the
21    Lower Gila?
22  A.   Not to my knowledge.
23  Q.   Do you know if the Phoenix Sky Train article
24    talks about that?
25  A.   No.
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 1  Q.   So we've talked about the Phoenix Sky Train
 2    article in some detail.  It's C028 Part 313 in
 3    evidence, and have you had the opportunity to read this
 4    at all, Mr. Gookin?
 5  A.   I have not read it.  I've just looked at it
 6    and moved on.
 7  Q.   Okay.
 8  A.   I've not studied it.
 9  Q.   If you turn to Page 112, at the top it says
10    112, and if we read from the bottom paragraph that
11    starts, "Unfortunately."
12        I'll read for you:  "Unfortunately, it
13    appears that no one has found further mention of the
14    alleged canoe, or the canoe itself, in any Hohokam
15    collections.  Despite the very thin evidence for the
16    existence of a Hohokam transportation system using reed
17    balsas to cross the Salt and Gila rivers and to
18    transport goods along the canals, the idea is worth
19    considering.  Virtually all the groups living in the
20    deserts west of the Phoenix Basin utilized reed balsas
21    for crossing the Colorado and lower Gila rivers.  The
22    Mohave utilized reed balsas apparently made of cattail.
23    These rafts were large enough to carry four to six
24    adults and were so easy to make that, quote, If the
25    current carried it far downstream [while crossing the
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 1    river] it was easier to put a new one together than to
 2    drag the old one up against the current, end quote.
 3    The Mohave also made 1-meter-diameter ceramic pots to
 4    float children and goods across the rivers."
 5  A.   I had not read that, and I have to admit a
 6    bias.  When you say Lower Gila, I think of about down
 7    to Gila Bend and not much further because of my life's
 8    work orientation.  So I was not considering down near
 9    Yuma.
10        I'm very sorry, Mr. Chairman.
11  Q.   The Salt was the major contributor to the
12    Gila, would you agree?
13  A.   Correct.
14  Q.   In fact, would you agree it had far more flow
15    than the Gila?
16  A.   About three times.
17  Q.   Okay.  And boats were used on the Lower Gila?
18  A.   By the Mohave.  I thought that's what that
19    was indicating, because it's talking about what they
20    used, reed balsas.
21  Q.   By groups living in the desert west of the
22    Phoenix Basin.
23  A.   Okay.  The Phoenix Basin, I think, would
24    include the junction that we're talking about.  And
25    then it goes on and talks about the Mohave used reed
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 1    balsas, and it's primarily talking about use of it by
 2    the Mohave, which is over on the Colorado area.
 3  Q.   So boats have been used on the Lower Gila,
 4    where we know Kino found settlements, and the Salt is
 5    the major contributory flow for the Lower Gila.  Do you
 6    think if there were settlements on the Lower Salt,
 7    boats, reed balsas, could have also been used on the
 8    Lower Salt?
 9  A.   That's a pretty big leap that because you've
10    got boats down in Reach 8, which is where I think
11    they're talking, that you can use it up in the Salt
12    River.
13        MR. MURPHY: Do you mean Segment 8 of
14    the Gila?
15        THE WITNESS: Or segment 8 of the Gila.
16    I'm sorry.  You are correct.
17        While the Salt River is three-fourths of
18    the flow, it is three-fourths.
19        Also, I thought I had read -- well,
20    yeah, it says for crossing the Colorado and Lower Gila
21    Rivers.  They're utilizing it as ferries, not commerce
22    boats.
23        BY MR. SLADE: 
24  Q.   Even on the Colorado they're using it as a
25    ferry?
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 1  A.   According to this article, yes.  Now, I don't
 2    know about others.
 3  Q.   Do you have any evidence that at the Colorado
 4    boats were used other than for ferries?
 5  A.   I know Mr. Fuller mentioned it in his
 6    reports.
 7  Q.   By the Native Americans.
 8  A.   By the Native Americans.
 9        And that's it.  That's all I know.
10  Q.   Would that surprise you that the Native
11    Americans could use boats on the Lower Salt, given the
12    amount of flow it had?
13  A.   Toy boats, steamers?  I mean that's a very
14    vague question.
15  Q.   The boats they had at that time, the balsas,
16    does it surprise you that those could be used on the
17    Lower Salt?
18  A.   The Pimas didn't have --
19        MR. MURPHY: I want to make an objection
20    to this question.  I don't think there's any evidence
21    that boats were used on the Salt, and the question
22    seems to assume that.
23        MR. SLADE: Let me rephrase it then.
24        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. Slade, it appears
25    to be almost conjecture in the report, as to whether or
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 1    not they were used.
 2        MR. SLADE: Well, that's your opinion,
 3    Mr. Chairman.
 4        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: That's what it says.
 5    There's very limited, in fact, almost no evidence that
 6    they were used.
 7        THE WITNESS: Very thin evidence.
 8        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Thin evidence.
 9        BY MR. SLADE: 
10  Q.   Do we have any evidence that boats were used
11    on the Colorado?
12  A.   Mr. Fuller cited to some Spanish, early
13    Spanish explorers who recorded boats on the Colorado.
14    And I assume we're limiting it to prehistory times?
15  Q.   Right.
16  A.   Because after 1852 they're all over the place
17    on the Colorado.
18  Q.   Do you know if the Hohokam used their canals
19    for boats, travel, wagons -- or not wagons, but did
20    they use any type of boat on their canals, that you're
21    aware of?
22  A.   That goes to that one questionable canoe and
23    the fact there might have been a boat dock at one point
24    in a canal.  That's my only evidence, and most of them
25    are very, very weak or very thin, I guess.  But that's
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 1    all I know about it.  I haven't asked any Hohokam.
 2  Q.   You've read some accounts of the native
 3    cultures.  Do you know who was living in the Upper
 4    Salt, based on what you've read?
 5  A.   Before the successful incursion of the
 6    Anglo-Americans or Americans, the Apaches were.
 7  Q.   And do you have any citations that you can
 8    provide me with that talk about where they were?
 9  A.   Not with me and -- no.  I think I know where
10    there's a map in a report by a gentleman, maybe,
11    perhaps.  I don't know.
12  Q.   And I ask from an informative perspective.
13    I'm just seeing if you have any knowledge of that.
14  A.   Oh.  I've read many places they came to this
15    area, but I don't have a map of it.  I do know that if
16    you saw one, where they occupied is kind of
17    loosey-goosey, because they were, in large part,
18    nomadic.
19        Oh, there was an Indian Claims Commission on
20    it, decision, that would show the aboriginal area.  I
21    don't know the number.
22  Q.   I want to talk very briefly about just a few
23    historical accounts.  We're not going to go through
24    them all.  Let's start with the Day brothers trip.
25    It's your opinion that the Day brothers did not use the
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 1    Salt River; is that right?
 2  A.   On their last trip.  They -- well, either
 3    they used it and they were dragging the boats through
 4    portions, because most of the water would have been
 5    diverted, or they went down the canals.  And a guess,
 6    and it's a guess, the canals; but they may have
 7    dragged.
 8  Q.   And that's because you believe that the
 9    Arizona Dam was diverting everything below 1,000 cfs?
10  A.   It would, because of the structure of
11    diversion dams back then.  There would be leakage
12    through it, some, but not much.  You took all you could
13    and the canal was 1,000 cfs and put what you wanted
14    back, and in their case two miles later, so it was at
15    least a two-mile reach that was virtually dry.  From
16    that point we don't know how much they put back when,
17    but we do know that there was no commissioner enforcing
18    the Kibbey Decree, so they didn't have much motivation
19    to.
20  Q.   And you think that would have happened as
21    well in the winter, when there was less irrigation?
22  A.   Yes.
23  Q.   And have you done any analysis on if that
24    was, in fact, what was diverted in the winter, based on
25    gages that you could find?
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 1  A.   I saw, I think, somewhere -- no, that was
 2    Granite Reef.
 3        I didn't see any, no.
 4  Q.   And did you do any analysis on --
 5  A.   Oh, I did find the GS study that said this is
 6    what their pattern would be under Roosevelt Dam, that
 7    they divert more in the winter, about half in the
 8    winter.
 9  Q.   Half of what they --
10  A.   Half of their peak use.
11  Q.   And where was Hayden's Ferry located relative
12    to the Arizona Dam?
13  A.   Downstream.
14  Q.   Do you know how far downstream?
15  A.   Hayden's Ferry was basically at the boundary
16    between 6a and 6b.  It's where the Old Mill Bridge is
17    right now.  Does that help?
18  Q.   Do you know how many miles it would be from
19    the Arizona Dam to where Hayden's Ferry was operating?
20  A.   I know I computed it once, and I don't
21    remember.  I think it's in the Navigability
22    Commission's report.  I'm not sure.  No, I computed it,
23    but I don't remember it.
24  Q.   Would you expect that the diverted water from
25    Arizona Dam would return above Hayden's Ferry or below?
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 1  A.   The very first years it probably returned at
 2    about Indian Bend Wash, but then as it got extended, I
 3    imagine most of it came back at the Agua Fria, because
 4    that's where they would dump their tailwater, or -- and
 5    I'm talking about above ground.  Groundwater was
 6    seeping in the whole time and migrating towards the
 7    river.
 8        At one point in time they reached a deal with
 9    the Grand Canal and they put the crosscut canal through
10    to feed them.  I don't remember the year.  And, of
11    course, probably some water got lost at that point.
12  Q.   I'm not sure I understood exactly what you
13    meant.  So you would think that the diverted water from
14    the Arizona Dam would come in below where Hayden's
15    Ferry was operating?
16  A.   I'm saying at the very beginning, because
17    they started at the head and started digging and
18    heading west, generally, and north.  At the point they
19    were only irrigating land -- I mean when they get got
20    to the Indian Bend wash, then probably the tailwater
21    went there.  And I'm just thinking about how I would
22    have done it if I was building it.  And as every major
23    wash came -- the reach between every major wash came
24    in, I would start dumping the tailwater at that point
25    so you don't hurt anybody.  And it now I think empties
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 1    in the Agua Fria.  So over time the return point would
 2    move west.
 3  Q.   Do you know how much Hayden's Ferry drew when
 4    it was loaded with its capacity?
 5  A.   Initially, 1,000 cubic feet per second.
 6  Q.   Hayden's Ferry.
 7  A.   I'm sorry.
 8  Q.   How much did the boat draw in the water when
 9    it was loaded for use?
10  A.   No idea.
11  Q.   And do you know when the operation of the
12    ferry occurred generally throughout the year?
13  A.   I thought it was during high water seasons,
14    but I would go to a historian for a better answer.
15  Q.   Would you expect the ferry to be operating if
16    Arizona Dam was taking all of the water?
17  A.   If -- Arizona Dam didn't take all the water
18    all the time.  I never said that.  In low flow years it
19    took all of the water.  And when it was operating,
20    there would be return flow coming to the surface due to
21    the bedrock barrier underlying Hayden's Ferry.  That's
22    why I split the two basins.  And so it could be wet
23    enough that some people were afraid of getting mired in
24    the mud or something.
25  Q.   Do you know what amount of flow would be
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 1    needed for Hayden's Ferry to operate?
 2  A.   No.
 3  Q.   But if there was less than 1,000 cfs, you
 4    wouldn't think that Hayden's Ferry would be operating?
 5  A.   If they took the 1,000 and didn't return it
 6    at the two-mile return, as I say, I don't know what
 7    kind of return flows they were getting.  Some of it may
 8    have been coming down Indian Bend Wash, but -- and
 9    there was return flow.  Since I don't know what it
10    takes to operate it or create the need, I can't answer
11    your question.
12        MR. SLADE: I think there's a question.
13    
14        EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN
15        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Yeah.  If you could
16    refresh my memory, when was the dam constructed, the
17    Arizona Dam?
18        THE WITNESS: I know it was talked about
19    and they were expecting it to be built in '83, and
20    there was executive falderal.  They got it up and
21    running in '85, and that was the picture that
22    Dr. Littlefield was showing, which I had never seen.
23        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Do you have any
24    idea when in '85?
25        THE WITNESS: No, I don't.
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 1        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: When did the Day
 2    brothers come downstream?
 3        THE WITNESS: They came downstream in
 4    '92.  Well, that was the date of the article, and there
 5    were four trips prior, which would -- if they were
 6    consecutive, and we don't know, the first trip would
 7    have been '87 to '88.
 8        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Okay.  But they
 9    were coming downstream during the wintertime when they
10    left the Upper Verde, correct?
11        THE WITNESS: Most likely.
12        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: And so when they
13    would have reached that point, it could well have been
14    during the spring floods?
15        THE WITNESS: We have records for four
16    of those years, four of them.  Assuming they're five
17    consecutive years, we have records for four of them.
18    Three of them, absolutely.  There were strong records
19    in the early winter -- or the late winter that there
20    were high flows that would have gone right over the dam
21    and created a base.  They were in the thousands and
22    tens of thousands of cfs.
23        In the last year when they did it or
24    reported to have done it, the high I think was -- high
25    flow was 800 cfs during the months they were going.
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 1    The first year we have no flow records.
 2        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Given the fact that
 3    it was a temporary -- well, it's not really a temporary
 4    dam, but it was not a very high dam, is there any
 5    reason why they -- if they did, in reality, do this,
 6    that they wouldn't have portaged around that?
 7        THE WITNESS: They could have --
 8        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Unless there was no
 9    water below; but if it was during the wintertime, then
10    there would have been water below because it would have
11    been over the dam.
12        THE WITNESS: In the three years when
13    I'm sure it went over the dam, absolutely they could
14    have portaged.  I expect that some of them, if they
15    were feeling adventurous, they could have ridden a
16    roller-coaster over it.
17        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: It would have been
18    quite a ride.
19        THE WITNESS: Quite a ride.  I can't --
20    I wouldn't try it, but that's me.
21        The year when it was dry, I think given
22    the construction of diversion dams when there's no
23    storage dam upstream, they automatically divert the
24    capacity of the canal.  They're designed to do that.
25    So then they return the flow for downstream users if --
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 1        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Well, that raises a
 2    curious question, I think.  If they reached the dam and
 3    they didn't want to get out of the boat, but they
 4    decided they'd stay in the canal part of it --
 5        THE WITNESS: Right.
 6        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: -- could they not
 7    have gone right on around and --
 8        THE WITNESS: And that's my point.  I
 9    think my guess -- and if you read the article, it does
10    not say they boated the Salt River.  They came to the
11    Salt River and then continued on the Gila.  Now, I may
12    be reading way too much into it, and, of course, it's a
13    newspaper article.  I think you've heard a little bit
14    about that.
15        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Yeah.
16        THE WITNESS: So I think it's probable
17    they just -- as the dam diverted the river into the
18    Arizona Canal, that would be a beautiful way to
19    transport; and so that's what I think they did.
20        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Yeah.
21        THE WITNESS: As you said earlier when
22    we discussed this, it is speculation.  There's so
23    little to go on.
24        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. Slade, would it be
25    all right if we took a break now?
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 1        MR. SLADE: Absolutely.
 2        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Thank you very much.
 3        (A recess was taken from 11:03 a.m. to
 4        11:14 a.m.)
 5        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. Slade, are you
 6    ready?
 7        MR. SLADE: Ready to go.
 8        THE WITNESS: I'm ready.
 9        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. Gookin, are you
10    ready?
11        THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.
12        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Please proceed,
13    Mr. Slade.
14    
15        CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)
16        BY MR. SLADE: 
17  Q.   Mr. Gookin, I want to try to understand your
18    calculated reconstructed numbers.
19  A.   Yes.
20  Q.   And is the best place to look at that in
21    totality your Figure VI-3 on Page 107 of your report?
22  A.   Oh, that shows the depths based on those
23    numbers.
24  Q.   You calculated for the Salt-Verde confluence
25    just below, that it would be a median of 791 cfs; is
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 1    that right?
 2  A.   Below the confluence, Salt-Verde?  Yes, 791
 3    median.
 4  Q.   Okay.  And that's based on your Gila report
 5    numbers; is that right?
 6  A.   Yes.
 7  Q.   And how did you come up with that 791?
 8  A.   What I did, I would go to a -- I went to a
 9    gaging station that the White Book had used, and that's
10    the report on the water supply of the Lower Colorado
11    River, November 1952, and there's two supplements to it
12    and I always include.  To me, that's one book, looking
13    back in time.
14        The Bureau of Reclamation broke the river
15    down into two basic components, what was there
16    historically in that period and then what they thought
17    needed to be added and subtracted back in.  So I went
18    to the historic record and determined what the
19    distribution of flows was.  I found the 10 percent low
20    flow, I found the median, and I found the mean.  And
21    the reason I found the mean was because I was using
22    periods that didn't always match exactly, it would be
23    off a little bit.  And sometimes there will be gages
24    like here and here, but the Bureau of Reclamation has
25    put its point here, and so I would add two gages and
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 1    compare it to what happened.
 2        That gave me a feeling for the distribution
 3    of the historic flow.  Now the question is, you go
 4    through the White Book and you take each component of
 5    inflow or outflow, and you have to stop and think about
 6    it and go, okay, what would this flow contribute to.
 7        Well, inflows, since most of these reaches
 8    that I'm talking about are -- the inflows are all
 9    ephemeral, then you would expect that they would be
10    very -- they would come at very wet times, when there's
11    a lot of storms.  And so they would count for the
12    average, but they wouldn't count for the median.  So I
13    addressed that accordingly.
14        Man or human-caused losses, irrigation,
15    mining, et cetera, that's going to occur more
16    consistently at year after year, so when I'm adding
17    that water back in, I'm saying that does affect the
18    median.  I said it did affect the baseflow.
19        Now, I looked at other things for the
20    baseflow, and I got several estimates in the Gila
21    report for the baseflows.  I think I picked the Thomsen
22    and Porcello.  And I was looking at it a couple nights
23    ago to review it.  I may have made a -- I've made a
24    minor mistake to be consistent.  I said I took the
25    baseflow from the White Book and did the addition and
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 1    subtraction to get the Salt.  And I did do that.  But
 2    in my Gila report I used the baseflow from Thomsen and
 3    Porcello.  It's off by about, I don't know, 7 cfs, I
 4    think.  It's very small.  And that's an oops.  But
 5    other than that, that's basically how I did it.
 6  Q.   Is there any document that you can compare
 7    your median Salt-Verde confluence number to that you
 8    have been able to find?
 9  A.   No.
10  Q.   Have you had any --
11  A.   Other than what I've said for the White Book,
12    but that's it.
13  Q.   Has anyone reviewed your 791 cfs number for
14    the median?
15  A.   No.
16  Q.   And have you published it anywhere?
17  A.   No, but last night I was thinking about it.
18  Q.   The same question --
19  A.   I really was.
20  Q.   The same question for the low flow of 296;
21    has anyone reviewed that?
22  A.   No.
23  Q.   Have you read the Kent and Kibbey decrees?
24  A.   Yes.
25  Q.   And they estimated that the lowest flow,
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 1    generally, of the Salt was about 300 cfs; is that
 2    right?
 3  A.   I don't remember.
 4  Q.   That's generally what you have for your low
 5    flow?
 6  A.   Yes.
 7  Q.   They're pretty comparable?
 8  A.   I was going to say I wouldn't argue 4 cfs.
 9  Q.   No, and I'm not either.
10  A.   Okay.
11  Q.   Now, that's at the top of Segment 6, right?
12  A.   Right.
13  Q.   And you believe that 200 cfs is then lost in
14    6b; is that right?
15  A.   Some is lost in 6a.  Some of it returns, some
16    of what is lost returns.  Then some of it is lost in 6
17    that goes down in 6b.  Some of it comes back before the
18    confluence.  A lot of it comes back after the
19    confluence with the Gila.  Some of it went south
20    between the Salt and -- the South Mountains and the
21    Sacaton Mountains, in that gap underground, and emerged
22    as underflow for the Gila.
23  Q.   So for Segment 6b you believe the flow is --
24    the median flow for that segment is 581?
25  A.   Yes.
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 1  Q.   And 6b starts at -- what was the location for
 2    the start of 6b, again?
 3  A.   The Old Mill Avenue Bridge, which is
 4    essentially the Hayden Ferry.  Tempe Butte, if that
 5    helps, that right there.
 6  Q.   And can you walk me through how 200 cfs is
 7    lost from the top of Segment 6 to Hayden's Ferry?
 8  A.   Sure.  The water is heading down.  The Salt
 9    River is made in that reach, according to Means, of
10    gravelly sand, which means it's mostly coarse sand with
11    some gravel mixed in, very porous material.  It seeps
12    into the ground.  Some of it would have been
13    intercepted by mesquite and other phreatophytic
14    vegetation on the way to the confluence.
15        Some of the water that's down now in the
16    groundwater and is paralleling, roughly, the Salt River
17    is going to go under the confluence of the Salt and the
18    Gila and emerge later, and that was a lot of the water
19    that the Buckeye Irrigation District used in the early
20    days, and that's where we get a lot of our records as
21    to what was going on.
22        Some of the water, as the Salt built this
23    mound underneath it from these losses, would have
24    flowed south through the gap.  There is conjecture that
25    the Salt River used to do that way back when, and it
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 1    left a coarse underground channel, and that provided an
 2    easy means for water to infiltrate south to the Gila
 3    River, where it either emerged in the Gila River
 4    upstream from the confluence or joined the Salt River
 5    and went under the confluence and came up later,
 6    subject, again, to the phreatophytes on the Middle and
 7    Lower Gila.
 8  Q.   Do you have any references or documents that
 9    state that from Hayden's Mill to the Salt it was
10    typical that 200 cfs was lost?
11  A.   That was my computation, and that's what I've
12    got.
13  Q.   No sources that you can point me to that
14    quantify the amount that might have been lost from --
15  A.   Your best bet would be the Hodges report.  It
16    did a really good study on the return flow of the Salt
17    and Gila Rivers, or the Southworth report.  I know I
18    read them, but I didn't read them with an eye to --
19    well, wait a minute.  Let me go back.  Just a second.
20        Below the confluence I looked at Hodges,
21    Freethey and Anderson, Thomsen, Southworth and USGS
22    1901, which I think is a Lee report.  I'm looking at
23    Page 5.  No.  Well, 5a, I guess you would call it,
24    Figure II-1 in Chapter II of my Gila report, and it
25    shows the various values, and I think I ended up using
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 1    Thomsen.  That was, okay, 74 cfs versus the
 2    80-something.  I don't think it would make a
 3    significant difference in the determination.
 4        And I didn't print out my bibliography.  I'm
 5    sorry.  So I don't know what USGS 1901 is.
 6  Q.   When you say the Thomsen report said there
 7    was a 74 cfs minimum flow, did I hear you correctly?
 8  A.   Yes.
 9  Q.   And that was --
10  A.   That was the Gila Thomsen report.
11  Q.   Was that for the Gila or for the Salt?
12  A.   That was for the Gila and Salt immediately
13    downstream below the confluence.
14  Q.   And what's the name of that report?
15  A.   "Predevelopment Hydrology for the Gila River
16    Indian Reservation," something like that.
17  Q.   So not the Thomsen and Porcello, but the
18    Thomsen and, is it --
19  A.   Yeah, me too.  To me, they're both the
20    Thomsen report.
21  Q.   Eychaner --
22  A.   That sounds right.
23  Q.   -- does that sound familiar?  Okay.
24        So your understanding is in that report they
25    state that the minimum flow of the Salt where it joins
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 1    the Gila is 86 cfs?
 2  A.   No.  They say that the minimum flow that
 3    comes in that's just downstream from the Salt is
 4    74 cfs.
 5  Q.   Okay.
 6  A.   I'm trying to figure out how did it get that
 7    high now.  Oh, wait.  I know how I did it.  I used the
 8    Bureau of Reclamation by mistake.  That's right.  It
 9    would be lower if I had used Thomsen.
10  Q.   Are they talking about the Gila or the Salt?
11  A.   Thomsen said how much was below the
12    confluence.  I had computed how much was above the
13    confluence on the Gila.  If you take below the
14    confluence plus above the confluence on the Gila, you
15    know how much was on the Salt.
16        Now, Thomsen said that the value on the Salt
17    was 74 cfs baseflow.  There was a graph you had to
18    read, I think.
19  Q.   You don't have a citation to that that you
20    can point me to, can you?
21  A.   Just the Thomsen.  Wait a minute.
22        No, I didn't put a page number.  I don't know
23    why.  It was Thomsen and I always pronounce it as
24    Eychaner.
25  Q.   Eychaner.
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 1  A.   But I don't know.
 2  Q.   That sounds better than my butchered
 3    pronunciation.
 4  A.   My citations are on Page 10, Chapter II of
 5    Hydrology, Gila report.
 6  Q.   But it doesn't have a page number for where
 7    your 74 low flow cfs comes from?
 8  A.   No, it doesn't.  I don't know why.
 9  Q.   If I gave you the report, would you be able
10    to point it out?
11  A.   I imagine I had to compute it to come up with
12    it, because if I remember, they did their stuff in
13    annual acre-feet.
14  Q.   Could you tell me the general area where it
15    is if I gave you the report?
16  A.   I would -- I'll try.  Have you got the whole
17    thing?
18        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: What is the
19    citation number on that?
20        THE WITNESS: This doesn't have an
21    exhibit number on it.
22        MR. SLADE: We'll get that for you,
23    Mr. Chairman, or, excuse me, Commissioner Allen.
24        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: What is the title?
25        THE WITNESS: The title is
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 1    "Predevelopment Hydrology of the Gila River Indian
 2    Reservation, South-Central Arizona."
 3        MS. BREWER: C043, 369.
 4        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: 369?
 5        THE WITNESS: Oh, yeah, I think -- okay.
 6    If you go to Page 34.  Correction, 33.  You'll see,
 7    under Outflow, there's the net return flow from aquifer
 8    to, and then there's Gila River near Coolidge, Gila and
 9    Santa Cruz River southeast of Gila Crossing, Gila River
10    northwest of Gila Crossing, and then the underflow west
11    of the confluence.  And I believe if you add all those
12    up and convert the units, you'll come out with 79.3, if
13    I did it right.
14        BY MR. SLADE: 
15  Q.   Is that the surface flow --
16  A.   Yeah.
17  Q.   -- that they're talking about?
18  A.   It's the return flow from aquifer, and that's
19    baseflow.  It's the water coming out of the groundwater
20    and going into the surface and thereby leaving the
21    groundwater basin.
22  Q.   Well, the title of the table is "Simulated
23    predevelopment ground-water budget."
24  A.   Right.
25  Q.   So where does it say that's the surface flow?
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 1  A.   Net return flow from aquifer to Gila River.
 2  Q.   So if that's coming from the aquifer, that's
 3    being added to the existing surface flow?
 4  A.   Right, and that's what baseflow is normally
 5    characterized, is the return from the aquifer in the
 6    area where you're talking about.
 7  Q.   So what is that return added to?  What is the
 8    surface water that the return flow is being --
 9  A.   For baseflow you figure it probably had dried
10    up or nearly so, which it did on occasion, and so
11    that's pretty much your lowest flow.
12  Q.   So it's your opinion that the Salt was dry on
13    the surface?
14  A.   Well, no, this is the Gila.
15  Q.   Is it your opinion that the Salt was dry at
16    the surface when it combined with the Gila?
17  A.   No.  I'm pretty sure it had water.
18  Q.   Okay.  So what was the baseflow of the Salt?
19  A.   The baseflow of the Salt then, which you --
20    this total gives you the total underflow coming out.  I
21    had also computed the underflow above the confluence on
22    the Gila.  If you know how much is leaving a system and
23    you've got two inputs and you know how much one of them
24    is and you know we're talking about a long time, so
25    it's not going to -- I mean, you may have short-term
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 1    variations, but we're not trying to fill a reservoir or
 2    anything.  It's straight math to compute the last
 3    component, straight out.  You just take outflow minus
 4    Gila inflow equals Salt inflow.
 5  Q.   Maybe I'm confused, but I'm going to try and
 6    clarify with you.
 7  A.   Okay.
 8  Q.   On your Page 107, your Figure VI-3, you've
 9    got a minimum flow of 86 cfs for the Salt?
10  A.   Yes, and as I said, that was wrong.  I
11    probably should have come up with something smaller.
12    But, okay, go ahead.
13  Q.   And that minimum flow is based on solely the
14    outflow from the aquifer that we can see here on the
15    Thomsen study on Page 33?
16  A.   Yes.  The outflow below the con -- the total
17    outflow of the Gila -- God, I wish I had a board.
18        You've got two rivers joining at the
19    confluence, the Gila River and the Salt River.  The
20    Gila River has a baseflow component creating water in
21    the Gila above the confluence.  You also know what the
22    baseflow is below the confluence, from the records and
23    so forth and from this study.  Then you back out what
24    the Salt must have been, to make it all balance.
25  Q.   And I understand that from an overview
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 1    perspective.  But this is a groundwater budget paper.
 2  A.   Right.
 3  Q.   They're talking about groundwater, not
 4    surface water.  So did your minimum flow of 86 come
 5    from just assuming that the Salt was dry and that
 6    groundwater was coming up?
 7  A.   No, because I gave you a flow for the Salt.
 8    I assumed that the Salt and the Gila together combined
 9    to make all the flow that I found downstream of the
10    Salt and the Gila.  I have a value for the Gila, and I
11    computed the flow from the Salt.
12        It does assume -- this is where you're
13    confused. -- that whatever came in at, say, Granite
14    Reef or at Kelvin on the Gila didn't make it in that
15    really dry day, because while they were both perennial,
16    the USGS says perennial means flow 80 percent of the
17    time or more, and there are a couple records where it
18    had little spots that dried up, which means you've got
19    little to no flow coming down at the mouth of the Salt.
20    So it's all underflow coming up, and that's what you're
21    trying to quantify.
22  Q.   So it's your thought that there was no
23    surface flow on the Salt at the juncture of the Salt
24    with the Gila --
25  A.   No.
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 1  Q.   -- at minimum flow?
 2  A.   No.  It's my thought that somewhere on the
 3    Salt River upstream from the junction there was no
 4    flow, because in Reach 6b the water went down and then
 5    some of it came up.  Now, I say no flow.  There might
 6    have been 1 cfs, but it did have, on a couple very,
 7    very dry days, which we don't consider for
 8    navigability, almost dry up or dry up.  And not every
 9    year even.
10  Q.   What document can you point me to that states
11    that, that the Salt dried up?
12  A.   I can't remember.  I should have put it in.
13    I did have documents on the Gila had dried up; again,
14    very brief points and very seldom.
15  Q.   But that is a pretty important point if
16    you're not considering surface water?
17  A.   Not for baseflow, it's not.  Baseflow is
18    telling you what the river is going to put out in the
19    worst case condition.
20        Now, Mr. Hjalmarson proved to me that that
21    pretty much equals 10 percent flow, and that's what he
22    uses, and I'm not going to argue between the 10 percent
23    and the .01 percent.
24  Q.   But your worst case condition for the Salt
25    assumes that it went dry; is that right?
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 1  A.   Somewhere upstream it went dry or had a very
 2    minor flow for a very short time.
 3  Q.   And can I -- do I understand you to say that
 4    you don't have a document that states that?
 5  A.   Not at my hand, no.
 6  Q.   Do you recall if there's any study that's
 7    ever said the Salt went dry?
 8  A.   I don't remember any study, and I can't
 9    remember where I thought I found somebody who said that
10    they couldn't find -- the Salt River was dry or very,
11    very low.  It would have been in June, almost
12    certainly.
13        Well, excuse me, I have lots of documents
14    that say it was dry, but they're after the diversions.
15  Q.   Sure.  We're thinking about the natural
16    condition.
17  A.   Yeah.
18        MR. SLADE: Is there a question?
19    
20        EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN
21        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Just a very brief
22    one.
23        The Buckeye Canal was extended, or maybe
24    it was the Roosevelt Canal that was extended up past
25    91st Avenue, and wells were used to pull water out
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 1    because that particular area was waterlogged during the
 2    early time frame when a lot of irrigation was
 3    occurring.
 4        THE WITNESS: Right.
 5        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Was there a return
 6    flow pre-1900 in that particular area?
 7        THE WITNESS: Yes, there was.  The
 8    manager of the Roosevelt Irrigation District, and I
 9    can't remember which report, but he told the person
10    that when he first put in the diversion dam, since then
11    the return flow coming up had doubled due to the
12    irrigation diversions and the seepage coming in; but
13    there was some there really before there was much of
14    that occurring.
15        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Is it possible that
16    that happened also during Hohokam?
17        THE WITNESS: Sure.
18        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: The same conditions
19    would.
20        THE WITNESS: Yeah.
21        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: So the return flow
22    to the river, which would probably have made it
23    perennial throughout that whole reach of 6b?
24        THE WITNESS: As long as -- I think the
25    return flow started most of the way through 6b --
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 1        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Okay.
 2        THE WITNESS: -- is when it started
 3    coming up, because what causes the return flow is the
 4    junction of the Sierra Estrellas, the South Mountains,
 5    and the White Tanks and the bedrock connecting the
 6    three underneath, shallowing the groundwater basin.
 7    
 8        CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)
 9        BY MR. SLADE: 
10  Q.   Mr. Gookin, just to wrap up the minimum flow,
11    you would agree that to understand that the minimum
12    flow was only 86 cfs, we need to know that the Salt
13    River went dry, right?
14  A.   Ordinarily so, yes.
15  Q.   Okay.  But we don't have any document that
16    tells us that it went dry?
17  A.   Yes.
18  Q.   Okay.  That's a problem for understanding how
19    you came up with your calculation, right?
20  A.   Baseflow is normally computed in this manner
21    of what's coming up at the location.  And, again, don't
22    get me wrong.  It's very rare that there's zero.  I
23    don't think the Salt River dried up very often, and
24    that's why I call it baseflow.  That's the contribution
25    at that point.
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 1  Q.   Would it be a better verbiage or would it be
 2    better to call it, instead of minimum flow,
 3    contribution from the aquifer at that point?
 4  A.   Same thing, because the contribution from the
 5    aquifer is what determines your minimum flow.  Think of
 6    a river.  If it's not raining and the snow's not
 7    melting, the only place it gets water is from the
 8    groundwater coming back up, and that's what baseflow
 9    is.
10  Q.   You've been on the Verde, right?  Have you
11    ever seen --
12  A.   Yes.
13  Q.   The Verde has a baseflow?
14  A.   Yes.
15  Q.   And it's not just the contribution from the
16    aquifer underneath; would you agree with that?
17  A.   No.
18  Q.   Can you explain?
19  A.   Baseflow is the flow that comes into the
20    river from the groundwater.  That's the definition of
21    it.
22  Q.   And for the Salt, you would suppose that the
23    baseflow is only contributed to by the aquifer coming
24    up?
25  A.   Yes.
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 1  Q.   Okay.  Do you have any documentation that
 2    supports your theory that the Salt lost 200 cfs from
 3    the Salt-Verde confluence to the beginning of
 4    Segment 6b?
 5  A.   I can't quote it to you now, no.  I thought I
 6    had read it once, but it was many years ago.
 7  Q.   That's a pretty important piece of
 8    information to have, to know if, in fact, the flow was
 9    791 cfs or 581 cfs, as you've proposed, right?
10  A.   Well, you've got to remember, again, that the
11    200 -- excuse me.  I hate having two reports.  I'm
12    spending time looking in the wrong one.
13        The Thomsen report --
14  Q.   Which Thomsen report is that?
15  A.   For the Salt River.
16  Q.   The Porcello report?
17  A.   Yes.
18  Q.   If you could just hold on one second.
19  A.   Never mind, it didn't have the -- it did have
20    a baseflow, but I think at that point you probably
21    would have had surface flow from the Salt, because it
22    had a baseflow of 296 at the confluence there, and
23    that's a short distance to Old Mill Avenue.  So, no, I
24    don't.  I'm sorry.
25  Q.   Okay.  And the 581 cfs number is what you
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 1    used for your construction of your depth?
 2  A.   Yes.  That and the mean depths are primarily
 3    what I looked at.
 4  Q.   Are there any other documents related to how
 5    you constructed your flow that you haven't disclosed as
 6    a reference?
 7  A.   No.
 8  Q.   Then let's turn to your Page 106 of your
 9    report, please.  And this is a picture of the cross
10    section you used for the Salt?
11  A.   Yes.
12  Q.   And how did you come up with this cross
13    section to use?
14  A.   I had a 2-foot topographic map of the
15    Salt-Gila River junction by Olberg, dated 1915, I think
16    I said.  And I thought that pretty fairly represented
17    the channel in 1912.
18  Q.   Did you say 1915?
19  A.   I think it was 1915.  Let me look.
20    
21        EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN
22        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Question.
23        THE WITNESS: Yes.
24        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: I can't read it
25    from here, but what's the blue line?  Is that the water
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 1    level?
 2        THE WITNESS: The blue line is the
 3    baseflow water level.
 4        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Okay.  Okay.
 5        THE WITNESS: The green line is the
 6    median flow water level, and the red line is the mean
 7    flow water level.
 8        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Okay.  And where is
 9    this located?
10        THE WITNESS: This would be located --
11        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: It's very close
12    to the baseline point.
13        THE WITNESS: Oh, yeah.  It's like a
14    mile or two upstream from the confluence --
15        COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Okay.
16        THE WITNESS: -- with the Gila.
17    
18        CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)
19        BY MR. SLADE: 
20  Q.   So you chose this because it was in your
21    client's area, or what was your criteria for choosing
22    this area?
23  A.   Three reasons.  One, I had it.  I guess that
24    makes four reasons.  Second, it's 2-foot contours,
25    where USGS maps are 5-foot contours, and, therefore,
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 1    the accuracy is presumed better.  Third, it was very
 2    close in time to statehood.  Fourth, it was on my
 3    client's boundary.
 4        And I attached pictures of that portion of
 5    the map in my appendix at the very end, in Appendix A,
 6    right before Appendix B, the last two pages.  And they
 7    say it was by Southworth, but I've read elsewhere that
 8    Olberg was the poor shmuck who had to go in the field
 9    and do the measurements, and that's why I call it the
10    Olberg map.
11  Q.   So if we're looking at that cross section,
12    again, this is on your Page 106 of your Salt River
13    report --
14  A.   Yes.
15  Q.   -- you've got a median flow line in green; is
16    that correct?
17  A.   Yes, I believe so.
18  Q.   Okay.  Would you expect that number to go up
19    if you -- that line to move up and have a higher depth,
20    if you didn't use the 581 and you instead use the
21    791 cfs?
22  A.   Yes.
23  Q.   Do you know what that depth would be if you
24    used 791 instead?
25  A.   I'm trying to see if Mr. Fuller has a cross


Page 3520


 1    section near it, and I thought I included -- oh, here.
 2        No.  I do know that be -- oh, below -- above
 3    581, according to Mr. Fuller, the mean depth would
 4    be -- at 1,400 cfs, which is almost double, it's only
 5    gone up to 2.1 feet mean depth.  So because of the fact
 6    it's widening out so fast, it doesn't increase very
 7    quickly.
 8  Q.   But you don't know what -- your cross section
 9    specifically, what the depth would be at a median flow
10    of 791 as opposed to 581?
11  A.   Correct.
12  Q.   Okay.  Do you know it would be greater, the
13    depth?
14  A.   It would be greater at 791 than it would be
15    at 781 [sic], yes.  And I also know, based on the other
16    thing, it almost certainly would be below 2 foot.
17  Q.   And if the -- the blue line is your minimum
18    depth.
19  A.   Right.
20  Q.   If it turns out that the Salt River never
21    went dry, would your minimum depth also be greater?
22  A.   Yes.
23  Q.   Is this the only cross section that you
24    prepared for your --
25  A.   Yes.
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 1  Q.   Okay.  And --
 2  A.   One thing I would like to say about this
 3    cross section.  It's written on there, but just to
 4    emphasize, the Salt River doesn't look like those
 5    canyons up there.  That canyon effect is totally due to
 6    the extreme exaggeration to make it fit the page.
 7  Q.   In other words, the width would be a lot
 8    wider than the height?
 9  A.   Yeah.
10  Q.   And here we have the height wider than the
11    width?
12  A.   Yeah.  It's very misleading.
13  Q.   Can a small boat navigate in 1 and a half
14    feet of depth, in your opinion?
15  A.   If I knew what a small boat was, I would have
16    computed the Day trip.
17  Q.   So you didn't do any computation on how much
18    depth a small boat needs?
19  A.   I don't even know what a small boat means.
20  Q.   And is that the same answer you have for
21    canoe?
22  A.   Yes.  Yes.
23  Q.   And is that the same answer you have for a
24    small boat loaded with goods?
25  A.   A small boat loaded with goods would be
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 1    deeper than a small boat loaded without goods,
 2    depending on how many goods you put into the small
 3    boat.
 4  Q.   You don't have any calculations or estimates
 5    that you did to figure out the draw or the depth of
 6    water needed?
 7  A.   You give me no numbers, you'll get no
 8    numbers.
 9  Q.   You didn't come up with anything?
10  A.   No.
11  Q.   Do you know what the flow was when the Edith
12    made its trip?
13  A.   Oh, 600 and -- do you know?
14  Q.   653, does that sound about right?
15  A.   That sounds about right.
16  Q.   Okay.  And is that below the median value
17    that you calculated for the top of Segment 6?
18  A.   Yes, but that includes the Verde.
19  Q.   Right.
20        So if you had that median --
21  A.   You can't move that median up into Segment 5
22    past the -- because of the Verde.
23  Q.   Sure.  If you had that median in Segment 6a
24    and 6b, we could test to see -- if there was that
25    amount of water, you could have tested to see if the
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 1    Edith could have also floated through that area, if we
 2    had that availability?
 3  A.   Even if you had it, it wouldn't be the
 4    natural river.
 5  Q.   Is it your belief that a segment has to be
 6    19 miles or longer to be navigable?  I thought I heard
 7    you say that in the November hearing.
 8  A.   That is truly a legal question.  I know the
 9    Court says it has to be a meaningful distance.  There
10    was a lot of discussion about the 19-foot -- or
11    19 miles by the Supreme Court.  I'm talking about PPL
12    Montana now.  I didn't find -- it seemed to imply, but
13    I didn't find an exact statement that said you needed
14    19 miles.  Maybe an attorney can correct me.  But it
15    didn't really come up, because the ones I said were too
16    short were usually less than 10 miles.
17  Q.   In the Lower Salt?
18  A.   Yes.
19  Q.   There were some dams in the Lower Salt,
20    right, at the time those accounts occurred?
21  A.   Yes.
22  Q.   Would that have been a factor for potentially
23    the distance that boats traveled if there were dams?
24  A.   Certainly.  As I put in my report, all the
25    stuff after the dams is really of minimal probative --
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 1    it's a legal word.  Probative value?  I got it?  Okay.
 2        That was from the Winkleman decision.
 3  Q.   I believe you stated in your report that the
 4    Salmon River was nonnavigable?
 5  A.   As best I could find.
 6  Q.   So you haven't seen the Idaho Supreme Court
 7    case that states the Salmon River is navigable?
 8  A.   Correct, and -- well, I haven't seen it, so I
 9    don't know if it's navigable for title or what, but...
10  Q.   And the Salmon River, I'm not sure if you
11    know this.  Maybe you do or do not.  Is the Salmon
12    River one of those rivers where boats were built, taken
13    downstream, and then sold for lumber?
14  A.   Yes.
15  Q.   Do you know if the Salmon River has rapids?
16  A.   Yes, it does.
17  Q.   More severe rapids than Segment 6 of the Salt
18    would have had, in your opinion?
19  A.   I have no idea.  I'm sorry.  That's just not
20    my thing.
21  Q.   Does a portage on a river make a river
22    nonnavigable, one portage of a mile or less?
23  A.   Well, the way the Supreme Court said it in
24    PPL Montan was, "Even if portage --" this is Page 18.
25    "Even if portage were to take travelers only one day,
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 1    its significance is the same:  It demonstrates the need
 2    to bypass the river segment, all because that part of
 3    the river is nonnavigable."
 4        So one portage of a day nullifies a segment,
 5    from what I read.  As to a mile, it depends on --
 6    sometimes to go portage 1 mile, you have to go 30 miles
 7    out of the way, or there could be so many goods that
 8    you're going to just be going back and forth so many
 9    times it takes a day.
10  Q.   Are there any portages that you would expect
11    to see on Segment 6 of the Lower Salt that would have
12    taken a day?
13  A.   Again, it would depend on how big the boats
14    were, because -- and I still feel, with the beaver dam,
15    if you've got one every 100 yards, like the observer
16    who was there in natural times said, that's going to
17    mount up to more than a day.  And it doesn't say if a
18    single portage.  It's just "if portage," which I think
19    is a plural the way it's written.
20  Q.   So if there were beaver dams across the
21    channel on the Salt every hundred yards or so --
22  A.   Right.
23  Q.   -- that, to you, would indicate that that
24    area is nonnavigable?
25  A.   And in the natural condition, yes.
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 1  Q.   Do riffles make a river nonnavigable; not
 2    rapids, but riffles?
 3  A.   Depends on the boat.  I mean some boats
 4    really can't handle much of anything.  Mr. Fuller
 5    indicated barges can't handle rapids, and I think he
 6    said riffles; and I agree with that.  They're just --
 7    it's not going to work.
 8  Q.   Did you do any studies or talk to anyone to
 9    discover if a small boat or a canoe, which is a small
10    boat variety, would have any trouble boating with a
11    loaded boat over riffles?
12  A.   Certainly a modern-day doesn't.
13  Q.   How about --
14  A.   Oh, did I talk to anybody?  No.
15  Q.   What is your ordinary range of flow for
16    Segment 6?
17  A.   I accepted Mr. Fuller's, because I didn't
18    have anything -- and I don't mean this as nasty as it
19    sounds. -- because I didn't have anything better.  I
20    couldn't come up with it.  His seemed reasonable, so I
21    accepted that range.
22        That wasn't an insult, the way I phrased it.
23        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: You're fine.
24        BY MR. SLADE: 
25  Q.   What are the differences, in your opinion,


Page 3527


 1    between Segment 6a and 6b, all the physical
 2    characteristic differences?
 3  A.   The big difference is you have the return
 4    flows at the end of each, and that means that 6b pretty
 5    much stands alone.  It's longer, a lot longer than 6a,
 6    and, therefore, would have more propensity to lose
 7    water.  That's the big one.  That's about all I know of
 8    it.
 9  Q.   In terms of channel pattern or slope?
10  A.   I haven't checked the slope.  The pattern, it
11    seems equally multichanneled.
12  Q.   Bed material?
13  A.   I've seen the soil survey for 6b.  I'm not
14    aware of one for 6a.  It may be different.  I just
15    don't know.
16  Q.   Vegetation?
17  A.   Pretty similar.
18  Q.   And depth?
19  A.   Probably pretty similar, but I don't know.
20  Q.   And in terms of flow rate, we already
21    discussed that.  It's your opinion that 6b would have
22    200 cfs less than 6a?
23  A.   Is that what it comes out?  Yes.
24  Q.   Roughly.
25  A.   In low flow or median flow?
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 1  Q.   Median flow.
 2  A.   Yes.
 3        Well, it's not going to help.  I know I've
 4    read that the Salt River was a losing river through
 5    there, but that doesn't nail 200 for you.
 6  Q.   Do you have any documentation that says the
 7    Salt River was ever below 300 cfs in Segment 6 at any
 8    place?
 9  A.   Oh, yeah, lots; but that's after the dams.
10  Q.   Sure.  In its natural condition.
11  A.   There are no gage records in its natural
12    condition.
13  Q.   Well, for example, the Kibbey Decree talks
14    about the low flow of the Salt being 300 cfs.  Are
15    there any other documents that you can recall that talk
16    about the low flow of the Salt?
17  A.   Well, the Kibbey Decree, was that at the
18    Salt-Verde confluence?
19  Q.   Couldn't tell you sitting here today.
20  A.   Okay.  If it's not at the Salt-Verde
21    confluence, it's after a lot of dams were built and a
22    lot of irrigation and it was after or about the time
23    Arizona Dam came online.  So that's what I've got.
24  Q.   Okay.  And just a few more questions.
25    Hopefully we can finish up by lunch here.
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 1        You mentioned that wooden canoes are much
 2    stronger today than they were in their historical time
 3    period; is that right?
 4  A.   Yes.
 5  Q.   And can you tell me why that would be the
 6    case?
 7  A.   Primarily because -- and I'm not talking
 8    about a replica canoe.  And I am not talking about a
 9    replica canoe.  I'm talking about a canoe made today
10    just to be a canoe.
11        The coatings that you put on the canoes, such
12    as the clear epoxy resin, give it a considerable amount
13    of extra strength and protection, and there are other
14    coatings; but they didn't have those back then.  That's
15    the reason.
16        Oh, also, they do understand structures
17    better now.
18  Q.   Anything else you can consider with regard to
19    differences in today's wood canoes versus wood canoes
20    in the historical time?
21  A.   Just looking to make sure.
22        The one source I had also references
23    varnishes are stronger.  That's it.
24  Q.   Did you consider modern recreation that takes
25    place on Segment 5 on the river today as any evidence
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 1    that the river can be navigated in historical times?
 2  A.   No.
 3        MR. SLADE: Mr. Chairman, if I could
 4    just have a minute to consult with my expert and
 5    counsel, I think I'm wrapping it up.
 6        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. Slade, we observe
 7    that Mr. Hood was only able to have two donuts, and he
 8    looks positively famished, but we will delay his lunch
 9    just a little bit longer for you to consult.  And
10    that's a joke.
11        MR. SLADE: Well, we could also take
12    lunch and we could come back and do this again.
13        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: No, no, go ahead,
14    please, because they're not going to be happy coming
15    back just to watch Mark's video either.
16        (A brief recess was taken.)
17        MR. SLADE: That's it.
18        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Well, let's talk a
19    little bit about what we're going to do for the rest of
20    the day.  We're off the record.
21        (A lunch recess was taken from
22        12:11 p.m. to 1:31 p.m.)
23        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Okay.  Will the record
24    reflect that Mr. Henness is not present.
25        Is Mr. Horton back?  When he walks in


Page 3531


 1    the door, you start the thing, okay.
 2        MR. MCGINNIS: For the record, this is
 3    Exhibit C027.
 4        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Okay, Mr. McGinnis,
 5    please.
 6        MR. MCGINNIS: Yes.  What you're about
 7    to see is a movie, short movie, that's an exhibit in
 8    the record.  It was submitted by SRP.  SRP didn't make
 9    the movie.  It's readily available on the internet.  I
10    don't know who made it, but it probably says on here.
11    And we thought it might be an efficient way to talk
12    about the history of this event at Quartzite Falls,
13    without a whole bunch of testimony.
14        ("Quartzite's Fall:  A Wilderness Tale"
15    movie was played and transcribed as follows:)
16        MR. PETER COYOTE: Rocks that run across
17    river bottoms are the bones of giant sleeping beasts,
18    which come to life as the river rises.  For river
19    rafters in the West, Quartzite Falls was a pinnacle in
20    the pursuit of the ultimate wilderness experience.
21        MR. MARK DUBOIS: It is the miracle of
22    life out here.  The first time I took people down
23    rivers, I remember seeing people smiling like I had
24    never seen in my life, and I realized it was something
25    about being in these wild, magical places.  I mean this
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 1    is one of the most unique ecosystems I've ever seen.
 2    There's so many things to learn out here.  It's a
 3    living classroom for everyone.
 4        MR. PETER COYOTE: Decades ago the Upper
 5    Salt River was protected under the Wilderness Act and
 6    set aside as a place for inspiration, recreation, and
 7    solitude.  Despite the wilderness designation, the
 8    Salt's most remarkable feature was destroyed.
 9        The Salt River cuts from pinion forests
10    to the Sonoran Desert.  Its journey begins in Eastern
11    Arizona on the Fort Apache Reservation.
12        MS. EVA WATT: It makes me feel happy to
13    see flow down, to see it go to different -- so many
14    different places.  It's keeping so many things alive.
15        MR. TRAVIS HESSE: We are taught that
16    the river is a living being, that it shouldn't be
17    messed with.  A lot of our kids are taught that.  And
18    as they grow older, they have certain respect for the
19    river and maybe some fear.
20        MS. EVA WATT: So you have to watch the
21    river.  It's dangerous.  If you're in the water and the
22    flood comes, then you're gone.
23        MR. PETER COYOTE: The Class IV
24    whitewater section drops over 20 feet per mile through
25    52 miles of free-flowing water in the Tonto National
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 1    Forest.
 2        In 1984 Congress designated the most
 3    remote section of the Salt River a wilderness, a place
 4    that could not legally be developed or altered.
 5        MR. MIKE ROSEMAN: It's the biology, the
 6    geology, the shear ruggedness of the country.  It's a
 7    place where you can be free of city noises.  Ideally,
 8    it's set aside to always remain wild and be free of
 9    human interference.
10        MR. PETER COYOTE: To navigate the Salt
11    River Canyon, visitors must have advanced whitewater
12    skills, travel with an experienced boater, or hire a
13    commercial guide, because at Mile 28 there is an
14    unnavigable rapid called Quartzite Falls.  It is a
15    place where the canyon walls pinch the river over a
16    steep ledge and the water flowing over the rock creates
17    what's known as a keeper hole, a hydraulic suction that
18    draws water from both up and downstream, a feature that
19    could stop, hold, and recirculate a boat or a person
20    indefinitely.
21        MR. MIKE STAMPS: All that water has
22    just come from downstream and filled right back into
23    that thing, so it was just a big folding interface of
24    water.  The big piece of going out was, was being real
25    scared and dealing with it.  You know, you've got to go


Min-U-Script® Coash & Coash, Inc.
602-258-1440         www.coashandcoash.com


(28) Pages 3530 - 3533







Navigability of the Salt River 
Nos. 03-005-NAV and 04-008-NAV / Consolidated


Volume 16
February 26, 2016


Page 3534


 1    to this level in your head where if I don't execute
 2    this in this way, my very worst fears are going to
 3    become reality.  And that's really the big draw of
 4    being in real scary situations.  I have my own destiny
 5    in my hands, and you literally do.  You have that
 6    opportunity to seize your own destiny.
 7        MR. PETER COYOTE: The action of the
 8    hydraulic could reach downstream and pull a full-sized
 9    boat back into the keeper hole.
10        Usually boaters would only run the Falls
11    at lower water levels, when its billion-year-old ledges
12    were visible and benign.  Higher water levels demanded
13    that boaters either portage their rafts around the
14    rapid or send their boats down through the Falls on
15    ropes without passengers.
16        MR. KEVIN McCOMBE: Folks that wanted to
17    float this river had to work for it.  They had to earn
18    it by getting around that waterfall one way or other.
19        MR. MIKE STAMPS: You only had one or
20    two or three things you could do.  You know, you could
21    take your life in your hands and run it; you could do
22    the technical thing and line it on the right; or you
23    could do the very hard work of making the portage on
24    the left.
25        MS. BRENDA INSLEY: Having something out
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 1    there that was beyond your grasp kept you wanting more.
 2        MR. PETER COYOTE: Once a guide could
 3    manage the other rapids on the Salt, the time would
 4    come to face Quartzite Falls.
 5        MR. KEVIN McCOMBE: You know it's
 6    Quartzite day, and you know you've got to go down with
 7    your heart in your throat and this fear, this real
 8    fear.
 9        MR. MIKE STAMPS: You get down to the
10    Danger Falls eddy and then, you know, the whole thing
11    just seemed to close into this black gutter, and you
12    get tunnel vision and you get all scared.
13        MR. KEVIN McCOMBE: And just the thrill
14    of making that eddy and pulling into that eddy and
15    landing and then going through the process of carrying
16    my gear around that thing is just kind of a humbling
17    experience.  And you're doing something on the terms of
18    the wilderness versus human terms.
19        MR. PETER COYOTE: High-risk sports have
20    consequences.  Each year as many as 20 people die
21    whitewater rafting in the United States.  At the end of
22    the 1993 boating season, two men drowned at Quartzite
23    Falls.
24        MR. ROGER SABA: I talked to Kevin, the
25    forest ranger, and he said, "Man, there's been an event
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 1    down there.  The Falls is gone."
 2        And I went, wow, how did that happen?
 3    What kind of event would do that?  I mean this rock was
 4    embedded.  It was solid.  It was -- nothing was moving
 5    it.  We started poking around, and we couldn't figure
 6    out why some of these rocks had moved upstream if it
 7    was a flow event.  The edge of the ledge that's left is
 8    very sharply cut, and said, well, you know, this isn't
 9    a flood.  Somebody blew it up.
10        MR. KEVIN McCOMBE: We hiked in, and we
11    found big chunks of rock.  We found pieces of fuse, and
12    then we found a partially burned box, which apparently
13    turned out to be a pretty significant clue and piece of
14    evidence.
15        MR. PETER COYOTE: Agent Mitchell from
16    the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms reviewed
17    the material left at the site.
18        MR. JON MITCHELL: We realized that we
19    might have better luck solving this case than we
20    originally thought, because now we knew we had a binary
21    explosive, as opposed to possibly dynamite.
22        MR. BUD SHAVER: Jon Mitchell was able
23    to track the explosives by the type that they were --
24    they were kind of unusual. -- to a company here in
25    Phoenix that had sold those particular types of
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 1    explosives only to two people, the Arizona Department
 2    of Transportation and Richard Scott.
 3        MR. PETER COYOTE: Richard Scott and
 4    some of his boyhood friends were passengers on a
 5    commercial rafting trip in May of '93.
 6        MR. BUD SHAVER: And during that rafting
 7    trip people had discussed what a problem Quartzite
 8    Falls were, and they discussed it with one of the
 9    guides.  He said they were drinking and they were under
10    alcohol.  He didn't know if they were being -- were
11    serious about it or not.
12        MR. PETER COYOTE: An expert in mining
13    and blasting, Richard Scott helped detonate explosives
14    at Quartzite Falls on five separate occasions.
15        MR. RICHARD SCOTT: We thought it would
16    be a combination of a healthy adventure and an
17    opportunity to do something, as we were led to believe,
18    that no one would really object to; that everyone had
19    talked about doing this for years and years, and it was
20    really a liability to the people on the river.
21        MS. BRENDA INSLEY: There's a whole lot
22    of people that now are believing he did it to make it
23    safe.  But, quote, now it's safe?  It's not safe.  It's
24    a river.  You know, it will never be safe.
25        MR. MIKE ROSEMAN: I was really
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 1    appalled, especially when I started figuring out that
 2    it was a river guide that blew it up.  I didn't think
 3    you could find any river guides that would ever think
 4    of such a thing.
 5        MR. KEVIN McCOMBE: I got a phone call
 6    asking -- these guys asking if I knew of a river guide
 7    named Taz, and I said, yeah, a guy Ken Stoner.
 8        MR. PETER COYOTE: Ken Stoner worked as
 9    a construction manager during the week and as a river
10    guide on the weekends.
11        MR. KEN 'TAZ' STONER: Yeah, the seven
12    other men that were involved in this had the same
13    motive as I did, to just make this safer.  Nobody's
14    gained anything on this.  Nobody was paid anything.  It
15    was all done, you know, through our own funds and
16    resources and labors to accomplish this.
17        MR. BUD SHAVER: Mr. Stoner told me that
18    when you're lying out ropes and you've got a lot of
19    inexperienced people and you're trying to portage a
20    place like Quartzite Falls, it scared him to death.
21    And that, along with the two drownings that occurred,
22    he felt he needed to take some action.  But I think
23    some of his stuff was more -- a little more personal
24    than the rest of it, because it makes the river
25    runner's -- commercial river runner's job a little bit
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 1    easier.
 2        MR. PETER COYOTE: Boating the Upper
 3    Salt became increasingly popular in the high water
 4    years of the '80s and early 1990s.  As a result of
 5    increased traffic on the river, Sunday afternoon
 6    bottlenecks began to form at the Falls that could delay
 7    trips by as much as half a day.  Some boaters think
 8    that making a navigable rapid was the motive behind the
 9    blastings.
10        MR. KEN 'TAZ' STONER: The top drop in
11    this rapid will be a strong Class III.  It's going to
12    be a very exciting rapid to run and as hard as anything
13    on the Salt River that it has to offer.
14        UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Well, a lot of
15    people think there would be a commercial profit motive
16    taking out the drop here.
17        MR. KEN 'TAZ' STONER: There was no
18    payment on that, and there were two of us that had a
19    polygraph to prove that that was not the case.
20        MR. PAUL CHARLTON: This was an
21    ignorant, stupid, reckless act.  It wasn't, I don't
22    believe, genuinely designed to save anyone's life.  I
23    think it was designed to make their lives easier, and
24    for the most part, the other individuals wanted to go
25    out for a little bit of an adventure and see things
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 1    blow up.  And that's pathetic.
 2        MR. PETER COYOTE: Ken Stoner, Richard
 3    Scott, and the six men who helped them were charged
 4    with felonies for conspiracy and destruction of Federal
 5    property.
 6        MS. JANET NAPOLITANO: When you have a
 7    case like a Quartzite Falls case, where explosives are
 8    taken to take out one of the most notable features of a
 9    river that has been protected, you know, there's
10    something taken that is not only impossible to value,
11    but also impossible to replace.  In our view, demanded
12    the intervention of Federal prosecutors.
13        MR. BARRY YOUNG: The Federal Government
14    got this guy.  They prosecuted him, actually persecuted
15    him.  They fined him $30,000 for destroying government
16    property, and all he did was blow up some rocks that
17    were in the river making for hazardous whitewater
18    navigating.  This earth was given to us to manipulate.
19    We dig things out of the earth.  We destroy mountains.
20    We tunnel through.  We do all kinds of things.  I don't
21    think there was any problem in manipulating the river
22    to make it safer for rafters.
23        MR. PETER COYOTE: In the early part of
24    the 20th century, explosives were used regularly by the
25    Corps of Engineers to build dams, remove obstacles to
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 1    navigation, and reduce public hazards.
 2        MR. RICHARD SCOTT: It was very common
 3    back East to blast an obstruction to navigation.  Not
 4    as common to blast an obstruction for river rafting,
 5    commercial river lifting or recreational rafting
 6    purposes, though that clearly has been done.
 7        MR. ROBERT FINKBINE: I know in the old
 8    days they used to blow the hell out of rivers to make
 9    channels, but that was before the dawn of an
10    environmental consciousness and of why wilderness might
11    be important in an age that's so overcrowded and
12    overpopulated and technological, you know.  With the
13    bit of wilderness we have left, it becomes more and
14    more precious to us.
15        MS. JANET NAPOLITANO: What would we say
16    if they went and blew up part of Half Dome in Yosemite
17    so that rock climbers wouldn't have accidents?  In the
18    Quartzite Falls instance, it was very important that we
19    send that message; that we are going to protect value
20    of wilderness, and we don't mean it in a dollar and
21    sense way.  We mean it in a qualitative sense.
22        MR. RICHARD SCOTT: In retrospect, of
23    course we wish we hadn't done this.  Our efforts were
24    not rewarded by anything dramatic in our lives other
25    than a prosecution.
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 1        RICHARD SCOTT, SR.: I think it's quite
 2    sad that individuals in this case, who were wrong in
 3    the act that they did, must be incarcerated over a
 4    rock.
 5        MR. PETER COYOTE: Richard Scott was
 6    sentenced to one year in a Federal prison.  Ken Stoner,
 7    however, did not appear at the courthouse for
 8    sentencing.
 9        MS. CAROL CAVAZOS: A Federal Judge has
10    ordered the arrest of a man responsible for blowing up
11    Quartzite Falls along the Salt River.  Taz Stoner
12    disappeared just as he was about to be sentenced.
13    Authorities believe Stoner may have fled the country,
14    and he won't be sentenced until he's caught.
15        MS. BRENDA INSLEY: Quartzite was -- my
16    first year of guiding, it was the biggest challenge I
17    ever faced; and so for it to be gone, it's like a lot
18    of people like to go back and relive their glory days.
19    I'll never be able to.
20        MR. MARK DUBOIS: How do we have places
21    in the world where you have to be on your own
22    recognizance?  Gandhi said that the food is only along
23    the edge of the limbs.  Well, most of us like to stay
24    close to the trunk of the tree where it's solid, but
25    out on the edge is where life is rich.
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 1        MR. MIKE ROSEMAN: I am really grateful
 2    to those early conservation pioneers, who recognized
 3    that future generations were going to need preservation
 4    of wilderness.  And perhaps that's where we should be
 5    having discussion, is about what is a wilderness and
 6    what is the importance of having a wilderness ethic.
 7        MR. PETER COYOTE: There is a river
 8    canyon in the desert Southwest, and deep in the heart
 9    of this canyon there is a territory of fear and
10    fortitude, a stretch of water people seldom navigated,
11    a place where the river swallowed itself whole.  Its
12    name was Quartzite Falls.
13        (End of "Quartzite's Fall:  A Wilderness
14    Tale" movie presentation and transcription.)
15        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Okay, that concludes
16    today's session.
17        (The proceedings adjourned at 1:53 p.m.)
18    
19    
20    
21    
22    
23    
24    
25    
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 1  STATE OF ARIZONA    )
    COUNTY OF MARICOPA  )
 2 
   
 3            BE IT KNOWN that the foregoing proceedings
    were taken before me; that the foregoing pages are
 4  a full, true, and accurate record of the proceedings,
    all done to the best of my skill and ability; that
 5  the proceedings were taken down by me in shorthand
    and thereafter reduced to print under my direction.
 6 
              I CERTIFY that I am in no way related to
 7  any of the parties hereto, nor am I in any way
    interested in the outcome hereof.
 8 
              I CERTIFY that I have complied with the
 9  ethical obligations set forth in ACJA 7-206(F)(3)
    and ACJA 7-206 (J)(1)(g)(1) and (2).  Dated at
10  Phoenix, Arizona, this 12th day of March, 2016.
   
11 
   
12 
            _______________________________________
13                 JODY L. LENSCHOW, RMR, CRR
                       Certified Reporter
14                    Arizona CR No. 50192
   
15 
              I CERTIFY that Coash & Coash, Inc., has
16  complied with the ethical obligations set forth in
    ACJA 7-206 (J)(1)(g)(1) through (6).
17 
   
18 
   
19 
   
20 
   
21 
   
22 
   
23 
            _______________________________________
24                   COASH & COASH, INC.
                     Registered Reporting Firm
25                   Arizona RRF No. R1036
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 1                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Good morning.
  


 2   Mr. Mehnert, will you please call roll?
  


 3                  MR. MEHNERT:  Yes, sir, I will be happy
  


 4   to.  Commissioner Allen?
  


 5                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Here.
  


 6                  DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Commissioner Henness?
  


 7                  COMMISSIONER HENNESS:  Present.
  


 8                  DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Commissioner Horton?
  


 9                  COMMISSIONER HORTON:  Here.
  


10                  DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Chairman Noble?
  


11                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I am here.
  


12                  Are there any preliminary matters today?
  


13                  If not, Mr. Slade, are you ready to
  


14   begin?
  


15                  MR. SLADE:  Ready.
  


16                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Gookin?
  


17                  THE WITNESS:  I'm ready.
  


18
  


19                     CROSS-EXAMINATION
  


20   BY MR. SLADE:
  


21       Q.    Good morning, Mr. Gookin.
  


22       A.    Good morning.
  


23       Q.    Again, Eddie Slade with the Arizona State
  


24   Land Department.  Finally we get to have a
  


25   conversation.  I know you've been called for a number
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 1   of times, and we haven't gotten to you.  So thank you
  


 2   for sticking with us and being prepared every time.
  


 3       A.    Well, we'll see if I'm prepared today.
  


 4       Q.    The first thing I would like to ask you about
  


 5   is some of your standards for navigability, and I was a
  


 6   little confused in hearing your testimony about what
  


 7   type of boats you considered for navigability on the
  


 8   Lower Salt.
  


 9             And, actually, let me back up a little bit.
  


10   Is your opinion based specifically for the Segment 6 of
  


11   the Gila, as you've defined it, and 6a, 6?
  


12       A.    I certainly emphasize 6a and 6b, but I did
  


13   look at some of the others, particularly with regard to
  


14   the historic record.
  


15       Q.    In terms of your opinion on nonnavigability
  


16   of the Salt, can you give me specifically the segments
  


17   that you're saying are nonnavigable?
  


18       A.    1 through 6.
  


19       Q.    1 through 6.  And what segments have you done
  


20   a detailed study of?
  


21       A.    6b.
  


22       Q.    Have you done any detailed study of 6a?
  


23       A.    I computed the virgin flow and I have studied
  


24   it in detail, but I did not do a cross section.
  


25       Q.    So in terms of 1 through 6a, the only study
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 1   you've done is to look at the historical accounts; is
  


 2   that accurate?
  


 3       A.    I did look at the channel shapes in 6a and
  


 4   the obstacles in 6a and, of course, both of those in
  


 5   6b.
  


 6       Q.    Right.  So for 1 through 5, Segments 1
  


 7   through 5, did you look at any of the channel shape,
  


 8   the hydrology?
  


 9       A.    In 5 in my PowerPoint I did look at the
  


10   channel shape with regard to changes since virgin
  


11   times.  Well, I know Reach 4 has completely changed,
  


12   because it's totally underwater.  I didn't have to look
  


13   at that long.  But above that, no, I didn't.
  


14       Q.    Are you comfortable making an assessment of
  


15   nonnavigability based on the hydrologic and
  


16   geomorphologic characteristics of Segment 5 that you've
  


17   considered?
  


18       A.    I did not do a cross section, so I would have
  


19   to say probably not.  I believe the historic record
  


20   does not support it, and it did change; that I can say.
  


21       Q.    But from a susceptibility analysis where
  


22   you're looking at the hydrology and the geomorphology,
  


23   you're not comfortable opining on whether that segment,
  


24   Segment 5, is navigable or nonnavigable?
  


25       A.    Correct.  I did not do depth calculations.
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 1             And when you say navigable, I assume you're
  


 2   referring to susceptible to navigable.
  


 3       Q.    That's right.
  


 4             The same question for Segment 6a.  Are you
  


 5   comfortable making a determination of navigability or
  


 6   nonnavigability based on the hydrologic and
  


 7   geomorphologic research that you did?
  


 8       A.    Yes, I think I am, primarily based on the
  


 9   extensive braiding, compound channel, multiple channel,
  


10   multiple thread, whatever we want to call it, that
  


11   existed in reach 6a.
  


12             Can I remind the Commission what 6a and 6b
  


13   are?
  


14       Q.    Absolutely.  Please.
  


15       A.    I accepted Mr. Fuller's Reaches for 1 through
  


16   5.  In Reach 6 I felt that it really had two
  


17   groundwater basins underlying it that did affect the
  


18   flows, and so to minimize the confusion, I broke it
  


19   into 6a, which is from the beginning of 6 down to where
  


20   Old Mill Road Bridge is, the crossing right at Hayden's
  


21   Ferry; and then from there -- and that's 6a, the top
  


22   part.  And then from there down to the Gila is 6b.
  


23                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Gookin, do we
  


24   understand you to say that your use of the term "reach"
  


25   is synonymous with --


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







SALT RIVER     VOLUME 16      02/26/2016 3431


  


 1                  THE WITNESS:  Segment.
  


 2                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  -- the term "segment"?
  


 3                  THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry.  Segment I
  


 4   should be saying.
  


 5   BY MR. SLADE:
  


 6       Q.    So when you said you started at 6, you mean
  


 7   the confluence of the Verde and the Salt to Hayden's
  


 8   Ferry is your 6a?
  


 9       A.    Yes.
  


10       Q.    Okay, and Segment 5 that we just talked about
  


11   where you're not comfortable on making a susceptibility
  


12   determination, that's from Stewart Mountain Dam to the
  


13   confluence of the Verde and the Salt?
  


14       A.    Yes.
  


15       Q.    And that's the reach that's boated today, do
  


16   you have that understanding?
  


17       A.    Yes.
  


18                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  And, again, Mr. Slade,
  


19   do we understand when you use the word "reach," that
  


20   you are also talking about segment?
  


21                  MR. SLADE:  Yes.
  


22                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you.
  


23   BY MR. SLADE:
  


24       Q.    What type of boat did you consider when you
  


25   made the determination that Segments 6a and 6b is
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 1   nonnavigable?
  


 2       A.    I've looked at three boats, or two boats and
  


 3   one group of boats, I should say.  I did do an analysis
  


 4   on the Edith with regard to the susceptibility due to
  


 5   the economic problems that would occur if that had to
  


 6   use a one-way travel.  I did an analysis on the canoes
  


 7   based on information in Mr. Fuller's reports.  Again,
  


 8   as to the economics -- oh, also the Sears catalog that
  


 9   was disclosed, and the problem, if you had a canoe,
  


10   with going just one way.  That's what's being proposed.
  


11             The third group is all the incredible amount
  


12   of information that the Special Master in Utah pulled
  


13   together, and for that I just relied on his conclusions
  


14   as -- well, on his conclusions; but, particularly, the
  


15   mean average depth of 3 feet.
  


16       Q.    Do you have the Special Master report with
  


17   you today?
  


18       A.    I think I have it electronically.
  


19       Q.    If I give you a copy, would you be able to
  


20   point out to me where the Special Master makes the
  


21   determination that 3 feet is required?
  


22       A.    Eventually, but it would take a long time.
  


23   It's towards the end, but I don't remember the page.
  


24       Q.    Do you have a citation in your report that
  


25   says specifically where the Special Master says that
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 1   3 feet is required?
  


 2       A.    It would not be in the Salt River report,
  


 3   because I referred back to my discussion in the Gila
  


 4   River, rather than just repeat it.
  


 5       Q.    I also have your Gila River report so --
  


 6       A.    And I do too.
  


 7             Okay, I cited to the case.  This is in
  


 8   Chapter 4 of the Gila, my Gila report.
  


 9       Q.    I'm better with page numbers, if you have --
  


10       A.    Page 2 in Chapter 4.
  


11             No, I did not cite a page.  I'm sorry.
  


12       Q.    Were you here for Mr. Burtell's testimony?
  


13       A.    Yes.
  


14       Q.    Are you aware that the standard for Federal
  


15   navigability, improvement of rivers, is a different
  


16   standard than the navigability standard for title,
  


17   which we're dealing with in this case?
  


18       A.    I honestly don't know it.  I did research the
  


19   Federal standards, and they are considerably higher
  


20   than the Utah standard.  So I guess if Utah is a
  


21   standard, then they're different.
  


22       Q.    You don't know if the standard that's
  


23   required for improving a river is a different standard
  


24   than the standard for title purposes?
  


25       A.    I don't know the legality of that.  One
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 1   thing -- let me be clear.  I am assuming, when you say
  


 2   a standard, you're talking lawyer speak, which does not
  


 3   require a specific number to be set forth for the depth
  


 4   or number of rapids per mile or any of that stuff.  Am
  


 5   I correct?  Or if I'm talking about engineering speak,
  


 6   there is no standard except Utah that I've seen for
  


 7   navigability.
  


 8       Q.    So it's your opinion that the Utah case
  


 9   states somewhere, but you don't have a citation for me,
  


10   that there's a 3 foot standard?
  


11       A.    I think it puts it through most of the
  


12   analysis, yes.
  


13       Q.    And you did consider the Edith and canoes.
  


14   Can you talk specifically a little more about what you
  


15   considered with regards to canoes?  You said based on
  


16   Mr. Fuller's PowerPoint.  What does that mean?
  


17       A.    No, Mr. Fuller's report, earlier reports.  He
  


18   had an earlier report in which he talked about the
  


19   mythical and hypothetical canoe, and so I took his
  


20   numbers and ran an analysis, and it's going to take me
  


21   a minute or two to find it.  I'm sorry.
  


22             I'm sorry.  I know I'm in trouble when I'm
  


23   looking through my Gila report.
  


24       Q.    Did you do the same analysis in the Gila
  


25   report?
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 1       A.    No.  I had not seen the data or noticed it or
  


 2   thought of it, whatever you want to call it, at that
  


 3   point.
  


 4             On Page 109 of my Salt River report.
  


 5   Actually, starting at the bottom of Page 108.
  


 6       Q.    Okay.  Is that Exhibit No. C022 Part 1; do
  


 7   you know?
  


 8       A.    I don't know.
  


 9       Q.    I'm pretty sure it is, so let's go with that.
  


10   That's what I have it marked as.
  


11             So Page 109 of that report.
  


12       A.    Actually, start at 108.
  


13       Q.    Okay.
  


14       A.    Fuller gave some statistics and computed that
  


15   what -- or I took those statistics and computed what
  


16   the depth would be on the canoe and what the draw would
  


17   be on the canoe, and it ended up being 3 feet.  Now, I
  


18   think the canoe would sink under a 500-pound load and
  


19   two people; but if it didn't, you know, if the sides
  


20   were built up enough, that's what I came up with, and
  


21   it supported the Utah decision.
  


22             The second thing is I did a cost analysis.
  


23       Q.    If I could stop you before you do the second
  


24   thing --
  


25       A.    Certainly.
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 1       Q.    -- and talk about the first thing.
  


 2             Have you ever been in a canoe?
  


 3       A.    You weren't here for my joke?  I guess not.
  


 4       Q.    I was.  I was here for the joke.
  


 5       A.    It wasn't a joke.  It's a truism.  I stepped
  


 6   in a canoe in Disneyland to go on the Davy Crockett
  


 7   Explorer canoes, and I hated it.
  


 8       Q.    Have you ever been in a canoe on a real
  


 9   river?
  


10       A.    No.
  


11       Q.    And have you ever put two people and 500
  


12   pounds in a canoe?
  


13       A.    No.
  


14       Q.    Do you have any idea if that would actually
  


15   have a draw of 3 feet?
  


16       A.    I was relying solely on Mr. Fuller's
  


17   expertise.
  


18       Q.    And that's the Stantech report, I believe,
  


19   that you attribute to Mr. Fuller?
  


20       A.    Yes.
  


21       Q.    Do you know if he was the lead author in that
  


22   report?
  


23       A.    I know his name is on the cover.  I know that
  


24   there was a panel.  Somebody else was the lead author,
  


25   but Mr. Fuller has done all the testifying, and so I do
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 1   attribute it to him.
  


 2       Q.    When you think about a canoe with two people
  


 3   and 500 pounds and a draw of 3 feet, that doesn't make
  


 4   a lot of sense, does it?
  


 5       A.    I totally agree.
  


 6       Q.    So did you stop and kind of consider that
  


 7   after you came to that conclusion, thinking that
  


 8   doesn't make a lot of sense; maybe my calculations
  


 9   aren't correct?
  


10       A.    No, I thought the determination that you
  


11   could put two people, the supplies necessary for the
  


12   trip, and 500 pounds cargo, which has been asserted
  


13   repeatedly, is incorrect.
  


14       Q.    Do you know what the actual draw would be?
  


15   If you don't believe that 3 feet would be the draw, do
  


16   you know what the actual draw would be with two people,
  


17   500 pounds of cargo in a wooden canoe?
  


18       A.    Okay, I've been dealing in the fictional
  


19   world of using Mr. Fuller's estimates.  Obviously two
  


20   people in a 25-foot canoe are going to have a much
  


21   smaller draw than two people in a 12-foot canoe.  The
  


22   same with 500 pounds.  When you say what's the draw of
  


23   any canoe, you are asking how high is up.
  


24       Q.    But there are certain examples that you could
  


25   have put together and studied.  Did you study any real
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 1   life examples and come to any actual conclusions?
  


 2       A.    If I had a real example other than the Utah
  


 3   cases, who actually talked to various commercial users
  


 4   of the rivers, I would have used them and you would
  


 5   have seen them.
  


 6       Q.    You didn't talk to any professional boaters
  


 7   in writing your report?
  


 8       A.    No, I did not.
  


 9       Q.    Did you talk to any historic boaters?
  


10       A.    No, I did not.
  


11       Q.    Did you talk to any canoe manufacturers?
  


12       A.    I looked at their websites, but I did not
  


13   talk to them.
  


14       Q.    Did you look at the websites where they talk
  


15   about the draws of canoes and the weight that canoes
  


16   can carry?
  


17       A.    I saw draws -- or I saw the depths.  I don't
  


18   remember seeing draws.  Because the draw data I got
  


19   from the Army Corps of Engineers.
  


20             And the loads, I don't remember.  I didn't
  


21   find them.  I'm not saying they're not there.  The
  


22   internet is a huge thing.
  


23       Q.    So for your totality of analysis of canoes
  


24   and their loads and the draws that those loads create,
  


25   you used the Stantech report for that; is that correct?
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 1       A.    No and yes, in regards to both halves of the
  


 2   question.  In my analysis of canoes, I did several
  


 3   things.  In the analysis of the depth it would take, it
  


 4   was limited to the Stantech data.
  


 5       Q.    And then you were going to talk about the
  


 6   second thing, which was the economics of canoes, I
  


 7   believe.  What was your analysis for that?
  


 8       A.    And I should have said three things,
  


 9   materials.
  


10             But okay.  On Page 74 of my report, I did a
  


11   cost analysis that showed taking a canoe one way would
  


12   be economically way out of the question.
  


13       Q.    Can you tell me the variables that you put
  


14   into that economic analysis?
  


15       A.    The only variable I really put in, because I
  


16   was trying to see what it's going to cost the user to
  


17   abandon the canoe, was the cost to buy it, and then I
  


18   put in the costs of what wagon travel was.  And I came
  


19   up with the cost per pound, assuming 500 feet [sic],
  


20   would be much more than the wagon cost.  Now, I had to
  


21   do some unit conversion because canoes, we're talking
  


22   about pound miles, and in wagons they always talk about
  


23   ton miles.  They wouldn't consider a 500-pound load.
  


24       Q.    So your economic analysis is based on buying
  


25   a canoe from the Sears catalog, is that --
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 1       A.    That's correct.
  


 2       Q.    Okay.  Did you do any analysis of a canoe
  


 3   used, and at the end of the trip the lumber is sold?
  


 4       A.    No, I didn't, but the differential was so
  


 5   high I didn't see the need.
  


 6       Q.    Did you do any analysis of a canoe used one
  


 7   way and a train carries the boat back up and then a
  


 8   canoe is used again?
  


 9       A.    Partially.  I did look at the fact that
  


10   shipping the canoes out to Arizona cost four times
  


11   first class postage, and that told me that -- well,
  


12   that plus the Powell experience, where they ordered
  


13   canoes shipped and one of them arrived nonusable.  It
  


14   had broken up during shipment.  That kind of told me
  


15   that you really have to pack it right to ship it back
  


16   on the railroad.
  


17       Q.    So your analysis -- go ahead.
  


18       A.    And when I looked at that, just the freight
  


19   cost of getting it down here, presumably because of the
  


20   packaging, because first class mail and this was by
  


21   weight, that wouldn't matter, that they had to raise
  


22   the shipping and handling, and Powell's experience, and
  


23   concluded if you're going to have to pack it up and
  


24   ship it back, it's going to be too expensive.
  


25       Q.    So your cost analysis is based on shipping a
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 1   canoe from the East Coast, Chicago, to Arizona?
  


 2       A.    Yes.
  


 3             One other thing is -- and I talked at length
  


 4   with Mr. Helm about this.  I know there are cases that
  


 5   say the fact the railroad has made -- the fact the
  


 6   railroad made navigability nonprofitable is not
  


 7   permitted, because if the river was navigable before
  


 8   the railroad came, then it's navigable for all time or
  


 9   for this legal test.
  


10             But I don't know if you're allowed to use the
  


11   economics of railroad transit to justify floating goods
  


12   down at a cost higher -- I mean trains virtually put
  


13   navigation out of business across the country. -- at a
  


14   cost higher than the train would have cost and say,
  


15   well, I can do it that way because the train doesn't
  


16   get rid of it, and then turn around, but I'll use the
  


17   train to get it back.  That's a legal question, but it
  


18   seems rather absurd to me.
  


19       Q.    Is it fair to say that partially your
  


20   analysis that canoes couldn't be used in Segment 6a and
  


21   6b is based on your economic analysis?
  


22       A.    That's one part of it.
  


23       Q.    Okay.  And have you ever read a case that you
  


24   can cite for me that does an economic analysis like
  


25   you've done?
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 1       A.    No.
  


 2       Q.    And what was the third thing with canoes that
  


 3   you considered?
  


 4       A.    Oh, I looked at the durability of the canoes,
  


 5   and this was primarily with modern recreation versus
  


 6   the early historic canoes; and found that if you're
  


 7   looking at canoes today, even most wood canoes, unless
  


 8   it's been explicitly built to re-create a past event,
  


 9   they're much stronger than any canoe that existed back
  


10   then.
  


11       Q.    And why is strength of a canoe important, in
  


12   your opinion?
  


13       A.    The strength of a canoe, in the upper reaches
  


14   it's undeniably necessary because of the incredible
  


15   number of rapids and the speeds of the water is I think
  


16   clearly going to tear it apart.  It tore apart -- I had
  


17   pictures of fiberglass canoes and aluminum canoes that
  


18   were destroyed.  A wood canoe I don't think would have
  


19   a chance; something the U.S. Fish and Wildlife -- I'm
  


20   sorry, the United States Forest Service supported in
  


21   their report on those reaches when they said
  


22   fortunately nobody had ever tried to use a canoe, a
  


23   wooden canoe, on that river in those reaches.
  


24             Down in Reach 6 the rapids probably are --
  


25   well, they're certainly not as big a consideration.  I
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 1   don't know if they would have been or not.  I believe,
  


 2   as you know, I'm sure, that there would have been
  


 3   numerous beaver dams that would have required portage
  


 4   because you couldn't run the canoe over the sharpened
  


 5   sticks that the beaver put into the dam.  And there
  


 6   would have been boulders.  Various historic accounts
  


 7   did talk about boats that broke up by hitting
  


 8   something.  And the depth with a load was not
  


 9   sufficient.
  


10             Oh, and one other thing.  Nobody has ever
  


11   shown that you could take that load and go upstream or
  


12   afford to go upstream by poling or however you want to
  


13   do it with a canoe.
  


14       Q.    Are there any rapids in Segment 5?
  


15       A.    There's riffles.  I don't think there's
  


16   rapids, based on the classification standards.
  


17       Q.    You've never seen anything that says there's
  


18   a rapid in Segment 5, where there's water in the river
  


19   today and where it's boated?
  


20       A.    My beer buddies called them rapids when we
  


21   were floating down.
  


22       Q.    That might have been --
  


23       A.    But I'm not talking about serious rapids like
  


24   exist in 5 and 6, no.
  


25       Q.    And do you have any evidence that there were
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 1   any rapids in Segment 6, 6a, 6b?
  


 2       A.    We just don't know because we have virtually
  


 3   no information.
  


 4       Q.    Are there any large tributaries that come
  


 5   into 6a and 6b?
  


 6       A.    No.
  


 7       Q.    Are there any -- is there a lot of bedrock in
  


 8   6a and 6b?
  


 9       A.    The bedrock is very near the surface down by
  


10   Old Mill Bridge or Hayden's Ferry, and that's about the
  


11   only place.
  


12       Q.    So based on your understanding of what
  


13   creates rapids and that there's no rapids in Segment 5,
  


14   would you expect to see any rapids in Segment 6?
  


15       A.    I would expect to see riffles.  I would
  


16   expect to see boulders.  But I don't think I would see
  


17   what are called rapids in the whitewater
  


18   classification.
  


19       Q.    Segment 5 and 6 are a much different type of
  


20   river than the Upper Salt; would you agree?
  


21       A.    Yes.
  


22       Q.    And is that the extent of your consideration
  


23   regarding canoes?
  


24       A.    I know when I was talking, I thought of yet
  


25   one more, but I can't think of it again.  So I guess
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 1   that's it.
  


 2       Q.    And we'll talk about your depths in detail a
  


 3   little later.
  


 4       A.    And I remembered.
  


 5       Q.    Go ahead.
  


 6       A.    I did an analysis that talked about the fact,
  


 7   as I understand the standard, it needs to be for
  


 8   commercial means of transport that were in effect at
  


 9   the time of statehood or prior.  And I went through the
  


10   beaver trappers didn't use canoes except as a ferry on
  


11   the San Pedro and as an escape hatch on the Colorado
  


12   River.  The Pimas didn't use canoes.  The Hohokam
  


13   didn't use canoes.  And Hayden tried a canoe, and it
  


14   failed.
  


15             And I go through my report and I talk about
  


16   the few that I found.  Hayden I had missed.  It did not
  


17   seem like canoe -- oh, and Utah doesn't even consider
  


18   canoes in its list of commercial craft.  So I'm not
  


19   convinced that a canoe is a commercial craft in the
  


20   sense of the legal standard.
  


21             In addition, when I read the Pinkerton
  


22   report, they do talk about large canoes.  They call
  


23   them freight canoes.  And if those are to be considered
  


24   in the commercial craft -- and I haven't heard anything
  


25   talked about down in this area where that kind of canoe
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 1   was used, because they were 20 foot or longer or I
  


 2   guess 18 foot. -- then maybe that could be used; but
  


 3   it's a totally different animal than the dugout and the
  


 4   modern canoes and so forth.
  


 5       Q.    Are you aware of the canoe that was stationed
  


 6   at Camp Verde?
  


 7       A.    Yes.
  


 8       Q.    Are you aware of the canoe that was stationed
  


 9   at Fort McDowell?
  


10       A.    Yes.
  


11       Q.    You're aware of the canoe that was used on
  


12   San Pedro?
  


13       A.    By Pattie?
  


14       Q.    Yes.
  


15       A.    Yes.
  


16       Q.    You're aware of the canoes that were used on
  


17   the Colorado?
  


18       A.    By Pattie I know, I'm aware of.  There were
  


19   canoes on the Colorado.  I don't know how much commerce
  


20   they carried.
  


21       Q.    You're aware of the canoes that the Kolb
  


22   brothers had?
  


23       A.    I know they went through the Grand Canyon and
  


24   took pictures, and if I remember reading it, and it's
  


25   been a while, they realized after the fact that, gee,
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 1   recreational pictures will sell, and so they started
  


 2   selling postcards.
  


 3       Q.    And are you aware of the canoes that were
  


 4   used on the Salt in some of the historical
  


 5   descriptions?
  


 6       A.    I went through the Salt and the Gila.  I
  


 7   referenced the Pattie and the Forts on the Verde.
  


 8   Other than the Hayden dugout, I didn't see any other
  


 9   canoes, and that could be I just didn't read it right.
  


10             Now, I'm not saying that canoes didn't exist
  


11   or weren't used, but I'm talking about a commercial
  


12   application of a canoe.
  


13       Q.    So if you didn't see a canoe used for regular
  


14   commercial application many times, then you considered
  


15   canoes not useful for the test for navigability?
  


16       A.    That's correct.
  


17                  COMMISSIONER HORTON:  Mr. Chairman?
  


18                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Go ahead.
  


19
  


20             EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER HORTON
  


21                  COMMISSIONER HORTON:  I'm confused.  If
  


22   you go up to Grand Canyon, you'll see there's a copy or
  


23   maybe even the real Kolb boat.  You know, it's a wooden
  


24   boat.  And I've read some accounts.  But I didn't know
  


25   that they had used canoes, the Kolb brothers.
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 1                  THE WITNESS:  I have to admit I just
  


 2   read a little bit.  I wasn't too interested in the
  


 3   bottom of the Grand Canyon because that's not a
  


 4   navigable river.  So I'm sorry, I can't answer your
  


 5   question.
  


 6                  MR. SLADE:  And I don't want to testify
  


 7   as an expert here, so I can't either.
  


 8                  COMMISSIONER HORTON:  Okay.  Well, we'll
  


 9   leave it in the clouds.
  


10                  MR. SLADE:  Hopefully Mr. Fuller can hit
  


11   that on rebuttal.
  


12
  


13                CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)
  


14   BY MR. SLADE:
  


15       Q.    And regarding the Edith, what analysis did
  


16   you do with respect to that boat being used?
  


17       A.    I looked at the cost associated with taking
  


18   that one way, because on Reach 5 they only went
  


19   downstream.  Well, first, I would just say the Edith,
  


20   as I understand, was built as an exploration craft
  


21   originally and would probably not be the same as a
  


22   commercial craft.  But what my analysis was, was,
  


23   again, an economic analysis; that the price of it was
  


24   so high versus the load, in the example -- and I'm
  


25   trying to remember where I said this.  Oh, I think it
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 1   was in my PowerPoint.  That it was priced -- it was
  


 2   cost-prohibitive.  Now, if it was capable of being --
  


 3   you know, if it was shown it could go back, then you
  


 4   would have something; but nobody's ever tried to say
  


 5   anything could ever go upstream.
  


 6             Slide 221 of my PowerPoint.  It was about --
  


 7   it would be about 20 times as expensive, plus the cost
  


 8   of the people who actually took it down, I mean the
  


 9   cost of actually freighting.  I'm just talking about
  


10   the fixed cost of the boat.
  


11       Q.    So your analysis on whether the Edith could
  


12   be used is based on, again, your economic model; is
  


13   that right?
  


14       A.    Yes.
  


15       Q.    And are you aware of the use of rivers for
  


16   one-way travel for commercial purposes throughout the
  


17   American West?
  


18       A.    Yes.
  


19       Q.    And are you aware that on rivers such as the
  


20   Idaho -- or, excuse me, the Salmon River and Idaho
  


21   rivers were used one way and then their boats were sold
  


22   for lumber at the end?
  


23       A.    And that's what led me to these economic
  


24   analyses.  They built very crude boats and make the
  


25   trip one way.  They did it on the Mississippi, as far
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 1   as I can tell, all the rivers.
  


 2       Q.    And they sold the lumber at the end?
  


 3       A.    Yes.
  


 4       Q.    Did you put, in any of your economic
  


 5   analysis, the ability to earn money by selling your
  


 6   lumber at the end?
  


 7       A.    No.
  


 8       Q.    And are you aware that the Day brothers came
  


 9   down from the Verde, the Salt, and then the Gila, and
  


10   then came up by railroad and did that multiple times,
  


11   according to the account?
  


12       A.    I'm aware of one account, yes.
  


13       Q.    So they did one-way travel, took a railroad
  


14   up to Prescott, and then came back down again,
  


15   according to that account?
  


16       A.    Yes.
  


17       Q.    Okay.  And did you do an analysis of the
  


18   economics of that type of a trip?
  


19       A.    I couldn't, because I had no indication as to
  


20   what kind of load their boat would take.  It was a
  


21   small boat, which is a very vague description.
  


22       Q.    So there's a lot of factors that are unclear
  


23   that you couldn't put into your economic analysis?
  


24       A.    For the Day trip, correct.
  


25       Q.    Right.  For trips in general.  You don't know
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 1   how much lumber costs?
  


 2       A.    Well, for the two trips -- or the two things
  


 3   I did, that's why I did them.  The others, no, I didn't
  


 4   have the information.
  


 5       Q.    And you mentioned the Special Master not
  


 6   talking about canoes.  Have you read the whole Special
  


 7   Master's report?
  


 8       A.    I read the entirety of the one that was
  


 9   disclosed.  I think it might have been missing a page
  


10   somewhere.  But other than that, no -- or yes, I mean.
  


11       Q.    Have you read the areas where the Special
  


12   Master talks about canoes?
  


13       A.    I read them.  I don't recall them, because it
  


14   was some time ago.
  


15       Q.    Is it fair to say you don't believe upstream
  


16   travel is required, based on the economic analysis that
  


17   you did?
  


18       A.    That's correct.
  


19       Q.    So downstream travel is enough?
  


20       A.    If it is commercially feasible, yes.
  


21       Q.    And in your opinion, does commercial
  


22   feasibility need to be continuous and extensive to
  


23   prove navigability?
  


24       A.    I think there has to be a certain continuity,
  


25   and I looked at the Utah case again, because I heard


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







SALT RIVER     VOLUME 16      02/26/2016 3452


  


 1   your questioning and I went home last night and did it.
  


 2   And I found that in the Utah case, on the Green River
  


 3   the Special Master found that the river was less than
  


 4   3 feet deep 53 days out of the year.  On the Grand
  


 5   River it was less than 3 feet 16 days out of the year.
  


 6   On the Colorado it was always 3 feet or more.  On the
  


 7   San Juan, which was declared nonnavigable, it was under
  


 8   3 feet for 219 days per year.
  


 9             That gives us if you've got more than -- or
  


10   if you have more than 312 days of operation, you're
  


11   clearly in the good range.  If you have only 146 -- and
  


12   this is assuming I did my math head -- of operation,
  


13   you're clearly in the bad zone.  It leaves a wide zone
  


14   in the middle, and where it falls in there, I don't
  


15   know.
  


16       Q.    Were there other factors that the Special
  


17   Master looked at besides from depth?
  


18       A.    He looked at depth, frequency of depth.  He
  


19   looked at other obstacles, rapids.  He discounted sand
  


20   bars, but he looked at them.
  


21       Q.    Did he look at velocity?
  


22       A.    He looked at it, but didn't seem too worried
  


23   about it, because the people who had actually boated
  


24   were capable of handling the velocities that he saw at
  


25   all except the very, very high floods.
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 1       Q.    So you don't recall, in his discussion about
  


 2   why the San Juan is not navigable, where he talks about
  


 3   the high velocities on the San Juan compared to the
  


 4   Green, the Grand, and the Colorado?
  


 5       A.    I think he does, yes.
  


 6       Q.    Have you done any studies for the Lower Salt
  


 7   that compare the velocities of the Lower Salt to the
  


 8   Green, the Grand, the Colorado, or the San Juan?
  


 9       A.    No, but that brings up an interesting point,
  


10   since velocities are often related to slope.  The slope
  


11   of the San Juan was 7 miles per -- or 7 feet per mile.
  


12   And I had not realized, until Dr. Mussetter testified,
  


13   that the slope of the Reach 6 is 7 feet per mile and
  


14   steeper the further you go upstream.
  


15       Q.    Could you have done a study or some analysis
  


16   to determine the velocity of Segment 5 where there's
  


17   still water coming through it?
  


18       A.    All I had was the 5-foot contours, and I
  


19   didn't have very good copies of them, and 5-foot -- the
  


20   2-foot contours I used where I did my cross section I
  


21   thought were marginal.  5-foot I think is really not
  


22   very good.  And so, no, I don't think I have the data.
  


23       Q.    And you would agree that velocities matter in
  


24   terms of navigability because they talk about the
  


25   pushiness of the river into potential obstacles,
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 1   correct?
  


 2       A.    That's one reason.
  


 3       Q.    So you don't know what the velocities are for
  


 4   the Lower Salt, and you've also said that there aren't
  


 5   many rapids on the Lower Salt?
  


 6       A.    I did compute the velocity for the Lower
  


 7   Salt.
  


 8       Q.    You did?
  


 9       A.    Yes.
  


10       Q.    Can you show me where that is in your report?
  


11       A.    Well, I will admit I only did it to make my
  


12   presentation complete.  I didn't worry about it.
  


13             Figure VI-3, in the third set of rows, you
  


14   will see the various velocities for various n factors,
  


15   and those velocities are fairly slow.
  


16       Q.    And you haven't compared those to the
  


17   San Juan, have you?
  


18       A.    No.
  


19       Q.    Do you also remember where, in the Special
  


20   Master report, the Special Master talked about sand
  


21   waves as an impediment on the San Juan?
  


22       A.    Yeah.
  


23       Q.    Are there any sand waves in Segment 5 where
  


24   the river is navigated or boated today?
  


25       A.    Today?
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 1       Q.    Yes.
  


 2       A.    There probably were during the spills, but
  


 3   not except then.
  


 4       Q.    Would you think there would be sand waves in
  


 5   Segment 6 --
  


 6       A.    Today?
  


 7       Q.    -- in the river's natural condition?
  


 8       A.    Yes.
  


 9       Q.    You would think there would be sand waves?
  


10       A.    I thought the United States Geological Survey
  


11   talked about sand waves.
  


12       Q.    Can you point me to that reference?
  


13       A.    I'm going to try.
  


14             No, I can't at the moment.
  


15       Q.    Well, if you come up with it --
  


16       A.    You'll be the first to know.
  


17       Q.    -- I would certainly like to know.  Thank
  


18   you.
  


19             Have you read other cases that have stated
  


20   that there is a minimum depth of 3 feet?
  


21       A.    Kind of.  There's a second Utah case that
  


22   does talk about, actually, it was flow rates on the
  


23   San Juan again, and came to the conclusion a different
  


24   reach was nonnavigable.
  


25       Q.    Are you aware of cases that have decided
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 1   rivers are navigable where there has not been 3 feet of
  


 2   depth or greater?
  


 3       A.    I haven't done that analysis.
  


 4                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Mr. Chairman?
  


 5                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Yes.
  


 6
  


 7              EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN
  


 8                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Question.  I would
  


 9   like to go back to the question on sand waves.  What
  


10   impact does that have on navigability?
  


11                  THE WITNESS:  Well, basically, when you
  


12   have sand waves, it's going to make it a lot rougher,
  


13   which makes it harder on the boat, and you're more
  


14   likely to ship water.
  


15                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  At what velocities?
  


16                  THE WITNESS:  Usually very high.  So it
  


17   should be --
  


18                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay, so
  


19   effectively we're talking about flood stage and --
  


20                  THE WITNESS:  Near flood --
  


21                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  -- progression of
  


22   sand waves back up the channel, as well as down?
  


23                  THE WITNESS:  Yes, or near flood.  But I
  


24   would say it would probably be in that top 10 percent.
  


25                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay.
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 1                CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)
  


 2   BY MR. SLADE:
  


 3       Q.    So rivers that have higher velocities have a
  


 4   higher probability for sand waves?
  


 5       A.    Yes.
  


 6       Q.    And in your opinion, how many days of the
  


 7   year must a river be navigable?
  


 8       A.    Somewhere between 312 and 143, again, based
  


 9   on Utah.
  


10       Q.    So a river could be navigable for less than
  


11   half the year and --
  


12       A.    Yeah.  Well, as I say, in there I think it
  


13   becomes a question of was it a highway of commerce; and
  


14   if it's going to be commerce, you have to look at the
  


15   economics.
  


16       Q.    Is it your opinion that navigability has to
  


17   have a profitability component?
  


18       A.    I think it has to have a reasonable
  


19   expectation of profit.  I don't think it has to make a
  


20   profit.
  


21       Q.    Can't just be use of the river for travel
  


22   from Point A to Point B?
  


23       A.    If you're conveying people commercially, yes;
  


24   but I don't think Joe Blow going down to get some
  


25   drinks counts.
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 1       Q.    Is there a minimum load, in your opinion,
  


 2   that a boat must have?
  


 3       A.    That would be an economic question.
  


 4       Q.    And is there a minimum or is there a specific
  


 5   type of boat that navigability must have, other than
  


 6   what you told me in the Special Master's report?
  


 7       A.    It could be something other than the Special
  


 8   Master's report.  I just thought that was a
  


 9   comprehensive study of what was here at the time of
  


10   statehood or nearby.
  


11       Q.    So in your opinion, canoes could be used for
  


12   a highway of commerce?
  


13       A.    Based on my economic analysis, I don't think
  


14   so.
  


15       Q.    Taking your economic analysis out of it, can
  


16   canoes as a boat be used as a highway of commerce?
  


17       A.    What kind of canoe?  Are you talking --
  


18       Q.    All sorts, any type you want to pick.
  


19       A.    Okay.  A lot of them I'm sure no, because
  


20   they're too small.
  


21       Q.    And which canoe is too small?
  


22       A.    I can't give you a number.  Pinkerton made
  


23   the break at 18 foot.
  


24       Q.    So it's your opinion that if a canoe is
  


25   smaller than 18 feet, it can't be used in a highway of
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 1   commerce?
  


 2       A.    Subject to something demonstrating it wrong,
  


 3   Pinkerton was alive in 1912 and he saw that people used
  


 4   canoes for commerce.  When they did, they were 18 feet
  


 5   or bigger.  And when they didn't, when it was smaller,
  


 6   it was for recreational purposes.  That's all I've got
  


 7   to go on.
  


 8       Q.    I believe you already mentioned this.  You
  


 9   haven't talked to any historic boaters or historic boat
  


10   builders?
  


11       A.    No, or correct.
  


12       Q.    Have you talked to any boaters in your
  


13   preparation for your testimony and your declaration?
  


14       A.    No.
  


15       Q.    Have you talked to any other experts in your
  


16   preparation for your testimony and your declaration?
  


17       A.    We talked during the breaks, yes.
  


18       Q.    But in your preparation of this declaration,
  


19   what other experts did you talk to?
  


20       A.    All the ones in this room during the Gila
  


21   hearings and so forth, but not really -- I mean I don't
  


22   even remember what the conversations were.  A few of
  


23   them did relate to navigability, you know, sort of
  


24   technical issues.
  


25       Q.    And what areas did they inform your opinion?
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 1       A.    Directly, none.
  


 2       Q.    So is it fair to say the extent of your
  


 3   research regarding canoes has been from online research
  


 4   and the Pinkerton book?
  


 5       A.    Pinkerton was also online, but online
  


 6   research and my own economic analysis.
  


 7       Q.    Let's talk about beaver dams a little bit.
  


 8   It's your opinion that Segment 6, including 6a and 6b,
  


 9   would have had beaver dams?
  


10       A.    Yes.
  


11       Q.    And what's your citation for that?
  


12       A.    There was an ornithologist out there in 1867,
  


13   I believe it was, and he wrote a paper that was
  


14   published in a professional journal.
  


15             Sorry, I was going the wrong way.
  


16       Q.    Your Page 117?
  


17       A.    Yes, at the bottom of the page.  Thank you.
  


18       Q.    And do you know if those beaver dams would
  


19   have extended across the entire channel of the Salt?
  


20       A.    I think it would have extended across the low
  


21   channels, or more accurately, it would extend across
  


22   whatever it took to get the depth of the water behind
  


23   it up to about 3 feet.
  


24       Q.    And how wide would that have had to be, in
  


25   your opinion?
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 1       A.    Well, the river channels were surveyed at
  


 2   about, I don't know, 150, 200 feet, and there's lots of
  


 3   records of beaver dams that large.
  


 4       Q.    Are there any records in the evidence or that
  


 5   you've seen that are not in evidence that talk about
  


 6   beaver dams of 100, 200 feet on the Salt?
  


 7       A.    They didn't say -- no, not explicitly the way
  


 8   you phrase it.
  


 9       Q.    So none of the historic boaters who boated on
  


10   the Salt ever mentioned beaver dams, from your review?
  


11       A.    That's correct, because the people who fixed
  


12   that problem had preceded them, the beaver trappers.
  


13       Q.    Did any of the trappers talk about beaver
  


14   dams across the entire channel or a large part of it?
  


15       A.    They talked about a lot of beaver.  They
  


16   didn't mention beaver dams.  They weren't using boats.
  


17   They didn't mention beaver dams on the San Pedro.
  


18       Q.    And I believe you have a couple citations to
  


19   your statement that beavers need 3 feet or higher; is
  


20   that right?
  


21       A.    Yes, I cited three sources, and one of them
  


22   you're going to show me says 2 to 3 feet, not 3.
  


23       Q.    And which one is that?
  


24       A.    The third source I quoted, which was 13,
  


25   Shepherd and Golden.  I figured that out from your


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







SALT RIVER     VOLUME 16      02/26/2016 3462


  


 1   disclosure.
  


 2       Q.    And that's an Arizona Game & Fish specific to
  


 3   Arizona beaver dam discussion, right?
  


 4       A.    I was just reading the text.  I didn't even
  


 5   look.  I believe you.  I just didn't look at the
  


 6   letterhead.
  


 7       Q.    Shepherd and Golden talks about beaver dams
  


 8   might occur if the river is less than 2 feet?
  


 9       A.    That, I didn't notice.
  


10       Q.    Or, excuse me, beaver dams would be put in
  


11   place, potentially, if a river is less than 2 feet?
  


12       A.    Yes, which the Salt, according to all our
  


13   calculations, was.
  


14
  


15              EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN
  


16                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Was what?
  


17                  THE WITNESS:  Of --
  


18                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  What was your -- I
  


19   didn't understand the question.
  


20                  MR. SLADE:  My question was the Shepherd
  


21   and Golden citation on Page 118 of Mr. Gookin's report
  


22   states that beavers may form dams when a river is less
  


23   than 2 feet deep.
  


24                  THE WITNESS:  2 feet at low flow.
  


25                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay.  Further
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 1   question then.  Was the Salt perennial in this reach?
  


 2                  THE WITNESS:  Yes, but the records
  


 3   that -- or all the experts, which I guess would be
  


 4   Fuller and me who've done it, concluded at low flows it
  


 5   was well under 2 feet.
  


 6                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Slade, could we
  


 7   take a break?
  


 8                  MR. SLADE:  Sure.
  


 9                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Let's break for 15
  


10   minutes, 10:15.
  


11                  (A recess was taken from 9:57 a.m. to
  


12   10:12 a.m.)
  


13                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Gookin, are you
  


14   ready?
  


15                  THE WITNESS:  Yes.
  


16                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Please proceed,
  


17   Mr. Slade.
  


18
  


19                CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)
  


20   BY MR. SLADE:
  


21       Q.    Okay.  We were talking about beaver dams.  A
  


22   few more questions about that.
  


23             Are you aware that beavers build dams on the
  


24   sides of rivers, as well as across rivers?
  


25       A.    Yes.
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 1       Q.    Did you do any analysis to understand if
  


 2   beavers on the Salt would have built dams across the
  


 3   channel or on the sides of the channel?
  


 4       A.    No.
  


 5       Q.    And your theory that beaver dams were across
  


 6   the channel is based on your depth reconstruction?
  


 7       A.    The fact that -- that's one thing.  The fact
  


 8   that they built it across -- they built them across the
  


 9   channel in modern times down near -- well, both on the
  


10   Tres Rios side and the Gila River Indian Reservation
  


11   side of the Salt River.  Both of them found a lot of --
  


12   well, Gila River found a lot of dams.  I don't know how
  


13   many Tres Rios found, but it did become a problem.
  


14       Q.    Do you know if those dams crossed the entire
  


15   Salt River low channel?
  


16       A.    Due to the backup effects they claim, they
  


17   talked about, yeah.
  


18       Q.    And is that part of the river that's in its
  


19   natural condition today?
  


20       A.    No.
  


21       Q.    Beavers wouldn't have to build dams across
  


22   the river if it was 2 feet or 3 feet deep, correct?
  


23       A.    The entire, all the channels, no.
  


24       Q.    Right.
  


25       A.    They just need one fairly well-defined
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 1   channel.
  


 2       Q.    If the river was deep enough, beavers
  


 3   wouldn't have to build dams across the river?
  


 4       A.    Correct.
  


 5       Q.    And in any descriptions of the river that
  


 6   you've seen, have they talked about a river that was
  


 7   less than 2 feet deep in the Lower Salt?
  


 8       A.    Well, Mr. Fuller's analysis showed it, as did
  


 9   mine.  I'm trying to remember accounts from back then,
  


10   and I didn't really look at them that much, so I don't
  


11   know.
  


12       Q.    So you don't know what the historical
  


13   descriptions say about the depth of the Lower Salt?
  


14       A.    Well, more importantly, I don't know what the
  


15   historical descriptions say about the minimum depths at
  


16   low flow about the Salt in Reach 6.
  


17       Q.    Do you reference the historical descriptions
  


18   in your report?
  


19       A.    I did not.
  


20       Q.    So if they say that the low flow depth is
  


21   2 feet, you wouldn't find that in your report?
  


22       A.    If they say that, I -- no.  I didn't see it.
  


23       Q.    But you don't have any of the historical
  


24   descriptions in your report?
  


25       A.    Correct.
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 1       Q.    In your opinion, are those informative for
  


 2   navigability purposes?
  


 3       A.    They are, but they had mostly already been
  


 4   disclosed in Mr. Fuller's earlier reports.
  


 5       Q.    Well, that sort of brings me to a question of
  


 6   what type of report you have here.  Is this a rebuttal
  


 7   report to Mr. Fuller?  Would you characterize it as
  


 8   that type of report?
  


 9       A.    I would say it's both my determination of
  


10   navigability and a rebuttal report.
  


11       Q.    So do you include both nonnavigability and
  


12   navigability evidence in your report?
  


13       A.    Yes, if I had found any navigability
  


14   evidence.
  


15       Q.    Okay.  So, but you didn't include the
  


16   historical descriptions; you didn't find those were
  


17   reliable or useful?
  


18       A.    I thought they were already in the record.  I
  


19   didn't worry about them because they're such short
  


20   snapshots, usually.
  


21       Q.    And what was your direction in preparing your
  


22   report; what were you directed to do?
  


23       A.    Write a report concerning whether or not the
  


24   Salt River was navigable, particularly in Reach 6,
  


25   Lower Salt.
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 1       Q.    Do you know if your client had a preconceived
  


 2   notion of whether it was or was not?
  


 3       A.    I have a feeling, but they never said
  


 4   anything.
  


 5       Q.    So you didn't object to the analysis --
  


 6       A.    Yes.
  


 7       Q.    -- in your opinion?
  


 8                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Gookin, I didn't
  


 9   understand that response.  You did or did not object to
  


10   the analysis?
  


11                  THE WITNESS:  I did an objective
  


12   analysis.
  


13                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.
  


14                  Now I really didn't understand it, did
  


15   I?
  


16   BY MR. SLADE:
  


17       Q.    Have you ever written another report?
  


18       A.    Of course.
  


19       Q.    Okay.  And have you written -- can you give
  


20   me a name or a few reports that you have written
  


21   previously, apart from navigability studies?
  


22       A.    I've written a raft of reports on the Globe
  


23   Equity Decree and various operating procedures.  I've
  


24   written reports about gaging flow reconstructions, both
  


25   on desert washes and active rivers.  I've made
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 1   population projections, done economic analyses and
  


 2   reports for CAP allocation for various entities.  I've
  


 3   done a lot of reports on the cause of flooding in Joe's
  


 4   house.  This Joe's house.  And -- let me think what
  


 5   else.  I feel like all I do is write reports.
  


 6       Q.    I feel like all I do is read reports, so...
  


 7       A.    Do you want more?
  


 8       Q.    We're on the same page.
  


 9       A.    Do you want more?
  


10       Q.    No, that's good.  Thank you.
  


11             And would you compare those reports that you
  


12   just talked about to this type of report that you wrote
  


13   here?  Are they comparable objective, fact-finding
  


14   reports?
  


15       A.    Yes.
  


16       Q.    So if a historical account said that, for
  


17   example, the Salt River is navigable and should be
  


18   included in the River and Harbors Act, would we be able
  


19   to find that in your report?
  


20       A.    I didn't put it in there.  I had heard it,
  


21   but I never went and looked it up.
  


22       Q.    Do you think --
  


23       A.    Oh, excuse me.  It was the reverse, wasn't
  


24   it?  I don't know.  I didn't look up the River and
  


25   Harbors Act and the applications.
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 1       Q.    Have you ever seen any boaters on Segment 5,
  


 2   where the river's boated today?
  


 3       A.    Not today, but in the '70s and '60s.
  


 4       Q.    You did observe boaters?
  


 5       A.    Yes.
  


 6       Q.    Do you know what kind of craft they were
  


 7   boating in?
  


 8       A.    Mostly inner tubes, but --
  


 9       Q.    I thought I remember you saying inner tubes
  


10   on a boat with Mr. Helm.
  


11       A.    Well, yeah, you're right.  Certainly not a
  


12   commercial craft.
  


13             I think there was some rafts.  They were some
  


14   inflatable rafts that you could -- had seats in them.
  


15   And I don't really remember.  I was somewhat impaired
  


16   at the time.  I didn't realize I was doing a
  


17   navigability study.
  


18       Q.    Apart from your experience observing the
  


19   boats when you were impaired, have you seen -- have you
  


20   done -- have you observed any boats on the Salt where
  


21   it's boated today other than that time?
  


22       A.    I saw a couple boats go out on the Salt River
  


23   during the bad floods, '78, 79, '80, '83; thought they
  


24   were absolutely out of their minds and read about some
  


25   of them in the paper, that for some reason had just


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







SALT RIVER     VOLUME 16      02/26/2016 3470


  


 1   disappeared.
  


 2       Q.    Apart --
  


 3       A.    Below Granite Reef, that's been my only
  


 4   opportunity to see boats.
  


 5       Q.    How about above Granite Reef, from Stewart
  


 6   Mountain to Granite Reef?
  


 7       A.    I haven't gone back up there.
  


 8       Q.    Would that be informative to observe how
  


 9   boats are used on Segment 5 and how they're maneuvered,
  


10   for your understanding of Segment 6?
  


11       A.    I don't think so.  You have to realize it's
  


12   not a natural stream there.
  


13       Q.    Do you believe Segment 5 is substantially
  


14   more navigable today?
  


15       A.    Yes.
  


16       Q.    And why is that?
  


17       A.    You have a dam that controls the releases.
  


18   It allows a steady higher flow for extended durations.
  


19   You don't have the risk of floods coming down.  It
  


20   encourages the growth of vegetation along the sides of
  


21   the bank, which, together with the other destabilizing
  


22   factor tamarisk, makes the channel narrower and deeper.
  


23             Oh, dams intercept the sediment, which
  


24   affects the rocks or the -- both the slope of the
  


25   channel and the lining of the channel.  And as I put in
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 1   my report, garbage affects the lining of the channel,
  


 2   but I've never found a Manning's n for garbage.  I
  


 3   looked.
  


 4       Q.    Have you done any specific studies on
  


 5   Segment 5 to indicate how any of those factors have
  


 6   changed from the nonnatural condition or the natural
  


 7   condition to the nonnatural condition?
  


 8       A.    I did show some photos from Webb, Ribbons of
  


 9   Green, in my PowerPoint.  I looked for data for a
  


10   Manning -- to do a Manning's cross section, and I just
  


11   couldn't find a sufficient database.
  


12             I did the examination of the maps to see that
  


13   essentially the number of channels had changed in
  


14   various spots and the location had changed
  


15   considerably, which means it's a different river at
  


16   that point.
  


17       Q.    In terms of slope, did you do any specific
  


18   studies?
  


19       A.    No.  That was -- that's just standard
  


20   hydrology.
  


21       Q.    In terms of narrower or deeper channel, did
  


22   you do any specific studies?
  


23       A.    Ditto.
  


24       Q.    That's a no then?
  


25       A.    That's no.  That's a matter of standard
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 1   Southwest hydrology.  The tamarisk squeeze the rivers.
  


 2       Q.    We've talked about beaver dams.  We've talked
  


 3   about rapids.  What are the other factors -- it's been
  


 4   such a long time since the Commission's heard your
  


 5   testimony.  What are the other factors that you would
  


 6   believe serve as impediments to navigation in
  


 7   Segments 6a and 6b?
  


 8       A.    Just the impediments?
  


 9       Q.    Yes.
  


10       A.    The fact that we have very sudden flash
  


11   floods in Arizona down these rivers, which makes it
  


12   dangerous.  Evidence indicates that at least down near
  


13   my client's area or in my client's area, there were
  


14   heavy marshes as of statehood and before.  Beaver we've
  


15   talked about, unless you want me to go on with that.
  


16   And rapids in other parts, but I don't know if rapids
  


17   existed in 6 or not.
  


18       Q.    Do you have a citation that says there were
  


19   marshes on the Salt River in Segment 6?
  


20       A.    Well, it's Gookin on Gookin.  I cited to my
  


21   2003 statement.  I had a quotation from the United
  


22   States Geological Survey when I made my first statement
  


23   to the Commission about the bogs near the confluence of
  


24   the Salt and Gila on the Salt, which is the downstream
  


25   end of Segment 6b.


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







SALT RIVER     VOLUME 16      02/26/2016 3473


  


 1       Q.    You're talking about one of the Porcello
  


 2   studies?
  


 3       A.    No, I don't think so.  It was an early USGS
  


 4   report that was describing what they saw, like in 1905
  


 5   or something.
  


 6       Q.    Do you have a citation for that report?
  


 7       A.    In the footnote it's Gookin Engineers 2003,
  


 8   Page 5.  It's April 4th, 2003, entitled Presentation to
  


 9   Arizona Stream Navigability Commission, Old Lower Salt
  


10   River Exhibit 034, and that's from the 2003 hearings,
  


11   that number.
  


12       Q.    And do you know if, in that discussion, in
  


13   that paper, they're talking about marshes alongside the
  


14   river or actually the river completely turns to a
  


15   marsh?
  


16       A.    It sounded like most, if not all.  They were
  


17   extensive, I think was the phrase; but it's been
  


18   12 years, 13 years.
  


19       Q.    Anything else?  Flash floods, marshes,
  


20   beavers, rapids.
  


21       A.    As far as physical obstacles, no.
  


22       Q.    Are there mental obstacles?
  


23       A.    Economic obstacles.
  


24       Q.    Okay.
  


25       A.    And I'm not including depth and channel shape
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 1   in that.  That's not really an obs -- well, I don't
  


 2   know how you would want to characterize that, but leave
  


 3   that on the plate as a projection.
  


 4       Q.    Okay.  We'll talk about that later.
  


 5             I'm curious a little bit to hear some more of
  


 6   your expertise on the archaeology, but I believe
  


 7   Mr. Helm went over this.  Do you consider yourself an
  


 8   expert in archaeology?
  


 9       A.    No.
  


10       Q.    Not an expert in Hohokam time period?
  


11       A.    No.  I know a bit more than the layperson,
  


12   simply by association, but I'm not an archaeologist.
  


13       Q.    And your conclusion was that the Hohokam did
  


14   not use boats; is that right?
  


15       A.    My conclusion is that the archaeologists have
  


16   concluded they didn't use boats.
  


17       Q.    And you reference the Phoenix Sky Train
  


18   study.  I believe you went over it with your counsel;
  


19   is that right?
  


20       A.    I don't -- did I?  I don't remember doing
  


21   that.
  


22       Q.    Maybe I'm remembering -- your counsel went
  


23   over it with Mr. Fuller.
  


24       A.    Yes.  The only one I referenced, I referenced
  


25   the picture that shows the trader who's walking, rather
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 1   than boating, in one of the glyphs; or not glyphs,
  


 2   pottery pieces.  And I included a quote about the
  


 3   Cushing canoe.  Who knows if it ever was there.
  


 4       Q.    And when did the Hohokam end their time on
  


 5   the Salt?
  


 6       A.    According to my client and our
  


 7   archaeologists, they haven't.  They are the Pima.
  


 8   Conventional chronology says 1400 to 1450 and then
  


 9   picks up with the Pimas in about 1500.
  


10       Q.    Would you expect that any boat remains would
  


11   exist if the Hohokam used boats from 1450 and going
  


12   back in time; would any boats exist in the 1800s, 1900s
  


13   preserved?
  


14       A.    I'm sorry, exist in the 1800s or 1900s?
  


15       Q.    Would any boat remnants be preserved if the
  


16   Hohokam used boats?
  


17       A.    I just don't know.
  


18       Q.    What were the boats made of --
  


19       A.    What --
  


20       Q.    -- if they had a boat?
  


21       A.    I was going to say.  I'm saying they were
  


22   made of air.
  


23       Q.    If the Hohokam had used a boat, what type of
  


24   material would they have been made of?
  


25       A.    I don't know.
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 1       Q.    Not plastic, right?
  


 2       A.    Not plastic.  I'm pretty sure of that.
  


 3       Q.    So some type of compostable material?
  


 4       A.    Wood, yeah, something that could burn.
  


 5       Q.    Based on your expertise of materials, and you
  


 6   did some research, would you expect that wood would
  


 7   last 400 years?
  


 8       A.    Well, I've read about it doing it other
  


 9   places, because I did look that up; but I couldn't find
  


10   an indication here that it has.  So I don't know.
  


11       Q.    And when did the Pima come to the Salt?
  


12       A.    You don't learn.  About zero B.C. to
  


13   1000 B.C.
  


14       Q.    So it's your opinion that the Hohokam were on
  


15   the Salt, and the Pima continued to be on the Salt as
  


16   they transitioned?
  


17       A.    Dr. Dobyns' theory, as he explained it to me,
  


18   was that when the Vikings discovered the Northeast
  


19   corner of the North American continent, they brought
  


20   diseases with them.  And he showed me several articles
  


21   where they indicated that based on descriptions like in
  


22   the Mississippi, all over the place, the ecological
  


23   patterns had been knocked badly out of shape and
  


24   concluded that it was probably plagues that wiped out
  


25   the top-of-the-line hunter, to a large extent, people,
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 1   and allowed them to -- these mis -- or, you know, the
  


 2   evolutionary booms in certain animals; for example, the
  


 3   bison.  You always hear about the huge numbers of bison
  


 4   going across the river or the plains.  And he believes
  


 5   that the plague hit the Hohokam, and that as a result
  


 6   of the plague, the Hohokam did what most people do
  


 7   during a plague, they scattered.  And the remnants who
  


 8   survived coalesced back along primarily the Gila.
  


 9   Well, originally the Gila and the Salt, irrigated both,
  


10   and then with the advent of the Apaches, mostly
  


11   retreated to the Gila.
  


12             As to whether all of that is true or not,
  


13   well, I have to wait until I die to find out, but it's
  


14   a question on my list.
  


15       Q.    So when the Spanish came through and recorded
  


16   where tribes were, specifically Father Kino, did he
  


17   notice any tribes -- excuse me, Native Americans on the
  


18   Salt?
  


19       A.    No, I don't think he did.
  


20       Q.    So no one was on the Salt when the Spanish
  


21   came through?
  


22       A.    Well, he just -- if I remember, he only
  


23   visited one little spot.  So I don't think they were
  


24   farming the Salt, except down near the confluence.
  


25       Q.    And he did see that there were civilizations
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 1   on the Lower Gila, from the Salt confluence with the
  


 2   Gila on down to the Colorado?
  


 3       A.    To tell you the truth, I read the histories
  


 4   of the Pimas, and what he did after that I really
  


 5   didn't care.  So there are histories, I do know, of the
  


 6   Indians on the Colorado River.  If there are any in the
  


 7   very lower reach of the Gila, I don't know.
  


 8       Q.    Let's put up a map so we can just confirm
  


 9   what you're saying, which is that no one was on the
  


10   Salt when Kino came through, C046 Part 376.  I can hand
  


11   the map out, actually, and one to you as well,
  


12   Mr. Gookin.
  


13             So this is a map from Father Kino?
  


14       A.    Yes.  I've seen it before.
  


15       Q.    Okay.  And as you stated, there's a few
  


16   civilizations or a lot of native people, settlements,
  


17   throughout the map.
  


18             There are none on the Rio Salado; is that
  


19   right?
  


20       A.    Okay, I think -- I've always had a lot of
  


21   trouble with this map, because I have never been sure
  


22   if that Rio Azul, which becomes the Rio Salado, was the
  


23   Agua Fria or the Salt River, because it just goes in
  


24   the wrong direction.  And I suspect historians can
  


25   argue that point.
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 1             Assuming that was where it was or that's what
  


 2   he meant, the Rio Salado or Salt River, he doesn't show
  


 3   any as of then.
  


 4       Q.    So none on the Rio Salado, none on the Rio
  


 5   Azul, which might be the Rio Salado combined with the
  


 6   Verde, that lower part?
  


 7       A.    No, I don't think so.
  


 8             You're talking about the confluence with the
  


 9   Salt and the Verde there?
  


10       Q.    Could Rio Azul be the lower part of the Salt
  


11   where the Verde combines with the Salt?
  


12       A.    You mean like near the transition from
  


13   Segment 5 to Segment 6?
  


14       Q.    Right.  Could Rio Azul be --
  


15       A.    No.
  


16       Q.    No, in your opinion, it can't?
  


17       A.    I don't think so, because it shows Casa
  


18   Grande, and Casa Grande is right near Coolidge, which
  


19   is downstream from the Salt-Verde confluence.
  


20       Q.    So we're not sure what Rio Azul means, but
  


21   there's no settlements on that either?
  


22       A.    Right.
  


23       Q.    Okay.  And do you have any other
  


24   documentation that shows that the Salt River had
  


25   settlements on it?


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







SALT RIVER     VOLUME 16      02/26/2016 3480


  


 1       A.    Yeah.  The Indian Claims Commission in 236-C,
  


 2   cat, ruled what the occupation area of the
  


 3   Pima-Maricopa were.  Those two tribes both live on the
  


 4   Gila community, the Ak-Chin and the Salt River
  


 5   Reservations.
  


 6             And the judicial determinations went up to --
  


 7   basically, it encompassed pretty much metropolitan
  


 8   Phoenix.  It went up to the base of the mountains on
  


 9   the north and then it followed the mountain fronts as
  


10   it came down, and that pretty much defined it.  It went
  


11   west of the Salt-Gila confluence, and I think it went
  


12   down to the Sierra Estrellas.  I don't think -- I'm not
  


13   sure.  I don't totally remember where the bottom edge
  


14   was.
  


15       Q.    Was that a ruling that dealt with the current
  


16   location of the Salt River Pima settlement?
  


17       A.    No, it was determining the aboriginal lands
  


18   that were illegally taken by the United States due to
  


19   the fact there was no Treaty that had allowed the
  


20   United States to assume ownership.
  


21       Q.    And you believe in that ruling they talk
  


22   specifically about Pima settlements on the Lower Salt?
  


23       A.    They determined the aboriginal land of the
  


24   Pima, and that's what it was.
  


25       Q.    Specifically settlements, have you heard
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 1   anything about settlements on the Lower Salt in that
  


 2   ruling; not lands, but settlements?
  


 3       A.    I'm pretty sure it talked about they
  


 4   irrigated.  They retreated later due to the Apache
  


 5   menace.  They had to -- I have read things that talk
  


 6   about how they had to move south from the Salt,
  


 7   consolidate to have bigger population centers nearer
  


 8   each other, in case the Apache raiders came, and they
  


 9   could mobilize quicker.
  


10       Q.    So there's a little buffer zone between the
  


11   Pima and the Apache because of the threat of Apache
  


12   raids?
  


13       A.    Right.
  


14       Q.    And was --
  


15       A.    Or I assume, Joe, from your point of view,
  


16   due to the Pima raids on the Apaches.
  


17       Q.    Well, it's well-known that the --
  


18       A.    And I am going from my propaganda based on
  


19   that.
  


20       Q.    It's well-known that the Apaches were, in
  


21   part, a raiding culture?
  


22       A.    That's my opinion.
  


23       Q.    If you read Grenville Goodwin's book --
  


24       A.    Yeah.
  


25       Q.    -- he talks all about that, right?
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 1       A.    (Witness nodded.)
  


 2                  MR. SPARKS:  Those are all written by
  


 3   the white guys.
  


 4   BY MR. SLADE:
  


 5       Q.    Who spent eight years with the Apache.  But
  


 6   we don't know.
  


 7       A.    I think this is a fight.  It was a no man's
  


 8   land.  Let's leave it at that.
  


 9       Q.    The Lower Salt was a no man's land?
  


10       A.    Yeah, after the Apache came in, except,
  


11   again, for the very -- right near the Gila confluence.
  


12   The Maricopa, when they moved up the Gila River after
  


13   their neighbors chased them out, settled and irrigated
  


14   from the Salt and the Gila.
  


15       Q.    So we don't know that boats were used by the
  


16   Pima on the Lower Salt; there's no evidence of that?
  


17       A.    They tried with a raft once on a military
  


18   expedition, and they were using it as a ferry, or going
  


19   to, and it capsized.
  


20       Q.    Did the Maricopa and Pima use rafts on the
  


21   Lower Gila?
  


22       A.    Not to my knowledge.
  


23       Q.    Do you know if the Phoenix Sky Train article
  


24   talks about that?
  


25       A.    No.
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 1       Q.    So we've talked about the Phoenix Sky Train
  


 2   article in some detail.  It's C028 Part 313 in
  


 3   evidence, and have you had the opportunity to read this
  


 4   at all, Mr. Gookin?
  


 5       A.    I have not read it.  I've just looked at it
  


 6   and moved on.
  


 7       Q.    Okay.
  


 8       A.    I've not studied it.
  


 9       Q.    If you turn to Page 112, at the top it says
  


10   112, and if we read from the bottom paragraph that
  


11   starts, "Unfortunately."
  


12             I'll read for you:  "Unfortunately, it
  


13   appears that no one has found further mention of the
  


14   alleged canoe, or the canoe itself, in any Hohokam
  


15   collections.  Despite the very thin evidence for the
  


16   existence of a Hohokam transportation system using reed
  


17   balsas to cross the Salt and Gila rivers and to
  


18   transport goods along the canals, the idea is worth
  


19   considering.  Virtually all the groups living in the
  


20   deserts west of the Phoenix Basin utilized reed balsas
  


21   for crossing the Colorado and lower Gila rivers.  The
  


22   Mohave utilized reed balsas apparently made of cattail.
  


23   These rafts were large enough to carry four to six
  


24   adults and were so easy to make that, quote, If the
  


25   current carried it far downstream [while crossing the
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 1   river] it was easier to put a new one together than to
  


 2   drag the old one up against the current, end quote.
  


 3   The Mohave also made 1-meter-diameter ceramic pots to
  


 4   float children and goods across the rivers."
  


 5       A.    I had not read that, and I have to admit a
  


 6   bias.  When you say Lower Gila, I think of about down
  


 7   to Gila Bend and not much further because of my life's
  


 8   work orientation.  So I was not considering down near
  


 9   Yuma.
  


10             I'm very sorry, Mr. Chairman.
  


11       Q.    The Salt was the major contributor to the
  


12   Gila, would you agree?
  


13       A.    Correct.
  


14       Q.    In fact, would you agree it had far more flow
  


15   than the Gila?
  


16       A.    About three times.
  


17       Q.    Okay.  And boats were used on the Lower Gila?
  


18       A.    By the Mohave.  I thought that's what that
  


19   was indicating, because it's talking about what they
  


20   used, reed balsas.
  


21       Q.    By groups living in the desert west of the
  


22   Phoenix Basin.
  


23       A.    Okay.  The Phoenix Basin, I think, would
  


24   include the junction that we're talking about.  And
  


25   then it goes on and talks about the Mohave used reed
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 1   balsas, and it's primarily talking about use of it by
  


 2   the Mohave, which is over on the Colorado area.
  


 3       Q.    So boats have been used on the Lower Gila,
  


 4   where we know Kino found settlements, and the Salt is
  


 5   the major contributory flow for the Lower Gila.  Do you
  


 6   think if there were settlements on the Lower Salt,
  


 7   boats, reed balsas, could have also been used on the
  


 8   Lower Salt?
  


 9       A.    That's a pretty big leap that because you've
  


10   got boats down in Reach 8, which is where I think
  


11   they're talking, that you can use it up in the Salt
  


12   River.
  


13                  MR. MURPHY:  Do you mean Segment 8 of
  


14   the Gila?
  


15                  THE WITNESS:  Or segment 8 of the Gila.
  


16   I'm sorry.  You are correct.
  


17                  While the Salt River is three-fourths of
  


18   the flow, it is three-fourths.
  


19                  Also, I thought I had read -- well,
  


20   yeah, it says for crossing the Colorado and Lower Gila
  


21   Rivers.  They're utilizing it as ferries, not commerce
  


22   boats.
  


23   BY MR. SLADE:
  


24       Q.    Even on the Colorado they're using it as a
  


25   ferry?


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







SALT RIVER     VOLUME 16      02/26/2016 3486


  


 1       A.    According to this article, yes.  Now, I don't
  


 2   know about others.
  


 3       Q.    Do you have any evidence that at the Colorado
  


 4   boats were used other than for ferries?
  


 5       A.    I know Mr. Fuller mentioned it in his
  


 6   reports.
  


 7       Q.    By the Native Americans.
  


 8       A.    By the Native Americans.
  


 9             And that's it.  That's all I know.
  


10       Q.    Would that surprise you that the Native
  


11   Americans could use boats on the Lower Salt, given the
  


12   amount of flow it had?
  


13       A.    Toy boats, steamers?  I mean that's a very
  


14   vague question.
  


15       Q.    The boats they had at that time, the balsas,
  


16   does it surprise you that those could be used on the
  


17   Lower Salt?
  


18       A.    The Pimas didn't have --
  


19                  MR. MURPHY:  I want to make an objection
  


20   to this question.  I don't think there's any evidence
  


21   that boats were used on the Salt, and the question
  


22   seems to assume that.
  


23                  MR. SLADE:  Let me rephrase it then.
  


24                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Slade, it appears
  


25   to be almost conjecture in the report, as to whether or
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 1   not they were used.
  


 2                  MR. SLADE:  Well, that's your opinion,
  


 3   Mr. Chairman.
  


 4                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  That's what it says.
  


 5   There's very limited, in fact, almost no evidence that
  


 6   they were used.
  


 7                  THE WITNESS:  Very thin evidence.
  


 8                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thin evidence.
  


 9   BY MR. SLADE:
  


10       Q.    Do we have any evidence that boats were used
  


11   on the Colorado?
  


12       A.    Mr. Fuller cited to some Spanish, early
  


13   Spanish explorers who recorded boats on the Colorado.
  


14   And I assume we're limiting it to prehistory times?
  


15       Q.    Right.
  


16       A.    Because after 1852 they're all over the place
  


17   on the Colorado.
  


18       Q.    Do you know if the Hohokam used their canals
  


19   for boats, travel, wagons -- or not wagons, but did
  


20   they use any type of boat on their canals, that you're
  


21   aware of?
  


22       A.    That goes to that one questionable canoe and
  


23   the fact there might have been a boat dock at one point
  


24   in a canal.  That's my only evidence, and most of them
  


25   are very, very weak or very thin, I guess.  But that's
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 1   all I know about it.  I haven't asked any Hohokam.
  


 2       Q.    You've read some accounts of the native
  


 3   cultures.  Do you know who was living in the Upper
  


 4   Salt, based on what you've read?
  


 5       A.    Before the successful incursion of the
  


 6   Anglo-Americans or Americans, the Apaches were.
  


 7       Q.    And do you have any citations that you can
  


 8   provide me with that talk about where they were?
  


 9       A.    Not with me and -- no.  I think I know where
  


10   there's a map in a report by a gentleman, maybe,
  


11   perhaps.  I don't know.
  


12       Q.    And I ask from an informative perspective.
  


13   I'm just seeing if you have any knowledge of that.
  


14       A.    Oh.  I've read many places they came to this
  


15   area, but I don't have a map of it.  I do know that if
  


16   you saw one, where they occupied is kind of
  


17   loosey-goosey, because they were, in large part,
  


18   nomadic.
  


19             Oh, there was an Indian Claims Commission on
  


20   it, decision, that would show the aboriginal area.  I
  


21   don't know the number.
  


22       Q.    I want to talk very briefly about just a few
  


23   historical accounts.  We're not going to go through
  


24   them all.  Let's start with the Day brothers trip.
  


25   It's your opinion that the Day brothers did not use the
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 1   Salt River; is that right?
  


 2       A.    On their last trip.  They -- well, either
  


 3   they used it and they were dragging the boats through
  


 4   portions, because most of the water would have been
  


 5   diverted, or they went down the canals.  And a guess,
  


 6   and it's a guess, the canals; but they may have
  


 7   dragged.
  


 8       Q.    And that's because you believe that the
  


 9   Arizona Dam was diverting everything below 1,000 cfs?
  


10       A.    It would, because of the structure of
  


11   diversion dams back then.  There would be leakage
  


12   through it, some, but not much.  You took all you could
  


13   and the canal was 1,000 cfs and put what you wanted
  


14   back, and in their case two miles later, so it was at
  


15   least a two-mile reach that was virtually dry.  From
  


16   that point we don't know how much they put back when,
  


17   but we do know that there was no commissioner enforcing
  


18   the Kibbey Decree, so they didn't have much motivation
  


19   to.
  


20       Q.    And you think that would have happened as
  


21   well in the winter, when there was less irrigation?
  


22       A.    Yes.
  


23       Q.    And have you done any analysis on if that
  


24   was, in fact, what was diverted in the winter, based on
  


25   gages that you could find?
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 1       A.    I saw, I think, somewhere -- no, that was
  


 2   Granite Reef.
  


 3             I didn't see any, no.
  


 4       Q.    And did you do any analysis on --
  


 5       A.    Oh, I did find the GS study that said this is
  


 6   what their pattern would be under Roosevelt Dam, that
  


 7   they divert more in the winter, about half in the
  


 8   winter.
  


 9       Q.    Half of what they --
  


10       A.    Half of their peak use.
  


11       Q.    And where was Hayden's Ferry located relative
  


12   to the Arizona Dam?
  


13       A.    Downstream.
  


14       Q.    Do you know how far downstream?
  


15       A.    Hayden's Ferry was basically at the boundary
  


16   between 6a and 6b.  It's where the Old Mill Bridge is
  


17   right now.  Does that help?
  


18       Q.    Do you know how many miles it would be from
  


19   the Arizona Dam to where Hayden's Ferry was operating?
  


20       A.    I know I computed it once, and I don't
  


21   remember.  I think it's in the Navigability
  


22   Commission's report.  I'm not sure.  No, I computed it,
  


23   but I don't remember it.
  


24       Q.    Would you expect that the diverted water from
  


25   Arizona Dam would return above Hayden's Ferry or below?
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 1       A.    The very first years it probably returned at
  


 2   about Indian Bend Wash, but then as it got extended, I
  


 3   imagine most of it came back at the Agua Fria, because
  


 4   that's where they would dump their tailwater, or -- and
  


 5   I'm talking about above ground.  Groundwater was
  


 6   seeping in the whole time and migrating towards the
  


 7   river.
  


 8             At one point in time they reached a deal with
  


 9   the Grand Canal and they put the crosscut canal through
  


10   to feed them.  I don't remember the year.  And, of
  


11   course, probably some water got lost at that point.
  


12       Q.    I'm not sure I understood exactly what you
  


13   meant.  So you would think that the diverted water from
  


14   the Arizona Dam would come in below where Hayden's
  


15   Ferry was operating?
  


16       A.    I'm saying at the very beginning, because
  


17   they started at the head and started digging and
  


18   heading west, generally, and north.  At the point they
  


19   were only irrigating land -- I mean when they get got
  


20   to the Indian Bend wash, then probably the tailwater
  


21   went there.  And I'm just thinking about how I would
  


22   have done it if I was building it.  And as every major
  


23   wash came -- the reach between every major wash came
  


24   in, I would start dumping the tailwater at that point
  


25   so you don't hurt anybody.  And it now I think empties
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 1   in the Agua Fria.  So over time the return point would
  


 2   move west.
  


 3       Q.    Do you know how much Hayden's Ferry drew when
  


 4   it was loaded with its capacity?
  


 5       A.    Initially, 1,000 cubic feet per second.
  


 6       Q.    Hayden's Ferry.
  


 7       A.    I'm sorry.
  


 8       Q.    How much did the boat draw in the water when
  


 9   it was loaded for use?
  


10       A.    No idea.
  


11       Q.    And do you know when the operation of the
  


12   ferry occurred generally throughout the year?
  


13       A.    I thought it was during high water seasons,
  


14   but I would go to a historian for a better answer.
  


15       Q.    Would you expect the ferry to be operating if
  


16   Arizona Dam was taking all of the water?
  


17       A.    If -- Arizona Dam didn't take all the water
  


18   all the time.  I never said that.  In low flow years it
  


19   took all of the water.  And when it was operating,
  


20   there would be return flow coming to the surface due to
  


21   the bedrock barrier underlying Hayden's Ferry.  That's
  


22   why I split the two basins.  And so it could be wet
  


23   enough that some people were afraid of getting mired in
  


24   the mud or something.
  


25       Q.    Do you know what amount of flow would be
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 1   needed for Hayden's Ferry to operate?
  


 2       A.    No.
  


 3       Q.    But if there was less than 1,000 cfs, you
  


 4   wouldn't think that Hayden's Ferry would be operating?
  


 5       A.    If they took the 1,000 and didn't return it
  


 6   at the two-mile return, as I say, I don't know what
  


 7   kind of return flows they were getting.  Some of it may
  


 8   have been coming down Indian Bend Wash, but -- and
  


 9   there was return flow.  Since I don't know what it
  


10   takes to operate it or create the need, I can't answer
  


11   your question.
  


12                  MR. SLADE:  I think there's a question.
  


13
  


14              EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN
  


15                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Yeah.  If you could
  


16   refresh my memory, when was the dam constructed, the
  


17   Arizona Dam?
  


18                  THE WITNESS:  I know it was talked about
  


19   and they were expecting it to be built in '83, and
  


20   there was executive falderal.  They got it up and
  


21   running in '85, and that was the picture that
  


22   Dr. Littlefield was showing, which I had never seen.
  


23                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Do you have any
  


24   idea when in '85?
  


25                  THE WITNESS:  No, I don't.
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 1                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  When did the Day
  


 2   brothers come downstream?
  


 3                  THE WITNESS:  They came downstream in
  


 4   '92.  Well, that was the date of the article, and there
  


 5   were four trips prior, which would -- if they were
  


 6   consecutive, and we don't know, the first trip would
  


 7   have been '87 to '88.
  


 8                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay.  But they
  


 9   were coming downstream during the wintertime when they
  


10   left the Upper Verde, correct?
  


11                  THE WITNESS:  Most likely.
  


12                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  And so when they
  


13   would have reached that point, it could well have been
  


14   during the spring floods?
  


15                  THE WITNESS:  We have records for four
  


16   of those years, four of them.  Assuming they're five
  


17   consecutive years, we have records for four of them.
  


18   Three of them, absolutely.  There were strong records
  


19   in the early winter -- or the late winter that there
  


20   were high flows that would have gone right over the dam
  


21   and created a base.  They were in the thousands and
  


22   tens of thousands of cfs.
  


23                  In the last year when they did it or
  


24   reported to have done it, the high I think was -- high
  


25   flow was 800 cfs during the months they were going.
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 1   The first year we have no flow records.
  


 2                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Given the fact that
  


 3   it was a temporary -- well, it's not really a temporary
  


 4   dam, but it was not a very high dam, is there any
  


 5   reason why they -- if they did, in reality, do this,
  


 6   that they wouldn't have portaged around that?
  


 7                  THE WITNESS:  They could have --
  


 8                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Unless there was no
  


 9   water below; but if it was during the wintertime, then
  


10   there would have been water below because it would have
  


11   been over the dam.
  


12                  THE WITNESS:  In the three years when
  


13   I'm sure it went over the dam, absolutely they could
  


14   have portaged.  I expect that some of them, if they
  


15   were feeling adventurous, they could have ridden a
  


16   roller-coaster over it.
  


17                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  It would have been
  


18   quite a ride.
  


19                  THE WITNESS:  Quite a ride.  I can't --
  


20   I wouldn't try it, but that's me.
  


21                  The year when it was dry, I think given
  


22   the construction of diversion dams when there's no
  


23   storage dam upstream, they automatically divert the
  


24   capacity of the canal.  They're designed to do that.
  


25   So then they return the flow for downstream users if --
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 1                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Well, that raises a
  


 2   curious question, I think.  If they reached the dam and
  


 3   they didn't want to get out of the boat, but they
  


 4   decided they'd stay in the canal part of it --
  


 5                  THE WITNESS:  Right.
  


 6                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  -- could they not
  


 7   have gone right on around and --
  


 8                  THE WITNESS:  And that's my point.  I
  


 9   think my guess -- and if you read the article, it does
  


10   not say they boated the Salt River.  They came to the
  


11   Salt River and then continued on the Gila.  Now, I may
  


12   be reading way too much into it, and, of course, it's a
  


13   newspaper article.  I think you've heard a little bit
  


14   about that.
  


15                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Yeah.
  


16                  THE WITNESS:  So I think it's probable
  


17   they just -- as the dam diverted the river into the
  


18   Arizona Canal, that would be a beautiful way to
  


19   transport; and so that's what I think they did.
  


20                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Yeah.
  


21                  THE WITNESS:  As you said earlier when
  


22   we discussed this, it is speculation.  There's so
  


23   little to go on.
  


24                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Slade, would it be
  


25   all right if we took a break now?
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 1                  MR. SLADE:  Absolutely.
  


 2                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you very much.
  


 3                  (A recess was taken from 11:03 a.m. to
  


 4   11:14 a.m.)
  


 5                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Slade, are you
  


 6   ready?
  


 7                  MR. SLADE:  Ready to go.
  


 8                  THE WITNESS:  I'm ready.
  


 9                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Gookin, are you
  


10   ready?
  


11                  THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir.
  


12                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Please proceed,
  


13   Mr. Slade.
  


14
  


15                CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)
  


16   BY MR. SLADE:
  


17       Q.    Mr. Gookin, I want to try to understand your
  


18   calculated reconstructed numbers.
  


19       A.    Yes.
  


20       Q.    And is the best place to look at that in
  


21   totality your Figure VI-3 on Page 107 of your report?
  


22       A.    Oh, that shows the depths based on those
  


23   numbers.
  


24       Q.    You calculated for the Salt-Verde confluence
  


25   just below, that it would be a median of 791 cfs; is
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 1   that right?
  


 2       A.    Below the confluence, Salt-Verde?  Yes, 791
  


 3   median.
  


 4       Q.    Okay.  And that's based on your Gila report
  


 5   numbers; is that right?
  


 6       A.    Yes.
  


 7       Q.    And how did you come up with that 791?
  


 8       A.    What I did, I would go to a -- I went to a
  


 9   gaging station that the White Book had used, and that's
  


10   the report on the water supply of the Lower Colorado
  


11   River, November 1952, and there's two supplements to it
  


12   and I always include.  To me, that's one book, looking
  


13   back in time.
  


14             The Bureau of Reclamation broke the river
  


15   down into two basic components, what was there
  


16   historically in that period and then what they thought
  


17   needed to be added and subtracted back in.  So I went
  


18   to the historic record and determined what the
  


19   distribution of flows was.  I found the 10 percent low
  


20   flow, I found the median, and I found the mean.  And
  


21   the reason I found the mean was because I was using
  


22   periods that didn't always match exactly, it would be
  


23   off a little bit.  And sometimes there will be gages
  


24   like here and here, but the Bureau of Reclamation has
  


25   put its point here, and so I would add two gages and
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 1   compare it to what happened.
  


 2             That gave me a feeling for the distribution
  


 3   of the historic flow.  Now the question is, you go
  


 4   through the White Book and you take each component of
  


 5   inflow or outflow, and you have to stop and think about
  


 6   it and go, okay, what would this flow contribute to.
  


 7             Well, inflows, since most of these reaches
  


 8   that I'm talking about are -- the inflows are all
  


 9   ephemeral, then you would expect that they would be
  


10   very -- they would come at very wet times, when there's
  


11   a lot of storms.  And so they would count for the
  


12   average, but they wouldn't count for the median.  So I
  


13   addressed that accordingly.
  


14             Man or human-caused losses, irrigation,
  


15   mining, et cetera, that's going to occur more
  


16   consistently at year after year, so when I'm adding
  


17   that water back in, I'm saying that does affect the
  


18   median.  I said it did affect the baseflow.
  


19             Now, I looked at other things for the
  


20   baseflow, and I got several estimates in the Gila
  


21   report for the baseflows.  I think I picked the Thomsen
  


22   and Porcello.  And I was looking at it a couple nights
  


23   ago to review it.  I may have made a -- I've made a
  


24   minor mistake to be consistent.  I said I took the
  


25   baseflow from the White Book and did the addition and
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 1   subtraction to get the Salt.  And I did do that.  But
  


 2   in my Gila report I used the baseflow from Thomsen and
  


 3   Porcello.  It's off by about, I don't know, 7 cfs, I
  


 4   think.  It's very small.  And that's an oops.  But
  


 5   other than that, that's basically how I did it.
  


 6       Q.    Is there any document that you can compare
  


 7   your median Salt-Verde confluence number to that you
  


 8   have been able to find?
  


 9       A.    No.
  


10       Q.    Have you had any --
  


11       A.    Other than what I've said for the White Book,
  


12   but that's it.
  


13       Q.    Has anyone reviewed your 791 cfs number for
  


14   the median?
  


15       A.    No.
  


16       Q.    And have you published it anywhere?
  


17       A.    No, but last night I was thinking about it.
  


18       Q.    The same question --
  


19       A.    I really was.
  


20       Q.    The same question for the low flow of 296;
  


21   has anyone reviewed that?
  


22       A.    No.
  


23       Q.    Have you read the Kent and Kibbey decrees?
  


24       A.    Yes.
  


25       Q.    And they estimated that the lowest flow,
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 1   generally, of the Salt was about 300 cfs; is that
  


 2   right?
  


 3       A.    I don't remember.
  


 4       Q.    That's generally what you have for your low
  


 5   flow?
  


 6       A.    Yes.
  


 7       Q.    They're pretty comparable?
  


 8       A.    I was going to say I wouldn't argue 4 cfs.
  


 9       Q.    No, and I'm not either.
  


10       A.    Okay.
  


11       Q.    Now, that's at the top of Segment 6, right?
  


12       A.    Right.
  


13       Q.    And you believe that 200 cfs is then lost in
  


14   6b; is that right?
  


15       A.    Some is lost in 6a.  Some of it returns, some
  


16   of what is lost returns.  Then some of it is lost in 6
  


17   that goes down in 6b.  Some of it comes back before the
  


18   confluence.  A lot of it comes back after the
  


19   confluence with the Gila.  Some of it went south
  


20   between the Salt and -- the South Mountains and the
  


21   Sacaton Mountains, in that gap underground, and emerged
  


22   as underflow for the Gila.
  


23       Q.    So for Segment 6b you believe the flow is --
  


24   the median flow for that segment is 581?
  


25       A.    Yes.
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 1       Q.    And 6b starts at -- what was the location for
  


 2   the start of 6b, again?
  


 3       A.    The Old Mill Avenue Bridge, which is
  


 4   essentially the Hayden Ferry.  Tempe Butte, if that
  


 5   helps, that right there.
  


 6       Q.    And can you walk me through how 200 cfs is
  


 7   lost from the top of Segment 6 to Hayden's Ferry?
  


 8       A.    Sure.  The water is heading down.  The Salt
  


 9   River is made in that reach, according to Means, of
  


10   gravelly sand, which means it's mostly coarse sand with
  


11   some gravel mixed in, very porous material.  It seeps
  


12   into the ground.  Some of it would have been
  


13   intercepted by mesquite and other phreatophytic
  


14   vegetation on the way to the confluence.
  


15             Some of the water that's down now in the
  


16   groundwater and is paralleling, roughly, the Salt River
  


17   is going to go under the confluence of the Salt and the
  


18   Gila and emerge later, and that was a lot of the water
  


19   that the Buckeye Irrigation District used in the early
  


20   days, and that's where we get a lot of our records as
  


21   to what was going on.
  


22             Some of the water, as the Salt built this
  


23   mound underneath it from these losses, would have
  


24   flowed south through the gap.  There is conjecture that
  


25   the Salt River used to do that way back when, and it
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 1   left a coarse underground channel, and that provided an
  


 2   easy means for water to infiltrate south to the Gila
  


 3   River, where it either emerged in the Gila River
  


 4   upstream from the confluence or joined the Salt River
  


 5   and went under the confluence and came up later,
  


 6   subject, again, to the phreatophytes on the Middle and
  


 7   Lower Gila.
  


 8       Q.    Do you have any references or documents that
  


 9   state that from Hayden's Mill to the Salt it was
  


10   typical that 200 cfs was lost?
  


11       A.    That was my computation, and that's what I've
  


12   got.
  


13       Q.    No sources that you can point me to that
  


14   quantify the amount that might have been lost from --
  


15       A.    Your best bet would be the Hodges report.  It
  


16   did a really good study on the return flow of the Salt
  


17   and Gila Rivers, or the Southworth report.  I know I
  


18   read them, but I didn't read them with an eye to --
  


19   well, wait a minute.  Let me go back.  Just a second.
  


20             Below the confluence I looked at Hodges,
  


21   Freethey and Anderson, Thomsen, Southworth and USGS
  


22   1901, which I think is a Lee report.  I'm looking at
  


23   Page 5.  No.  Well, 5a, I guess you would call it,
  


24   Figure II-1 in Chapter II of my Gila report, and it
  


25   shows the various values, and I think I ended up using
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 1   Thomsen.  That was, okay, 74 cfs versus the
  


 2   80-something.  I don't think it would make a
  


 3   significant difference in the determination.
  


 4             And I didn't print out my bibliography.  I'm
  


 5   sorry.  So I don't know what USGS 1901 is.
  


 6       Q.    When you say the Thomsen report said there
  


 7   was a 74 cfs minimum flow, did I hear you correctly?
  


 8       A.    Yes.
  


 9       Q.    And that was --
  


10       A.    That was the Gila Thomsen report.
  


11       Q.    Was that for the Gila or for the Salt?
  


12       A.    That was for the Gila and Salt immediately
  


13   downstream below the confluence.
  


14       Q.    And what's the name of that report?
  


15       A.    "Predevelopment Hydrology for the Gila River
  


16   Indian Reservation," something like that.
  


17       Q.    So not the Thomsen and Porcello, but the
  


18   Thomsen and, is it --
  


19       A.    Yeah, me too.  To me, they're both the
  


20   Thomsen report.
  


21       Q.    Eychaner --
  


22       A.    That sounds right.
  


23       Q.    -- does that sound familiar?  Okay.
  


24             So your understanding is in that report they
  


25   state that the minimum flow of the Salt where it joins
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 1   the Gila is 86 cfs?
  


 2       A.    No.  They say that the minimum flow that
  


 3   comes in that's just downstream from the Salt is
  


 4   74 cfs.
  


 5       Q.    Okay.
  


 6       A.    I'm trying to figure out how did it get that
  


 7   high now.  Oh, wait.  I know how I did it.  I used the
  


 8   Bureau of Reclamation by mistake.  That's right.  It
  


 9   would be lower if I had used Thomsen.
  


10       Q.    Are they talking about the Gila or the Salt?
  


11       A.    Thomsen said how much was below the
  


12   confluence.  I had computed how much was above the
  


13   confluence on the Gila.  If you take below the
  


14   confluence plus above the confluence on the Gila, you
  


15   know how much was on the Salt.
  


16             Now, Thomsen said that the value on the Salt
  


17   was 74 cfs baseflow.  There was a graph you had to
  


18   read, I think.
  


19       Q.    You don't have a citation to that that you
  


20   can point me to, can you?
  


21       A.    Just the Thomsen.  Wait a minute.
  


22             No, I didn't put a page number.  I don't know
  


23   why.  It was Thomsen and I always pronounce it as
  


24   Eychaner.
  


25       Q.    Eychaner.
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 1       A.    But I don't know.
  


 2       Q.    That sounds better than my butchered
  


 3   pronunciation.
  


 4       A.    My citations are on Page 10, Chapter II of
  


 5   Hydrology, Gila report.
  


 6       Q.    But it doesn't have a page number for where
  


 7   your 74 low flow cfs comes from?
  


 8       A.    No, it doesn't.  I don't know why.
  


 9       Q.    If I gave you the report, would you be able
  


10   to point it out?
  


11       A.    I imagine I had to compute it to come up with
  


12   it, because if I remember, they did their stuff in
  


13   annual acre-feet.
  


14       Q.    Could you tell me the general area where it
  


15   is if I gave you the report?
  


16       A.    I would -- I'll try.  Have you got the whole
  


17   thing?
  


18                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  What is the
  


19   citation number on that?
  


20                  THE WITNESS:  This doesn't have an
  


21   exhibit number on it.
  


22                  MR. SLADE:  We'll get that for you,
  


23   Mr. Chairman, or, excuse me, Commissioner Allen.
  


24                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  What is the title?
  


25                  THE WITNESS:  The title is
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 1   "Predevelopment Hydrology of the Gila River Indian
  


 2   Reservation, South-Central Arizona."
  


 3                  MS. BREWER:  C043, 369.
  


 4                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  369?
  


 5                  THE WITNESS:  Oh, yeah, I think -- okay.
  


 6   If you go to Page 34.  Correction, 33.  You'll see,
  


 7   under Outflow, there's the net return flow from aquifer
  


 8   to, and then there's Gila River near Coolidge, Gila and
  


 9   Santa Cruz River southeast of Gila Crossing, Gila River
  


10   northwest of Gila Crossing, and then the underflow west
  


11   of the confluence.  And I believe if you add all those
  


12   up and convert the units, you'll come out with 79.3, if
  


13   I did it right.
  


14   BY MR. SLADE:
  


15       Q.    Is that the surface flow --
  


16       A.    Yeah.
  


17       Q.    -- that they're talking about?
  


18       A.    It's the return flow from aquifer, and that's
  


19   baseflow.  It's the water coming out of the groundwater
  


20   and going into the surface and thereby leaving the
  


21   groundwater basin.
  


22       Q.    Well, the title of the table is "Simulated
  


23   predevelopment ground-water budget."
  


24       A.    Right.
  


25       Q.    So where does it say that's the surface flow?
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 1       A.    Net return flow from aquifer to Gila River.
  


 2       Q.    So if that's coming from the aquifer, that's
  


 3   being added to the existing surface flow?
  


 4       A.    Right, and that's what baseflow is normally
  


 5   characterized, is the return from the aquifer in the
  


 6   area where you're talking about.
  


 7       Q.    So what is that return added to?  What is the
  


 8   surface water that the return flow is being --
  


 9       A.    For baseflow you figure it probably had dried
  


10   up or nearly so, which it did on occasion, and so
  


11   that's pretty much your lowest flow.
  


12       Q.    So it's your opinion that the Salt was dry on
  


13   the surface?
  


14       A.    Well, no, this is the Gila.
  


15       Q.    Is it your opinion that the Salt was dry at
  


16   the surface when it combined with the Gila?
  


17       A.    No.  I'm pretty sure it had water.
  


18       Q.    Okay.  So what was the baseflow of the Salt?
  


19       A.    The baseflow of the Salt then, which you --
  


20   this total gives you the total underflow coming out.  I
  


21   had also computed the underflow above the confluence on
  


22   the Gila.  If you know how much is leaving a system and
  


23   you've got two inputs and you know how much one of them
  


24   is and you know we're talking about a long time, so
  


25   it's not going to -- I mean, you may have short-term
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 1   variations, but we're not trying to fill a reservoir or
  


 2   anything.  It's straight math to compute the last
  


 3   component, straight out.  You just take outflow minus
  


 4   Gila inflow equals Salt inflow.
  


 5       Q.    Maybe I'm confused, but I'm going to try and
  


 6   clarify with you.
  


 7       A.    Okay.
  


 8       Q.    On your Page 107, your Figure VI-3, you've
  


 9   got a minimum flow of 86 cfs for the Salt?
  


10       A.    Yes, and as I said, that was wrong.  I
  


11   probably should have come up with something smaller.
  


12   But, okay, go ahead.
  


13       Q.    And that minimum flow is based on solely the
  


14   outflow from the aquifer that we can see here on the
  


15   Thomsen study on Page 33?
  


16       A.    Yes.  The outflow below the con -- the total
  


17   outflow of the Gila -- God, I wish I had a board.
  


18             You've got two rivers joining at the
  


19   confluence, the Gila River and the Salt River.  The
  


20   Gila River has a baseflow component creating water in
  


21   the Gila above the confluence.  You also know what the
  


22   baseflow is below the confluence, from the records and
  


23   so forth and from this study.  Then you back out what
  


24   the Salt must have been, to make it all balance.
  


25       Q.    And I understand that from an overview
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 1   perspective.  But this is a groundwater budget paper.
  


 2       A.    Right.
  


 3       Q.    They're talking about groundwater, not
  


 4   surface water.  So did your minimum flow of 86 come
  


 5   from just assuming that the Salt was dry and that
  


 6   groundwater was coming up?
  


 7       A.    No, because I gave you a flow for the Salt.
  


 8   I assumed that the Salt and the Gila together combined
  


 9   to make all the flow that I found downstream of the
  


10   Salt and the Gila.  I have a value for the Gila, and I
  


11   computed the flow from the Salt.
  


12             It does assume -- this is where you're
  


13   confused. -- that whatever came in at, say, Granite
  


14   Reef or at Kelvin on the Gila didn't make it in that
  


15   really dry day, because while they were both perennial,
  


16   the USGS says perennial means flow 80 percent of the
  


17   time or more, and there are a couple records where it
  


18   had little spots that dried up, which means you've got
  


19   little to no flow coming down at the mouth of the Salt.
  


20   So it's all underflow coming up, and that's what you're
  


21   trying to quantify.
  


22       Q.    So it's your thought that there was no
  


23   surface flow on the Salt at the juncture of the Salt
  


24   with the Gila --
  


25       A.    No.
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 1       Q.    -- at minimum flow?
  


 2       A.    No.  It's my thought that somewhere on the
  


 3   Salt River upstream from the junction there was no
  


 4   flow, because in Reach 6b the water went down and then
  


 5   some of it came up.  Now, I say no flow.  There might
  


 6   have been 1 cfs, but it did have, on a couple very,
  


 7   very dry days, which we don't consider for
  


 8   navigability, almost dry up or dry up.  And not every
  


 9   year even.
  


10       Q.    What document can you point me to that states
  


11   that, that the Salt dried up?
  


12       A.    I can't remember.  I should have put it in.
  


13   I did have documents on the Gila had dried up; again,
  


14   very brief points and very seldom.
  


15       Q.    But that is a pretty important point if
  


16   you're not considering surface water?
  


17       A.    Not for baseflow, it's not.  Baseflow is
  


18   telling you what the river is going to put out in the
  


19   worst case condition.
  


20             Now, Mr. Hjalmarson proved to me that that
  


21   pretty much equals 10 percent flow, and that's what he
  


22   uses, and I'm not going to argue between the 10 percent
  


23   and the .01 percent.
  


24       Q.    But your worst case condition for the Salt
  


25   assumes that it went dry; is that right?
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 1       A.    Somewhere upstream it went dry or had a very
  


 2   minor flow for a very short time.
  


 3       Q.    And can I -- do I understand you to say that
  


 4   you don't have a document that states that?
  


 5       A.    Not at my hand, no.
  


 6       Q.    Do you recall if there's any study that's
  


 7   ever said the Salt went dry?
  


 8       A.    I don't remember any study, and I can't
  


 9   remember where I thought I found somebody who said that
  


10   they couldn't find -- the Salt River was dry or very,
  


11   very low.  It would have been in June, almost
  


12   certainly.
  


13             Well, excuse me, I have lots of documents
  


14   that say it was dry, but they're after the diversions.
  


15       Q.    Sure.  We're thinking about the natural
  


16   condition.
  


17       A.    Yeah.
  


18                  MR. SLADE:  Is there a question?
  


19
  


20              EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN
  


21                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Just a very brief
  


22   one.
  


23                  The Buckeye Canal was extended, or maybe
  


24   it was the Roosevelt Canal that was extended up past
  


25   91st Avenue, and wells were used to pull water out
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 1   because that particular area was waterlogged during the
  


 2   early time frame when a lot of irrigation was
  


 3   occurring.
  


 4                  THE WITNESS:  Right.
  


 5                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Was there a return
  


 6   flow pre-1900 in that particular area?
  


 7                  THE WITNESS:  Yes, there was.  The
  


 8   manager of the Roosevelt Irrigation District, and I
  


 9   can't remember which report, but he told the person
  


10   that when he first put in the diversion dam, since then
  


11   the return flow coming up had doubled due to the
  


12   irrigation diversions and the seepage coming in; but
  


13   there was some there really before there was much of
  


14   that occurring.
  


15                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Is it possible that
  


16   that happened also during Hohokam?
  


17                  THE WITNESS:  Sure.
  


18                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  The same conditions
  


19   would.
  


20                  THE WITNESS:  Yeah.
  


21                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  So the return flow
  


22   to the river, which would probably have made it
  


23   perennial throughout that whole reach of 6b?
  


24                  THE WITNESS:  As long as -- I think the
  


25   return flow started most of the way through 6b --
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 1                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay.
  


 2                  THE WITNESS:  -- is when it started
  


 3   coming up, because what causes the return flow is the
  


 4   junction of the Sierra Estrellas, the South Mountains,
  


 5   and the White Tanks and the bedrock connecting the
  


 6   three underneath, shallowing the groundwater basin.
  


 7
  


 8                CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)
  


 9   BY MR. SLADE:
  


10       Q.    Mr. Gookin, just to wrap up the minimum flow,
  


11   you would agree that to understand that the minimum
  


12   flow was only 86 cfs, we need to know that the Salt
  


13   River went dry, right?
  


14       A.    Ordinarily so, yes.
  


15       Q.    Okay.  But we don't have any document that
  


16   tells us that it went dry?
  


17       A.    Yes.
  


18       Q.    Okay.  That's a problem for understanding how
  


19   you came up with your calculation, right?
  


20       A.    Baseflow is normally computed in this manner
  


21   of what's coming up at the location.  And, again, don't
  


22   get me wrong.  It's very rare that there's zero.  I
  


23   don't think the Salt River dried up very often, and
  


24   that's why I call it baseflow.  That's the contribution
  


25   at that point.
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 1       Q.    Would it be a better verbiage or would it be
  


 2   better to call it, instead of minimum flow,
  


 3   contribution from the aquifer at that point?
  


 4       A.    Same thing, because the contribution from the
  


 5   aquifer is what determines your minimum flow.  Think of
  


 6   a river.  If it's not raining and the snow's not
  


 7   melting, the only place it gets water is from the
  


 8   groundwater coming back up, and that's what baseflow
  


 9   is.
  


10       Q.    You've been on the Verde, right?  Have you
  


11   ever seen --
  


12       A.    Yes.
  


13       Q.    The Verde has a baseflow?
  


14       A.    Yes.
  


15       Q.    And it's not just the contribution from the
  


16   aquifer underneath; would you agree with that?
  


17       A.    No.
  


18       Q.    Can you explain?
  


19       A.    Baseflow is the flow that comes into the
  


20   river from the groundwater.  That's the definition of
  


21   it.
  


22       Q.    And for the Salt, you would suppose that the
  


23   baseflow is only contributed to by the aquifer coming
  


24   up?
  


25       A.    Yes.
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 1       Q.    Okay.  Do you have any documentation that
  


 2   supports your theory that the Salt lost 200 cfs from
  


 3   the Salt-Verde confluence to the beginning of
  


 4   Segment 6b?
  


 5       A.    I can't quote it to you now, no.  I thought I
  


 6   had read it once, but it was many years ago.
  


 7       Q.    That's a pretty important piece of
  


 8   information to have, to know if, in fact, the flow was
  


 9   791 cfs or 581 cfs, as you've proposed, right?
  


10       A.    Well, you've got to remember, again, that the
  


11   200 -- excuse me.  I hate having two reports.  I'm
  


12   spending time looking in the wrong one.
  


13             The Thomsen report --
  


14       Q.    Which Thomsen report is that?
  


15       A.    For the Salt River.
  


16       Q.    The Porcello report?
  


17       A.    Yes.
  


18       Q.    If you could just hold on one second.
  


19       A.    Never mind, it didn't have the -- it did have
  


20   a baseflow, but I think at that point you probably
  


21   would have had surface flow from the Salt, because it
  


22   had a baseflow of 296 at the confluence there, and
  


23   that's a short distance to Old Mill Avenue.  So, no, I
  


24   don't.  I'm sorry.
  


25       Q.    Okay.  And the 581 cfs number is what you
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 1   used for your construction of your depth?
  


 2       A.    Yes.  That and the mean depths are primarily
  


 3   what I looked at.
  


 4       Q.    Are there any other documents related to how
  


 5   you constructed your flow that you haven't disclosed as
  


 6   a reference?
  


 7       A.    No.
  


 8       Q.    Then let's turn to your Page 106 of your
  


 9   report, please.  And this is a picture of the cross
  


10   section you used for the Salt?
  


11       A.    Yes.
  


12       Q.    And how did you come up with this cross
  


13   section to use?
  


14       A.    I had a 2-foot topographic map of the
  


15   Salt-Gila River junction by Olberg, dated 1915, I think
  


16   I said.  And I thought that pretty fairly represented
  


17   the channel in 1912.
  


18       Q.    Did you say 1915?
  


19       A.    I think it was 1915.  Let me look.
  


20
  


21              EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN
  


22                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Question.
  


23                  THE WITNESS:  Yes.
  


24                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  I can't read it
  


25   from here, but what's the blue line?  Is that the water
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 1   level?
  


 2                  THE WITNESS:  The blue line is the
  


 3   baseflow water level.
  


 4                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay.  Okay.
  


 5                  THE WITNESS:  The green line is the
  


 6   median flow water level, and the red line is the mean
  


 7   flow water level.
  


 8                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay.  And where is
  


 9   this located?
  


10                  THE WITNESS:  This would be located --
  


11                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  It's very close
  


12   to the baseline point.
  


13                  THE WITNESS:  Oh, yeah.  It's like a
  


14   mile or two upstream from the confluence --
  


15                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay.
  


16                  THE WITNESS:  -- with the Gila.
  


17
  


18                CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)
  


19   BY MR. SLADE:
  


20       Q.    So you chose this because it was in your
  


21   client's area, or what was your criteria for choosing
  


22   this area?
  


23       A.    Three reasons.  One, I had it.  I guess that
  


24   makes four reasons.  Second, it's 2-foot contours,
  


25   where USGS maps are 5-foot contours, and, therefore,
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 1   the accuracy is presumed better.  Third, it was very
  


 2   close in time to statehood.  Fourth, it was on my
  


 3   client's boundary.
  


 4             And I attached pictures of that portion of
  


 5   the map in my appendix at the very end, in Appendix A,
  


 6   right before Appendix B, the last two pages.  And they
  


 7   say it was by Southworth, but I've read elsewhere that
  


 8   Olberg was the poor shmuck who had to go in the field
  


 9   and do the measurements, and that's why I call it the
  


10   Olberg map.
  


11       Q.    So if we're looking at that cross section,
  


12   again, this is on your Page 106 of your Salt River
  


13   report --
  


14       A.    Yes.
  


15       Q.    -- you've got a median flow line in green; is
  


16   that correct?
  


17       A.    Yes, I believe so.
  


18       Q.    Okay.  Would you expect that number to go up
  


19   if you -- that line to move up and have a higher depth,
  


20   if you didn't use the 581 and you instead use the
  


21   791 cfs?
  


22       A.    Yes.
  


23       Q.    Do you know what that depth would be if you
  


24   used 791 instead?
  


25       A.    I'm trying to see if Mr. Fuller has a cross
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 1   section near it, and I thought I included -- oh, here.
  


 2             No.  I do know that be -- oh, below -- above
  


 3   581, according to Mr. Fuller, the mean depth would
  


 4   be -- at 1,400 cfs, which is almost double, it's only
  


 5   gone up to 2.1 feet mean depth.  So because of the fact
  


 6   it's widening out so fast, it doesn't increase very
  


 7   quickly.
  


 8       Q.    But you don't know what -- your cross section
  


 9   specifically, what the depth would be at a median flow
  


10   of 791 as opposed to 581?
  


11       A.    Correct.
  


12       Q.    Okay.  Do you know it would be greater, the
  


13   depth?
  


14       A.    It would be greater at 791 than it would be
  


15   at 781 [sic], yes.  And I also know, based on the other
  


16   thing, it almost certainly would be below 2 foot.
  


17       Q.    And if the -- the blue line is your minimum
  


18   depth.
  


19       A.    Right.
  


20       Q.    If it turns out that the Salt River never
  


21   went dry, would your minimum depth also be greater?
  


22       A.    Yes.
  


23       Q.    Is this the only cross section that you
  


24   prepared for your --
  


25       A.    Yes.
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 1       Q.    Okay.  And --
  


 2       A.    One thing I would like to say about this
  


 3   cross section.  It's written on there, but just to
  


 4   emphasize, the Salt River doesn't look like those
  


 5   canyons up there.  That canyon effect is totally due to
  


 6   the extreme exaggeration to make it fit the page.
  


 7       Q.    In other words, the width would be a lot
  


 8   wider than the height?
  


 9       A.    Yeah.
  


10       Q.    And here we have the height wider than the
  


11   width?
  


12       A.    Yeah.  It's very misleading.
  


13       Q.    Can a small boat navigate in 1 and a half
  


14   feet of depth, in your opinion?
  


15       A.    If I knew what a small boat was, I would have
  


16   computed the Day trip.
  


17       Q.    So you didn't do any computation on how much
  


18   depth a small boat needs?
  


19       A.    I don't even know what a small boat means.
  


20       Q.    And is that the same answer you have for
  


21   canoe?
  


22       A.    Yes.  Yes.
  


23       Q.    And is that the same answer you have for a
  


24   small boat loaded with goods?
  


25       A.    A small boat loaded with goods would be
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 1   deeper than a small boat loaded without goods,
  


 2   depending on how many goods you put into the small
  


 3   boat.
  


 4       Q.    You don't have any calculations or estimates
  


 5   that you did to figure out the draw or the depth of
  


 6   water needed?
  


 7       A.    You give me no numbers, you'll get no
  


 8   numbers.
  


 9       Q.    You didn't come up with anything?
  


10       A.    No.
  


11       Q.    Do you know what the flow was when the Edith
  


12   made its trip?
  


13       A.    Oh, 600 and -- do you know?
  


14       Q.    653, does that sound about right?
  


15       A.    That sounds about right.
  


16       Q.    Okay.  And is that below the median value
  


17   that you calculated for the top of Segment 6?
  


18       A.    Yes, but that includes the Verde.
  


19       Q.    Right.
  


20             So if you had that median --
  


21       A.    You can't move that median up into Segment 5
  


22   past the -- because of the Verde.
  


23       Q.    Sure.  If you had that median in Segment 6a
  


24   and 6b, we could test to see -- if there was that
  


25   amount of water, you could have tested to see if the
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 1   Edith could have also floated through that area, if we
  


 2   had that availability?
  


 3       A.    Even if you had it, it wouldn't be the
  


 4   natural river.
  


 5       Q.    Is it your belief that a segment has to be
  


 6   19 miles or longer to be navigable?  I thought I heard
  


 7   you say that in the November hearing.
  


 8       A.    That is truly a legal question.  I know the
  


 9   Court says it has to be a meaningful distance.  There
  


10   was a lot of discussion about the 19-foot -- or
  


11   19 miles by the Supreme Court.  I'm talking about PPL
  


12   Montana now.  I didn't find -- it seemed to imply, but
  


13   I didn't find an exact statement that said you needed
  


14   19 miles.  Maybe an attorney can correct me.  But it
  


15   didn't really come up, because the ones I said were too
  


16   short were usually less than 10 miles.
  


17       Q.    In the Lower Salt?
  


18       A.    Yes.
  


19       Q.    There were some dams in the Lower Salt,
  


20   right, at the time those accounts occurred?
  


21       A.    Yes.
  


22       Q.    Would that have been a factor for potentially
  


23   the distance that boats traveled if there were dams?
  


24       A.    Certainly.  As I put in my report, all the
  


25   stuff after the dams is really of minimal probative --
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 1   it's a legal word.  Probative value?  I got it?  Okay.
  


 2             That was from the Winkleman decision.
  


 3       Q.    I believe you stated in your report that the
  


 4   Salmon River was nonnavigable?
  


 5       A.    As best I could find.
  


 6       Q.    So you haven't seen the Idaho Supreme Court
  


 7   case that states the Salmon River is navigable?
  


 8       A.    Correct, and -- well, I haven't seen it, so I
  


 9   don't know if it's navigable for title or what, but...
  


10       Q.    And the Salmon River, I'm not sure if you
  


11   know this.  Maybe you do or do not.  Is the Salmon
  


12   River one of those rivers where boats were built, taken
  


13   downstream, and then sold for lumber?
  


14       A.    Yes.
  


15       Q.    Do you know if the Salmon River has rapids?
  


16       A.    Yes, it does.
  


17       Q.    More severe rapids than Segment 6 of the Salt
  


18   would have had, in your opinion?
  


19       A.    I have no idea.  I'm sorry.  That's just not
  


20   my thing.
  


21       Q.    Does a portage on a river make a river
  


22   nonnavigable, one portage of a mile or less?
  


23       A.    Well, the way the Supreme Court said it in
  


24   PPL Montan was, "Even if portage --" this is Page 18.
  


25   "Even if portage were to take travelers only one day,
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 1   its significance is the same:  It demonstrates the need
  


 2   to bypass the river segment, all because that part of
  


 3   the river is nonnavigable."
  


 4             So one portage of a day nullifies a segment,
  


 5   from what I read.  As to a mile, it depends on --
  


 6   sometimes to go portage 1 mile, you have to go 30 miles
  


 7   out of the way, or there could be so many goods that
  


 8   you're going to just be going back and forth so many
  


 9   times it takes a day.
  


10       Q.    Are there any portages that you would expect
  


11   to see on Segment 6 of the Lower Salt that would have
  


12   taken a day?
  


13       A.    Again, it would depend on how big the boats
  


14   were, because -- and I still feel, with the beaver dam,
  


15   if you've got one every 100 yards, like the observer
  


16   who was there in natural times said, that's going to
  


17   mount up to more than a day.  And it doesn't say if a
  


18   single portage.  It's just "if portage," which I think
  


19   is a plural the way it's written.
  


20       Q.    So if there were beaver dams across the
  


21   channel on the Salt every hundred yards or so --
  


22       A.    Right.
  


23       Q.    -- that, to you, would indicate that that
  


24   area is nonnavigable?
  


25       A.    And in the natural condition, yes.
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 1       Q.    Do riffles make a river nonnavigable; not
  


 2   rapids, but riffles?
  


 3       A.    Depends on the boat.  I mean some boats
  


 4   really can't handle much of anything.  Mr. Fuller
  


 5   indicated barges can't handle rapids, and I think he
  


 6   said riffles; and I agree with that.  They're just --
  


 7   it's not going to work.
  


 8       Q.    Did you do any studies or talk to anyone to
  


 9   discover if a small boat or a canoe, which is a small
  


10   boat variety, would have any trouble boating with a
  


11   loaded boat over riffles?
  


12       A.    Certainly a modern-day doesn't.
  


13       Q.    How about --
  


14       A.    Oh, did I talk to anybody?  No.
  


15       Q.    What is your ordinary range of flow for
  


16   Segment 6?
  


17       A.    I accepted Mr. Fuller's, because I didn't
  


18   have anything -- and I don't mean this as nasty as it
  


19   sounds. -- because I didn't have anything better.  I
  


20   couldn't come up with it.  His seemed reasonable, so I
  


21   accepted that range.
  


22             That wasn't an insult, the way I phrased it.
  


23                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  You're fine.
  


24   BY MR. SLADE:
  


25       Q.    What are the differences, in your opinion,


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







SALT RIVER     VOLUME 16      02/26/2016 3527


  


 1   between Segment 6a and 6b, all the physical
  


 2   characteristic differences?
  


 3       A.    The big difference is you have the return
  


 4   flows at the end of each, and that means that 6b pretty
  


 5   much stands alone.  It's longer, a lot longer than 6a,
  


 6   and, therefore, would have more propensity to lose
  


 7   water.  That's the big one.  That's about all I know of
  


 8   it.
  


 9       Q.    In terms of channel pattern or slope?
  


10       A.    I haven't checked the slope.  The pattern, it
  


11   seems equally multichanneled.
  


12       Q.    Bed material?
  


13       A.    I've seen the soil survey for 6b.  I'm not
  


14   aware of one for 6a.  It may be different.  I just
  


15   don't know.
  


16       Q.    Vegetation?
  


17       A.    Pretty similar.
  


18       Q.    And depth?
  


19       A.    Probably pretty similar, but I don't know.
  


20       Q.    And in terms of flow rate, we already
  


21   discussed that.  It's your opinion that 6b would have
  


22   200 cfs less than 6a?
  


23       A.    Is that what it comes out?  Yes.
  


24       Q.    Roughly.
  


25       A.    In low flow or median flow?
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 1       Q.    Median flow.
  


 2       A.    Yes.
  


 3             Well, it's not going to help.  I know I've
  


 4   read that the Salt River was a losing river through
  


 5   there, but that doesn't nail 200 for you.
  


 6       Q.    Do you have any documentation that says the
  


 7   Salt River was ever below 300 cfs in Segment 6 at any
  


 8   place?
  


 9       A.    Oh, yeah, lots; but that's after the dams.
  


10       Q.    Sure.  In its natural condition.
  


11       A.    There are no gage records in its natural
  


12   condition.
  


13       Q.    Well, for example, the Kibbey Decree talks
  


14   about the low flow of the Salt being 300 cfs.  Are
  


15   there any other documents that you can recall that talk
  


16   about the low flow of the Salt?
  


17       A.    Well, the Kibbey Decree, was that at the
  


18   Salt-Verde confluence?
  


19       Q.    Couldn't tell you sitting here today.
  


20       A.    Okay.  If it's not at the Salt-Verde
  


21   confluence, it's after a lot of dams were built and a
  


22   lot of irrigation and it was after or about the time
  


23   Arizona Dam came online.  So that's what I've got.
  


24       Q.    Okay.  And just a few more questions.
  


25   Hopefully we can finish up by lunch here.
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 1             You mentioned that wooden canoes are much
  


 2   stronger today than they were in their historical time
  


 3   period; is that right?
  


 4       A.    Yes.
  


 5       Q.    And can you tell me why that would be the
  


 6   case?
  


 7       A.    Primarily because -- and I'm not talking
  


 8   about a replica canoe.  And I am not talking about a
  


 9   replica canoe.  I'm talking about a canoe made today
  


10   just to be a canoe.
  


11             The coatings that you put on the canoes, such
  


12   as the clear epoxy resin, give it a considerable amount
  


13   of extra strength and protection, and there are other
  


14   coatings; but they didn't have those back then.  That's
  


15   the reason.
  


16             Oh, also, they do understand structures
  


17   better now.
  


18       Q.    Anything else you can consider with regard to
  


19   differences in today's wood canoes versus wood canoes
  


20   in the historical time?
  


21       A.    Just looking to make sure.
  


22             The one source I had also references
  


23   varnishes are stronger.  That's it.
  


24       Q.    Did you consider modern recreation that takes
  


25   place on Segment 5 on the river today as any evidence
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 1   that the river can be navigated in historical times?
  


 2       A.    No.
  


 3                  MR. SLADE:  Mr. Chairman, if I could
  


 4   just have a minute to consult with my expert and
  


 5   counsel, I think I'm wrapping it up.
  


 6                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Slade, we observe
  


 7   that Mr. Hood was only able to have two donuts, and he
  


 8   looks positively famished, but we will delay his lunch
  


 9   just a little bit longer for you to consult.  And
  


10   that's a joke.
  


11                  MR. SLADE:  Well, we could also take
  


12   lunch and we could come back and do this again.
  


13                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  No, no, go ahead,
  


14   please, because they're not going to be happy coming
  


15   back just to watch Mark's video either.
  


16                  (A brief recess was taken.)
  


17                  MR. SLADE:  That's it.
  


18                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Well, let's talk a
  


19   little bit about what we're going to do for the rest of
  


20   the day.  We're off the record.
  


21                  (A lunch recess was taken from
  


22   12:11 p.m. to 1:31 p.m.)
  


23                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Will the record
  


24   reflect that Mr. Henness is not present.
  


25                  Is Mr. Horton back?  When he walks in
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 1   the door, you start the thing, okay.
  


 2                  MR. MCGINNIS:  For the record, this is
  


 3   Exhibit C027.
  


 4                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, Mr. McGinnis,
  


 5   please.
  


 6                  MR. MCGINNIS:  Yes.  What you're about
  


 7   to see is a movie, short movie, that's an exhibit in
  


 8   the record.  It was submitted by SRP.  SRP didn't make
  


 9   the movie.  It's readily available on the internet.  I
  


10   don't know who made it, but it probably says on here.
  


11   And we thought it might be an efficient way to talk
  


12   about the history of this event at Quartzite Falls,
  


13   without a whole bunch of testimony.
  


14                  ("Quartzite's Fall:  A Wilderness Tale"
  


15   movie was played and transcribed as follows:)
  


16                  MR. PETER COYOTE:  Rocks that run across
  


17   river bottoms are the bones of giant sleeping beasts,
  


18   which come to life as the river rises.  For river
  


19   rafters in the West, Quartzite Falls was a pinnacle in
  


20   the pursuit of the ultimate wilderness experience.
  


21                  MR. MARK DUBOIS:  It is the miracle of
  


22   life out here.  The first time I took people down
  


23   rivers, I remember seeing people smiling like I had
  


24   never seen in my life, and I realized it was something
  


25   about being in these wild, magical places.  I mean this
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 1   is one of the most unique ecosystems I've ever seen.
  


 2   There's so many things to learn out here.  It's a
  


 3   living classroom for everyone.
  


 4                  MR. PETER COYOTE:  Decades ago the Upper
  


 5   Salt River was protected under the Wilderness Act and
  


 6   set aside as a place for inspiration, recreation, and
  


 7   solitude.  Despite the wilderness designation, the
  


 8   Salt's most remarkable feature was destroyed.
  


 9                  The Salt River cuts from pinion forests
  


10   to the Sonoran Desert.  Its journey begins in Eastern
  


11   Arizona on the Fort Apache Reservation.
  


12                  MS. EVA WATT:  It makes me feel happy to
  


13   see flow down, to see it go to different -- so many
  


14   different places.  It's keeping so many things alive.
  


15                  MR. TRAVIS HESSE:  We are taught that
  


16   the river is a living being, that it shouldn't be
  


17   messed with.  A lot of our kids are taught that.  And
  


18   as they grow older, they have certain respect for the
  


19   river and maybe some fear.
  


20                  MS. EVA WATT:  So you have to watch the
  


21   river.  It's dangerous.  If you're in the water and the
  


22   flood comes, then you're gone.
  


23                  MR. PETER COYOTE:  The Class IV
  


24   whitewater section drops over 20 feet per mile through
  


25   52 miles of free-flowing water in the Tonto National
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 1   Forest.
  


 2                  In 1984 Congress designated the most
  


 3   remote section of the Salt River a wilderness, a place
  


 4   that could not legally be developed or altered.
  


 5                  MR. MIKE ROSEMAN:  It's the biology, the
  


 6   geology, the shear ruggedness of the country.  It's a
  


 7   place where you can be free of city noises.  Ideally,
  


 8   it's set aside to always remain wild and be free of
  


 9   human interference.
  


10                  MR. PETER COYOTE:  To navigate the Salt
  


11   River Canyon, visitors must have advanced whitewater
  


12   skills, travel with an experienced boater, or hire a
  


13   commercial guide, because at Mile 28 there is an
  


14   unnavigable rapid called Quartzite Falls.  It is a
  


15   place where the canyon walls pinch the river over a
  


16   steep ledge and the water flowing over the rock creates
  


17   what's known as a keeper hole, a hydraulic suction that
  


18   draws water from both up and downstream, a feature that
  


19   could stop, hold, and recirculate a boat or a person
  


20   indefinitely.
  


21                  MR. MIKE STAMPS:  All that water has
  


22   just come from downstream and filled right back into
  


23   that thing, so it was just a big folding interface of
  


24   water.  The big piece of going out was, was being real
  


25   scared and dealing with it.  You know, you've got to go
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 1   to this level in your head where if I don't execute
  


 2   this in this way, my very worst fears are going to
  


 3   become reality.  And that's really the big draw of
  


 4   being in real scary situations.  I have my own destiny
  


 5   in my hands, and you literally do.  You have that
  


 6   opportunity to seize your own destiny.
  


 7                  MR. PETER COYOTE:  The action of the
  


 8   hydraulic could reach downstream and pull a full-sized
  


 9   boat back into the keeper hole.
  


10                  Usually boaters would only run the Falls
  


11   at lower water levels, when its billion-year-old ledges
  


12   were visible and benign.  Higher water levels demanded
  


13   that boaters either portage their rafts around the
  


14   rapid or send their boats down through the Falls on
  


15   ropes without passengers.
  


16                  MR. KEVIN McCOMBE:  Folks that wanted to
  


17   float this river had to work for it.  They had to earn
  


18   it by getting around that waterfall one way or other.
  


19                  MR. MIKE STAMPS:  You only had one or
  


20   two or three things you could do.  You know, you could
  


21   take your life in your hands and run it; you could do
  


22   the technical thing and line it on the right; or you
  


23   could do the very hard work of making the portage on
  


24   the left.
  


25                  MS. BRENDA INSLEY:  Having something out
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 1   there that was beyond your grasp kept you wanting more.
  


 2                  MR. PETER COYOTE:  Once a guide could
  


 3   manage the other rapids on the Salt, the time would
  


 4   come to face Quartzite Falls.
  


 5                  MR. KEVIN McCOMBE:  You know it's
  


 6   Quartzite day, and you know you've got to go down with
  


 7   your heart in your throat and this fear, this real
  


 8   fear.
  


 9                  MR. MIKE STAMPS:  You get down to the
  


10   Danger Falls eddy and then, you know, the whole thing
  


11   just seemed to close into this black gutter, and you
  


12   get tunnel vision and you get all scared.
  


13                  MR. KEVIN McCOMBE:  And just the thrill
  


14   of making that eddy and pulling into that eddy and
  


15   landing and then going through the process of carrying
  


16   my gear around that thing is just kind of a humbling
  


17   experience.  And you're doing something on the terms of
  


18   the wilderness versus human terms.
  


19                  MR. PETER COYOTE:  High-risk sports have
  


20   consequences.  Each year as many as 20 people die
  


21   whitewater rafting in the United States.  At the end of
  


22   the 1993 boating season, two men drowned at Quartzite
  


23   Falls.
  


24                  MR. ROGER SABA:  I talked to Kevin, the
  


25   forest ranger, and he said, "Man, there's been an event
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 1   down there.  The Falls is gone."
  


 2                  And I went, wow, how did that happen?
  


 3   What kind of event would do that?  I mean this rock was
  


 4   embedded.  It was solid.  It was -- nothing was moving
  


 5   it.  We started poking around, and we couldn't figure
  


 6   out why some of these rocks had moved upstream if it
  


 7   was a flow event.  The edge of the ledge that's left is
  


 8   very sharply cut, and said, well, you know, this isn't
  


 9   a flood.  Somebody blew it up.
  


10                  MR. KEVIN McCOMBE:  We hiked in, and we
  


11   found big chunks of rock.  We found pieces of fuse, and
  


12   then we found a partially burned box, which apparently
  


13   turned out to be a pretty significant clue and piece of
  


14   evidence.
  


15                  MR. PETER COYOTE:  Agent Mitchell from
  


16   the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms reviewed
  


17   the material left at the site.
  


18                  MR. JON MITCHELL:  We realized that we
  


19   might have better luck solving this case than we
  


20   originally thought, because now we knew we had a binary
  


21   explosive, as opposed to possibly dynamite.
  


22                  MR. BUD SHAVER:  Jon Mitchell was able
  


23   to track the explosives by the type that they were --
  


24   they were kind of unusual. -- to a company here in
  


25   Phoenix that had sold those particular types of
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 1   explosives only to two people, the Arizona Department
  


 2   of Transportation and Richard Scott.
  


 3                  MR. PETER COYOTE:  Richard Scott and
  


 4   some of his boyhood friends were passengers on a
  


 5   commercial rafting trip in May of '93.
  


 6                  MR. BUD SHAVER:  And during that rafting
  


 7   trip people had discussed what a problem Quartzite
  


 8   Falls were, and they discussed it with one of the
  


 9   guides.  He said they were drinking and they were under
  


10   alcohol.  He didn't know if they were being -- were
  


11   serious about it or not.
  


12                  MR. PETER COYOTE:  An expert in mining
  


13   and blasting, Richard Scott helped detonate explosives
  


14   at Quartzite Falls on five separate occasions.
  


15                  MR. RICHARD SCOTT:  We thought it would
  


16   be a combination of a healthy adventure and an
  


17   opportunity to do something, as we were led to believe,
  


18   that no one would really object to; that everyone had
  


19   talked about doing this for years and years, and it was
  


20   really a liability to the people on the river.
  


21                  MS. BRENDA INSLEY:  There's a whole lot
  


22   of people that now are believing he did it to make it
  


23   safe.  But, quote, now it's safe?  It's not safe.  It's
  


24   a river.  You know, it will never be safe.
  


25                  MR. MIKE ROSEMAN:  I was really
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 1   appalled, especially when I started figuring out that
  


 2   it was a river guide that blew it up.  I didn't think
  


 3   you could find any river guides that would ever think
  


 4   of such a thing.
  


 5                  MR. KEVIN McCOMBE:  I got a phone call
  


 6   asking -- these guys asking if I knew of a river guide
  


 7   named Taz, and I said, yeah, a guy Ken Stoner.
  


 8                  MR. PETER COYOTE:  Ken Stoner worked as
  


 9   a construction manager during the week and as a river
  


10   guide on the weekends.
  


11                  MR. KEN 'TAZ' STONER:  Yeah, the seven
  


12   other men that were involved in this had the same
  


13   motive as I did, to just make this safer.  Nobody's
  


14   gained anything on this.  Nobody was paid anything.  It
  


15   was all done, you know, through our own funds and
  


16   resources and labors to accomplish this.
  


17                  MR. BUD SHAVER:  Mr. Stoner told me that
  


18   when you're lying out ropes and you've got a lot of
  


19   inexperienced people and you're trying to portage a
  


20   place like Quartzite Falls, it scared him to death.
  


21   And that, along with the two drownings that occurred,
  


22   he felt he needed to take some action.  But I think
  


23   some of his stuff was more -- a little more personal
  


24   than the rest of it, because it makes the river
  


25   runner's -- commercial river runner's job a little bit
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 1   easier.
  


 2                  MR. PETER COYOTE:  Boating the Upper
  


 3   Salt became increasingly popular in the high water
  


 4   years of the '80s and early 1990s.  As a result of
  


 5   increased traffic on the river, Sunday afternoon
  


 6   bottlenecks began to form at the Falls that could delay
  


 7   trips by as much as half a day.  Some boaters think
  


 8   that making a navigable rapid was the motive behind the
  


 9   blastings.
  


10                  MR. KEN 'TAZ' STONER:  The top drop in
  


11   this rapid will be a strong Class III.  It's going to
  


12   be a very exciting rapid to run and as hard as anything
  


13   on the Salt River that it has to offer.
  


14                  UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Well, a lot of
  


15   people think there would be a commercial profit motive
  


16   taking out the drop here.
  


17                  MR. KEN 'TAZ' STONER:  There was no
  


18   payment on that, and there were two of us that had a
  


19   polygraph to prove that that was not the case.
  


20                  MR. PAUL CHARLTON:  This was an
  


21   ignorant, stupid, reckless act.  It wasn't, I don't
  


22   believe, genuinely designed to save anyone's life.  I
  


23   think it was designed to make their lives easier, and
  


24   for the most part, the other individuals wanted to go
  


25   out for a little bit of an adventure and see things
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 1   blow up.  And that's pathetic.
  


 2                  MR. PETER COYOTE:  Ken Stoner, Richard
  


 3   Scott, and the six men who helped them were charged
  


 4   with felonies for conspiracy and destruction of Federal
  


 5   property.
  


 6                  MS. JANET NAPOLITANO:  When you have a
  


 7   case like a Quartzite Falls case, where explosives are
  


 8   taken to take out one of the most notable features of a
  


 9   river that has been protected, you know, there's
  


10   something taken that is not only impossible to value,
  


11   but also impossible to replace.  In our view, demanded
  


12   the intervention of Federal prosecutors.
  


13                  MR. BARRY YOUNG:  The Federal Government
  


14   got this guy.  They prosecuted him, actually persecuted
  


15   him.  They fined him $30,000 for destroying government
  


16   property, and all he did was blow up some rocks that
  


17   were in the river making for hazardous whitewater
  


18   navigating.  This earth was given to us to manipulate.
  


19   We dig things out of the earth.  We destroy mountains.
  


20   We tunnel through.  We do all kinds of things.  I don't
  


21   think there was any problem in manipulating the river
  


22   to make it safer for rafters.
  


23                  MR. PETER COYOTE:  In the early part of
  


24   the 20th century, explosives were used regularly by the
  


25   Corps of Engineers to build dams, remove obstacles to
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 1   navigation, and reduce public hazards.
  


 2                  MR. RICHARD SCOTT:  It was very common
  


 3   back East to blast an obstruction to navigation.  Not
  


 4   as common to blast an obstruction for river rafting,
  


 5   commercial river lifting or recreational rafting
  


 6   purposes, though that clearly has been done.
  


 7                  MR. ROBERT FINKBINE:  I know in the old
  


 8   days they used to blow the hell out of rivers to make
  


 9   channels, but that was before the dawn of an
  


10   environmental consciousness and of why wilderness might
  


11   be important in an age that's so overcrowded and
  


12   overpopulated and technological, you know.  With the
  


13   bit of wilderness we have left, it becomes more and
  


14   more precious to us.
  


15                  MS. JANET NAPOLITANO:  What would we say
  


16   if they went and blew up part of Half Dome in Yosemite
  


17   so that rock climbers wouldn't have accidents?  In the
  


18   Quartzite Falls instance, it was very important that we
  


19   send that message; that we are going to protect value
  


20   of wilderness, and we don't mean it in a dollar and
  


21   sense way.  We mean it in a qualitative sense.
  


22                  MR. RICHARD SCOTT:  In retrospect, of
  


23   course we wish we hadn't done this.  Our efforts were
  


24   not rewarded by anything dramatic in our lives other
  


25   than a prosecution.
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 1                  RICHARD SCOTT, SR.:  I think it's quite
  


 2   sad that individuals in this case, who were wrong in
  


 3   the act that they did, must be incarcerated over a
  


 4   rock.
  


 5                  MR. PETER COYOTE:  Richard Scott was
  


 6   sentenced to one year in a Federal prison.  Ken Stoner,
  


 7   however, did not appear at the courthouse for
  


 8   sentencing.
  


 9                  MS. CAROL CAVAZOS:  A Federal Judge has
  


10   ordered the arrest of a man responsible for blowing up
  


11   Quartzite Falls along the Salt River.  Taz Stoner
  


12   disappeared just as he was about to be sentenced.
  


13   Authorities believe Stoner may have fled the country,
  


14   and he won't be sentenced until he's caught.
  


15                  MS. BRENDA INSLEY:  Quartzite was -- my
  


16   first year of guiding, it was the biggest challenge I
  


17   ever faced; and so for it to be gone, it's like a lot
  


18   of people like to go back and relive their glory days.
  


19   I'll never be able to.
  


20                  MR. MARK DUBOIS:  How do we have places
  


21   in the world where you have to be on your own
  


22   recognizance?  Gandhi said that the food is only along
  


23   the edge of the limbs.  Well, most of us like to stay
  


24   close to the trunk of the tree where it's solid, but
  


25   out on the edge is where life is rich.
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 1                  MR. MIKE ROSEMAN:  I am really grateful
  


 2   to those early conservation pioneers, who recognized
  


 3   that future generations were going to need preservation
  


 4   of wilderness.  And perhaps that's where we should be
  


 5   having discussion, is about what is a wilderness and
  


 6   what is the importance of having a wilderness ethic.
  


 7                  MR. PETER COYOTE:  There is a river
  


 8   canyon in the desert Southwest, and deep in the heart
  


 9   of this canyon there is a territory of fear and
  


10   fortitude, a stretch of water people seldom navigated,
  


11   a place where the river swallowed itself whole.  Its
  


12   name was Quartzite Falls.
  


13                  (End of "Quartzite's Fall:  A Wilderness
  


14   Tale" movie presentation and transcription.)
  


15                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, that concludes
  


16   today's session.
  


17                  (The proceedings adjourned at 1:53 p.m.)
  


18
  


19
  


20
  


21
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23
  


24
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            1                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Good morning.



            2  Mr. Mehnert, will you please call roll?



            3                 MR. MEHNERT:  Yes, sir, I will be happy



            4  to.  Commissioner Allen?



            5                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Here.



            6                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Commissioner Henness?



            7                 COMMISSIONER HENNESS:  Present.



            8                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Commissioner Horton?



            9                 COMMISSIONER HORTON:  Here.



           10                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Chairman Noble?



           11                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I am here.



           12                 Are there any preliminary matters today?



           13                 If not, Mr. Slade, are you ready to



           14  begin?



           15                 MR. SLADE:  Ready.



           16                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Gookin?



           17                 THE WITNESS:  I'm ready.



           18



           19                    CROSS-EXAMINATION



           20  BY MR. SLADE:



           21      Q.    Good morning, Mr. Gookin.



           22      A.    Good morning.



           23      Q.    Again, Eddie Slade with the Arizona State



           24  Land Department.  Finally we get to have a



           25  conversation.  I know you've been called for a number
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            1  of times, and we haven't gotten to you.  So thank you



            2  for sticking with us and being prepared every time.



            3      A.    Well, we'll see if I'm prepared today.



            4      Q.    The first thing I would like to ask you about



            5  is some of your standards for navigability, and I was a



            6  little confused in hearing your testimony about what



            7  type of boats you considered for navigability on the



            8  Lower Salt.



            9            And, actually, let me back up a little bit.



           10  Is your opinion based specifically for the Segment 6 of



           11  the Gila, as you've defined it, and 6a, 6?



           12      A.    I certainly emphasize 6a and 6b, but I did



           13  look at some of the others, particularly with regard to



           14  the historic record.



           15      Q.    In terms of your opinion on nonnavigability



           16  of the Salt, can you give me specifically the segments



           17  that you're saying are nonnavigable?



           18      A.    1 through 6.



           19      Q.    1 through 6.  And what segments have you done



           20  a detailed study of?



           21      A.    6b.



           22      Q.    Have you done any detailed study of 6a?



           23      A.    I computed the virgin flow and I have studied



           24  it in detail, but I did not do a cross section.



           25      Q.    So in terms of 1 through 6a, the only study
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            1  you've done is to look at the historical accounts; is



            2  that accurate?



            3      A.    I did look at the channel shapes in 6a and



            4  the obstacles in 6a and, of course, both of those in



            5  6b.



            6      Q.    Right.  So for 1 through 5, Segments 1



            7  through 5, did you look at any of the channel shape,



            8  the hydrology?



            9      A.    In 5 in my PowerPoint I did look at the



           10  channel shape with regard to changes since virgin



           11  times.  Well, I know Reach 4 has completely changed,



           12  because it's totally underwater.  I didn't have to look



           13  at that long.  But above that, no, I didn't.



           14      Q.    Are you comfortable making an assessment of



           15  nonnavigability based on the hydrologic and



           16  geomorphologic characteristics of Segment 5 that you've



           17  considered?



           18      A.    I did not do a cross section, so I would have



           19  to say probably not.  I believe the historic record



           20  does not support it, and it did change; that I can say.



           21      Q.    But from a susceptibility analysis where



           22  you're looking at the hydrology and the geomorphology,



           23  you're not comfortable opining on whether that segment,



           24  Segment 5, is navigable or nonnavigable?



           25      A.    Correct.  I did not do depth calculations.
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            1            And when you say navigable, I assume you're



            2  referring to susceptible to navigable.



            3      Q.    That's right.



            4            The same question for Segment 6a.  Are you



            5  comfortable making a determination of navigability or



            6  nonnavigability based on the hydrologic and



            7  geomorphologic research that you did?



            8      A.    Yes, I think I am, primarily based on the



            9  extensive braiding, compound channel, multiple channel,



           10  multiple thread, whatever we want to call it, that



           11  existed in reach 6a.



           12            Can I remind the Commission what 6a and 6b



           13  are?



           14      Q.    Absolutely.  Please.



           15      A.    I accepted Mr. Fuller's Reaches for 1 through



           16  5.  In Reach 6 I felt that it really had two



           17  groundwater basins underlying it that did affect the



           18  flows, and so to minimize the confusion, I broke it



           19  into 6a, which is from the beginning of 6 down to where



           20  Old Mill Road Bridge is, the crossing right at Hayden's



           21  Ferry; and then from there -- and that's 6a, the top



           22  part.  And then from there down to the Gila is 6b.



           23                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Gookin, do we



           24  understand you to say that your use of the term "reach"



           25  is synonymous with --





                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440



                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ

�



                        SALT RIVER     VOLUME 16      02/26/2016

                                                                      3431





            1                 THE WITNESS:  Segment.



            2                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  -- the term "segment"?



            3                 THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry.  Segment I



            4  should be saying.



            5  BY MR. SLADE:



            6      Q.    So when you said you started at 6, you mean



            7  the confluence of the Verde and the Salt to Hayden's



            8  Ferry is your 6a?



            9      A.    Yes.



           10      Q.    Okay, and Segment 5 that we just talked about



           11  where you're not comfortable on making a susceptibility



           12  determination, that's from Stewart Mountain Dam to the



           13  confluence of the Verde and the Salt?



           14      A.    Yes.



           15      Q.    And that's the reach that's boated today, do



           16  you have that understanding?



           17      A.    Yes.



           18                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  And, again, Mr. Slade,



           19  do we understand when you use the word "reach," that



           20  you are also talking about segment?



           21                 MR. SLADE:  Yes.



           22                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you.



           23  BY MR. SLADE:



           24      Q.    What type of boat did you consider when you



           25  made the determination that Segments 6a and 6b is
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            1  nonnavigable?



            2      A.    I've looked at three boats, or two boats and



            3  one group of boats, I should say.  I did do an analysis



            4  on the Edith with regard to the susceptibility due to



            5  the economic problems that would occur if that had to



            6  use a one-way travel.  I did an analysis on the canoes



            7  based on information in Mr. Fuller's reports.  Again,



            8  as to the economics -- oh, also the Sears catalog that



            9  was disclosed, and the problem, if you had a canoe,



           10  with going just one way.  That's what's being proposed.



           11            The third group is all the incredible amount



           12  of information that the Special Master in Utah pulled



           13  together, and for that I just relied on his conclusions



           14  as -- well, on his conclusions; but, particularly, the



           15  mean average depth of 3 feet.



           16      Q.    Do you have the Special Master report with



           17  you today?



           18      A.    I think I have it electronically.



           19      Q.    If I give you a copy, would you be able to



           20  point out to me where the Special Master makes the



           21  determination that 3 feet is required?



           22      A.    Eventually, but it would take a long time.



           23  It's towards the end, but I don't remember the page.



           24      Q.    Do you have a citation in your report that



           25  says specifically where the Special Master says that
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            1  3 feet is required?



            2      A.    It would not be in the Salt River report,



            3  because I referred back to my discussion in the Gila



            4  River, rather than just repeat it.



            5      Q.    I also have your Gila River report so --



            6      A.    And I do too.



            7            Okay, I cited to the case.  This is in



            8  Chapter 4 of the Gila, my Gila report.



            9      Q.    I'm better with page numbers, if you have --



           10      A.    Page 2 in Chapter 4.



           11            No, I did not cite a page.  I'm sorry.



           12      Q.    Were you here for Mr. Burtell's testimony?



           13      A.    Yes.



           14      Q.    Are you aware that the standard for Federal



           15  navigability, improvement of rivers, is a different



           16  standard than the navigability standard for title,



           17  which we're dealing with in this case?



           18      A.    I honestly don't know it.  I did research the



           19  Federal standards, and they are considerably higher



           20  than the Utah standard.  So I guess if Utah is a



           21  standard, then they're different.



           22      Q.    You don't know if the standard that's



           23  required for improving a river is a different standard



           24  than the standard for title purposes?



           25      A.    I don't know the legality of that.  One
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            1  thing -- let me be clear.  I am assuming, when you say



            2  a standard, you're talking lawyer speak, which does not



            3  require a specific number to be set forth for the depth



            4  or number of rapids per mile or any of that stuff.  Am



            5  I correct?  Or if I'm talking about engineering speak,



            6  there is no standard except Utah that I've seen for



            7  navigability.



            8      Q.    So it's your opinion that the Utah case



            9  states somewhere, but you don't have a citation for me,



           10  that there's a 3 foot standard?



           11      A.    I think it puts it through most of the



           12  analysis, yes.



           13      Q.    And you did consider the Edith and canoes.



           14  Can you talk specifically a little more about what you



           15  considered with regards to canoes?  You said based on



           16  Mr. Fuller's PowerPoint.  What does that mean?



           17      A.    No, Mr. Fuller's report, earlier reports.  He



           18  had an earlier report in which he talked about the



           19  mythical and hypothetical canoe, and so I took his



           20  numbers and ran an analysis, and it's going to take me



           21  a minute or two to find it.  I'm sorry.



           22            I'm sorry.  I know I'm in trouble when I'm



           23  looking through my Gila report.



           24      Q.    Did you do the same analysis in the Gila



           25  report?
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            1      A.    No.  I had not seen the data or noticed it or



            2  thought of it, whatever you want to call it, at that



            3  point.



            4            On Page 109 of my Salt River report.



            5  Actually, starting at the bottom of Page 108.



            6      Q.    Okay.  Is that Exhibit No. C022 Part 1; do



            7  you know?



            8      A.    I don't know.



            9      Q.    I'm pretty sure it is, so let's go with that.



           10  That's what I have it marked as.



           11            So Page 109 of that report.



           12      A.    Actually, start at 108.



           13      Q.    Okay.



           14      A.    Fuller gave some statistics and computed that



           15  what -- or I took those statistics and computed what



           16  the depth would be on the canoe and what the draw would



           17  be on the canoe, and it ended up being 3 feet.  Now, I



           18  think the canoe would sink under a 500-pound load and



           19  two people; but if it didn't, you know, if the sides



           20  were built up enough, that's what I came up with, and



           21  it supported the Utah decision.



           22            The second thing is I did a cost analysis.



           23      Q.    If I could stop you before you do the second



           24  thing --



           25      A.    Certainly.
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            1      Q.    -- and talk about the first thing.



            2            Have you ever been in a canoe?



            3      A.    You weren't here for my joke?  I guess not.



            4      Q.    I was.  I was here for the joke.



            5      A.    It wasn't a joke.  It's a truism.  I stepped



            6  in a canoe in Disneyland to go on the Davy Crockett



            7  Explorer canoes, and I hated it.



            8      Q.    Have you ever been in a canoe on a real



            9  river?



           10      A.    No.



           11      Q.    And have you ever put two people and 500



           12  pounds in a canoe?



           13      A.    No.



           14      Q.    Do you have any idea if that would actually



           15  have a draw of 3 feet?



           16      A.    I was relying solely on Mr. Fuller's



           17  expertise.



           18      Q.    And that's the Stantech report, I believe,



           19  that you attribute to Mr. Fuller?



           20      A.    Yes.



           21      Q.    Do you know if he was the lead author in that



           22  report?



           23      A.    I know his name is on the cover.  I know that



           24  there was a panel.  Somebody else was the lead author,



           25  but Mr. Fuller has done all the testifying, and so I do
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            1  attribute it to him.



            2      Q.    When you think about a canoe with two people



            3  and 500 pounds and a draw of 3 feet, that doesn't make



            4  a lot of sense, does it?



            5      A.    I totally agree.



            6      Q.    So did you stop and kind of consider that



            7  after you came to that conclusion, thinking that



            8  doesn't make a lot of sense; maybe my calculations



            9  aren't correct?



           10      A.    No, I thought the determination that you



           11  could put two people, the supplies necessary for the



           12  trip, and 500 pounds cargo, which has been asserted



           13  repeatedly, is incorrect.



           14      Q.    Do you know what the actual draw would be?



           15  If you don't believe that 3 feet would be the draw, do



           16  you know what the actual draw would be with two people,



           17  500 pounds of cargo in a wooden canoe?



           18      A.    Okay, I've been dealing in the fictional



           19  world of using Mr. Fuller's estimates.  Obviously two



           20  people in a 25-foot canoe are going to have a much



           21  smaller draw than two people in a 12-foot canoe.  The



           22  same with 500 pounds.  When you say what's the draw of



           23  any canoe, you are asking how high is up.



           24      Q.    But there are certain examples that you could



           25  have put together and studied.  Did you study any real
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            1  life examples and come to any actual conclusions?



            2      A.    If I had a real example other than the Utah



            3  cases, who actually talked to various commercial users



            4  of the rivers, I would have used them and you would



            5  have seen them.



            6      Q.    You didn't talk to any professional boaters



            7  in writing your report?



            8      A.    No, I did not.



            9      Q.    Did you talk to any historic boaters?



           10      A.    No, I did not.



           11      Q.    Did you talk to any canoe manufacturers?



           12      A.    I looked at their websites, but I did not



           13  talk to them.



           14      Q.    Did you look at the websites where they talk



           15  about the draws of canoes and the weight that canoes



           16  can carry?



           17      A.    I saw draws -- or I saw the depths.  I don't



           18  remember seeing draws.  Because the draw data I got



           19  from the Army Corps of Engineers.



           20            And the loads, I don't remember.  I didn't



           21  find them.  I'm not saying they're not there.  The



           22  internet is a huge thing.



           23      Q.    So for your totality of analysis of canoes



           24  and their loads and the draws that those loads create,



           25  you used the Stantech report for that; is that correct?
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            1      A.    No and yes, in regards to both halves of the



            2  question.  In my analysis of canoes, I did several



            3  things.  In the analysis of the depth it would take, it



            4  was limited to the Stantech data.



            5      Q.    And then you were going to talk about the



            6  second thing, which was the economics of canoes, I



            7  believe.  What was your analysis for that?



            8      A.    And I should have said three things,



            9  materials.



           10            But okay.  On Page 74 of my report, I did a



           11  cost analysis that showed taking a canoe one way would



           12  be economically way out of the question.



           13      Q.    Can you tell me the variables that you put



           14  into that economic analysis?



           15      A.    The only variable I really put in, because I



           16  was trying to see what it's going to cost the user to



           17  abandon the canoe, was the cost to buy it, and then I



           18  put in the costs of what wagon travel was.  And I came



           19  up with the cost per pound, assuming 500 feet [sic],



           20  would be much more than the wagon cost.  Now, I had to



           21  do some unit conversion because canoes, we're talking



           22  about pound miles, and in wagons they always talk about



           23  ton miles.  They wouldn't consider a 500-pound load.



           24      Q.    So your economic analysis is based on buying



           25  a canoe from the Sears catalog, is that --
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            1      A.    That's correct.



            2      Q.    Okay.  Did you do any analysis of a canoe



            3  used, and at the end of the trip the lumber is sold?



            4      A.    No, I didn't, but the differential was so



            5  high I didn't see the need.



            6      Q.    Did you do any analysis of a canoe used one



            7  way and a train carries the boat back up and then a



            8  canoe is used again?



            9      A.    Partially.  I did look at the fact that



           10  shipping the canoes out to Arizona cost four times



           11  first class postage, and that told me that -- well,



           12  that plus the Powell experience, where they ordered



           13  canoes shipped and one of them arrived nonusable.  It



           14  had broken up during shipment.  That kind of told me



           15  that you really have to pack it right to ship it back



           16  on the railroad.



           17      Q.    So your analysis -- go ahead.



           18      A.    And when I looked at that, just the freight



           19  cost of getting it down here, presumably because of the



           20  packaging, because first class mail and this was by



           21  weight, that wouldn't matter, that they had to raise



           22  the shipping and handling, and Powell's experience, and



           23  concluded if you're going to have to pack it up and



           24  ship it back, it's going to be too expensive.



           25      Q.    So your cost analysis is based on shipping a
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            1  canoe from the East Coast, Chicago, to Arizona?



            2      A.    Yes.



            3            One other thing is -- and I talked at length



            4  with Mr. Helm about this.  I know there are cases that



            5  say the fact the railroad has made -- the fact the



            6  railroad made navigability nonprofitable is not



            7  permitted, because if the river was navigable before



            8  the railroad came, then it's navigable for all time or



            9  for this legal test.



           10            But I don't know if you're allowed to use the



           11  economics of railroad transit to justify floating goods



           12  down at a cost higher -- I mean trains virtually put



           13  navigation out of business across the country. -- at a



           14  cost higher than the train would have cost and say,



           15  well, I can do it that way because the train doesn't



           16  get rid of it, and then turn around, but I'll use the



           17  train to get it back.  That's a legal question, but it



           18  seems rather absurd to me.



           19      Q.    Is it fair to say that partially your



           20  analysis that canoes couldn't be used in Segment 6a and



           21  6b is based on your economic analysis?



           22      A.    That's one part of it.



           23      Q.    Okay.  And have you ever read a case that you



           24  can cite for me that does an economic analysis like



           25  you've done?
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            1      A.    No.



            2      Q.    And what was the third thing with canoes that



            3  you considered?



            4      A.    Oh, I looked at the durability of the canoes,



            5  and this was primarily with modern recreation versus



            6  the early historic canoes; and found that if you're



            7  looking at canoes today, even most wood canoes, unless



            8  it's been explicitly built to re-create a past event,



            9  they're much stronger than any canoe that existed back



           10  then.



           11      Q.    And why is strength of a canoe important, in



           12  your opinion?



           13      A.    The strength of a canoe, in the upper reaches



           14  it's undeniably necessary because of the incredible



           15  number of rapids and the speeds of the water is I think



           16  clearly going to tear it apart.  It tore apart -- I had



           17  pictures of fiberglass canoes and aluminum canoes that



           18  were destroyed.  A wood canoe I don't think would have



           19  a chance; something the U.S. Fish and Wildlife -- I'm



           20  sorry, the United States Forest Service supported in



           21  their report on those reaches when they said



           22  fortunately nobody had ever tried to use a canoe, a



           23  wooden canoe, on that river in those reaches.



           24            Down in Reach 6 the rapids probably are --



           25  well, they're certainly not as big a consideration.  I
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            1  don't know if they would have been or not.  I believe,



            2  as you know, I'm sure, that there would have been



            3  numerous beaver dams that would have required portage



            4  because you couldn't run the canoe over the sharpened



            5  sticks that the beaver put into the dam.  And there



            6  would have been boulders.  Various historic accounts



            7  did talk about boats that broke up by hitting



            8  something.  And the depth with a load was not



            9  sufficient.



           10            Oh, and one other thing.  Nobody has ever



           11  shown that you could take that load and go upstream or



           12  afford to go upstream by poling or however you want to



           13  do it with a canoe.



           14      Q.    Are there any rapids in Segment 5?



           15      A.    There's riffles.  I don't think there's



           16  rapids, based on the classification standards.



           17      Q.    You've never seen anything that says there's



           18  a rapid in Segment 5, where there's water in the river



           19  today and where it's boated?



           20      A.    My beer buddies called them rapids when we



           21  were floating down.



           22      Q.    That might have been --



           23      A.    But I'm not talking about serious rapids like



           24  exist in 5 and 6, no.



           25      Q.    And do you have any evidence that there were
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            1  any rapids in Segment 6, 6a, 6b?



            2      A.    We just don't know because we have virtually



            3  no information.



            4      Q.    Are there any large tributaries that come



            5  into 6a and 6b?



            6      A.    No.



            7      Q.    Are there any -- is there a lot of bedrock in



            8  6a and 6b?



            9      A.    The bedrock is very near the surface down by



           10  Old Mill Bridge or Hayden's Ferry, and that's about the



           11  only place.



           12      Q.    So based on your understanding of what



           13  creates rapids and that there's no rapids in Segment 5,



           14  would you expect to see any rapids in Segment 6?



           15      A.    I would expect to see riffles.  I would



           16  expect to see boulders.  But I don't think I would see



           17  what are called rapids in the whitewater



           18  classification.



           19      Q.    Segment 5 and 6 are a much different type of



           20  river than the Upper Salt; would you agree?



           21      A.    Yes.



           22      Q.    And is that the extent of your consideration



           23  regarding canoes?



           24      A.    I know when I was talking, I thought of yet



           25  one more, but I can't think of it again.  So I guess
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            1  that's it.



            2      Q.    And we'll talk about your depths in detail a



            3  little later.



            4      A.    And I remembered.



            5      Q.    Go ahead.



            6      A.    I did an analysis that talked about the fact,



            7  as I understand the standard, it needs to be for



            8  commercial means of transport that were in effect at



            9  the time of statehood or prior.  And I went through the



           10  beaver trappers didn't use canoes except as a ferry on



           11  the San Pedro and as an escape hatch on the Colorado



           12  River.  The Pimas didn't use canoes.  The Hohokam



           13  didn't use canoes.  And Hayden tried a canoe, and it



           14  failed.



           15            And I go through my report and I talk about



           16  the few that I found.  Hayden I had missed.  It did not



           17  seem like canoe -- oh, and Utah doesn't even consider



           18  canoes in its list of commercial craft.  So I'm not



           19  convinced that a canoe is a commercial craft in the



           20  sense of the legal standard.



           21            In addition, when I read the Pinkerton



           22  report, they do talk about large canoes.  They call



           23  them freight canoes.  And if those are to be considered



           24  in the commercial craft -- and I haven't heard anything



           25  talked about down in this area where that kind of canoe
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            1  was used, because they were 20 foot or longer or I



            2  guess 18 foot. -- then maybe that could be used; but



            3  it's a totally different animal than the dugout and the



            4  modern canoes and so forth.



            5      Q.    Are you aware of the canoe that was stationed



            6  at Camp Verde?



            7      A.    Yes.



            8      Q.    Are you aware of the canoe that was stationed



            9  at Fort McDowell?



           10      A.    Yes.



           11      Q.    You're aware of the canoe that was used on



           12  San Pedro?



           13      A.    By Pattie?



           14      Q.    Yes.



           15      A.    Yes.



           16      Q.    You're aware of the canoes that were used on



           17  the Colorado?



           18      A.    By Pattie I know, I'm aware of.  There were



           19  canoes on the Colorado.  I don't know how much commerce



           20  they carried.



           21      Q.    You're aware of the canoes that the Kolb



           22  brothers had?



           23      A.    I know they went through the Grand Canyon and



           24  took pictures, and if I remember reading it, and it's



           25  been a while, they realized after the fact that, gee,





                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440



                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ

�



                        SALT RIVER     VOLUME 16      02/26/2016

                                                                      3447





            1  recreational pictures will sell, and so they started



            2  selling postcards.



            3      Q.    And are you aware of the canoes that were



            4  used on the Salt in some of the historical



            5  descriptions?



            6      A.    I went through the Salt and the Gila.  I



            7  referenced the Pattie and the Forts on the Verde.



            8  Other than the Hayden dugout, I didn't see any other



            9  canoes, and that could be I just didn't read it right.



           10            Now, I'm not saying that canoes didn't exist



           11  or weren't used, but I'm talking about a commercial



           12  application of a canoe.



           13      Q.    So if you didn't see a canoe used for regular



           14  commercial application many times, then you considered



           15  canoes not useful for the test for navigability?



           16      A.    That's correct.



           17                 COMMISSIONER HORTON:  Mr. Chairman?



           18                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Go ahead.



           19



           20            EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER HORTON



           21                 COMMISSIONER HORTON:  I'm confused.  If



           22  you go up to Grand Canyon, you'll see there's a copy or



           23  maybe even the real Kolb boat.  You know, it's a wooden



           24  boat.  And I've read some accounts.  But I didn't know



           25  that they had used canoes, the Kolb brothers.
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            1                 THE WITNESS:  I have to admit I just



            2  read a little bit.  I wasn't too interested in the



            3  bottom of the Grand Canyon because that's not a



            4  navigable river.  So I'm sorry, I can't answer your



            5  question.



            6                 MR. SLADE:  And I don't want to testify



            7  as an expert here, so I can't either.



            8                 COMMISSIONER HORTON:  Okay.  Well, we'll



            9  leave it in the clouds.



           10                 MR. SLADE:  Hopefully Mr. Fuller can hit



           11  that on rebuttal.



           12



           13               CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)



           14  BY MR. SLADE:



           15      Q.    And regarding the Edith, what analysis did



           16  you do with respect to that boat being used?



           17      A.    I looked at the cost associated with taking



           18  that one way, because on Reach 5 they only went



           19  downstream.  Well, first, I would just say the Edith,



           20  as I understand, was built as an exploration craft



           21  originally and would probably not be the same as a



           22  commercial craft.  But what my analysis was, was,



           23  again, an economic analysis; that the price of it was



           24  so high versus the load, in the example -- and I'm



           25  trying to remember where I said this.  Oh, I think it
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            1  was in my PowerPoint.  That it was priced -- it was



            2  cost-prohibitive.  Now, if it was capable of being --



            3  you know, if it was shown it could go back, then you



            4  would have something; but nobody's ever tried to say



            5  anything could ever go upstream.



            6            Slide 221 of my PowerPoint.  It was about --



            7  it would be about 20 times as expensive, plus the cost



            8  of the people who actually took it down, I mean the



            9  cost of actually freighting.  I'm just talking about



           10  the fixed cost of the boat.



           11      Q.    So your analysis on whether the Edith could



           12  be used is based on, again, your economic model; is



           13  that right?



           14      A.    Yes.



           15      Q.    And are you aware of the use of rivers for



           16  one-way travel for commercial purposes throughout the



           17  American West?



           18      A.    Yes.



           19      Q.    And are you aware that on rivers such as the



           20  Idaho -- or, excuse me, the Salmon River and Idaho



           21  rivers were used one way and then their boats were sold



           22  for lumber at the end?



           23      A.    And that's what led me to these economic



           24  analyses.  They built very crude boats and make the



           25  trip one way.  They did it on the Mississippi, as far
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            1  as I can tell, all the rivers.



            2      Q.    And they sold the lumber at the end?



            3      A.    Yes.



            4      Q.    Did you put, in any of your economic



            5  analysis, the ability to earn money by selling your



            6  lumber at the end?



            7      A.    No.



            8      Q.    And are you aware that the Day brothers came



            9  down from the Verde, the Salt, and then the Gila, and



           10  then came up by railroad and did that multiple times,



           11  according to the account?



           12      A.    I'm aware of one account, yes.



           13      Q.    So they did one-way travel, took a railroad



           14  up to Prescott, and then came back down again,



           15  according to that account?



           16      A.    Yes.



           17      Q.    Okay.  And did you do an analysis of the



           18  economics of that type of a trip?



           19      A.    I couldn't, because I had no indication as to



           20  what kind of load their boat would take.  It was a



           21  small boat, which is a very vague description.



           22      Q.    So there's a lot of factors that are unclear



           23  that you couldn't put into your economic analysis?



           24      A.    For the Day trip, correct.



           25      Q.    Right.  For trips in general.  You don't know
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            1  how much lumber costs?



            2      A.    Well, for the two trips -- or the two things



            3  I did, that's why I did them.  The others, no, I didn't



            4  have the information.



            5      Q.    And you mentioned the Special Master not



            6  talking about canoes.  Have you read the whole Special



            7  Master's report?



            8      A.    I read the entirety of the one that was



            9  disclosed.  I think it might have been missing a page



           10  somewhere.  But other than that, no -- or yes, I mean.



           11      Q.    Have you read the areas where the Special



           12  Master talks about canoes?



           13      A.    I read them.  I don't recall them, because it



           14  was some time ago.



           15      Q.    Is it fair to say you don't believe upstream



           16  travel is required, based on the economic analysis that



           17  you did?



           18      A.    That's correct.



           19      Q.    So downstream travel is enough?



           20      A.    If it is commercially feasible, yes.



           21      Q.    And in your opinion, does commercial



           22  feasibility need to be continuous and extensive to



           23  prove navigability?



           24      A.    I think there has to be a certain continuity,



           25  and I looked at the Utah case again, because I heard
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            1  your questioning and I went home last night and did it.



            2  And I found that in the Utah case, on the Green River



            3  the Special Master found that the river was less than



            4  3 feet deep 53 days out of the year.  On the Grand



            5  River it was less than 3 feet 16 days out of the year.



            6  On the Colorado it was always 3 feet or more.  On the



            7  San Juan, which was declared nonnavigable, it was under



            8  3 feet for 219 days per year.



            9            That gives us if you've got more than -- or



           10  if you have more than 312 days of operation, you're



           11  clearly in the good range.  If you have only 146 -- and



           12  this is assuming I did my math head -- of operation,



           13  you're clearly in the bad zone.  It leaves a wide zone



           14  in the middle, and where it falls in there, I don't



           15  know.



           16      Q.    Were there other factors that the Special



           17  Master looked at besides from depth?



           18      A.    He looked at depth, frequency of depth.  He



           19  looked at other obstacles, rapids.  He discounted sand



           20  bars, but he looked at them.



           21      Q.    Did he look at velocity?



           22      A.    He looked at it, but didn't seem too worried



           23  about it, because the people who had actually boated



           24  were capable of handling the velocities that he saw at



           25  all except the very, very high floods.
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            1      Q.    So you don't recall, in his discussion about



            2  why the San Juan is not navigable, where he talks about



            3  the high velocities on the San Juan compared to the



            4  Green, the Grand, and the Colorado?



            5      A.    I think he does, yes.



            6      Q.    Have you done any studies for the Lower Salt



            7  that compare the velocities of the Lower Salt to the



            8  Green, the Grand, the Colorado, or the San Juan?



            9      A.    No, but that brings up an interesting point,



           10  since velocities are often related to slope.  The slope



           11  of the San Juan was 7 miles per -- or 7 feet per mile.



           12  And I had not realized, until Dr. Mussetter testified,



           13  that the slope of the Reach 6 is 7 feet per mile and



           14  steeper the further you go upstream.



           15      Q.    Could you have done a study or some analysis



           16  to determine the velocity of Segment 5 where there's



           17  still water coming through it?



           18      A.    All I had was the 5-foot contours, and I



           19  didn't have very good copies of them, and 5-foot -- the



           20  2-foot contours I used where I did my cross section I



           21  thought were marginal.  5-foot I think is really not



           22  very good.  And so, no, I don't think I have the data.



           23      Q.    And you would agree that velocities matter in



           24  terms of navigability because they talk about the



           25  pushiness of the river into potential obstacles,
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            1  correct?



            2      A.    That's one reason.



            3      Q.    So you don't know what the velocities are for



            4  the Lower Salt, and you've also said that there aren't



            5  many rapids on the Lower Salt?



            6      A.    I did compute the velocity for the Lower



            7  Salt.



            8      Q.    You did?



            9      A.    Yes.



           10      Q.    Can you show me where that is in your report?



           11      A.    Well, I will admit I only did it to make my



           12  presentation complete.  I didn't worry about it.



           13            Figure VI-3, in the third set of rows, you



           14  will see the various velocities for various n factors,



           15  and those velocities are fairly slow.



           16      Q.    And you haven't compared those to the



           17  San Juan, have you?



           18      A.    No.



           19      Q.    Do you also remember where, in the Special



           20  Master report, the Special Master talked about sand



           21  waves as an impediment on the San Juan?



           22      A.    Yeah.



           23      Q.    Are there any sand waves in Segment 5 where



           24  the river is navigated or boated today?



           25      A.    Today?
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            1      Q.    Yes.



            2      A.    There probably were during the spills, but



            3  not except then.



            4      Q.    Would you think there would be sand waves in



            5  Segment 6 --



            6      A.    Today?



            7      Q.    -- in the river's natural condition?



            8      A.    Yes.



            9      Q.    You would think there would be sand waves?



           10      A.    I thought the United States Geological Survey



           11  talked about sand waves.



           12      Q.    Can you point me to that reference?



           13      A.    I'm going to try.



           14            No, I can't at the moment.



           15      Q.    Well, if you come up with it --



           16      A.    You'll be the first to know.



           17      Q.    -- I would certainly like to know.  Thank



           18  you.



           19            Have you read other cases that have stated



           20  that there is a minimum depth of 3 feet?



           21      A.    Kind of.  There's a second Utah case that



           22  does talk about, actually, it was flow rates on the



           23  San Juan again, and came to the conclusion a different



           24  reach was nonnavigable.



           25      Q.    Are you aware of cases that have decided





                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440



                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ

�



                        SALT RIVER     VOLUME 16      02/26/2016

                                                                      3456





            1  rivers are navigable where there has not been 3 feet of



            2  depth or greater?



            3      A.    I haven't done that analysis.



            4                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Mr. Chairman?



            5                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Yes.



            6



            7             EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN



            8                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Question.  I would



            9  like to go back to the question on sand waves.  What



           10  impact does that have on navigability?



           11                 THE WITNESS:  Well, basically, when you



           12  have sand waves, it's going to make it a lot rougher,



           13  which makes it harder on the boat, and you're more



           14  likely to ship water.



           15                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  At what velocities?



           16                 THE WITNESS:  Usually very high.  So it



           17  should be --



           18                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay, so



           19  effectively we're talking about flood stage and --



           20                 THE WITNESS:  Near flood --



           21                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  -- progression of



           22  sand waves back up the channel, as well as down?



           23                 THE WITNESS:  Yes, or near flood.  But I



           24  would say it would probably be in that top 10 percent.



           25                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay.
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            1               CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)



            2  BY MR. SLADE:



            3      Q.    So rivers that have higher velocities have a



            4  higher probability for sand waves?



            5      A.    Yes.



            6      Q.    And in your opinion, how many days of the



            7  year must a river be navigable?



            8      A.    Somewhere between 312 and 143, again, based



            9  on Utah.



           10      Q.    So a river could be navigable for less than



           11  half the year and --



           12      A.    Yeah.  Well, as I say, in there I think it



           13  becomes a question of was it a highway of commerce; and



           14  if it's going to be commerce, you have to look at the



           15  economics.



           16      Q.    Is it your opinion that navigability has to



           17  have a profitability component?



           18      A.    I think it has to have a reasonable



           19  expectation of profit.  I don't think it has to make a



           20  profit.



           21      Q.    Can't just be use of the river for travel



           22  from Point A to Point B?



           23      A.    If you're conveying people commercially, yes;



           24  but I don't think Joe Blow going down to get some



           25  drinks counts.
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            1      Q.    Is there a minimum load, in your opinion,



            2  that a boat must have?



            3      A.    That would be an economic question.



            4      Q.    And is there a minimum or is there a specific



            5  type of boat that navigability must have, other than



            6  what you told me in the Special Master's report?



            7      A.    It could be something other than the Special



            8  Master's report.  I just thought that was a



            9  comprehensive study of what was here at the time of



           10  statehood or nearby.



           11      Q.    So in your opinion, canoes could be used for



           12  a highway of commerce?



           13      A.    Based on my economic analysis, I don't think



           14  so.



           15      Q.    Taking your economic analysis out of it, can



           16  canoes as a boat be used as a highway of commerce?



           17      A.    What kind of canoe?  Are you talking --



           18      Q.    All sorts, any type you want to pick.



           19      A.    Okay.  A lot of them I'm sure no, because



           20  they're too small.



           21      Q.    And which canoe is too small?



           22      A.    I can't give you a number.  Pinkerton made



           23  the break at 18 foot.



           24      Q.    So it's your opinion that if a canoe is



           25  smaller than 18 feet, it can't be used in a highway of
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            1  commerce?



            2      A.    Subject to something demonstrating it wrong,



            3  Pinkerton was alive in 1912 and he saw that people used



            4  canoes for commerce.  When they did, they were 18 feet



            5  or bigger.  And when they didn't, when it was smaller,



            6  it was for recreational purposes.  That's all I've got



            7  to go on.



            8      Q.    I believe you already mentioned this.  You



            9  haven't talked to any historic boaters or historic boat



           10  builders?



           11      A.    No, or correct.



           12      Q.    Have you talked to any boaters in your



           13  preparation for your testimony and your declaration?



           14      A.    No.



           15      Q.    Have you talked to any other experts in your



           16  preparation for your testimony and your declaration?



           17      A.    We talked during the breaks, yes.



           18      Q.    But in your preparation of this declaration,



           19  what other experts did you talk to?



           20      A.    All the ones in this room during the Gila



           21  hearings and so forth, but not really -- I mean I don't



           22  even remember what the conversations were.  A few of



           23  them did relate to navigability, you know, sort of



           24  technical issues.



           25      Q.    And what areas did they inform your opinion?
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            1      A.    Directly, none.



            2      Q.    So is it fair to say the extent of your



            3  research regarding canoes has been from online research



            4  and the Pinkerton book?



            5      A.    Pinkerton was also online, but online



            6  research and my own economic analysis.



            7      Q.    Let's talk about beaver dams a little bit.



            8  It's your opinion that Segment 6, including 6a and 6b,



            9  would have had beaver dams?



           10      A.    Yes.



           11      Q.    And what's your citation for that?



           12      A.    There was an ornithologist out there in 1867,



           13  I believe it was, and he wrote a paper that was



           14  published in a professional journal.



           15            Sorry, I was going the wrong way.



           16      Q.    Your Page 117?



           17      A.    Yes, at the bottom of the page.  Thank you.



           18      Q.    And do you know if those beaver dams would



           19  have extended across the entire channel of the Salt?



           20      A.    I think it would have extended across the low



           21  channels, or more accurately, it would extend across



           22  whatever it took to get the depth of the water behind



           23  it up to about 3 feet.



           24      Q.    And how wide would that have had to be, in



           25  your opinion?
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            1      A.    Well, the river channels were surveyed at



            2  about, I don't know, 150, 200 feet, and there's lots of



            3  records of beaver dams that large.



            4      Q.    Are there any records in the evidence or that



            5  you've seen that are not in evidence that talk about



            6  beaver dams of 100, 200 feet on the Salt?



            7      A.    They didn't say -- no, not explicitly the way



            8  you phrase it.



            9      Q.    So none of the historic boaters who boated on



           10  the Salt ever mentioned beaver dams, from your review?



           11      A.    That's correct, because the people who fixed



           12  that problem had preceded them, the beaver trappers.



           13      Q.    Did any of the trappers talk about beaver



           14  dams across the entire channel or a large part of it?



           15      A.    They talked about a lot of beaver.  They



           16  didn't mention beaver dams.  They weren't using boats.



           17  They didn't mention beaver dams on the San Pedro.



           18      Q.    And I believe you have a couple citations to



           19  your statement that beavers need 3 feet or higher; is



           20  that right?



           21      A.    Yes, I cited three sources, and one of them



           22  you're going to show me says 2 to 3 feet, not 3.



           23      Q.    And which one is that?



           24      A.    The third source I quoted, which was 13,



           25  Shepherd and Golden.  I figured that out from your
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            1  disclosure.



            2      Q.    And that's an Arizona Game & Fish specific to



            3  Arizona beaver dam discussion, right?



            4      A.    I was just reading the text.  I didn't even



            5  look.  I believe you.  I just didn't look at the



            6  letterhead.



            7      Q.    Shepherd and Golden talks about beaver dams



            8  might occur if the river is less than 2 feet?



            9      A.    That, I didn't notice.



           10      Q.    Or, excuse me, beaver dams would be put in



           11  place, potentially, if a river is less than 2 feet?



           12      A.    Yes, which the Salt, according to all our



           13  calculations, was.



           14



           15             EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN



           16                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Was what?



           17                 THE WITNESS:  Of --



           18                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  What was your -- I



           19  didn't understand the question.



           20                 MR. SLADE:  My question was the Shepherd



           21  and Golden citation on Page 118 of Mr. Gookin's report



           22  states that beavers may form dams when a river is less



           23  than 2 feet deep.



           24                 THE WITNESS:  2 feet at low flow.



           25                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay.  Further
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            1  question then.  Was the Salt perennial in this reach?



            2                 THE WITNESS:  Yes, but the records



            3  that -- or all the experts, which I guess would be



            4  Fuller and me who've done it, concluded at low flows it



            5  was well under 2 feet.



            6                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Slade, could we



            7  take a break?



            8                 MR. SLADE:  Sure.



            9                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Let's break for 15



           10  minutes, 10:15.



           11                 (A recess was taken from 9:57 a.m. to



           12  10:12 a.m.)



           13                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Gookin, are you



           14  ready?



           15                 THE WITNESS:  Yes.



           16                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Please proceed,



           17  Mr. Slade.



           18



           19               CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)



           20  BY MR. SLADE:



           21      Q.    Okay.  We were talking about beaver dams.  A



           22  few more questions about that.



           23            Are you aware that beavers build dams on the



           24  sides of rivers, as well as across rivers?



           25      A.    Yes.
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            1      Q.    Did you do any analysis to understand if



            2  beavers on the Salt would have built dams across the



            3  channel or on the sides of the channel?



            4      A.    No.



            5      Q.    And your theory that beaver dams were across



            6  the channel is based on your depth reconstruction?



            7      A.    The fact that -- that's one thing.  The fact



            8  that they built it across -- they built them across the



            9  channel in modern times down near -- well, both on the



           10  Tres Rios side and the Gila River Indian Reservation



           11  side of the Salt River.  Both of them found a lot of --



           12  well, Gila River found a lot of dams.  I don't know how



           13  many Tres Rios found, but it did become a problem.



           14      Q.    Do you know if those dams crossed the entire



           15  Salt River low channel?



           16      A.    Due to the backup effects they claim, they



           17  talked about, yeah.



           18      Q.    And is that part of the river that's in its



           19  natural condition today?



           20      A.    No.



           21      Q.    Beavers wouldn't have to build dams across



           22  the river if it was 2 feet or 3 feet deep, correct?



           23      A.    The entire, all the channels, no.



           24      Q.    Right.



           25      A.    They just need one fairly well-defined
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            1  channel.



            2      Q.    If the river was deep enough, beavers



            3  wouldn't have to build dams across the river?



            4      A.    Correct.



            5      Q.    And in any descriptions of the river that



            6  you've seen, have they talked about a river that was



            7  less than 2 feet deep in the Lower Salt?



            8      A.    Well, Mr. Fuller's analysis showed it, as did



            9  mine.  I'm trying to remember accounts from back then,



           10  and I didn't really look at them that much, so I don't



           11  know.



           12      Q.    So you don't know what the historical



           13  descriptions say about the depth of the Lower Salt?



           14      A.    Well, more importantly, I don't know what the



           15  historical descriptions say about the minimum depths at



           16  low flow about the Salt in Reach 6.



           17      Q.    Do you reference the historical descriptions



           18  in your report?



           19      A.    I did not.



           20      Q.    So if they say that the low flow depth is



           21  2 feet, you wouldn't find that in your report?



           22      A.    If they say that, I -- no.  I didn't see it.



           23      Q.    But you don't have any of the historical



           24  descriptions in your report?



           25      A.    Correct.
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            1      Q.    In your opinion, are those informative for



            2  navigability purposes?



            3      A.    They are, but they had mostly already been



            4  disclosed in Mr. Fuller's earlier reports.



            5      Q.    Well, that sort of brings me to a question of



            6  what type of report you have here.  Is this a rebuttal



            7  report to Mr. Fuller?  Would you characterize it as



            8  that type of report?



            9      A.    I would say it's both my determination of



           10  navigability and a rebuttal report.



           11      Q.    So do you include both nonnavigability and



           12  navigability evidence in your report?



           13      A.    Yes, if I had found any navigability



           14  evidence.



           15      Q.    Okay.  So, but you didn't include the



           16  historical descriptions; you didn't find those were



           17  reliable or useful?



           18      A.    I thought they were already in the record.  I



           19  didn't worry about them because they're such short



           20  snapshots, usually.



           21      Q.    And what was your direction in preparing your



           22  report; what were you directed to do?



           23      A.    Write a report concerning whether or not the



           24  Salt River was navigable, particularly in Reach 6,



           25  Lower Salt.
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            1      Q.    Do you know if your client had a preconceived



            2  notion of whether it was or was not?



            3      A.    I have a feeling, but they never said



            4  anything.



            5      Q.    So you didn't object to the analysis --



            6      A.    Yes.



            7      Q.    -- in your opinion?



            8                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Gookin, I didn't



            9  understand that response.  You did or did not object to



           10  the analysis?



           11                 THE WITNESS:  I did an objective



           12  analysis.



           13                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.



           14                 Now I really didn't understand it, did



           15  I?



           16  BY MR. SLADE:



           17      Q.    Have you ever written another report?



           18      A.    Of course.



           19      Q.    Okay.  And have you written -- can you give



           20  me a name or a few reports that you have written



           21  previously, apart from navigability studies?



           22      A.    I've written a raft of reports on the Globe



           23  Equity Decree and various operating procedures.  I've



           24  written reports about gaging flow reconstructions, both



           25  on desert washes and active rivers.  I've made
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            1  population projections, done economic analyses and



            2  reports for CAP allocation for various entities.  I've



            3  done a lot of reports on the cause of flooding in Joe's



            4  house.  This Joe's house.  And -- let me think what



            5  else.  I feel like all I do is write reports.



            6      Q.    I feel like all I do is read reports, so...



            7      A.    Do you want more?



            8      Q.    We're on the same page.



            9      A.    Do you want more?



           10      Q.    No, that's good.  Thank you.



           11            And would you compare those reports that you



           12  just talked about to this type of report that you wrote



           13  here?  Are they comparable objective, fact-finding



           14  reports?



           15      A.    Yes.



           16      Q.    So if a historical account said that, for



           17  example, the Salt River is navigable and should be



           18  included in the River and Harbors Act, would we be able



           19  to find that in your report?



           20      A.    I didn't put it in there.  I had heard it,



           21  but I never went and looked it up.



           22      Q.    Do you think --



           23      A.    Oh, excuse me.  It was the reverse, wasn't



           24  it?  I don't know.  I didn't look up the River and



           25  Harbors Act and the applications.
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            1      Q.    Have you ever seen any boaters on Segment 5,



            2  where the river's boated today?



            3      A.    Not today, but in the '70s and '60s.



            4      Q.    You did observe boaters?



            5      A.    Yes.



            6      Q.    Do you know what kind of craft they were



            7  boating in?



            8      A.    Mostly inner tubes, but --



            9      Q.    I thought I remember you saying inner tubes



           10  on a boat with Mr. Helm.



           11      A.    Well, yeah, you're right.  Certainly not a



           12  commercial craft.



           13            I think there was some rafts.  They were some



           14  inflatable rafts that you could -- had seats in them.



           15  And I don't really remember.  I was somewhat impaired



           16  at the time.  I didn't realize I was doing a



           17  navigability study.



           18      Q.    Apart from your experience observing the



           19  boats when you were impaired, have you seen -- have you



           20  done -- have you observed any boats on the Salt where



           21  it's boated today other than that time?



           22      A.    I saw a couple boats go out on the Salt River



           23  during the bad floods, '78, 79, '80, '83; thought they



           24  were absolutely out of their minds and read about some



           25  of them in the paper, that for some reason had just
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            1  disappeared.



            2      Q.    Apart --



            3      A.    Below Granite Reef, that's been my only



            4  opportunity to see boats.



            5      Q.    How about above Granite Reef, from Stewart



            6  Mountain to Granite Reef?



            7      A.    I haven't gone back up there.



            8      Q.    Would that be informative to observe how



            9  boats are used on Segment 5 and how they're maneuvered,



           10  for your understanding of Segment 6?



           11      A.    I don't think so.  You have to realize it's



           12  not a natural stream there.



           13      Q.    Do you believe Segment 5 is substantially



           14  more navigable today?



           15      A.    Yes.



           16      Q.    And why is that?



           17      A.    You have a dam that controls the releases.



           18  It allows a steady higher flow for extended durations.



           19  You don't have the risk of floods coming down.  It



           20  encourages the growth of vegetation along the sides of



           21  the bank, which, together with the other destabilizing



           22  factor tamarisk, makes the channel narrower and deeper.



           23            Oh, dams intercept the sediment, which



           24  affects the rocks or the -- both the slope of the



           25  channel and the lining of the channel.  And as I put in
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            1  my report, garbage affects the lining of the channel,



            2  but I've never found a Manning's n for garbage.  I



            3  looked.



            4      Q.    Have you done any specific studies on



            5  Segment 5 to indicate how any of those factors have



            6  changed from the nonnatural condition or the natural



            7  condition to the nonnatural condition?



            8      A.    I did show some photos from Webb, Ribbons of



            9  Green, in my PowerPoint.  I looked for data for a



           10  Manning -- to do a Manning's cross section, and I just



           11  couldn't find a sufficient database.



           12            I did the examination of the maps to see that



           13  essentially the number of channels had changed in



           14  various spots and the location had changed



           15  considerably, which means it's a different river at



           16  that point.



           17      Q.    In terms of slope, did you do any specific



           18  studies?



           19      A.    No.  That was -- that's just standard



           20  hydrology.



           21      Q.    In terms of narrower or deeper channel, did



           22  you do any specific studies?



           23      A.    Ditto.



           24      Q.    That's a no then?



           25      A.    That's no.  That's a matter of standard
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            1  Southwest hydrology.  The tamarisk squeeze the rivers.



            2      Q.    We've talked about beaver dams.  We've talked



            3  about rapids.  What are the other factors -- it's been



            4  such a long time since the Commission's heard your



            5  testimony.  What are the other factors that you would



            6  believe serve as impediments to navigation in



            7  Segments 6a and 6b?



            8      A.    Just the impediments?



            9      Q.    Yes.



           10      A.    The fact that we have very sudden flash



           11  floods in Arizona down these rivers, which makes it



           12  dangerous.  Evidence indicates that at least down near



           13  my client's area or in my client's area, there were



           14  heavy marshes as of statehood and before.  Beaver we've



           15  talked about, unless you want me to go on with that.



           16  And rapids in other parts, but I don't know if rapids



           17  existed in 6 or not.



           18      Q.    Do you have a citation that says there were



           19  marshes on the Salt River in Segment 6?



           20      A.    Well, it's Gookin on Gookin.  I cited to my



           21  2003 statement.  I had a quotation from the United



           22  States Geological Survey when I made my first statement



           23  to the Commission about the bogs near the confluence of



           24  the Salt and Gila on the Salt, which is the downstream



           25  end of Segment 6b.





                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440



                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ

�



                        SALT RIVER     VOLUME 16      02/26/2016

                                                                      3473





            1      Q.    You're talking about one of the Porcello



            2  studies?



            3      A.    No, I don't think so.  It was an early USGS



            4  report that was describing what they saw, like in 1905



            5  or something.



            6      Q.    Do you have a citation for that report?



            7      A.    In the footnote it's Gookin Engineers 2003,



            8  Page 5.  It's April 4th, 2003, entitled Presentation to



            9  Arizona Stream Navigability Commission, Old Lower Salt



           10  River Exhibit 034, and that's from the 2003 hearings,



           11  that number.



           12      Q.    And do you know if, in that discussion, in



           13  that paper, they're talking about marshes alongside the



           14  river or actually the river completely turns to a



           15  marsh?



           16      A.    It sounded like most, if not all.  They were



           17  extensive, I think was the phrase; but it's been



           18  12 years, 13 years.



           19      Q.    Anything else?  Flash floods, marshes,



           20  beavers, rapids.



           21      A.    As far as physical obstacles, no.



           22      Q.    Are there mental obstacles?



           23      A.    Economic obstacles.



           24      Q.    Okay.



           25      A.    And I'm not including depth and channel shape
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            1  in that.  That's not really an obs -- well, I don't



            2  know how you would want to characterize that, but leave



            3  that on the plate as a projection.



            4      Q.    Okay.  We'll talk about that later.



            5            I'm curious a little bit to hear some more of



            6  your expertise on the archaeology, but I believe



            7  Mr. Helm went over this.  Do you consider yourself an



            8  expert in archaeology?



            9      A.    No.



           10      Q.    Not an expert in Hohokam time period?



           11      A.    No.  I know a bit more than the layperson,



           12  simply by association, but I'm not an archaeologist.



           13      Q.    And your conclusion was that the Hohokam did



           14  not use boats; is that right?



           15      A.    My conclusion is that the archaeologists have



           16  concluded they didn't use boats.



           17      Q.    And you reference the Phoenix Sky Train



           18  study.  I believe you went over it with your counsel;



           19  is that right?



           20      A.    I don't -- did I?  I don't remember doing



           21  that.



           22      Q.    Maybe I'm remembering -- your counsel went



           23  over it with Mr. Fuller.



           24      A.    Yes.  The only one I referenced, I referenced



           25  the picture that shows the trader who's walking, rather
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            1  than boating, in one of the glyphs; or not glyphs,



            2  pottery pieces.  And I included a quote about the



            3  Cushing canoe.  Who knows if it ever was there.



            4      Q.    And when did the Hohokam end their time on



            5  the Salt?



            6      A.    According to my client and our



            7  archaeologists, they haven't.  They are the Pima.



            8  Conventional chronology says 1400 to 1450 and then



            9  picks up with the Pimas in about 1500.



           10      Q.    Would you expect that any boat remains would



           11  exist if the Hohokam used boats from 1450 and going



           12  back in time; would any boats exist in the 1800s, 1900s



           13  preserved?



           14      A.    I'm sorry, exist in the 1800s or 1900s?



           15      Q.    Would any boat remnants be preserved if the



           16  Hohokam used boats?



           17      A.    I just don't know.



           18      Q.    What were the boats made of --



           19      A.    What --



           20      Q.    -- if they had a boat?



           21      A.    I was going to say.  I'm saying they were



           22  made of air.



           23      Q.    If the Hohokam had used a boat, what type of



           24  material would they have been made of?



           25      A.    I don't know.
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            1      Q.    Not plastic, right?



            2      A.    Not plastic.  I'm pretty sure of that.



            3      Q.    So some type of compostable material?



            4      A.    Wood, yeah, something that could burn.



            5      Q.    Based on your expertise of materials, and you



            6  did some research, would you expect that wood would



            7  last 400 years?



            8      A.    Well, I've read about it doing it other



            9  places, because I did look that up; but I couldn't find



           10  an indication here that it has.  So I don't know.



           11      Q.    And when did the Pima come to the Salt?



           12      A.    You don't learn.  About zero B.C. to



           13  1000 B.C.



           14      Q.    So it's your opinion that the Hohokam were on



           15  the Salt, and the Pima continued to be on the Salt as



           16  they transitioned?



           17      A.    Dr. Dobyns' theory, as he explained it to me,



           18  was that when the Vikings discovered the Northeast



           19  corner of the North American continent, they brought



           20  diseases with them.  And he showed me several articles



           21  where they indicated that based on descriptions like in



           22  the Mississippi, all over the place, the ecological



           23  patterns had been knocked badly out of shape and



           24  concluded that it was probably plagues that wiped out



           25  the top-of-the-line hunter, to a large extent, people,
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            1  and allowed them to -- these mis -- or, you know, the



            2  evolutionary booms in certain animals; for example, the



            3  bison.  You always hear about the huge numbers of bison



            4  going across the river or the plains.  And he believes



            5  that the plague hit the Hohokam, and that as a result



            6  of the plague, the Hohokam did what most people do



            7  during a plague, they scattered.  And the remnants who



            8  survived coalesced back along primarily the Gila.



            9  Well, originally the Gila and the Salt, irrigated both,



           10  and then with the advent of the Apaches, mostly



           11  retreated to the Gila.



           12            As to whether all of that is true or not,



           13  well, I have to wait until I die to find out, but it's



           14  a question on my list.



           15      Q.    So when the Spanish came through and recorded



           16  where tribes were, specifically Father Kino, did he



           17  notice any tribes -- excuse me, Native Americans on the



           18  Salt?



           19      A.    No, I don't think he did.



           20      Q.    So no one was on the Salt when the Spanish



           21  came through?



           22      A.    Well, he just -- if I remember, he only



           23  visited one little spot.  So I don't think they were



           24  farming the Salt, except down near the confluence.



           25      Q.    And he did see that there were civilizations
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            1  on the Lower Gila, from the Salt confluence with the



            2  Gila on down to the Colorado?



            3      A.    To tell you the truth, I read the histories



            4  of the Pimas, and what he did after that I really



            5  didn't care.  So there are histories, I do know, of the



            6  Indians on the Colorado River.  If there are any in the



            7  very lower reach of the Gila, I don't know.



            8      Q.    Let's put up a map so we can just confirm



            9  what you're saying, which is that no one was on the



           10  Salt when Kino came through, C046 Part 376.  I can hand



           11  the map out, actually, and one to you as well,



           12  Mr. Gookin.



           13            So this is a map from Father Kino?



           14      A.    Yes.  I've seen it before.



           15      Q.    Okay.  And as you stated, there's a few



           16  civilizations or a lot of native people, settlements,



           17  throughout the map.



           18            There are none on the Rio Salado; is that



           19  right?



           20      A.    Okay, I think -- I've always had a lot of



           21  trouble with this map, because I have never been sure



           22  if that Rio Azul, which becomes the Rio Salado, was the



           23  Agua Fria or the Salt River, because it just goes in



           24  the wrong direction.  And I suspect historians can



           25  argue that point.
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            1            Assuming that was where it was or that's what



            2  he meant, the Rio Salado or Salt River, he doesn't show



            3  any as of then.



            4      Q.    So none on the Rio Salado, none on the Rio



            5  Azul, which might be the Rio Salado combined with the



            6  Verde, that lower part?



            7      A.    No, I don't think so.



            8            You're talking about the confluence with the



            9  Salt and the Verde there?



           10      Q.    Could Rio Azul be the lower part of the Salt



           11  where the Verde combines with the Salt?



           12      A.    You mean like near the transition from



           13  Segment 5 to Segment 6?



           14      Q.    Right.  Could Rio Azul be --



           15      A.    No.



           16      Q.    No, in your opinion, it can't?



           17      A.    I don't think so, because it shows Casa



           18  Grande, and Casa Grande is right near Coolidge, which



           19  is downstream from the Salt-Verde confluence.



           20      Q.    So we're not sure what Rio Azul means, but



           21  there's no settlements on that either?



           22      A.    Right.



           23      Q.    Okay.  And do you have any other



           24  documentation that shows that the Salt River had



           25  settlements on it?
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            1      A.    Yeah.  The Indian Claims Commission in 236-C,



            2  cat, ruled what the occupation area of the



            3  Pima-Maricopa were.  Those two tribes both live on the



            4  Gila community, the Ak-Chin and the Salt River



            5  Reservations.



            6            And the judicial determinations went up to --



            7  basically, it encompassed pretty much metropolitan



            8  Phoenix.  It went up to the base of the mountains on



            9  the north and then it followed the mountain fronts as



           10  it came down, and that pretty much defined it.  It went



           11  west of the Salt-Gila confluence, and I think it went



           12  down to the Sierra Estrellas.  I don't think -- I'm not



           13  sure.  I don't totally remember where the bottom edge



           14  was.



           15      Q.    Was that a ruling that dealt with the current



           16  location of the Salt River Pima settlement?



           17      A.    No, it was determining the aboriginal lands



           18  that were illegally taken by the United States due to



           19  the fact there was no Treaty that had allowed the



           20  United States to assume ownership.



           21      Q.    And you believe in that ruling they talk



           22  specifically about Pima settlements on the Lower Salt?



           23      A.    They determined the aboriginal land of the



           24  Pima, and that's what it was.



           25      Q.    Specifically settlements, have you heard
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            1  anything about settlements on the Lower Salt in that



            2  ruling; not lands, but settlements?



            3      A.    I'm pretty sure it talked about they



            4  irrigated.  They retreated later due to the Apache



            5  menace.  They had to -- I have read things that talk



            6  about how they had to move south from the Salt,



            7  consolidate to have bigger population centers nearer



            8  each other, in case the Apache raiders came, and they



            9  could mobilize quicker.



           10      Q.    So there's a little buffer zone between the



           11  Pima and the Apache because of the threat of Apache



           12  raids?



           13      A.    Right.



           14      Q.    And was --



           15      A.    Or I assume, Joe, from your point of view,



           16  due to the Pima raids on the Apaches.



           17      Q.    Well, it's well-known that the --



           18      A.    And I am going from my propaganda based on



           19  that.



           20      Q.    It's well-known that the Apaches were, in



           21  part, a raiding culture?



           22      A.    That's my opinion.



           23      Q.    If you read Grenville Goodwin's book --



           24      A.    Yeah.



           25      Q.    -- he talks all about that, right?
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            1      A.    (Witness nodded.)



            2                 MR. SPARKS:  Those are all written by



            3  the white guys.



            4  BY MR. SLADE:



            5      Q.    Who spent eight years with the Apache.  But



            6  we don't know.



            7      A.    I think this is a fight.  It was a no man's



            8  land.  Let's leave it at that.



            9      Q.    The Lower Salt was a no man's land?



           10      A.    Yeah, after the Apache came in, except,



           11  again, for the very -- right near the Gila confluence.



           12  The Maricopa, when they moved up the Gila River after



           13  their neighbors chased them out, settled and irrigated



           14  from the Salt and the Gila.



           15      Q.    So we don't know that boats were used by the



           16  Pima on the Lower Salt; there's no evidence of that?



           17      A.    They tried with a raft once on a military



           18  expedition, and they were using it as a ferry, or going



           19  to, and it capsized.



           20      Q.    Did the Maricopa and Pima use rafts on the



           21  Lower Gila?



           22      A.    Not to my knowledge.



           23      Q.    Do you know if the Phoenix Sky Train article



           24  talks about that?



           25      A.    No.
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            1      Q.    So we've talked about the Phoenix Sky Train



            2  article in some detail.  It's C028 Part 313 in



            3  evidence, and have you had the opportunity to read this



            4  at all, Mr. Gookin?



            5      A.    I have not read it.  I've just looked at it



            6  and moved on.



            7      Q.    Okay.



            8      A.    I've not studied it.



            9      Q.    If you turn to Page 112, at the top it says



           10  112, and if we read from the bottom paragraph that



           11  starts, "Unfortunately."



           12            I'll read for you:  "Unfortunately, it



           13  appears that no one has found further mention of the



           14  alleged canoe, or the canoe itself, in any Hohokam



           15  collections.  Despite the very thin evidence for the



           16  existence of a Hohokam transportation system using reed



           17  balsas to cross the Salt and Gila rivers and to



           18  transport goods along the canals, the idea is worth



           19  considering.  Virtually all the groups living in the



           20  deserts west of the Phoenix Basin utilized reed balsas



           21  for crossing the Colorado and lower Gila rivers.  The



           22  Mohave utilized reed balsas apparently made of cattail.



           23  These rafts were large enough to carry four to six



           24  adults and were so easy to make that, quote, If the



           25  current carried it far downstream [while crossing the
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            1  river] it was easier to put a new one together than to



            2  drag the old one up against the current, end quote.



            3  The Mohave also made 1-meter-diameter ceramic pots to



            4  float children and goods across the rivers."



            5      A.    I had not read that, and I have to admit a



            6  bias.  When you say Lower Gila, I think of about down



            7  to Gila Bend and not much further because of my life's



            8  work orientation.  So I was not considering down near



            9  Yuma.



           10            I'm very sorry, Mr. Chairman.



           11      Q.    The Salt was the major contributor to the



           12  Gila, would you agree?



           13      A.    Correct.



           14      Q.    In fact, would you agree it had far more flow



           15  than the Gila?



           16      A.    About three times.



           17      Q.    Okay.  And boats were used on the Lower Gila?



           18      A.    By the Mohave.  I thought that's what that



           19  was indicating, because it's talking about what they



           20  used, reed balsas.



           21      Q.    By groups living in the desert west of the



           22  Phoenix Basin.



           23      A.    Okay.  The Phoenix Basin, I think, would



           24  include the junction that we're talking about.  And



           25  then it goes on and talks about the Mohave used reed
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            1  balsas, and it's primarily talking about use of it by



            2  the Mohave, which is over on the Colorado area.



            3      Q.    So boats have been used on the Lower Gila,



            4  where we know Kino found settlements, and the Salt is



            5  the major contributory flow for the Lower Gila.  Do you



            6  think if there were settlements on the Lower Salt,



            7  boats, reed balsas, could have also been used on the



            8  Lower Salt?



            9      A.    That's a pretty big leap that because you've



           10  got boats down in Reach 8, which is where I think



           11  they're talking, that you can use it up in the Salt



           12  River.



           13                 MR. MURPHY:  Do you mean Segment 8 of



           14  the Gila?



           15                 THE WITNESS:  Or segment 8 of the Gila.



           16  I'm sorry.  You are correct.



           17                 While the Salt River is three-fourths of



           18  the flow, it is three-fourths.



           19                 Also, I thought I had read -- well,



           20  yeah, it says for crossing the Colorado and Lower Gila



           21  Rivers.  They're utilizing it as ferries, not commerce



           22  boats.



           23  BY MR. SLADE:



           24      Q.    Even on the Colorado they're using it as a



           25  ferry?
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            1      A.    According to this article, yes.  Now, I don't



            2  know about others.



            3      Q.    Do you have any evidence that at the Colorado



            4  boats were used other than for ferries?



            5      A.    I know Mr. Fuller mentioned it in his



            6  reports.



            7      Q.    By the Native Americans.



            8      A.    By the Native Americans.



            9            And that's it.  That's all I know.



           10      Q.    Would that surprise you that the Native



           11  Americans could use boats on the Lower Salt, given the



           12  amount of flow it had?



           13      A.    Toy boats, steamers?  I mean that's a very



           14  vague question.



           15      Q.    The boats they had at that time, the balsas,



           16  does it surprise you that those could be used on the



           17  Lower Salt?



           18      A.    The Pimas didn't have --



           19                 MR. MURPHY:  I want to make an objection



           20  to this question.  I don't think there's any evidence



           21  that boats were used on the Salt, and the question



           22  seems to assume that.



           23                 MR. SLADE:  Let me rephrase it then.



           24                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Slade, it appears



           25  to be almost conjecture in the report, as to whether or
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            1  not they were used.



            2                 MR. SLADE:  Well, that's your opinion,



            3  Mr. Chairman.



            4                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  That's what it says.



            5  There's very limited, in fact, almost no evidence that



            6  they were used.



            7                 THE WITNESS:  Very thin evidence.



            8                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thin evidence.



            9  BY MR. SLADE:



           10      Q.    Do we have any evidence that boats were used



           11  on the Colorado?



           12      A.    Mr. Fuller cited to some Spanish, early



           13  Spanish explorers who recorded boats on the Colorado.



           14  And I assume we're limiting it to prehistory times?



           15      Q.    Right.



           16      A.    Because after 1852 they're all over the place



           17  on the Colorado.



           18      Q.    Do you know if the Hohokam used their canals



           19  for boats, travel, wagons -- or not wagons, but did



           20  they use any type of boat on their canals, that you're



           21  aware of?



           22      A.    That goes to that one questionable canoe and



           23  the fact there might have been a boat dock at one point



           24  in a canal.  That's my only evidence, and most of them



           25  are very, very weak or very thin, I guess.  But that's
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            1  all I know about it.  I haven't asked any Hohokam.



            2      Q.    You've read some accounts of the native



            3  cultures.  Do you know who was living in the Upper



            4  Salt, based on what you've read?



            5      A.    Before the successful incursion of the



            6  Anglo-Americans or Americans, the Apaches were.



            7      Q.    And do you have any citations that you can



            8  provide me with that talk about where they were?



            9      A.    Not with me and -- no.  I think I know where



           10  there's a map in a report by a gentleman, maybe,



           11  perhaps.  I don't know.



           12      Q.    And I ask from an informative perspective.



           13  I'm just seeing if you have any knowledge of that.



           14      A.    Oh.  I've read many places they came to this



           15  area, but I don't have a map of it.  I do know that if



           16  you saw one, where they occupied is kind of



           17  loosey-goosey, because they were, in large part,



           18  nomadic.



           19            Oh, there was an Indian Claims Commission on



           20  it, decision, that would show the aboriginal area.  I



           21  don't know the number.



           22      Q.    I want to talk very briefly about just a few



           23  historical accounts.  We're not going to go through



           24  them all.  Let's start with the Day brothers trip.



           25  It's your opinion that the Day brothers did not use the
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            1  Salt River; is that right?



            2      A.    On their last trip.  They -- well, either



            3  they used it and they were dragging the boats through



            4  portions, because most of the water would have been



            5  diverted, or they went down the canals.  And a guess,



            6  and it's a guess, the canals; but they may have



            7  dragged.



            8      Q.    And that's because you believe that the



            9  Arizona Dam was diverting everything below 1,000 cfs?



           10      A.    It would, because of the structure of



           11  diversion dams back then.  There would be leakage



           12  through it, some, but not much.  You took all you could



           13  and the canal was 1,000 cfs and put what you wanted



           14  back, and in their case two miles later, so it was at



           15  least a two-mile reach that was virtually dry.  From



           16  that point we don't know how much they put back when,



           17  but we do know that there was no commissioner enforcing



           18  the Kibbey Decree, so they didn't have much motivation



           19  to.



           20      Q.    And you think that would have happened as



           21  well in the winter, when there was less irrigation?



           22      A.    Yes.



           23      Q.    And have you done any analysis on if that



           24  was, in fact, what was diverted in the winter, based on



           25  gages that you could find?
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            1      A.    I saw, I think, somewhere -- no, that was



            2  Granite Reef.



            3            I didn't see any, no.



            4      Q.    And did you do any analysis on --



            5      A.    Oh, I did find the GS study that said this is



            6  what their pattern would be under Roosevelt Dam, that



            7  they divert more in the winter, about half in the



            8  winter.



            9      Q.    Half of what they --



           10      A.    Half of their peak use.



           11      Q.    And where was Hayden's Ferry located relative



           12  to the Arizona Dam?



           13      A.    Downstream.



           14      Q.    Do you know how far downstream?



           15      A.    Hayden's Ferry was basically at the boundary



           16  between 6a and 6b.  It's where the Old Mill Bridge is



           17  right now.  Does that help?



           18      Q.    Do you know how many miles it would be from



           19  the Arizona Dam to where Hayden's Ferry was operating?



           20      A.    I know I computed it once, and I don't



           21  remember.  I think it's in the Navigability



           22  Commission's report.  I'm not sure.  No, I computed it,



           23  but I don't remember it.



           24      Q.    Would you expect that the diverted water from



           25  Arizona Dam would return above Hayden's Ferry or below?
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            1      A.    The very first years it probably returned at



            2  about Indian Bend Wash, but then as it got extended, I



            3  imagine most of it came back at the Agua Fria, because



            4  that's where they would dump their tailwater, or -- and



            5  I'm talking about above ground.  Groundwater was



            6  seeping in the whole time and migrating towards the



            7  river.



            8            At one point in time they reached a deal with



            9  the Grand Canal and they put the crosscut canal through



           10  to feed them.  I don't remember the year.  And, of



           11  course, probably some water got lost at that point.



           12      Q.    I'm not sure I understood exactly what you



           13  meant.  So you would think that the diverted water from



           14  the Arizona Dam would come in below where Hayden's



           15  Ferry was operating?



           16      A.    I'm saying at the very beginning, because



           17  they started at the head and started digging and



           18  heading west, generally, and north.  At the point they



           19  were only irrigating land -- I mean when they get got



           20  to the Indian Bend wash, then probably the tailwater



           21  went there.  And I'm just thinking about how I would



           22  have done it if I was building it.  And as every major



           23  wash came -- the reach between every major wash came



           24  in, I would start dumping the tailwater at that point



           25  so you don't hurt anybody.  And it now I think empties
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            1  in the Agua Fria.  So over time the return point would



            2  move west.



            3      Q.    Do you know how much Hayden's Ferry drew when



            4  it was loaded with its capacity?



            5      A.    Initially, 1,000 cubic feet per second.



            6      Q.    Hayden's Ferry.



            7      A.    I'm sorry.



            8      Q.    How much did the boat draw in the water when



            9  it was loaded for use?



           10      A.    No idea.



           11      Q.    And do you know when the operation of the



           12  ferry occurred generally throughout the year?



           13      A.    I thought it was during high water seasons,



           14  but I would go to a historian for a better answer.



           15      Q.    Would you expect the ferry to be operating if



           16  Arizona Dam was taking all of the water?



           17      A.    If -- Arizona Dam didn't take all the water



           18  all the time.  I never said that.  In low flow years it



           19  took all of the water.  And when it was operating,



           20  there would be return flow coming to the surface due to



           21  the bedrock barrier underlying Hayden's Ferry.  That's



           22  why I split the two basins.  And so it could be wet



           23  enough that some people were afraid of getting mired in



           24  the mud or something.



           25      Q.    Do you know what amount of flow would be
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            1  needed for Hayden's Ferry to operate?



            2      A.    No.



            3      Q.    But if there was less than 1,000 cfs, you



            4  wouldn't think that Hayden's Ferry would be operating?



            5      A.    If they took the 1,000 and didn't return it



            6  at the two-mile return, as I say, I don't know what



            7  kind of return flows they were getting.  Some of it may



            8  have been coming down Indian Bend Wash, but -- and



            9  there was return flow.  Since I don't know what it



           10  takes to operate it or create the need, I can't answer



           11  your question.



           12                 MR. SLADE:  I think there's a question.



           13



           14             EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN



           15                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Yeah.  If you could



           16  refresh my memory, when was the dam constructed, the



           17  Arizona Dam?



           18                 THE WITNESS:  I know it was talked about



           19  and they were expecting it to be built in '83, and



           20  there was executive falderal.  They got it up and



           21  running in '85, and that was the picture that



           22  Dr. Littlefield was showing, which I had never seen.



           23                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Do you have any



           24  idea when in '85?



           25                 THE WITNESS:  No, I don't.





                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440



                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ

�



                        SALT RIVER     VOLUME 16      02/26/2016

                                                                      3494





            1                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  When did the Day



            2  brothers come downstream?



            3                 THE WITNESS:  They came downstream in



            4  '92.  Well, that was the date of the article, and there



            5  were four trips prior, which would -- if they were



            6  consecutive, and we don't know, the first trip would



            7  have been '87 to '88.



            8                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay.  But they



            9  were coming downstream during the wintertime when they



           10  left the Upper Verde, correct?



           11                 THE WITNESS:  Most likely.



           12                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  And so when they



           13  would have reached that point, it could well have been



           14  during the spring floods?



           15                 THE WITNESS:  We have records for four



           16  of those years, four of them.  Assuming they're five



           17  consecutive years, we have records for four of them.



           18  Three of them, absolutely.  There were strong records



           19  in the early winter -- or the late winter that there



           20  were high flows that would have gone right over the dam



           21  and created a base.  They were in the thousands and



           22  tens of thousands of cfs.



           23                 In the last year when they did it or



           24  reported to have done it, the high I think was -- high



           25  flow was 800 cfs during the months they were going.
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            1  The first year we have no flow records.



            2                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Given the fact that



            3  it was a temporary -- well, it's not really a temporary



            4  dam, but it was not a very high dam, is there any



            5  reason why they -- if they did, in reality, do this,



            6  that they wouldn't have portaged around that?



            7                 THE WITNESS:  They could have --



            8                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Unless there was no



            9  water below; but if it was during the wintertime, then



           10  there would have been water below because it would have



           11  been over the dam.



           12                 THE WITNESS:  In the three years when



           13  I'm sure it went over the dam, absolutely they could



           14  have portaged.  I expect that some of them, if they



           15  were feeling adventurous, they could have ridden a



           16  roller-coaster over it.



           17                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  It would have been



           18  quite a ride.



           19                 THE WITNESS:  Quite a ride.  I can't --



           20  I wouldn't try it, but that's me.



           21                 The year when it was dry, I think given



           22  the construction of diversion dams when there's no



           23  storage dam upstream, they automatically divert the



           24  capacity of the canal.  They're designed to do that.



           25  So then they return the flow for downstream users if --
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            1                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Well, that raises a



            2  curious question, I think.  If they reached the dam and



            3  they didn't want to get out of the boat, but they



            4  decided they'd stay in the canal part of it --



            5                 THE WITNESS:  Right.



            6                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  -- could they not



            7  have gone right on around and --



            8                 THE WITNESS:  And that's my point.  I



            9  think my guess -- and if you read the article, it does



           10  not say they boated the Salt River.  They came to the



           11  Salt River and then continued on the Gila.  Now, I may



           12  be reading way too much into it, and, of course, it's a



           13  newspaper article.  I think you've heard a little bit



           14  about that.



           15                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Yeah.



           16                 THE WITNESS:  So I think it's probable



           17  they just -- as the dam diverted the river into the



           18  Arizona Canal, that would be a beautiful way to



           19  transport; and so that's what I think they did.



           20                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Yeah.



           21                 THE WITNESS:  As you said earlier when



           22  we discussed this, it is speculation.  There's so



           23  little to go on.



           24                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Slade, would it be



           25  all right if we took a break now?
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            1                 MR. SLADE:  Absolutely.



            2                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you very much.



            3                 (A recess was taken from 11:03 a.m. to



            4  11:14 a.m.)



            5                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Slade, are you



            6  ready?



            7                 MR. SLADE:  Ready to go.



            8                 THE WITNESS:  I'm ready.



            9                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Gookin, are you



           10  ready?



           11                 THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir.



           12                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Please proceed,



           13  Mr. Slade.



           14



           15               CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)



           16  BY MR. SLADE:



           17      Q.    Mr. Gookin, I want to try to understand your



           18  calculated reconstructed numbers.



           19      A.    Yes.



           20      Q.    And is the best place to look at that in



           21  totality your Figure VI-3 on Page 107 of your report?



           22      A.    Oh, that shows the depths based on those



           23  numbers.



           24      Q.    You calculated for the Salt-Verde confluence



           25  just below, that it would be a median of 791 cfs; is
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            1  that right?



            2      A.    Below the confluence, Salt-Verde?  Yes, 791



            3  median.



            4      Q.    Okay.  And that's based on your Gila report



            5  numbers; is that right?



            6      A.    Yes.



            7      Q.    And how did you come up with that 791?



            8      A.    What I did, I would go to a -- I went to a



            9  gaging station that the White Book had used, and that's



           10  the report on the water supply of the Lower Colorado



           11  River, November 1952, and there's two supplements to it



           12  and I always include.  To me, that's one book, looking



           13  back in time.



           14            The Bureau of Reclamation broke the river



           15  down into two basic components, what was there



           16  historically in that period and then what they thought



           17  needed to be added and subtracted back in.  So I went



           18  to the historic record and determined what the



           19  distribution of flows was.  I found the 10 percent low



           20  flow, I found the median, and I found the mean.  And



           21  the reason I found the mean was because I was using



           22  periods that didn't always match exactly, it would be



           23  off a little bit.  And sometimes there will be gages



           24  like here and here, but the Bureau of Reclamation has



           25  put its point here, and so I would add two gages and
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            1  compare it to what happened.



            2            That gave me a feeling for the distribution



            3  of the historic flow.  Now the question is, you go



            4  through the White Book and you take each component of



            5  inflow or outflow, and you have to stop and think about



            6  it and go, okay, what would this flow contribute to.



            7            Well, inflows, since most of these reaches



            8  that I'm talking about are -- the inflows are all



            9  ephemeral, then you would expect that they would be



           10  very -- they would come at very wet times, when there's



           11  a lot of storms.  And so they would count for the



           12  average, but they wouldn't count for the median.  So I



           13  addressed that accordingly.



           14            Man or human-caused losses, irrigation,



           15  mining, et cetera, that's going to occur more



           16  consistently at year after year, so when I'm adding



           17  that water back in, I'm saying that does affect the



           18  median.  I said it did affect the baseflow.



           19            Now, I looked at other things for the



           20  baseflow, and I got several estimates in the Gila



           21  report for the baseflows.  I think I picked the Thomsen



           22  and Porcello.  And I was looking at it a couple nights



           23  ago to review it.  I may have made a -- I've made a



           24  minor mistake to be consistent.  I said I took the



           25  baseflow from the White Book and did the addition and
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            1  subtraction to get the Salt.  And I did do that.  But



            2  in my Gila report I used the baseflow from Thomsen and



            3  Porcello.  It's off by about, I don't know, 7 cfs, I



            4  think.  It's very small.  And that's an oops.  But



            5  other than that, that's basically how I did it.



            6      Q.    Is there any document that you can compare



            7  your median Salt-Verde confluence number to that you



            8  have been able to find?



            9      A.    No.



           10      Q.    Have you had any --



           11      A.    Other than what I've said for the White Book,



           12  but that's it.



           13      Q.    Has anyone reviewed your 791 cfs number for



           14  the median?



           15      A.    No.



           16      Q.    And have you published it anywhere?



           17      A.    No, but last night I was thinking about it.



           18      Q.    The same question --



           19      A.    I really was.



           20      Q.    The same question for the low flow of 296;



           21  has anyone reviewed that?



           22      A.    No.



           23      Q.    Have you read the Kent and Kibbey decrees?



           24      A.    Yes.



           25      Q.    And they estimated that the lowest flow,
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            1  generally, of the Salt was about 300 cfs; is that



            2  right?



            3      A.    I don't remember.



            4      Q.    That's generally what you have for your low



            5  flow?



            6      A.    Yes.



            7      Q.    They're pretty comparable?



            8      A.    I was going to say I wouldn't argue 4 cfs.



            9      Q.    No, and I'm not either.



           10      A.    Okay.



           11      Q.    Now, that's at the top of Segment 6, right?



           12      A.    Right.



           13      Q.    And you believe that 200 cfs is then lost in



           14  6b; is that right?



           15      A.    Some is lost in 6a.  Some of it returns, some



           16  of what is lost returns.  Then some of it is lost in 6



           17  that goes down in 6b.  Some of it comes back before the



           18  confluence.  A lot of it comes back after the



           19  confluence with the Gila.  Some of it went south



           20  between the Salt and -- the South Mountains and the



           21  Sacaton Mountains, in that gap underground, and emerged



           22  as underflow for the Gila.



           23      Q.    So for Segment 6b you believe the flow is --



           24  the median flow for that segment is 581?



           25      A.    Yes.
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            1      Q.    And 6b starts at -- what was the location for



            2  the start of 6b, again?



            3      A.    The Old Mill Avenue Bridge, which is



            4  essentially the Hayden Ferry.  Tempe Butte, if that



            5  helps, that right there.



            6      Q.    And can you walk me through how 200 cfs is



            7  lost from the top of Segment 6 to Hayden's Ferry?



            8      A.    Sure.  The water is heading down.  The Salt



            9  River is made in that reach, according to Means, of



           10  gravelly sand, which means it's mostly coarse sand with



           11  some gravel mixed in, very porous material.  It seeps



           12  into the ground.  Some of it would have been



           13  intercepted by mesquite and other phreatophytic



           14  vegetation on the way to the confluence.



           15            Some of the water that's down now in the



           16  groundwater and is paralleling, roughly, the Salt River



           17  is going to go under the confluence of the Salt and the



           18  Gila and emerge later, and that was a lot of the water



           19  that the Buckeye Irrigation District used in the early



           20  days, and that's where we get a lot of our records as



           21  to what was going on.



           22            Some of the water, as the Salt built this



           23  mound underneath it from these losses, would have



           24  flowed south through the gap.  There is conjecture that



           25  the Salt River used to do that way back when, and it
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            1  left a coarse underground channel, and that provided an



            2  easy means for water to infiltrate south to the Gila



            3  River, where it either emerged in the Gila River



            4  upstream from the confluence or joined the Salt River



            5  and went under the confluence and came up later,



            6  subject, again, to the phreatophytes on the Middle and



            7  Lower Gila.



            8      Q.    Do you have any references or documents that



            9  state that from Hayden's Mill to the Salt it was



           10  typical that 200 cfs was lost?



           11      A.    That was my computation, and that's what I've



           12  got.



           13      Q.    No sources that you can point me to that



           14  quantify the amount that might have been lost from --



           15      A.    Your best bet would be the Hodges report.  It



           16  did a really good study on the return flow of the Salt



           17  and Gila Rivers, or the Southworth report.  I know I



           18  read them, but I didn't read them with an eye to --



           19  well, wait a minute.  Let me go back.  Just a second.



           20            Below the confluence I looked at Hodges,



           21  Freethey and Anderson, Thomsen, Southworth and USGS



           22  1901, which I think is a Lee report.  I'm looking at



           23  Page 5.  No.  Well, 5a, I guess you would call it,



           24  Figure II-1 in Chapter II of my Gila report, and it



           25  shows the various values, and I think I ended up using
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            1  Thomsen.  That was, okay, 74 cfs versus the



            2  80-something.  I don't think it would make a



            3  significant difference in the determination.



            4            And I didn't print out my bibliography.  I'm



            5  sorry.  So I don't know what USGS 1901 is.



            6      Q.    When you say the Thomsen report said there



            7  was a 74 cfs minimum flow, did I hear you correctly?



            8      A.    Yes.



            9      Q.    And that was --



           10      A.    That was the Gila Thomsen report.



           11      Q.    Was that for the Gila or for the Salt?



           12      A.    That was for the Gila and Salt immediately



           13  downstream below the confluence.



           14      Q.    And what's the name of that report?



           15      A.    "Predevelopment Hydrology for the Gila River



           16  Indian Reservation," something like that.



           17      Q.    So not the Thomsen and Porcello, but the



           18  Thomsen and, is it --



           19      A.    Yeah, me too.  To me, they're both the



           20  Thomsen report.



           21      Q.    Eychaner --



           22      A.    That sounds right.



           23      Q.    -- does that sound familiar?  Okay.



           24            So your understanding is in that report they



           25  state that the minimum flow of the Salt where it joins
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            1  the Gila is 86 cfs?



            2      A.    No.  They say that the minimum flow that



            3  comes in that's just downstream from the Salt is



            4  74 cfs.



            5      Q.    Okay.



            6      A.    I'm trying to figure out how did it get that



            7  high now.  Oh, wait.  I know how I did it.  I used the



            8  Bureau of Reclamation by mistake.  That's right.  It



            9  would be lower if I had used Thomsen.



           10      Q.    Are they talking about the Gila or the Salt?



           11      A.    Thomsen said how much was below the



           12  confluence.  I had computed how much was above the



           13  confluence on the Gila.  If you take below the



           14  confluence plus above the confluence on the Gila, you



           15  know how much was on the Salt.



           16            Now, Thomsen said that the value on the Salt



           17  was 74 cfs baseflow.  There was a graph you had to



           18  read, I think.



           19      Q.    You don't have a citation to that that you



           20  can point me to, can you?



           21      A.    Just the Thomsen.  Wait a minute.



           22            No, I didn't put a page number.  I don't know



           23  why.  It was Thomsen and I always pronounce it as



           24  Eychaner.



           25      Q.    Eychaner.
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            1      A.    But I don't know.



            2      Q.    That sounds better than my butchered



            3  pronunciation.



            4      A.    My citations are on Page 10, Chapter II of



            5  Hydrology, Gila report.



            6      Q.    But it doesn't have a page number for where



            7  your 74 low flow cfs comes from?



            8      A.    No, it doesn't.  I don't know why.



            9      Q.    If I gave you the report, would you be able



           10  to point it out?



           11      A.    I imagine I had to compute it to come up with



           12  it, because if I remember, they did their stuff in



           13  annual acre-feet.



           14      Q.    Could you tell me the general area where it



           15  is if I gave you the report?



           16      A.    I would -- I'll try.  Have you got the whole



           17  thing?



           18                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  What is the



           19  citation number on that?



           20                 THE WITNESS:  This doesn't have an



           21  exhibit number on it.



           22                 MR. SLADE:  We'll get that for you,



           23  Mr. Chairman, or, excuse me, Commissioner Allen.



           24                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  What is the title?



           25                 THE WITNESS:  The title is
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            1  "Predevelopment Hydrology of the Gila River Indian



            2  Reservation, South-Central Arizona."



            3                 MS. BREWER:  C043, 369.



            4                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  369?



            5                 THE WITNESS:  Oh, yeah, I think -- okay.



            6  If you go to Page 34.  Correction, 33.  You'll see,



            7  under Outflow, there's the net return flow from aquifer



            8  to, and then there's Gila River near Coolidge, Gila and



            9  Santa Cruz River southeast of Gila Crossing, Gila River



           10  northwest of Gila Crossing, and then the underflow west



           11  of the confluence.  And I believe if you add all those



           12  up and convert the units, you'll come out with 79.3, if



           13  I did it right.



           14  BY MR. SLADE:



           15      Q.    Is that the surface flow --



           16      A.    Yeah.



           17      Q.    -- that they're talking about?



           18      A.    It's the return flow from aquifer, and that's



           19  baseflow.  It's the water coming out of the groundwater



           20  and going into the surface and thereby leaving the



           21  groundwater basin.



           22      Q.    Well, the title of the table is "Simulated



           23  predevelopment ground-water budget."



           24      A.    Right.



           25      Q.    So where does it say that's the surface flow?
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            1      A.    Net return flow from aquifer to Gila River.



            2      Q.    So if that's coming from the aquifer, that's



            3  being added to the existing surface flow?



            4      A.    Right, and that's what baseflow is normally



            5  characterized, is the return from the aquifer in the



            6  area where you're talking about.



            7      Q.    So what is that return added to?  What is the



            8  surface water that the return flow is being --



            9      A.    For baseflow you figure it probably had dried



           10  up or nearly so, which it did on occasion, and so



           11  that's pretty much your lowest flow.



           12      Q.    So it's your opinion that the Salt was dry on



           13  the surface?



           14      A.    Well, no, this is the Gila.



           15      Q.    Is it your opinion that the Salt was dry at



           16  the surface when it combined with the Gila?



           17      A.    No.  I'm pretty sure it had water.



           18      Q.    Okay.  So what was the baseflow of the Salt?



           19      A.    The baseflow of the Salt then, which you --



           20  this total gives you the total underflow coming out.  I



           21  had also computed the underflow above the confluence on



           22  the Gila.  If you know how much is leaving a system and



           23  you've got two inputs and you know how much one of them



           24  is and you know we're talking about a long time, so



           25  it's not going to -- I mean, you may have short-term
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            1  variations, but we're not trying to fill a reservoir or



            2  anything.  It's straight math to compute the last



            3  component, straight out.  You just take outflow minus



            4  Gila inflow equals Salt inflow.



            5      Q.    Maybe I'm confused, but I'm going to try and



            6  clarify with you.



            7      A.    Okay.



            8      Q.    On your Page 107, your Figure VI-3, you've



            9  got a minimum flow of 86 cfs for the Salt?



           10      A.    Yes, and as I said, that was wrong.  I



           11  probably should have come up with something smaller.



           12  But, okay, go ahead.



           13      Q.    And that minimum flow is based on solely the



           14  outflow from the aquifer that we can see here on the



           15  Thomsen study on Page 33?



           16      A.    Yes.  The outflow below the con -- the total



           17  outflow of the Gila -- God, I wish I had a board.



           18            You've got two rivers joining at the



           19  confluence, the Gila River and the Salt River.  The



           20  Gila River has a baseflow component creating water in



           21  the Gila above the confluence.  You also know what the



           22  baseflow is below the confluence, from the records and



           23  so forth and from this study.  Then you back out what



           24  the Salt must have been, to make it all balance.



           25      Q.    And I understand that from an overview
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            1  perspective.  But this is a groundwater budget paper.



            2      A.    Right.



            3      Q.    They're talking about groundwater, not



            4  surface water.  So did your minimum flow of 86 come



            5  from just assuming that the Salt was dry and that



            6  groundwater was coming up?



            7      A.    No, because I gave you a flow for the Salt.



            8  I assumed that the Salt and the Gila together combined



            9  to make all the flow that I found downstream of the



           10  Salt and the Gila.  I have a value for the Gila, and I



           11  computed the flow from the Salt.



           12            It does assume -- this is where you're



           13  confused. -- that whatever came in at, say, Granite



           14  Reef or at Kelvin on the Gila didn't make it in that



           15  really dry day, because while they were both perennial,



           16  the USGS says perennial means flow 80 percent of the



           17  time or more, and there are a couple records where it



           18  had little spots that dried up, which means you've got



           19  little to no flow coming down at the mouth of the Salt.



           20  So it's all underflow coming up, and that's what you're



           21  trying to quantify.



           22      Q.    So it's your thought that there was no



           23  surface flow on the Salt at the juncture of the Salt



           24  with the Gila --



           25      A.    No.
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            1      Q.    -- at minimum flow?



            2      A.    No.  It's my thought that somewhere on the



            3  Salt River upstream from the junction there was no



            4  flow, because in Reach 6b the water went down and then



            5  some of it came up.  Now, I say no flow.  There might



            6  have been 1 cfs, but it did have, on a couple very,



            7  very dry days, which we don't consider for



            8  navigability, almost dry up or dry up.  And not every



            9  year even.



           10      Q.    What document can you point me to that states



           11  that, that the Salt dried up?



           12      A.    I can't remember.  I should have put it in.



           13  I did have documents on the Gila had dried up; again,



           14  very brief points and very seldom.



           15      Q.    But that is a pretty important point if



           16  you're not considering surface water?



           17      A.    Not for baseflow, it's not.  Baseflow is



           18  telling you what the river is going to put out in the



           19  worst case condition.



           20            Now, Mr. Hjalmarson proved to me that that



           21  pretty much equals 10 percent flow, and that's what he



           22  uses, and I'm not going to argue between the 10 percent



           23  and the .01 percent.



           24      Q.    But your worst case condition for the Salt



           25  assumes that it went dry; is that right?
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            1      A.    Somewhere upstream it went dry or had a very



            2  minor flow for a very short time.



            3      Q.    And can I -- do I understand you to say that



            4  you don't have a document that states that?



            5      A.    Not at my hand, no.



            6      Q.    Do you recall if there's any study that's



            7  ever said the Salt went dry?



            8      A.    I don't remember any study, and I can't



            9  remember where I thought I found somebody who said that



           10  they couldn't find -- the Salt River was dry or very,



           11  very low.  It would have been in June, almost



           12  certainly.



           13            Well, excuse me, I have lots of documents



           14  that say it was dry, but they're after the diversions.



           15      Q.    Sure.  We're thinking about the natural



           16  condition.



           17      A.    Yeah.



           18                 MR. SLADE:  Is there a question?



           19



           20             EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN



           21                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Just a very brief



           22  one.



           23                 The Buckeye Canal was extended, or maybe



           24  it was the Roosevelt Canal that was extended up past



           25  91st Avenue, and wells were used to pull water out
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            1  because that particular area was waterlogged during the



            2  early time frame when a lot of irrigation was



            3  occurring.



            4                 THE WITNESS:  Right.



            5                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Was there a return



            6  flow pre-1900 in that particular area?



            7                 THE WITNESS:  Yes, there was.  The



            8  manager of the Roosevelt Irrigation District, and I



            9  can't remember which report, but he told the person



           10  that when he first put in the diversion dam, since then



           11  the return flow coming up had doubled due to the



           12  irrigation diversions and the seepage coming in; but



           13  there was some there really before there was much of



           14  that occurring.



           15                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Is it possible that



           16  that happened also during Hohokam?



           17                 THE WITNESS:  Sure.



           18                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  The same conditions



           19  would.



           20                 THE WITNESS:  Yeah.



           21                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  So the return flow



           22  to the river, which would probably have made it



           23  perennial throughout that whole reach of 6b?



           24                 THE WITNESS:  As long as -- I think the



           25  return flow started most of the way through 6b --
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            1                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay.



            2                 THE WITNESS:  -- is when it started



            3  coming up, because what causes the return flow is the



            4  junction of the Sierra Estrellas, the South Mountains,



            5  and the White Tanks and the bedrock connecting the



            6  three underneath, shallowing the groundwater basin.



            7



            8               CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)



            9  BY MR. SLADE:



           10      Q.    Mr. Gookin, just to wrap up the minimum flow,



           11  you would agree that to understand that the minimum



           12  flow was only 86 cfs, we need to know that the Salt



           13  River went dry, right?



           14      A.    Ordinarily so, yes.



           15      Q.    Okay.  But we don't have any document that



           16  tells us that it went dry?



           17      A.    Yes.



           18      Q.    Okay.  That's a problem for understanding how



           19  you came up with your calculation, right?



           20      A.    Baseflow is normally computed in this manner



           21  of what's coming up at the location.  And, again, don't



           22  get me wrong.  It's very rare that there's zero.  I



           23  don't think the Salt River dried up very often, and



           24  that's why I call it baseflow.  That's the contribution



           25  at that point.
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            1      Q.    Would it be a better verbiage or would it be



            2  better to call it, instead of minimum flow,



            3  contribution from the aquifer at that point?



            4      A.    Same thing, because the contribution from the



            5  aquifer is what determines your minimum flow.  Think of



            6  a river.  If it's not raining and the snow's not



            7  melting, the only place it gets water is from the



            8  groundwater coming back up, and that's what baseflow



            9  is.



           10      Q.    You've been on the Verde, right?  Have you



           11  ever seen --



           12      A.    Yes.



           13      Q.    The Verde has a baseflow?



           14      A.    Yes.



           15      Q.    And it's not just the contribution from the



           16  aquifer underneath; would you agree with that?



           17      A.    No.



           18      Q.    Can you explain?



           19      A.    Baseflow is the flow that comes into the



           20  river from the groundwater.  That's the definition of



           21  it.



           22      Q.    And for the Salt, you would suppose that the



           23  baseflow is only contributed to by the aquifer coming



           24  up?



           25      A.    Yes.
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            1      Q.    Okay.  Do you have any documentation that



            2  supports your theory that the Salt lost 200 cfs from



            3  the Salt-Verde confluence to the beginning of



            4  Segment 6b?



            5      A.    I can't quote it to you now, no.  I thought I



            6  had read it once, but it was many years ago.



            7      Q.    That's a pretty important piece of



            8  information to have, to know if, in fact, the flow was



            9  791 cfs or 581 cfs, as you've proposed, right?



           10      A.    Well, you've got to remember, again, that the



           11  200 -- excuse me.  I hate having two reports.  I'm



           12  spending time looking in the wrong one.



           13            The Thomsen report --



           14      Q.    Which Thomsen report is that?



           15      A.    For the Salt River.



           16      Q.    The Porcello report?



           17      A.    Yes.



           18      Q.    If you could just hold on one second.



           19      A.    Never mind, it didn't have the -- it did have



           20  a baseflow, but I think at that point you probably



           21  would have had surface flow from the Salt, because it



           22  had a baseflow of 296 at the confluence there, and



           23  that's a short distance to Old Mill Avenue.  So, no, I



           24  don't.  I'm sorry.



           25      Q.    Okay.  And the 581 cfs number is what you
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            1  used for your construction of your depth?



            2      A.    Yes.  That and the mean depths are primarily



            3  what I looked at.



            4      Q.    Are there any other documents related to how



            5  you constructed your flow that you haven't disclosed as



            6  a reference?



            7      A.    No.



            8      Q.    Then let's turn to your Page 106 of your



            9  report, please.  And this is a picture of the cross



           10  section you used for the Salt?



           11      A.    Yes.



           12      Q.    And how did you come up with this cross



           13  section to use?



           14      A.    I had a 2-foot topographic map of the



           15  Salt-Gila River junction by Olberg, dated 1915, I think



           16  I said.  And I thought that pretty fairly represented



           17  the channel in 1912.



           18      Q.    Did you say 1915?



           19      A.    I think it was 1915.  Let me look.



           20



           21             EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER ALLEN



           22                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Question.



           23                 THE WITNESS:  Yes.



           24                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  I can't read it



           25  from here, but what's the blue line?  Is that the water
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            1  level?



            2                 THE WITNESS:  The blue line is the



            3  baseflow water level.



            4                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay.  Okay.



            5                 THE WITNESS:  The green line is the



            6  median flow water level, and the red line is the mean



            7  flow water level.



            8                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay.  And where is



            9  this located?



           10                 THE WITNESS:  This would be located --



           11                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  It's very close



           12  to the baseline point.



           13                 THE WITNESS:  Oh, yeah.  It's like a



           14  mile or two upstream from the confluence --



           15                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Okay.



           16                 THE WITNESS:  -- with the Gila.



           17



           18               CROSS-EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)



           19  BY MR. SLADE:



           20      Q.    So you chose this because it was in your



           21  client's area, or what was your criteria for choosing



           22  this area?



           23      A.    Three reasons.  One, I had it.  I guess that



           24  makes four reasons.  Second, it's 2-foot contours,



           25  where USGS maps are 5-foot contours, and, therefore,
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            1  the accuracy is presumed better.  Third, it was very



            2  close in time to statehood.  Fourth, it was on my



            3  client's boundary.



            4            And I attached pictures of that portion of



            5  the map in my appendix at the very end, in Appendix A,



            6  right before Appendix B, the last two pages.  And they



            7  say it was by Southworth, but I've read elsewhere that



            8  Olberg was the poor shmuck who had to go in the field



            9  and do the measurements, and that's why I call it the



           10  Olberg map.



           11      Q.    So if we're looking at that cross section,



           12  again, this is on your Page 106 of your Salt River



           13  report --



           14      A.    Yes.



           15      Q.    -- you've got a median flow line in green; is



           16  that correct?



           17      A.    Yes, I believe so.



           18      Q.    Okay.  Would you expect that number to go up



           19  if you -- that line to move up and have a higher depth,



           20  if you didn't use the 581 and you instead use the



           21  791 cfs?



           22      A.    Yes.



           23      Q.    Do you know what that depth would be if you



           24  used 791 instead?



           25      A.    I'm trying to see if Mr. Fuller has a cross
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            1  section near it, and I thought I included -- oh, here.



            2            No.  I do know that be -- oh, below -- above



            3  581, according to Mr. Fuller, the mean depth would



            4  be -- at 1,400 cfs, which is almost double, it's only



            5  gone up to 2.1 feet mean depth.  So because of the fact



            6  it's widening out so fast, it doesn't increase very



            7  quickly.



            8      Q.    But you don't know what -- your cross section



            9  specifically, what the depth would be at a median flow



           10  of 791 as opposed to 581?



           11      A.    Correct.



           12      Q.    Okay.  Do you know it would be greater, the



           13  depth?



           14      A.    It would be greater at 791 than it would be



           15  at 781 [sic], yes.  And I also know, based on the other



           16  thing, it almost certainly would be below 2 foot.



           17      Q.    And if the -- the blue line is your minimum



           18  depth.



           19      A.    Right.



           20      Q.    If it turns out that the Salt River never



           21  went dry, would your minimum depth also be greater?



           22      A.    Yes.



           23      Q.    Is this the only cross section that you



           24  prepared for your --



           25      A.    Yes.
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            1      Q.    Okay.  And --



            2      A.    One thing I would like to say about this



            3  cross section.  It's written on there, but just to



            4  emphasize, the Salt River doesn't look like those



            5  canyons up there.  That canyon effect is totally due to



            6  the extreme exaggeration to make it fit the page.



            7      Q.    In other words, the width would be a lot



            8  wider than the height?



            9      A.    Yeah.



           10      Q.    And here we have the height wider than the



           11  width?



           12      A.    Yeah.  It's very misleading.



           13      Q.    Can a small boat navigate in 1 and a half



           14  feet of depth, in your opinion?



           15      A.    If I knew what a small boat was, I would have



           16  computed the Day trip.



           17      Q.    So you didn't do any computation on how much



           18  depth a small boat needs?



           19      A.    I don't even know what a small boat means.



           20      Q.    And is that the same answer you have for



           21  canoe?



           22      A.    Yes.  Yes.



           23      Q.    And is that the same answer you have for a



           24  small boat loaded with goods?



           25      A.    A small boat loaded with goods would be
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            1  deeper than a small boat loaded without goods,



            2  depending on how many goods you put into the small



            3  boat.



            4      Q.    You don't have any calculations or estimates



            5  that you did to figure out the draw or the depth of



            6  water needed?



            7      A.    You give me no numbers, you'll get no



            8  numbers.



            9      Q.    You didn't come up with anything?



           10      A.    No.



           11      Q.    Do you know what the flow was when the Edith



           12  made its trip?



           13      A.    Oh, 600 and -- do you know?



           14      Q.    653, does that sound about right?



           15      A.    That sounds about right.



           16      Q.    Okay.  And is that below the median value



           17  that you calculated for the top of Segment 6?



           18      A.    Yes, but that includes the Verde.



           19      Q.    Right.



           20            So if you had that median --



           21      A.    You can't move that median up into Segment 5



           22  past the -- because of the Verde.



           23      Q.    Sure.  If you had that median in Segment 6a



           24  and 6b, we could test to see -- if there was that



           25  amount of water, you could have tested to see if the
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            1  Edith could have also floated through that area, if we



            2  had that availability?



            3      A.    Even if you had it, it wouldn't be the



            4  natural river.



            5      Q.    Is it your belief that a segment has to be



            6  19 miles or longer to be navigable?  I thought I heard



            7  you say that in the November hearing.



            8      A.    That is truly a legal question.  I know the



            9  Court says it has to be a meaningful distance.  There



           10  was a lot of discussion about the 19-foot -- or



           11  19 miles by the Supreme Court.  I'm talking about PPL



           12  Montana now.  I didn't find -- it seemed to imply, but



           13  I didn't find an exact statement that said you needed



           14  19 miles.  Maybe an attorney can correct me.  But it



           15  didn't really come up, because the ones I said were too



           16  short were usually less than 10 miles.



           17      Q.    In the Lower Salt?



           18      A.    Yes.



           19      Q.    There were some dams in the Lower Salt,



           20  right, at the time those accounts occurred?



           21      A.    Yes.



           22      Q.    Would that have been a factor for potentially



           23  the distance that boats traveled if there were dams?



           24      A.    Certainly.  As I put in my report, all the



           25  stuff after the dams is really of minimal probative --
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            1  it's a legal word.  Probative value?  I got it?  Okay.



            2            That was from the Winkleman decision.



            3      Q.    I believe you stated in your report that the



            4  Salmon River was nonnavigable?



            5      A.    As best I could find.



            6      Q.    So you haven't seen the Idaho Supreme Court



            7  case that states the Salmon River is navigable?



            8      A.    Correct, and -- well, I haven't seen it, so I



            9  don't know if it's navigable for title or what, but...



           10      Q.    And the Salmon River, I'm not sure if you



           11  know this.  Maybe you do or do not.  Is the Salmon



           12  River one of those rivers where boats were built, taken



           13  downstream, and then sold for lumber?



           14      A.    Yes.



           15      Q.    Do you know if the Salmon River has rapids?



           16      A.    Yes, it does.



           17      Q.    More severe rapids than Segment 6 of the Salt



           18  would have had, in your opinion?



           19      A.    I have no idea.  I'm sorry.  That's just not



           20  my thing.



           21      Q.    Does a portage on a river make a river



           22  nonnavigable, one portage of a mile or less?



           23      A.    Well, the way the Supreme Court said it in



           24  PPL Montan was, "Even if portage --" this is Page 18.



           25  "Even if portage were to take travelers only one day,
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            1  its significance is the same:  It demonstrates the need



            2  to bypass the river segment, all because that part of



            3  the river is nonnavigable."



            4            So one portage of a day nullifies a segment,



            5  from what I read.  As to a mile, it depends on --



            6  sometimes to go portage 1 mile, you have to go 30 miles



            7  out of the way, or there could be so many goods that



            8  you're going to just be going back and forth so many



            9  times it takes a day.



           10      Q.    Are there any portages that you would expect



           11  to see on Segment 6 of the Lower Salt that would have



           12  taken a day?



           13      A.    Again, it would depend on how big the boats



           14  were, because -- and I still feel, with the beaver dam,



           15  if you've got one every 100 yards, like the observer



           16  who was there in natural times said, that's going to



           17  mount up to more than a day.  And it doesn't say if a



           18  single portage.  It's just "if portage," which I think



           19  is a plural the way it's written.



           20      Q.    So if there were beaver dams across the



           21  channel on the Salt every hundred yards or so --



           22      A.    Right.



           23      Q.    -- that, to you, would indicate that that



           24  area is nonnavigable?



           25      A.    And in the natural condition, yes.
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            1      Q.    Do riffles make a river nonnavigable; not



            2  rapids, but riffles?



            3      A.    Depends on the boat.  I mean some boats



            4  really can't handle much of anything.  Mr. Fuller



            5  indicated barges can't handle rapids, and I think he



            6  said riffles; and I agree with that.  They're just --



            7  it's not going to work.



            8      Q.    Did you do any studies or talk to anyone to



            9  discover if a small boat or a canoe, which is a small



           10  boat variety, would have any trouble boating with a



           11  loaded boat over riffles?



           12      A.    Certainly a modern-day doesn't.



           13      Q.    How about --



           14      A.    Oh, did I talk to anybody?  No.



           15      Q.    What is your ordinary range of flow for



           16  Segment 6?



           17      A.    I accepted Mr. Fuller's, because I didn't



           18  have anything -- and I don't mean this as nasty as it



           19  sounds. -- because I didn't have anything better.  I



           20  couldn't come up with it.  His seemed reasonable, so I



           21  accepted that range.



           22            That wasn't an insult, the way I phrased it.



           23                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  You're fine.



           24  BY MR. SLADE:



           25      Q.    What are the differences, in your opinion,
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            1  between Segment 6a and 6b, all the physical



            2  characteristic differences?



            3      A.    The big difference is you have the return



            4  flows at the end of each, and that means that 6b pretty



            5  much stands alone.  It's longer, a lot longer than 6a,



            6  and, therefore, would have more propensity to lose



            7  water.  That's the big one.  That's about all I know of



            8  it.



            9      Q.    In terms of channel pattern or slope?



           10      A.    I haven't checked the slope.  The pattern, it



           11  seems equally multichanneled.



           12      Q.    Bed material?



           13      A.    I've seen the soil survey for 6b.  I'm not



           14  aware of one for 6a.  It may be different.  I just



           15  don't know.



           16      Q.    Vegetation?



           17      A.    Pretty similar.



           18      Q.    And depth?



           19      A.    Probably pretty similar, but I don't know.



           20      Q.    And in terms of flow rate, we already



           21  discussed that.  It's your opinion that 6b would have



           22  200 cfs less than 6a?



           23      A.    Is that what it comes out?  Yes.



           24      Q.    Roughly.



           25      A.    In low flow or median flow?
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            1      Q.    Median flow.



            2      A.    Yes.



            3            Well, it's not going to help.  I know I've



            4  read that the Salt River was a losing river through



            5  there, but that doesn't nail 200 for you.



            6      Q.    Do you have any documentation that says the



            7  Salt River was ever below 300 cfs in Segment 6 at any



            8  place?



            9      A.    Oh, yeah, lots; but that's after the dams.



           10      Q.    Sure.  In its natural condition.



           11      A.    There are no gage records in its natural



           12  condition.



           13      Q.    Well, for example, the Kibbey Decree talks



           14  about the low flow of the Salt being 300 cfs.  Are



           15  there any other documents that you can recall that talk



           16  about the low flow of the Salt?



           17      A.    Well, the Kibbey Decree, was that at the



           18  Salt-Verde confluence?



           19      Q.    Couldn't tell you sitting here today.



           20      A.    Okay.  If it's not at the Salt-Verde



           21  confluence, it's after a lot of dams were built and a



           22  lot of irrigation and it was after or about the time



           23  Arizona Dam came online.  So that's what I've got.



           24      Q.    Okay.  And just a few more questions.



           25  Hopefully we can finish up by lunch here.
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            1            You mentioned that wooden canoes are much



            2  stronger today than they were in their historical time



            3  period; is that right?



            4      A.    Yes.



            5      Q.    And can you tell me why that would be the



            6  case?



            7      A.    Primarily because -- and I'm not talking



            8  about a replica canoe.  And I am not talking about a



            9  replica canoe.  I'm talking about a canoe made today



           10  just to be a canoe.



           11            The coatings that you put on the canoes, such



           12  as the clear epoxy resin, give it a considerable amount



           13  of extra strength and protection, and there are other



           14  coatings; but they didn't have those back then.  That's



           15  the reason.



           16            Oh, also, they do understand structures



           17  better now.



           18      Q.    Anything else you can consider with regard to



           19  differences in today's wood canoes versus wood canoes



           20  in the historical time?



           21      A.    Just looking to make sure.



           22            The one source I had also references



           23  varnishes are stronger.  That's it.



           24      Q.    Did you consider modern recreation that takes



           25  place on Segment 5 on the river today as any evidence
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            1  that the river can be navigated in historical times?



            2      A.    No.



            3                 MR. SLADE:  Mr. Chairman, if I could



            4  just have a minute to consult with my expert and



            5  counsel, I think I'm wrapping it up.



            6                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Slade, we observe



            7  that Mr. Hood was only able to have two donuts, and he



            8  looks positively famished, but we will delay his lunch



            9  just a little bit longer for you to consult.  And



           10  that's a joke.



           11                 MR. SLADE:  Well, we could also take



           12  lunch and we could come back and do this again.



           13                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  No, no, go ahead,



           14  please, because they're not going to be happy coming



           15  back just to watch Mark's video either.



           16                 (A brief recess was taken.)



           17                 MR. SLADE:  That's it.



           18                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Well, let's talk a



           19  little bit about what we're going to do for the rest of



           20  the day.  We're off the record.



           21                 (A lunch recess was taken from



           22  12:11 p.m. to 1:31 p.m.)



           23                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay.  Will the record



           24  reflect that Mr. Henness is not present.



           25                 Is Mr. Horton back?  When he walks in
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            1  the door, you start the thing, okay.



            2                 MR. MCGINNIS:  For the record, this is



            3  Exhibit C027.



            4                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, Mr. McGinnis,



            5  please.



            6                 MR. MCGINNIS:  Yes.  What you're about



            7  to see is a movie, short movie, that's an exhibit in



            8  the record.  It was submitted by SRP.  SRP didn't make



            9  the movie.  It's readily available on the internet.  I



           10  don't know who made it, but it probably says on here.



           11  And we thought it might be an efficient way to talk



           12  about the history of this event at Quartzite Falls,



           13  without a whole bunch of testimony.



           14                 ("Quartzite's Fall:  A Wilderness Tale"



           15  movie was played and transcribed as follows:)



           16                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  Rocks that run across



           17  river bottoms are the bones of giant sleeping beasts,



           18  which come to life as the river rises.  For river



           19  rafters in the West, Quartzite Falls was a pinnacle in



           20  the pursuit of the ultimate wilderness experience.



           21                 MR. MARK DUBOIS:  It is the miracle of



           22  life out here.  The first time I took people down



           23  rivers, I remember seeing people smiling like I had



           24  never seen in my life, and I realized it was something



           25  about being in these wild, magical places.  I mean this
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            1  is one of the most unique ecosystems I've ever seen.



            2  There's so many things to learn out here.  It's a



            3  living classroom for everyone.



            4                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  Decades ago the Upper



            5  Salt River was protected under the Wilderness Act and



            6  set aside as a place for inspiration, recreation, and



            7  solitude.  Despite the wilderness designation, the



            8  Salt's most remarkable feature was destroyed.



            9                 The Salt River cuts from pinion forests



           10  to the Sonoran Desert.  Its journey begins in Eastern



           11  Arizona on the Fort Apache Reservation.



           12                 MS. EVA WATT:  It makes me feel happy to



           13  see flow down, to see it go to different -- so many



           14  different places.  It's keeping so many things alive.



           15                 MR. TRAVIS HESSE:  We are taught that



           16  the river is a living being, that it shouldn't be



           17  messed with.  A lot of our kids are taught that.  And



           18  as they grow older, they have certain respect for the



           19  river and maybe some fear.



           20                 MS. EVA WATT:  So you have to watch the



           21  river.  It's dangerous.  If you're in the water and the



           22  flood comes, then you're gone.



           23                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  The Class IV



           24  whitewater section drops over 20 feet per mile through



           25  52 miles of free-flowing water in the Tonto National
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            1  Forest.



            2                 In 1984 Congress designated the most



            3  remote section of the Salt River a wilderness, a place



            4  that could not legally be developed or altered.



            5                 MR. MIKE ROSEMAN:  It's the biology, the



            6  geology, the shear ruggedness of the country.  It's a



            7  place where you can be free of city noises.  Ideally,



            8  it's set aside to always remain wild and be free of



            9  human interference.



           10                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  To navigate the Salt



           11  River Canyon, visitors must have advanced whitewater



           12  skills, travel with an experienced boater, or hire a



           13  commercial guide, because at Mile 28 there is an



           14  unnavigable rapid called Quartzite Falls.  It is a



           15  place where the canyon walls pinch the river over a



           16  steep ledge and the water flowing over the rock creates



           17  what's known as a keeper hole, a hydraulic suction that



           18  draws water from both up and downstream, a feature that



           19  could stop, hold, and recirculate a boat or a person



           20  indefinitely.



           21                 MR. MIKE STAMPS:  All that water has



           22  just come from downstream and filled right back into



           23  that thing, so it was just a big folding interface of



           24  water.  The big piece of going out was, was being real



           25  scared and dealing with it.  You know, you've got to go
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            1  to this level in your head where if I don't execute



            2  this in this way, my very worst fears are going to



            3  become reality.  And that's really the big draw of



            4  being in real scary situations.  I have my own destiny



            5  in my hands, and you literally do.  You have that



            6  opportunity to seize your own destiny.



            7                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  The action of the



            8  hydraulic could reach downstream and pull a full-sized



            9  boat back into the keeper hole.



           10                 Usually boaters would only run the Falls



           11  at lower water levels, when its billion-year-old ledges



           12  were visible and benign.  Higher water levels demanded



           13  that boaters either portage their rafts around the



           14  rapid or send their boats down through the Falls on



           15  ropes without passengers.



           16                 MR. KEVIN McCOMBE:  Folks that wanted to



           17  float this river had to work for it.  They had to earn



           18  it by getting around that waterfall one way or other.



           19                 MR. MIKE STAMPS:  You only had one or



           20  two or three things you could do.  You know, you could



           21  take your life in your hands and run it; you could do



           22  the technical thing and line it on the right; or you



           23  could do the very hard work of making the portage on



           24  the left.



           25                 MS. BRENDA INSLEY:  Having something out
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            1  there that was beyond your grasp kept you wanting more.



            2                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  Once a guide could



            3  manage the other rapids on the Salt, the time would



            4  come to face Quartzite Falls.



            5                 MR. KEVIN McCOMBE:  You know it's



            6  Quartzite day, and you know you've got to go down with



            7  your heart in your throat and this fear, this real



            8  fear.



            9                 MR. MIKE STAMPS:  You get down to the



           10  Danger Falls eddy and then, you know, the whole thing



           11  just seemed to close into this black gutter, and you



           12  get tunnel vision and you get all scared.



           13                 MR. KEVIN McCOMBE:  And just the thrill



           14  of making that eddy and pulling into that eddy and



           15  landing and then going through the process of carrying



           16  my gear around that thing is just kind of a humbling



           17  experience.  And you're doing something on the terms of



           18  the wilderness versus human terms.



           19                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  High-risk sports have



           20  consequences.  Each year as many as 20 people die



           21  whitewater rafting in the United States.  At the end of



           22  the 1993 boating season, two men drowned at Quartzite



           23  Falls.



           24                 MR. ROGER SABA:  I talked to Kevin, the



           25  forest ranger, and he said, "Man, there's been an event
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            1  down there.  The Falls is gone."



            2                 And I went, wow, how did that happen?



            3  What kind of event would do that?  I mean this rock was



            4  embedded.  It was solid.  It was -- nothing was moving



            5  it.  We started poking around, and we couldn't figure



            6  out why some of these rocks had moved upstream if it



            7  was a flow event.  The edge of the ledge that's left is



            8  very sharply cut, and said, well, you know, this isn't



            9  a flood.  Somebody blew it up.



           10                 MR. KEVIN McCOMBE:  We hiked in, and we



           11  found big chunks of rock.  We found pieces of fuse, and



           12  then we found a partially burned box, which apparently



           13  turned out to be a pretty significant clue and piece of



           14  evidence.



           15                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  Agent Mitchell from



           16  the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms reviewed



           17  the material left at the site.



           18                 MR. JON MITCHELL:  We realized that we



           19  might have better luck solving this case than we



           20  originally thought, because now we knew we had a binary



           21  explosive, as opposed to possibly dynamite.



           22                 MR. BUD SHAVER:  Jon Mitchell was able



           23  to track the explosives by the type that they were --



           24  they were kind of unusual. -- to a company here in



           25  Phoenix that had sold those particular types of
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            1  explosives only to two people, the Arizona Department



            2  of Transportation and Richard Scott.



            3                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  Richard Scott and



            4  some of his boyhood friends were passengers on a



            5  commercial rafting trip in May of '93.



            6                 MR. BUD SHAVER:  And during that rafting



            7  trip people had discussed what a problem Quartzite



            8  Falls were, and they discussed it with one of the



            9  guides.  He said they were drinking and they were under



           10  alcohol.  He didn't know if they were being -- were



           11  serious about it or not.



           12                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  An expert in mining



           13  and blasting, Richard Scott helped detonate explosives



           14  at Quartzite Falls on five separate occasions.



           15                 MR. RICHARD SCOTT:  We thought it would



           16  be a combination of a healthy adventure and an



           17  opportunity to do something, as we were led to believe,



           18  that no one would really object to; that everyone had



           19  talked about doing this for years and years, and it was



           20  really a liability to the people on the river.



           21                 MS. BRENDA INSLEY:  There's a whole lot



           22  of people that now are believing he did it to make it



           23  safe.  But, quote, now it's safe?  It's not safe.  It's



           24  a river.  You know, it will never be safe.



           25                 MR. MIKE ROSEMAN:  I was really
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            1  appalled, especially when I started figuring out that



            2  it was a river guide that blew it up.  I didn't think



            3  you could find any river guides that would ever think



            4  of such a thing.



            5                 MR. KEVIN McCOMBE:  I got a phone call



            6  asking -- these guys asking if I knew of a river guide



            7  named Taz, and I said, yeah, a guy Ken Stoner.



            8                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  Ken Stoner worked as



            9  a construction manager during the week and as a river



           10  guide on the weekends.



           11                 MR. KEN 'TAZ' STONER:  Yeah, the seven



           12  other men that were involved in this had the same



           13  motive as I did, to just make this safer.  Nobody's



           14  gained anything on this.  Nobody was paid anything.  It



           15  was all done, you know, through our own funds and



           16  resources and labors to accomplish this.



           17                 MR. BUD SHAVER:  Mr. Stoner told me that



           18  when you're lying out ropes and you've got a lot of



           19  inexperienced people and you're trying to portage a



           20  place like Quartzite Falls, it scared him to death.



           21  And that, along with the two drownings that occurred,



           22  he felt he needed to take some action.  But I think



           23  some of his stuff was more -- a little more personal



           24  than the rest of it, because it makes the river



           25  runner's -- commercial river runner's job a little bit
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            1  easier.



            2                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  Boating the Upper



            3  Salt became increasingly popular in the high water



            4  years of the '80s and early 1990s.  As a result of



            5  increased traffic on the river, Sunday afternoon



            6  bottlenecks began to form at the Falls that could delay



            7  trips by as much as half a day.  Some boaters think



            8  that making a navigable rapid was the motive behind the



            9  blastings.



           10                 MR. KEN 'TAZ' STONER:  The top drop in



           11  this rapid will be a strong Class III.  It's going to



           12  be a very exciting rapid to run and as hard as anything



           13  on the Salt River that it has to offer.



           14                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Well, a lot of



           15  people think there would be a commercial profit motive



           16  taking out the drop here.



           17                 MR. KEN 'TAZ' STONER:  There was no



           18  payment on that, and there were two of us that had a



           19  polygraph to prove that that was not the case.



           20                 MR. PAUL CHARLTON:  This was an



           21  ignorant, stupid, reckless act.  It wasn't, I don't



           22  believe, genuinely designed to save anyone's life.  I



           23  think it was designed to make their lives easier, and



           24  for the most part, the other individuals wanted to go



           25  out for a little bit of an adventure and see things
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            1  blow up.  And that's pathetic.



            2                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  Ken Stoner, Richard



            3  Scott, and the six men who helped them were charged



            4  with felonies for conspiracy and destruction of Federal



            5  property.



            6                 MS. JANET NAPOLITANO:  When you have a



            7  case like a Quartzite Falls case, where explosives are



            8  taken to take out one of the most notable features of a



            9  river that has been protected, you know, there's



           10  something taken that is not only impossible to value,



           11  but also impossible to replace.  In our view, demanded



           12  the intervention of Federal prosecutors.



           13                 MR. BARRY YOUNG:  The Federal Government



           14  got this guy.  They prosecuted him, actually persecuted



           15  him.  They fined him $30,000 for destroying government



           16  property, and all he did was blow up some rocks that



           17  were in the river making for hazardous whitewater



           18  navigating.  This earth was given to us to manipulate.



           19  We dig things out of the earth.  We destroy mountains.



           20  We tunnel through.  We do all kinds of things.  I don't



           21  think there was any problem in manipulating the river



           22  to make it safer for rafters.



           23                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  In the early part of



           24  the 20th century, explosives were used regularly by the



           25  Corps of Engineers to build dams, remove obstacles to
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            1  navigation, and reduce public hazards.



            2                 MR. RICHARD SCOTT:  It was very common



            3  back East to blast an obstruction to navigation.  Not



            4  as common to blast an obstruction for river rafting,



            5  commercial river lifting or recreational rafting



            6  purposes, though that clearly has been done.



            7                 MR. ROBERT FINKBINE:  I know in the old



            8  days they used to blow the hell out of rivers to make



            9  channels, but that was before the dawn of an



           10  environmental consciousness and of why wilderness might



           11  be important in an age that's so overcrowded and



           12  overpopulated and technological, you know.  With the



           13  bit of wilderness we have left, it becomes more and



           14  more precious to us.



           15                 MS. JANET NAPOLITANO:  What would we say



           16  if they went and blew up part of Half Dome in Yosemite



           17  so that rock climbers wouldn't have accidents?  In the



           18  Quartzite Falls instance, it was very important that we



           19  send that message; that we are going to protect value



           20  of wilderness, and we don't mean it in a dollar and



           21  sense way.  We mean it in a qualitative sense.



           22                 MR. RICHARD SCOTT:  In retrospect, of



           23  course we wish we hadn't done this.  Our efforts were



           24  not rewarded by anything dramatic in our lives other



           25  than a prosecution.





                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440



                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ

�



                        SALT RIVER     VOLUME 16      02/26/2016

                                                                      3542





            1                 RICHARD SCOTT, SR.:  I think it's quite



            2  sad that individuals in this case, who were wrong in



            3  the act that they did, must be incarcerated over a



            4  rock.



            5                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  Richard Scott was



            6  sentenced to one year in a Federal prison.  Ken Stoner,



            7  however, did not appear at the courthouse for



            8  sentencing.



            9                 MS. CAROL CAVAZOS:  A Federal Judge has



           10  ordered the arrest of a man responsible for blowing up



           11  Quartzite Falls along the Salt River.  Taz Stoner



           12  disappeared just as he was about to be sentenced.



           13  Authorities believe Stoner may have fled the country,



           14  and he won't be sentenced until he's caught.



           15                 MS. BRENDA INSLEY:  Quartzite was -- my



           16  first year of guiding, it was the biggest challenge I



           17  ever faced; and so for it to be gone, it's like a lot



           18  of people like to go back and relive their glory days.



           19  I'll never be able to.



           20                 MR. MARK DUBOIS:  How do we have places



           21  in the world where you have to be on your own



           22  recognizance?  Gandhi said that the food is only along



           23  the edge of the limbs.  Well, most of us like to stay



           24  close to the trunk of the tree where it's solid, but



           25  out on the edge is where life is rich.





                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440



                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ

�



                        SALT RIVER     VOLUME 16      02/26/2016

                                                                      3543





            1                 MR. MIKE ROSEMAN:  I am really grateful



            2  to those early conservation pioneers, who recognized



            3  that future generations were going to need preservation



            4  of wilderness.  And perhaps that's where we should be



            5  having discussion, is about what is a wilderness and



            6  what is the importance of having a wilderness ethic.



            7                 MR. PETER COYOTE:  There is a river



            8  canyon in the desert Southwest, and deep in the heart



            9  of this canyon there is a territory of fear and



           10  fortitude, a stretch of water people seldom navigated,



           11  a place where the river swallowed itself whole.  Its



           12  name was Quartzite Falls.



           13                 (End of "Quartzite's Fall:  A Wilderness



           14  Tale" movie presentation and transcription.)



           15                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, that concludes



           16  today's session.



           17                 (The proceedings adjourned at 1:53 p.m.)
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